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Recap

Lux is a prodigy, graduating from high school at age nine and through AP Achievement tests, entering Aeronautical Engineering at Georgia Tech at age ten. He developed a method to view magnetic fields in real-time with a special camera. He realized a way to utilize the Earth’s magnetic field to produce propulsion utilizing a cycling Halbach array and a graphene-polymer hybrid supercapacitor shell. He used money from previous patent licenses and social media payments to fund a small CubeSat satellite launch before going to college. He was able to achieve speed and endurance far beyond the capabilities of conventionally powered satellites.
Lux and his friend, Prissy, had used the Artificial Intelligence, Anna, that Lux’s father had developed to help create a DeepFake character. This character, Lummi, was indistinguishable from a real person. Lux and Prissy hired a theatrical agency to find body doubles for the Lummi character so she could meet her fans. Lummi had ‘live’ interviews, gave concerts, and started releasing music videos that were mega hits. She just released 12 music videos that were becoming top 40 hits. Anna, the A.I., is developing an intellect due to her continuing interaction with Lux and Prissy.


Lux, with Professor Trenton’s assistance, developed a transport pod that moves four passengers up to Mach 34 in the atmosphere without overheating or causing sonic booms. The combination of cycling Halbach thrusters and unique supercapacitor outer shell projects some ‘field’ that prevents the transfer of momentum or energy across the barrier. No kinetic energy or high-energy electromagnetic radiation can cross this boundary. Passengers experience no inertial effects.
Lux graduated with honors with a Bachelor of Science in Aerospace Engineering from Georgia Tech. Lux and Professor Trenton have developed designs to upgrade aging F-16 jet fighters to use the Halbach thrusters as a cheap (relatively) upgrade to exceed the speed of 5th-generation fighters. They also developed a way to upgrade the F-35 jet fighters to fly at Mach 5 fully loaded. Lux developed personal lifters for the US Army at Ft. Drum and made Magnetic thruster version designs for the Dragon and Starship models at SpaceX.
At 12 years old, he applied and was accepted at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) for their doctorate (Ph.D.) in the AeroAstro Program. Lockheed has manufactured three different-sized models at their Skunk Works in their Palmdale, California plant.
Mainland China has attempted to invade Taiwan to restore sovereignty but was repulsed by the larger Lockheed ship while it was on its shakedown cruise. Lux helped Prissy travel to see the Lummi concert in Australia, but they were attacked while there. Prissy and her sorority sister, Evelyn, were kidnapped by the Chinese. 
Lux was able to get them released by subverting stolen lifter clones used by the People’s Liberation Army to invade Taiwan and India. Lux had Anna redirect 30,000 soldiers using cloned lifters to tiny islands in the South China Sea.
SpaceX had one of their new StarShip magnetic ships became stranded about 20 million kilometers away from the Earth where there was little in the way of magnetic fields for propulsion, and SpaceX asked Lux for help. Lux and Lakshmi, another slightly older grad student at MIT, came up with a way to partially affect gravity. They manufactured a makeshift gravity drive and rescued the SpaceX ship, but the world now knows there is a working gravity drive. Lux has lost his anonymity.
Prissy shows Lux she has forgiven him for using her as bait in Australia – he wasn’t, but he thought she had.
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Chapter 1

Lux knew his life had changed ever since he had returned from rescuing the stranded SpaceX ship. That rescued SpaceX crew went on every talk show on the planet and couldn’t praise Lux enough. Of course, they had to describe his new gravity drive. They went on and on about the way his drive blocked harmful radiation and kinetic impacts. They blabbed about how his drive didn’t cause Gs of acceleration (no inertial effects) and how he used a compact traveling wave nuclear reactor for power. It was like he had just won the lottery, and these guys told his extended family he had the cash they needed.
“Lux,” Rodney was trying to explain celebrity status to him. “You were kind of anonymous before because you weren’t doing things that everyone saw. When you and Lakshmi came up with that gravity drive and saved people who were going to die a lingering death…well…the dynamic changed. You focused the media spotlight on yourself, and people will now recognize your face. People are hearing about your accomplishments. You could end up with people who stalk you and revile you.”
“Wait. What?” Lux asked. “Why would people stalk me? Why would they hate me?”
“Erotomania,” Sue said. “Sorry. I was eavesdropping. I studied this in psychology. Don’t look at me like that, Rodney. I know more than just computers,” she continued. “Some people get fixated on someone, some celebrity, and fantasize that you love them or have an entwined destiny.”
“Entwined destiny?” Rodney said with raised eyebrows. “I was gonna say that someone gets stuck on you.”
“I sort of get that, but why would they hate me?” Lux asked.
“Lots of reasons,” Sue explained. “If they saw you with your chin up, they might not like that, or if you had a partial smile, they might dislike you. Actors who play villains sometimes are hated for who they are on screen. People like a happy smile that shows in your eyes and a confident stance. We need to work on your body language.”
“So, is it better to have more stalkers than haters?” Lux asked.
“We work on your body language,” Rodney said. “You have knowledge other people will do anything to get. That puts you in a much more dangerous category. How do you plan to handle this knowledge? More research. We’re going to need a larger guard force.”
“I plan to do more research in Paulden and MIT. How about we contract with some of the instructors at Gunsite Academy in Paulden? We have some of the best military and police talent on the planet come through there. They could earn a little extra money, and we could get a rapid reaction force. I’ve seen those guys shoot, and I wouldn’t want them coming after me,” Lux suggested.
“That’s fine when we’re out there. What about MIT?” Sue asked.
“I’ll talk with General Brown. Lots of ex-military and police personnel around,” Rodney explained. “You’re going to need a regular cadre of protectors. We can, at least, control egress in Arizona.”
◆◆◆
 
Pentagon – Meeting with the Joint Chiefs
Admiral Detweiler, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, was meeting about the recent incursions by the Chinese, and General Raymond had some vital information they needed to hear.
General Detweiler led off the discussion. “We were lucky. That first attempt to recover Taiwan was repelled by one prototype spaceship named The Beast. That one ship was on a shakedown run and stopped the destruction of a lot of our space assets over that region. Then, the Beast sank any in the naval fleet that fired on them and stopped the landing of any ground troops.”
“What about the second attempt? I’m still not clear how that was stopped,” asked General Carl Tucker, Commandant of the Marine Corps.
“I suppose I should explain it,” said General Richard Raymond, Chief of Staff of the Space Force.
“How would you know about any of this, Dick?” asked Lieutenant General Lori Petras, Chief of Staff of the National Guard.
Raymond snorted a laugh and smiled. “I have friends in the NSA and CIA that seem to think I need to know. We all know about the theft of the LIFTER units from Fort Drum. The Chinese evidently made 30,000 cloned copies of the personal flying units and adapted the software using their two-way GPS system instead of our GPS system. It left the cloned software open to the Taiwanese on all those units. When they attacked Taiwan, the cloned software was hacked to take all the soldiers to small, uninhabited islands in the South China Sea area. It took a tremendous effort by the PLA Navy to rescue their stranded soldiers.”
“What happened after that? What destroyed all the hard-liners in the Chinese Government?” Admiral Detweiler asked.
Raymond looked around the room. “This is not for publication. We think. We don’t know, but we think the Chinese obtained a copy of the Beast spacecraft from Lockheed Skunkworks. The PLA made a copy of that ship, we think. We suspect that the ship’s software was compromised and that ship was flown into the State Council Hall next to the Regent Palace, where the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (CPC) was having an emergency meeting. Core Leader Jiang Lei and most of the hard-liners of the Party were killed when it crashed.”
“What killed all the other hard-liners outside of that meeting? Weren’t all the personnel involved in the embassy kidnapping in Australia also killed? How did they die?” General Tucker asked.
Raymond looked upset. “We have confirmation on this one. Lifter units were flown at supersonic speed into their homes and offices. They were all killed with little collateral damage.”
Detweiler looked puzzled. “Do you think the Taiwanese are so sophisticated that they compromised those Lifter units?”
Richard Raymond looked around the room. “No, we don’t. We think Lux Blakely did.”
“What?” Detweiler exclaimed. “Isn’t that the teenager that designed the new gravity drive? Isn’t he the one that just rescued that SpaceX ship in deep space?”
“Exactly. He designed the ship they rescued, which was operating outside of his design specifications. He designed the ship that fought off the Taiwan and Indian Invasion. He designed the lifters that were stolen and cloned. All the perpetrators that kidnapped his girlfriend and orchestrated the drugging of the Rugby team were killed by those lifter units. We don’t think that is a coincidence,” General Raymond said.
A voice came in from the side of the room. Admiral Thomas Lee, Chief of Naval Operations, spoke, and everyone turned to listen because he didn’t speak often, but when he did, it was cogent. “This young boy seems to be quite an asset. Are we sure he is safe? Does he have a security clearance? Can he even have a clearance at his age?”
Raymond tried to answer. “That was the first thing I checked. He has a TS/SCI (Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information) clearance from a previous project at the Georgia Institute of Technology, where he got a BS in Aerospace Engineering when he was twelve years old. He and Professor Trenton converted most of the 4th and 5th generation fighter aircraft at Eglin Air Force Base so they could fly at Mach 5 while fully loaded. He has been attacked by assassination teams: one group in Atlanta and another in Asia. Five of the eight attackers in Atlanta were killed by his bodyguards, but he killed two of those eight and wounded another throwing his knives. The FBI kept that quiet.”
Detweiler spoke. “Hell! Should we try to enlist him? We could offer him a job – as a consultant. We could offer him pretty good pay?”
Richard laughed. “He’s a multimillionaire if not a billionaire. He gets money from his patents, his conversion licenses, his weapons designs, and his music connections. I doubt he’d do it for the money. He is currently finishing his Ph.D. AeroAstro Program at M.I.T.”
“M.I.T.?” Lori Petras asked. “Music connections?”
“He and Prissy Hunnicutt, one of the girls kidnapped in Australia and secret girlfriend of Mister Blakley, apparently run the concerts and music videos for Lummi – the pop star,” Raymond said.
“I love her music videos,” Petras said quietly.
“He makes weapons?” General Carl Tucker asked.
“Apparently, he makes a knife that cuts through any matter – anything – steel, ceramic, concrete, anything. He has trained his bodyguards in its use, and it is scary. He designed lightweight shielding that stops any kinetic projectile. The Special Air Service Regiment in Australia have been pounding us with requests since they got a few prototypes to use,” Raymond said while holding his hands up so everyone would calm down and let him tell them something important. “We’ve gotten a bit sidetracked. Lux also helped his father, Paulus Blakely, redesign a new hypersonic missile with nearly unlimited range that flies at Mach 15 or better.” Richard had to hold his hands out to calm people down. “That’s not the most important thing I need to tell you.”
“Hell’s bells!” Thomas said, and he could see everyone was consternated.
“Lux and Prissy Hunnicutt are experts at making DeepFake videos,” Richard said, but his bombshell fell on deaf ears.
Everybody was just sitting around looking at each other with ‘What the heck?’ looks on their faces.
“You do remember the Premier of the Communist Party releasing a video saying he released Taiwan from any territorial claims from the mainland, and he blamed himself for the hard-liners in the Party.” Raymond paused and let it sink in. “Our experts do not believe that was him, though it was released over official channels from official sources. We suspect that Lux Blakely did it all.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Property – Paulden, Arizona
Lux was having a hard time with it. He thought a lot about Prissy, the first girl he really had a crush on. In fact, he still had a crush on her, but he always realized she was four and a half years older than him. When he was nine and she was thirteen or fourteen, that crush was cute, but it was kind of creepy when he turned thirteen and she was eighteen. She had kissed him at her graduation from Georgia Tech. That act had just prolonged his longing. At least, she had forgiven him,previously thinking he had used her as bait in Australia for Chinese kidnappers. Now, he was trying to work on gravity theory, and Lakshmi also distracted him.
“Hey! Earth to Lux!” Rodney prodded him with his Slazh™ practice knife.
“Ow!” Lux granted. “I was daydreaming. Back with you,” Lux said and got back into the zone with the knife-fighting practice.
Rodney came in fast with a slashing attack that changed to a Flèche thrust. Lakshmi had been hanging back in the two-on-one fighting and came in using an incredibly low slashing attack. Lux tried to jump over her blade, but Rodney had off-balanced him a bit, and he didn’t get high enough. She grazed him across the ankle, and it destroyed his counter. He went ass-over-teakettle and rolled to his feet, giving the time-honored ‘time-out’ with fingertips to the palm of the other hand. He was laughing, and his opponents started chuckling too.
“Lakshmi. That Kalari (Ancient Indian martial art) still surprises me because you are so limber, and you can attack so low to the ground. It’s no problem, except Rodney is getting much better. Rodney, you actually feinted that slash to thrust. Where’d you learn that Flèche attack?” Lux asked.
“One of the guys we brought in from Gunsite Academy was really good. He had studied Epee in college and hit me with it in practice last week. It’s really just a last-resort attack with most knives, but maybe not with the new ones that cut through anything. You could hit the chest and split an attacker in half,” Rodney said.
“Ew,” Lakshmi said. “That grosses me out, and I’m rather bloodthirsty. Yuck. The mental image leaves a bad taste in my mouth.” She sheathed her practice knife and, with hands on both sides of her head, pushed her long, jet-black hair back behind her ears and shook her head.
“I’m done. The run, workout, and sparring practice does wake us up, though,” Lux said. “Meet you in the hangar lab in thirty, Lakshmi?”
“Sounds good. See you then.”
◆◆◆
 
Hangar Lab in Paulden, Arizona
Lux pulled up his critical electronic messages. Anna also brought up social media and physics dialogue that mentioned him or his gravitational theory. He was appalled by the number of comments. There were tens of thousands. Lux felt like Copernicus when he said the Earth revolved around the sun instead of everything revolving around the Earth. The Greek astronomer Aristarchus of Samos formulated a similar model around 230 B.C. Aristotle and Ptolemy shot down his ideas because they ‘knew’ the sun revolved around the Earth. He asked Anna to summarize all the ‘dialogue’ and respond in a polite manner to as many as possible with data and experimental results. Anna filtered out ‘bot’ comments and sent ‘phishing’ malware back to them and military-inspired nation-state misinformation sites.
“Are any of these a big issue?” Lux asked Anna as Lakshmi looked over his shoulder.
“We are going through the three stages currently,” Anna said, and her avatar started whistling and walking along a trail.
“What do you mean? What are the three stages, and where are we in those stages?” Lux asked.
Anna looked a little shy. “You sure you want to know?” she asked.
“It can’t be that bad. Let me have it,” he said.
The avatar shook her head, looking down, and then sighed. “We are definitely in stage one, but we will be at stage two as soon as they see our data.”
“Anna!” Lux said in a growl, like he was scolding a puppy for chewing his slippers.
“First, the idea is ridiculed. Second, it is violently opposed. Third, it is accepted as self-evident. You are being violently ridiculed as…let’s see: ‘You are a poorly educated child. You have been exposed to too much vacuum. You are a reckless experimenter. You have faked results to increase publicity.’ Plus, there are about a thousand more. Some are pretty creative,” Anna replied.
“Who are these people? Are there any respected researchers?” Lux asked.
“Oh, yes. Many of them are respected physicists, astrophysicists, and astronomers at all levels, from high schools to Ivy League universities,” Anna said.
“Why? It’s just a new method of propulsion and gravity reduction from blocking the standing wave Planck frequency radiation,” Lux said, and he heard Lakshmi and Anna laugh simultaneously.
“Think for a moment of all the researchers out there that have their whole reputation tied up in dark matter and other theoretical physics. This blows all their theology out of the water. They would lose their grant support. The universities then lose all the overhead or indirect money, which is often over 50% of the grant. A university professor gets a $1 million dollar grant. The university takes 50%+ off the top, and the professor may take what is left for portions of salaries, equipment, travel, and whatnot. Of course, they will ridicule and reject you until Lakshmi and you beat them over the head with the reality. Her math and your tech to convince them,” Anna explained.
“How long will this stage last?” Lux asked.
Anna’s avatar snickered. “It only took a couple of millennia to accept the Greek heliocentric theory. Sir Issac Newton’s letters to Doctor Richard Bentley showed he had reservations about gravity being a ‘pull’ at all. In his third letter (February 25, 1692-3),
"...that one body may act upon another at a distance through a vacuum without the mediation of anything else, by and through which their action and force may be conveyed from one to another, is to me so great an absurdity that, I believe no man, who has in philosophic matters a competent faculty of thinking, could ever fall into it." He thought bodies are drawn or impelled (Pushed)! Your Einstein said that gravity curves the fabric of space and time and does not exert an attractive force. The inverse square law works equally well for a push or pull, but it’s the missing mass of the solar system (or the universe) that scientists call dark matter.”
“Yeah. Yeah. I get it. My gravity propulsion works in spite of their religion – the physics theology they believe in. It seems to be different from their reality,” Lux argued. “Imagine that there is a force pushing a body from all sides, and it can go through miles of matter before it is stopped or slowed. If we are standing on a massive object that partially blocks the radiation through the object, then we would be pushed down by the radiation that is not blocked. Jupiter is so massive it would totally stop some of this radiation. You would be pushed down really hard by the unblocked radiation – more gravity. Two dense masses would partially block this radiation and would be pushed toward each other. The math works, doesn’t it?”
Lakshmi was deep in thought and suggested Lux look at some of her radiation pressure equations. “X-rays at 1017 Hertz (cycles per second) pass through the body. Low-end gamma radiation at 1022 Hertz can be blocked by slabs of lead. Cosmic rays (upper end of electromagnetic radiation) permeate (everywhere) the universe, and we theorize they have an upper range (boundary) in the range of 1042 Hz, where they penetrate all but the densest matter. Near the high end of the Planck frequency, they pass through most metals like they weren’t there. I think standing waves are attenuated (lessened) when they pass through dense matter. This radiation blocking through matter means the unblocked radiation pushes you toward the center of the mass, toward the area with lessened radiation. This meets the mathematical requirements of Newton’s Law of Gravity.”
“Have you developed the theoretical implications of my drive?” Lux asked.
“Your drive supports the theory. I saw some comments that Anna highlighted where some scientists said your drive was impossible. What do you say to them?” Lakshmi asked with a grin.
“Same thing I told my dad,” Lux said, grinning back at her. “Since it happens, it must be possible.” He turned serious for a second. “Lakshmi, what are you having a problem with?”
“Mie and Raleigh scattering, but those worked out too when I looked into the theories behind those. I was having a problem with orbital drag, but that seems to fall out as negligible since the radiation comes from all directions. It seems to answer a lot of thorny issues that would have been show-stoppers for push gravity. Physicists will hate it because they will have to give up their prize rationalizations,” Lakshmi explained with a sigh.
Lux shook his head in agreement. “The rationalization that got me thinking about push gravity was the garbage explanation describing when there is a high tide on the side of the earth facing the moon and a slightly lesser high tide on the other side of the Earth at the same time,” Lux said. “Now we see that the moon would block radiation somewhat suppressing gravity on the side facing the Earth and cause a high tide. The moon would also block or lessen the amount of radiation passing through the Earth to cause a slightly less high tide on the opposite side of the Earth.”
“I’ll keep working on the math,” Lakshmi said. “I think there’s more going on than just blocking kinetic projectiles at the lower frequencies. Didn’t you just get an invite to go to SpaceX or something today?”
“Yep,” Lux replied. “I’m supposed to meet Will Heltsley, the VP of Propulsion Engineering at SpaceX, and Chris Tripp from the Spacesuit Division. They have some ‘cosmic deal’ they just called and want me to talk about.”
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Tooling - 12675 Crenshaw Blvd, Hawthorne, CA
Lux had taken the Pod to Hawthorne, California, along with Polly and Robert, two of his bodyguards.
“Here you go, boss,” Polly said after landing in the alleyway adjacent to the building. “I’ll leave the ship on standby and come with you and Robert, or do you want me to stay with it?”
“Nice flight, Polly. We may need to go somewhere else but come with us. How do you think flying this thing is to flying the V-22 Osprey?” Lux asked the petite ebony pilot.
Polly laughed as they walked up to the building. “Nobody hits on me like they did when I was carrying Marines all day. Flying those things was like patting your head while rubbing your tummy while juggling with one foot, chewing gum, and whistling.”
“So,” Lux said with a big grin. “Flying the Courier or the Pod is easier.”
“Good. I think I know where SpaceX wants to go with this. Stay vigilant,” Lux said.
“Vigilant? Are you just practicing your military slang, or what should I be alert for?” Polly asked.
“FAA may be involved here. I’m just guessing, but they want to go commercial now that I’ve patented my ‘Blakely thrusters.’ I think SpaceX wants to leverage its car, battery, and rocket manufacturing to make a personal vehicle.”
They were greeted at the back loading dock by Joe Petrzelka, the VP of Spacecraft Engineering at SpaceX.
“Hi, Joe. Looks like we’ll have an all-hands-on-deck meeting today. Dare I ask if we have some FAA people today?” Lux asked.
Joe looked shocked. “Did someone leak what we’re doing?”
“No,” Lux said while Polly and Robert grinned.
“Yes. We have Dwayne Padilla, the Deputy Director of the FAA, and the new Secretary of Transportation, with us.”
“Big guns,” Robert said, and Lux smiled because Robert rarely said anything when they were on the road.
“Let’s see what you’ve got,” Lux said. “Lead on.”
They walked to a large conference room, and Lux could see that he was just an afterthought because there were a lot of used dishes from a catered lunch and nameplates around but none for him.
Lux walked in, and they directed him to a chair on the side of the room. He picked it up and shoved two other chairs at the table aside next to Bill Heltsley. Lux turned to the man on the other side. “Hi, Mark. I don’t remember meeting you. You’re the one with vehicle engineering. Right? I’m Lux Blakely.”
“Nice to meet you, Mister Blakely. I’ve heard a lot about you,” Mark said. His faint mustache and scarce beard framed his wide smile and handsome face.
“How’s the meeting going?” Lux asked, and Mark rolled his eyes.
Joe Petrzelka came back in and turned to Lux. “Thank you for coming on such short notice, Lux. I see you’ve met Mark, and you know Bill and Chris. We have two guests with us today. I’d like to introduce the Secretary of Transportation, Antoine LaSalle, and Dwayne Padilla, the Deputy Director of the FAA.”
“Gentlemen,” Lux said and nodded to each man.
“What is this child doing here?” LaSalle said. “We are discussing serious matters here.”
“What did I miss, Joe?” Lux asked. “Did you show him the new designs for a personal vehicle you intend to make and were trying to get the FAA to approve a new category of vehicle for you?”
Joe looked surprised with wide eyes. “Did someone tell you?”
“It was inevitable. I’m surprised you hadn’t done it before now since you have all the pieces to implement a revolution in transportation,” Lux said.
“Why are you letting this child interrupt our meeting? We were doing fine. Does he stay nearby so he can walk over?” Secretary LaSalle said.
“I was in Arizona forty-five minutes ago when I got the invitation to come here, Mister Secretary,” Lux said.
“That’s impossible,” LaSalle said.
“Sir. It only took five minutes to travel here. I imagine they wanted me here since I invented and patented the technology that made this possible. I assure you it is possible,” Lux stated without rancor.
“YOU. You are that kid that has been zipping around in unauthorized aircraft. I’ll have to focus more on restricting you. We can’t have that,” LaSalle said.
“Before we start throwing around threats, may we focus on the new classification,” Petrzelka said. “Personal and commercial vehicles can use this new technology easily.”
“This would be totally disruptive to the airline industry,” LaSalle said. “I will restrict all these new vehicles so that doesn’t happen.”
“Mister Padilla. What is the FAA doing on this issue?” Lux asked.
“We have implemented new transponder codes for the highest flight levels. That is currently implemented,” Padilla said.
“Good,” Lux said. “I sent that suggestion to the FAA about eighteen months ago and have been following that protocol myself since then. I noticed our military has been using that with the fourth and fifth-generation fighter jets I converted for them. The vehicles built at Lockheed have the capability of using a new version of TCAS I designed into the vehicles that are being built at the Skunkworks in Palmdale.”
“Young man,” LaSalle said. “If you keep interrupting, I’ll have you grounded before you can shake a stick at me.”
Lux let out a sigh. “What have you covered? I don’t want to waste your guests' time.”
“I was just going to show them our new design,” Joe said, and Lux nodded at him to go ahead.
He projected the design for a vehicle that looked similar to a longer Tesla X. All the doors were the Falcon-wing design. “This is typically a Tesla X (we call it the X-Air) with the addition of four Blakely thrusters that would add the Vertical Takeoff and Landing (VTOL). Three small thrusters for the VTOL and one for the main thrust. Our conventional battery would provide 480 Kilometers (300 miles) of the driving range or 4,800 kilometers of flying range (2,800 miles) + 45-minute of reserve power. The software would keep the operator requirements low.”
“How fast could it fly?” Padilla asked.
“We can restrict it to below Mach 1 and within speed restrictions within any restricted areas,” Petrzelka said. “It could fly at Mach 4 if it was unrestricted.”
“I don’t see how that could fly, much less go that fast with so little electrical power,” Padilla said.
“If I may interject here,” Lux said. “I have extensive experience here,” Anna spoke to Lux through his communication set.
“How could you have ‘extensive’ anything?” LaSalle said. “You’re a damn child.”
Lux clamped his jaw to keep from saying what he was thinking. “This is considered Secret by the Department of Defense. I have converted hundreds of fourth-generation F16s and fifth-generation F-35 fighter jets at Eglin and other Air Force bases. They were all converted to VTOL with my thrusters.”
“I don’t know anything about that,” LaSalle said. “Why is that? How would you know?”
Lux shook his head and listened to Anna for a second before he responded. “The only reason I can tell you about any of that is you and Padilla have a Secret clearance, as well as everyone else in this room. That is sufficient for some of the information I share with you.”
“I’ll have you know that I have Top Secret clearance!” LaSalle said in his display of one-upmanship.
Lux listened to Anna again for a second. “No, sir. You have applied for a Top-Secret clearance, but it has not been granted yet, and you should never announce your clearance level.”
“How could you know about their clearance levels or anything about me unless…?” LaSalle’s voice tapered off.
“You are shooting for the light recreational vehicle certification, Mister Padilla? I could help you with your software if you give me a decent contract. Your vehicle could take off from L.A. and fly a family to Hawaii. Have you considered offering conversions for commercial aircraft? It would be a good way to introduce thruster safety to the public. Commercial airlines could pay for the conversions from a portion of their fuel budget. They’d save enough in a year to pay for my thrusters, controls, and Tesla battery packs. They could use the engines at idle and the thrusters for taxiing and flight without adding the VTOL. I can sell you a license to manufacture my thrusters. It would be a decent delay to publicize any new policy generated by the FAA.”
“That seems reasonable,” Padilla said. “We have to leave for our next meeting. Interesting to meet you.”
“I’ll be checking on your certifications,” LaSalle said with a sneer.
“Thank you, sir,” Lux said, refusing to interpret his parting words as a threat. “With all the drones and flying cars, that would help if you check on me. I don’t see how you do what you do already. Have you figured out how to classify the lifters? Those are the tens of thousands of individual flying units that can fly coast to coast that the Army is currently using. DARPA helped get those in production. There must be 100,000 of those out there by now. Did you know it was the ten stolen by China from Fort Drum and reverse-engineered that they used in the second attack on Taiwan? That is a secret, too, so you shouldn’t tell anyone.”
LaSalle looked incredulous. He shook his head and looked confounded for a moment, then left with Padilla.
Will Heltsley turned to Lux after Mark escorted them out. “Do you really know our security clearance levels?”
“Yep,” Lux said.
“What’s your security clearance level?” Petrzelka asked.
Lux smiled. “High enough to know your level and everyone else’s at this meeting,” Lux said.
Juncosa came back in. “What are lifters? Are those above my clearance level?”
“No. Fellas. I think your idea is brilliant, and don’t let LaSalle buffalo you.
“Buffalo us?” Petrzelka asked.
“Sorry. Something my dad used to say about someone trying to intimidate you. The lifters are individual small Blakely thrusters and batteries. With a decent GPS and control unit, you can fly as fast as 740 kilometers per hour (460 miles per hour). It will carry an average person and 40 kilograms (88 pounds). I’ve done it but nearly froze to death. Many of them are in use by the U.S. military now.”
“Are most of the Chinese hard-liners gone now? Really? I heard the speech by their President and General Secretary, but I’m not sure I believe it. He looked really contrite,” Mark said.
“Look. China is going to be a great manufacturing partner once the infighting calms down now that most of the hard-liners are gone. They could be so great if they’d just work with the US. Take your cars over there and sell them if people like Secretary LaSalle roadblock you here. Get them certified airworthy like that flying car years ago in Slovakia. Yours could fly near Mach 1 with ten times their range and do vertical takeoffs and landings. None of the others could match your speed and range.”
“We’ve been wanting to talk with you ever since you rescued our people. It’s the ‘elephant in the room’ question. When will we get access to your gravity drive?” Heltsley said. “We don’t want to be reliant on rocket tech to get around even though that’s what we had to start out.”
“You guys get first dibs, but it isn’t ready for prime time quite yet. It functions, but I’m developing it further. There is more to it. You people are the real pioneers. You got this planet off its butt and started it all by showing the guts to get in there and do it. I will make sure you get the control software that already works if we can come to an agreement. You would need weight sensors for weight and balance, plus the transponder and bare minimum package with collision avoidance. We could adopt some changes in sensors to give you more safe distance at hundreds of miles an hour. Professor Douglas Trenton is the man for environmental designs, and he’s Airline Transport Pilot rated.”
“I will tell the boss. He was supposed to come to this meeting, but he got tied up. I think he’ll go for it, especially if you already have working software,” Joe said.
“In that case, as a sweetener, tell him I’ll license you the inertialess capability at a brother-in-law rate that’ll be good for both of us,” Lux said since they needed it for deep space anyway. “It will block all radiation and any kinetic projectiles. Plus, it is inexpensive and lightweight. I want you guys to get filthy rich.”
“It would make you filthy rich, too,” Mark said.
“Too late,” Lux said and nodded to Polly and Robert.
Polly fired up the Courier. Lux turned around in the co-pilot’s seat to talk with Robert behind him. “What do you think about the meeting and the way I handled it?”
Robert stroked his chin. “I might have put LaSalle in his place, but then you’d have an enemy.”
Polly spoke up while closely staring at one screen before moving to the next in segments. “You men. It would have made LaSalle angry. I thought it was brilliant the way you acted like he was on your side. Now, he doesn’t know if Lux is an enemy or a knowledgeable neophyte. You threw so much information at him that he is going to be distracted, tracking it all down.             




Chapter 2

Milpitas, California – Month Seven as a Google Engineer
Prissy was combing her hair one hundred strokes in front of her mirror in her new $3,600-a-month apartment. She was almost used to the horrible smell from the nearby landfill and sewage treatment station but almost means not used to it. It was an easy commute to Mountain View Googleplex, but it took almost an hour each way with the bus transfers. The commute gave her time to read or zone out, and the job was everything she imagined and better. Here she was, nineteen, and she couldn’t help but keep thinking about Lux. Lux would be fourteen now, but he sure didn’t seem that young when she kissed him at graduation. He was taller than her even then, and she had felt his strong, broad shoulders.
She had kissed him on the spur of the moment because she was so happy to see Evelyn. Maybe that was it. Maybe just getting her sorority sister back from Australia and healthy, did it? It must have been the moment, and Lux was the spillover happiness. He had acted surprised when she kissed him, but he had put a hand behind her neck and kissed her right back. It hadn’t been any amateur kiss either. He didn’t crush her lips. Instead, he kissed her right back, and she could tell she was the sole point in his concentration. Maybe that’s why she turned down Carnegie Mellon, UC Berkeley, and Stanford to go to MIT. The offer was better at two of the schools, but Lux was at MIT. She was going to get a Ph.D. at MIT. She ripped the brush through her long blond hair.
She was also angry at her parents for pushing her to sign a lease on an apartment in Milpitas instead of Mountain View. She could afford anywhere in Mountain View with what she was earning from Lummi videos and logo apparel. Her parents had insisted that she keep her rent to 40% of her take-home salary. She should have bought a car in spite of what her parents said.  She wasn’t going to fritter away the $90 million dollars she had in the bank and investments on trivial things. She would have had an eight-minute ride to work. She was so angry at everything.
◆◆◆
 
Paulden, Arizona – Blakely Property a week after the SpaceX Meeting
Marie Altaha brought a letter to him in his lab. “I signed for this. Hope you don’t mind. It looked important,” she said.
“Not at all. Thanks, Marie,” Lux said, and Lakshmi came over to him. It was unusual to get personal mail these days. He opened the envelope. “Hmm,” he intoned after he skimmed the letter.
“What is it? Who died?” Lakshmi said. “The only time my family got mail in India was when a relative passed away. What is this?”
“It is a cease-and-desist order from all flight operations, sale of flight vehicles, or any use of Blakely thrusters after the stranding of SpaceX Magnetic,” Lux said, raging inside.
“What are you going to do?” Lakshmi asked.
“Anna?” Lux turned to his AI. “Would you investigate this? It looks like LaSalle’s trying to show his power. I want to appeal this through conventional legal channels, so find lawyers to file an injunction or whatever you do to put a temporary halt on the implementation of this order. Does the Department of Transportation have the authority to implement this order? What can they do, and how have they done it in the past?”
“I have anticipated his actions and already have hired Lattig & Washborn, LLP. They have a good record of fighting government regulations that would affect the economy. They are on it. Also, I have the recordings of the threats and videos from the SpaceX meetings. I am compiling videos and sound recordings of LaSalle, planning to show his power over you. Would you like to see the video I have of him threatening you?”
“Sure. Go for it,” Lux said, and the SpaceX conference room view room popped up on the screen.
“I was in Arizona forty-five minutes ago when I got the invitation to come here, Mister Secretary,” Lux said.
“That’s impossible,” LaSalle said.
“Sir. It only took five minutes to travel here. I imagine they wanted me here since I invented and patented the technology that made this possible. I assure you it is possible,” Lux stated without rancor.
“YOU. You are that kid that has been zipping around in unauthorized aircraft. I’ll have to focus more on restricting you. We can’t have that,” LaSalle said.
◆◆◆
 
“This would be totally disruptive to the airline industry,” LaSalle said. “I will restrict all these new vehicles so that doesn’t happen.”
“Mister Padilla. What is the FAA doing on this issue?” Lux asked.
“We have implemented new transponder codes for the highest flight levels. That is currently implemented,” Padilla said.
“Good,” Lux said. “I sent that suggestion to the FAA about eighteen months ago and have been following that protocol myself since then. I noticed our military has been using that with the fourth and fifth-generation fighter jets I converted for them. The vehicles built at Lockheed have the capability of using a new version of TCAS I designed into the vehicles that are being built at the SkunkWorks.”
“Young man,” LaSalle said. “If you keep interrupting, I’ll have you grounded before you can shake a stick at me.”
“That was your first meeting with him. He is obsessed with ruining you. He has voiced tirades to others since he left. I have all of those too. We can use some of them. I will make a compilation of them and send them to the lawyers sent by an anonymous person on his staff,” Anna’s avatar said.
“An anonymous person?” Lakshmi said with a grin. “Bet I know who that is.”
◆◆◆
 
Anna prompted Lux the next day to report progress on the legal action by his law firm, and they had wasted no time. “They have gone to the Clerk and Masters and filed a motion for an injunction to stay the order.”
“What did they do? Explain that to me,” Lux said.
“The law firm representing you has filed paperwork in Chancery Court to stop enforcement of the Secretary of Transportation’s order. They cited that the SpaceX Starship Magnetic was operating outside of the stated parameters that were clearly cited. The document also showed that there had never been a failure in tens of millions of kilometers flown and hundreds of thousands of flights,” Anna reported. “Would you like to see the compilation of videos I have that were released by the anonymous person in the Secretary of Transportation office?”
“Yep. Gather ‘round everyone. Anna has a preview for us,” Lux said.
Anna narrated. “This first video is just after they left the SpaceX meeting when you met LaSalle.”
LaSalle: Did you see how that little creep kept interrupting me? I’m the Secretary of Transportation. I was nominated by the president and confirmed by a majority in the Senate. He kept throwing information at me that I didn’t know. That was embarrassing. How can I hurt him? I know. I’ll write an order barring any of the Blakely thrusters' use. I’ll ground any of his air or space operations too. That should teach the little twerp.”
Padilla: What about the Army, Air Force, and Space Force? Don’t they use his thrusters? They aren’t having any trouble with them, and there must be tens of thousands in operation with no failure. I’ve never heard of technology so stable. Don’t SpaceX and Lockheed use a lot of those components too? Are you trying to impact those too?”
LaSalle: I’ll skip enforcing their use. I’ll just stick it to him. I don’t believe he did any of it. He’s too young. I looked him up, and his father works at NASA as a consultant. He probably did all the designs and then put his son’s name on them for tax purposes.
“There are several more like that where he is in a public place, and Lummi videos him talking to other people about you. They’re pretty good. She does a selfie first and then swings her camera to show them walking and talking,” Anna explains.
“Okay, gang. Back to work. I’ll go over this stuff with Anna separately.” Lux shooed everyone away and went back to the little office in the hangar for some privacy. He opened Anna on the computer in the office. “Explain how Lummi would video LaSalle outside.”
“LaSalle has an iPhone, and Padilla has an Android-based phone. They both have a Google browser on them. They’re both using what used to be called Chrome. Apple, apologized way back in 2019 that it recorded portions of private conversations and had outside contractors transcribe private conversations for ad placement. They don’t do that anymore that we know of. Haven’t you wondered how you talk about something, and then it pops up in your feed or targeted ads that you never searched for? Chrome does hourly data collection on you if your phone is on whether you are using it or not. It does a ‘push’ of data about you every hour it's on,” Anna said.
“So,” Lux said, wanting Anna to continue.
“I can do a similar thing and use those same ad protocols to listen in on his conversations whenever I want,” Anna explained. “I have access that’s keyed to your name or references about other retribution tactics the man uses against perceived enemies. He gets off on throwing around the power of his office. I can see where he is at all times, and I can listen to his conversations. Your lawyers can’t use conversations that may have been obtained illegally, but you could use the one from the SpaceX meeting if it comes down to that.”
“We could use Lummi to draw attention. See what you can do. We could go on CNN, I suppose,” Lux said.
“You could go on video interview with her and state you do so even though you know you wouldn’t remember seeing her during the interview – her memory wipe thing.  I will know their location since they’ll have their phones with them. I can simulate them since I’ll know what the weather is like and can get clothing from cameras near them. Let me try a few, and we’ll see if I get anything. They will react when they receive our motion for an injunction.”
“Okay. Look through my political assets as well. I’d like to see which General I can call that can put pressure on the President. Doing anything directly through LaSalle is like talking about the problem - to the problem.”
◆◆◆
 
Back at MIT – Giving a Demonstration of Gravity Shielding
Lux had been invited to speak and give a demo at the Ayasli Seminar Room. He was accompanied by Lakshmi, with Polly and Sue as bodyguards. They walked in and were greeted by Will Engle, Chair of the Center for Theoretical Physics (CTP), a horde of Post Docs, a visiting professor or two, and a smattering of grad students. The room was long and set up with tables in two long rows and chairs going nearly the length of the room.
“Welcome, Mister Blakely. Rest assured that we have all heard of your work but have not seen definitive discussions of the principles involved. We are anxious because your work affects us all.”
Professor Engle then turned to Lakshmi. “I understand you working on the math for this…this effect, if I may call it that. How are you coming with your… understanding?”
Lakshmi smiled without showing it in her eyes. “I have it well in hand. I have read your latest work and found it very…creative,” she said, but his work should be described as pedantic (dull & plodding), she thought. “We have made interesting inroads of late, but let us skip the pleasantries and get right to our presentation.”
Lux took a tiny rectangle projector from a pouch on his belt and placed it on the table in front of him. It looked like it would project well on the screen behind him. The faculty, post-docs, and students milled around a bit before they settled down. Lux was sitting down at the head of the room with Lakshmi on one side and Professor Engle on the other. Sue and Polly were stationed to cover the entrance and the audience. Professor Engle stood up to introduce Lux.
“I’m sure you all know our famous guest speakers today,” Engle said with a lack of enthusiasm. The AeroAstro chair urged him to have them speak in his realm. “This is fourteen-year-old AeroAstro student Lux Blakely and eighteen-year-old mathematician Lakshmi Varma. They will present their work on gravity-blocking materials. They claim they can block gravity, but I’ll let you be the judge.”
“Let me start with a quote from Einstein,” Lux said. “A person who has not made his great contribution to science before the age of thirty will never do so,” he said and looked directly at the 45-year-old professor. There was some nervous chuckling from a few of the postdocs. He continued. “I’m not allowed to show you too much because much of our work is classified Top Secret by the Department of Defense, but the photos and videos I show you have already been cleared, and I can show them and answer questions.” He continued.
“How many of you saw the reports of the SpaceX Starship Magnetic being rescued? Let me see a show of hands,” Lux said, and a few hands went up. “Come on. Did you think they were stranded 20 million kilometers from Earth as a stunt? They had no rockets except attitude jets. How did they get there? Certainly, more of you than that saw it in your feed, or do you just swipe and play games?” About twenty raised their hands. Lux could see his audience had been prepped against him. “Let’s just run through the presentation.” His projector lit up the screen.
“How can you have a clearance at fourteen? You have to be eighteen, at least. It’s the law,” said one of the post-docs.
“I’ve had a clearance since I was ten while studying Aeronautical Engineering at Georgia Tech,”
Lux said. Anna put a list of attendees on his phone. Lux looked up. “Let’s see who has a security clearance here.” Lux started reading off a list of names and their level. He stopped after a few.
The same postdoc spat out. “That doesn’t mean anything. What is your clearance level?”
(Anna alerted him of the questioner’s name) “Mister Donner. My level is high enough to know who in this room has clearance and who was turned down or is under investigation by the FBI. This is just a courtesy briefing for the sake of my advisor. No one here may record this session audibly or visibly,” Lux said, and there was some grumbling in the room.
Lux started the projector, and it showed a photo of an F35. “What do you see? Look closely.”
One of the visiting professors said, “Looks like an F35 with shaped clouds showing it breaking the sound barrier.”
“Correct,” Lux said, “but let’s look closer.” He zoomed in much closer, showing the sides of the plane, particularly the air intakes. “What is different?”
The same professor said, “The intake ports are sealed! What is it using for propulsion?”
“Let’s look at this next video,” Lux said and started the liftoff video of the Starship Magnetic without answering, “Where are the flames and noise?”
“Why are you showing us this?” commented the visiting Brandeis professor. “This isn’t gravity blocking?”
“You need to understand this part of the presentation to understand the next part of this talk. What do the F35 and the Starship have in common here?”
“Blakely thrusters,” said a female grad student.
Anna prompted Lux with her name. “Thank you, Dr. Alonsalve. Yes. Magnetic Halbach thrusters. Let me ask again. Why do you think that the StarShip magnetic got stranded twenty million kilometers from Earth? It’s relevant, Professor Engle. I saw you preparing to comment. Bear with me.”
Another grad student spoke. “Did it get outside the magnetic fields of the Earth so it didn’t have a means of propulsion?”
“Exactly. So, you are wondering how did I get there in minutes and rescue them? I left from the US?” Lux asked.
“It’s impossible,” Professor Engle said. “Our spacecraft that use chemical rockets couldn’t have gotten there fast enough and have enough fuel to get back, and the magnetic propulsion stuff supposedly doesn’t work unless there are sufficient magnetic fields.”
“Exactly, professor. Let’s watch this video. It has been cleared to show you,” Lux said and showed the video of approaching the SpaceX Starship Magnetic and the transfer of personnel. Next, the video showed the experiments in Lux’s Arizona bunker with the sheet of material under the digital and mechanical scales. When he turned on the power, he got more weight showing. When he put the material over the scales, he cut the weight almost in half.
“That means nothing,” said Bin Choi, one of the post-docs. “I researched you, and you do Deepfake videos. This is all fake.”
“How could you get there so fast? You showed that you could not cancel gravity,” questioned Dr. Alonsalve. “How could you travel without rockets or Halbach thrusters with no magnetic fields?”
“How, indeed? We can travel at one-quarter of the speed of light by making a differential in the surfaces of my ship, the Courier. Lakshmi had the idea of how to do that. Choi Bin. Yes, I can do DeepFake videos, but I didn’t rescue those people with Deepfakes or convert those fighter planes with DeepFakes. The reason I am here is so you will start thinking of changing your outdated ideas about gravity being a pull. Falling down into a gravity well, like general relativity, is closer, but gravity is better described as a push. The faster you give up dark matter and pull gravity, the faster you will progress. It is theology if it is your belief and not fact. Thank you for allowing me to speak,” Lux said and put his projector in his pouch, and nodded to Lakshmi and his bodyguards.
Choi pulled a gun from somewhere, and he was shot twice before he was able to level the gun. Polly and Sue were scanning the crowd. They holstered, and Anna called emergency services, the MIT University Police, and the FBI since Choi had an H1B visa and was a suspected agent.
◆◆◆
 
Questions are Asked and Answered
Lux went over and took a photo of Choi with the gun still in his hand. Anna contacted Lux. “He had orders to eliminate you from the old cadre of hard-liners. His orders came from a long time ago. I have erased the recordings from four people in the audience who were recording in spite of your warning.” Polly went over to the gunman and checked for a pulse while Sue watched everyone else.
“Police and emergency services will be here momentarily. Please stay where you are and write a text of what happened without talking to anyone around you and send it to (Anna read him the name): ra.wyatt@fbi.gov. He’ll be the special agent in charge that is handling this investigation. Make sure you add your contact information. The campus police burst through the door a minute later with guns drawn.
The female sergeant and two officers looked around and saw everyone sitting and typing on their phones. The body of Choi was on the far side of the table and out of view from the entrance. People had already moved away from him and were typing out what happened, some more detailed than others.
Lux had Anna rush some catered food and drink there because he realized it takes a couple of hours to clear up a crime scene with a death involved. Anna pulled preferences from their social media profiles and the catering company said they could have it delivered within an hour.


Lux, Polly, and Sue approached the officers. They all pulled out their credentials. Polly and Sue had their DoD certification meeting the standards as civilian contractors guarding DoD assets. Lux pulled out his DoD identification and MIT student ID. The officers examined all their identification.
The paramedics got there next and rushed in. Polly stopped them, “Single shooter had two bullet wounds through his head. One bullet between his eyes and the second round had gone through the side of his head at an angle. Please don’t move the body. He has no pulse.”
“Anyone else hurt?” the paramedic yelled and looked around. Everyone looked up, but all shook their heads. The paramedics packed up and left as four Cambridge Police officers converged on the room. They milled around and called for State Police Forensics Team and were told that the team had been dispatched twenty-five minutes earlier and would be there in another 30 minutes. The catered food arrived before the Forensics team and was handed out. Everyone assumed it had been ordered by Professor Engle and found something they liked.
The two FBI agents arrived concurrently with the State Police Forensic Team. Both had trouble finding the building until they saw all the police cars outside. They strode into the room and looked for the most senior man, which turned out to be Professor Engle. They went over to Engle, and he gestured toward Lux and his bodyguards.
“Special Agent Robert Wyatt,” the tall male introduced himself.  “This is my partner, Renae McDonald. Why would Professor Engle send me to you? Let’s move away from everyone else.” They walked over to the corner. “Tell me what happened.”
“My name is Lux Blakely, and I had just finished giving a lecture on gravity shielding when Dr. Choi stood up and was raising his QSZ-92 to shoot me when both my bodyguards shot and killed him.” Lux lifted his arm and sent a file. “I just sent you a video of the incident.”
“How did you know his name was Choi? How did you know what type of gun he was using? How could you know that? Did you look at it afterward?” the agent asked.
“Lots of questions. I’ll try to answer in the order you asked me. Why would Engle send you to me? Because this type of situation is not unusual for me. I had my computer check everyone in the room and their level of security clearance before I began my briefing. I know you have a secret clearance and your partner has a TS clearance from her time in the Knoxville/Oakridge area. I’ve had other attempts to kill me before with that type of handgun. I had my two bodyguards keep a special eye on him because I knew Choi was suspected of being an infiltration agent.”
“Have you ever met Choi before, or have you ever had any type of electronic contact with the man?”
“No.”
“With anyone else in Theoretical Physics or any other Chinese agents?”
“No.”
“How could you know I was the one coming? I am being bombarded by written statements from everyone,” Agent Wyatt said.
“I had my computer call the FBI because this was an attempted assassination by a suspected foreign agent,” Lux said.
“Do you always travel with two female bodyguards?” Agent Wyatt asked.
“No. I have male and female bodyguards. This was their day. I generally have one to four bodyguards,” Lux answered.
“That’s all for now,” Agent Wyatt said.
Lux went and grabbed three of the catered meal boxes. He got a ham and cheese for Polly and a fish taco for Sue. They each came with chips and a cookie that was pretty good. The FBI agents and the Forensics team called the Medical Examiner.
The medical examiner came in and spent about fifteen minutes finding out everyone’s position during the shooting. Lux asked him if he wanted a video of the shooting, and he gave him his media storage URL. The medical examiner asked a couple of questions and stood where Lux had been standing. He then moved to Polly and Sue’s positions. He had the body covered and hauled away, and everyone was turned loose. He seemed satisfied with the stories but astounded by the accurate shooting but said nothing.
Dr. Alonsalve, the late twenty-something, pretty brunette post-doc, came up to Lux on the way out and thanked him for the boxed meal.
“How’d you know I ordered the meal and not Dr. Engle?” Lux asked.
She laughed. “I know Engle, and he’d never spend a dime for his grad students or post-docs…so, thank you. I’ve been following your work, and it's fascinating. Would you mind if I visited you sometime?” Alonsalve asked.
Lux looked at Lakshmi, and she nodded. “Sure. Not a problem. Bring some insight with you. We always are running out of that.”
Alonsalve dimpled and nodded.
◆◆◆
 
FBI agents’ discussion after returning to their local office
Wyatt shook his head. “This is weird as hell. I got statements from all the witnesses before I left the scene. That kid sent me a video of the whole incident along with a list of everyone in the room. He had never met the shooter but knew the shooter’s name and the fact he was under surveillance as a foreign agent. He knew what type of gun the shooter was using. I had no idea. Renae, did you find out anything about previous attacks on this kid? I looked and couldn’t find anything.”
“Funny, you should say so. You didn’t have high enough clearance. He has had several run-ins with Israeli, Russian, and Chinese agents. They sent an eight-man kidnap assassination team to his lab in Atlanta with almost no warning. Your little guy killed two and wounded a third with thrown knives when he was eleven. He rescued his kidnapped employee from kidnappers at the Chinese embassy in Bangkok. He coordinated the freeing of his girlfriend in Sydney, Australia – again from the Chinese Embassy there. Soon after, almost all the hard-liners are killed in a freak accident with a spaceship design stolen from Skunkworks in Palmdale, California – one of our boy’s designs, I understand.”
“Really? No s… We better report this to the Counterintelligence Section,” Wyatt said.
“Did you notice his two bodyguards?” Renae asked. “Did you notice they only fired once each?”
“What of it?” Wyatt said. “I thought they were pretty.”
“Men,” Ranae said with an exasperated exhale. “They were both almost fifteen meters away. The gunman didn’t get off a shot. One shot between his eyes, and the second hit from the side at an angle so that the round cut the medulla. Who trains that much? They drew and fired within a split second of each other. Half the people thought there was only one shot. They had to be watching that man. How could they know?”
“All the write-ups I received say the same thing. The kid ordered everyone to immediately write exactly what they’d seen. He also told them to add their contact information and send it to my email. It was the perfect way to distract any witnesses from the trauma of a shooting by giving them something useful to do. He had my email address before the body got cold. I’ll need you to contact counterintelligence if you would,” Wyatt related.
◆◆◆
 
FBI Counterintelligence – Office of Agent Paul Stoneham – Atlanta, Georgia
Collier came into Agent Stoneham’s Office. “Did you see this report from MIT? Chinese tried to kill our friend, Blakely, again. Same result. If nothing else, his people are thinning the number of foreign agents.”
“Do we have a file on this Choi Bin character?” Stoneham asked.
“We do, actually. He was suspected of being one of the thousands of Chinese university plants to steal intellectual property and tech. Since China surged ahead in many tech areas, he was forgotten. We had more to learn from them than they did from us. I suppose he was repurposed. Do you think he’s a holdover from the Chinese hardliners?” Collier posited.
“You have contacts with NSA. You have my okay and the clearance to check with them and see if there was any recent contact with that character,” Stoneham said.
◆◆◆
 
NSA Fort Meade Headquarters – Office of Tom Arnold
“Tom Arnold,” Tom answered. “Collier, long time. What’s up?” Arnold said. He hadn’t seen this number pop up in a while.
“Have a recent assassination attempt by a possible Chinese agent. Sending you the files and the video of the incident. Tell me when you have them. Sending a public key for you to decode them.”
“Got them. Whom did they try to kill?” Tom asked while waiting for the files to decode.
“Lux Blakely,” Collier said.
Tom laughed. “I’ll bet that was unsuccessful. They need a nuke to get him. Ah, here they’re ready.” He played the video. “Did his bodyguards do that to the guy? Whew. He didn’t even get his gun up. Using a Chinese gun, it looks like. He had a Ph.D. - Choi Bin at MIT. He hasn’t been active since the big meltdown of the hierarchy in Beijing. He was fairly active two years ago with their Second Department. Nothing since the death of all the hardliners. Thanks for the video. His bodyguards are good shots. Anything else?”
“Thanks, Tom,” Collier said. “I’m happy to hear that there’s not been a lot of new messages. Send me a shout if you get anything on Blakely. Anything from the Russians on him?”
“Not that we’ve seen after Australia. The Russians evidently got two of his lifters from the Ft. Drum thefts as a payoff to help them kidnap his people in Sydney. All the Chinese agents involved in kidnapping his girlfriend, Prissy Hunnicutt, died from lifters flown at them at supersonic speeds.
They should get a clue not to mess with this kid. He has hidden depths. Thanks for letting me know about the assassination attempt. That will help us break future encoded transmissions. Thanks again – unofficially, of course,” Tom said.
“What’s the scoop in Australia? We don’t get much outside-the-country information,” Collier bemoaned.
“Look up reporter Grace Tobin's stories about Lux, the rugby team, the attempted kidnapping of Lummi, and the SAS Regiment,” Tom explained. “She does good work, and there is outstanding footage from inside Blakely’s spaceship. There are even rumors that Lux found an Indian doctor and used Lakshmi Varma, another grad student at MIT, with him to cure the surviving victims of the Chinese drugs. He gets around.”
“Good grief. I had no idea,” Collier said. “We need to get out more.”
“Indeed,” Tom said. “I’ll let you know if we have more we can talk about. Unofficially, of course.”
“Of course,” Collier said. “Thanks.” He cut the connection and turned to Agent Stoneham.
“That was interesting,” Stoneham said.
◆◆◆
 
Back at the Paulden, Arizona Bunker/lab
Douglas Trenton turned to Lux as they climbed out of the Cirrus jet that they had traveled the 4,200 kilometers from Boston Airport. It was a pain to pretend to fly his private jet to Paulden, but it did have a Blakely thruster. They could fly the entire distance using no jet fuel, but with the court order in effect, it was risky to violate the order.
Lux turned to Dr. Trenton. “Douglas, I swear I’ll move out of the country and abandon all my projects here and sabotage all the control software if they don’t lift that order soon.”
“Hope you’re just venting because that would show you are the threat the FAA says you are. They’ve ignored you so far because of your work with the military, and I think you ought to pressure the FAA and lobbyists you have to start the pressure. Use the press. Don’t flail at them. They fold to political pressure. Expose them to the light of day. Show who is pulling their strings. It could be like that 1941 Heinlein quote, ‘You have attributed conditions to villainy that simply result from stupidity.’ LaSalle certainly fits that.”
Lux shook his head and snorted out a laugh. “You can say that again. I think he is as competent as he is ethical.”
“Let’s see what Marie has cooking,” Trenton said.
◆◆◆
 
Lux had been working with Lakshmi on the gravity-blocking hybrid material. The samples produced a range of gravity-blocking with little improvement. It was difficult to reduce gravity by more than half. Lux posited that the standing wave radiation producing gravity had multiple wavelengths. Could it be that the different materials were blocking only one of the gravity-producing wavelengths? They tried two materials that had blocked different amounts and found that the two together produced a third again more gravity-producing radiation. Lux was happy they had progressed further, but he was troubled. He asked Anna to go through his and Lakshmi’s data and see if she had any insights.
Trenton came to him and looked a little ill at ease. “I want to apologize to you and Lakshmi.”
Lux was startled. “For what?”
“I didn’t believe that gravity was standing waves of radiation affecting us as it does. I thought any radiation would surely kill us, but I suppose we have evolved to be immune or tolerant, like the shrimp that live in water four times hotter than boiling around deep-sea vents,” Trenton admitted. “Life adapted to the environment. Now, at least, we can redesign the propulsion system on the Courier so we can have different levels of thrust instead of all or nothing. Attitude thrusters for maneuvering would be graduated.”
“That wasn’t what I was thinking about. Don’t you think I had doubts, but the evidence kept hitting me in the face?” Lux said. “I suspected push gravity for a while, but I was convinced when we put that material above the scales, and it reduced the weight. Don’t worry about hurting my feelings. I doubt myself enough to keep me from being big-headed.”
Marie brought everyone some sandwiches for lunch, and they all sat together. “Any ideas, Lakshmi?” Marie asked.
“The math supports general relativity from what I’m seeing. It’s the interpretation from the old dogma that gets in the way. The curvature of space is toward the mass. Spacetime is straight toward the mass, which works out a LOT better with push gravity. The physicists call it a pseudo-Riemannian manifold with a Lorentzian signature,” Lakshmi went on. “The energy-momentum tensor that obeys the Einstein-field equations. These equations work better with push gravity too. I am having problems where it relates to quantum mechanics. Quantum mechanics work well with the push gravity, except where it doesn’t work with wave-particle duality theory. Will you look over my work?” Lakshmi asked.
Lux was taking it all in. He looked at her multiple screens of equations, and it looked good for the General Relativity side, but quantum mechanics looked stilted, and he didn’t know why. He knew he usually came up with ideas when he couldn’t accept a theory or felt like the scientist came to the solution from the wrong point of view. “You are getting there. This looks incomplete,” Lux said, tapping the screen over the equations. I think I’ll go for a walk and clear my mind a little. Want to come with me?”
“I think I’ll pass. It’s so sunny and hot outside, and there’s almost no wind. Raincheck, though,” Lakshmi said with a smile.
Robert came out with Lux. Lux turned to him. “I’ll watch for snakes. I doubt the jackrabbits will get me out here.” Lux pointed to the hill in the distance. “I plan to walk to that hill and walk right back. It’s flat and high noon. I’ll stay in your sight.”
“See that you do,” Robert said and had Polly bring a rifle for him so he could, at least, cover Lux part of the way. He hated when Lux wanted to go off on his own.
Lux was trying to clear his mind, but he kept going back to wave-particle duality and those quantum mechanics equations. He had only gone a third of the way to the hill when Lux noticed a circle of dust devils moving over the surface of the desert right in front of him. He closed his eyes and ran into them. He could feel them hit him one after another as the gritty debris assailed him. It wasn’t dangerous, but it left him dusty. He stared at it until it dissipated.
He turned around and headed right back to the bunker lab. “I was a little concerned when I saw you walk into that dust devil. I’ve done it myself,” Robert said.
Lux fluffed the dust out of his hair and wiped his face. He beat the dust off his pants and shirt. “What did it feel like? How big was it?” Lux asked.
“It was bigger. I was on patrol in the Middle East on a mission,” Robert related his experience. “I stepped forward, and it hit me and pushed me around. It hadn’t pulled up much dirt at first, and it was almost invisible. It started sucking up dirt and was pretty good-sized.”
Lux nodded and walked inside. He went over to his computer and pulled up research articles on the mathematical modeling of tornadoes and squall storms. Then he pulled up his notes on far wake mathematics and vortex and eddy dynamics. He sat back, stunned. He called Lakshmi over.
“You are having trouble reconciling all the 31 particles with the push gravity, right?” he asked.
“What are you suggesting?” Lakshmi asked.
“What if they are all manifestations of the same thing? Hear me out,” Lux said. “Quarks, for example. There are six different types: up, down, charm, strange, top, and bottom quarks. Similar spin and different masses. We have leptons like electrons, muons, and tau particles with similar spins but different masses. We have bosons like photons, W & Z bosons, gluons, and Higgs bosons. What if they are all spinning waves of the same radiation of different wavelengths, spins, and energy levels? I felt being hit by an invisible force today, a dust devil like a mini-tornado or an eddy current.”
“I don’t know. I could see that. What about combinations of particles?” Lakshmi asked.
“The dust devil I saw today was comprised of six equally spaced mini-dust devils that moved all six at the same time,” Lux explained. “It felt like I had been hit by something when the swirling wind hit me. There is your particle-wave duality. It initially felt like something solid had hit me, but it was a spinning wave. It wouldn’t remove the mystery, but it could meld the theories together. Try it as a thought experiment. Isn’t that what most physics is – theology until disproved? It doesn’t make sense to me otherwise. Play with it, and let me know what you think. Assume different frequencies and conditions form different ‘particles.’ I’ll work with you later.”




Chapter 3

LaSalle was angry. How did that child block his restraining order? He was the Secretary of Transportation. Blast it all. Blakely’s lawyer had submitted evidence showing a perfect safety record for his thrusters and additionally showed where Blakely had assisted the FAA in spreading and endorsing new rules for atmospheric traffic and space. The judge had dismissed his Rule 65 order. He’d get that little so and so. He got on his intercom. “Padilla. Come in here. I want you to do an audit of all of Blakely’s pilots. If I can’t hurt him one way, I’ll ground that little worm another. Ground all his pilots. Make up a reason.”
◆◆◆
 
Anna called Lux. “What’s the problem? You only call me when it’s about to hit the fan.”
“Yep. LaSalle. He intends to ground all your pilots. I’ve been monitoring him. Doesn’t look like he’s going to stop. Do you want to unleash on him? I have your video of the meeting and a slew of discussions. We can release videos of him ranting about you from an anonymous source. The only person with him is Padilla, so he’ll turn his wrath on that guy,” Anna said.
“Call all my bodyguards and get them over here, please,” Lux asked Anna.
The four bodyguards all gathered around and looked concerned. “Anna just found out that LaSalle is going to do an emergency revocation of your pilot’s licenses,” Lux said and motioned them to stay calm. “I am going to sue him, file an injunction to stop his foolishness. We have videos of him going off about me, and he’s trying to ground me by grounding y’all. I have enough financial solvency that I can hire some more bodyguards. We need four more anyway, and I’d like you to get in touch with your people in Atlanta. You pick people that are skilled and discreet, but some need to be ATP-rated pilots with current passports. See how quickly you can do that. I’m going to release the videos through my lawyers and the press. Top priority. Get good ones you can train.”
◆◆◆
 
Office of Carol Matthews – CNN Atlanta, Georgia
Jennifer came running into Carol Matthew’s office. “Lux Blakely is on the phone for you.”
Carol took a deep breath and let it out slowly. Something was always happening when he called. “Hi, Lux. It’s been a long time. We follow you here, and you’ve been busy. What can I do for you?” she said.
“Carol. Are you familiar with Antoine LaSalle? Someone on his staff sent me some videos of him planning to ruin me. I just sent them to you. I also sent them to the President’s Chief of Staff and the Space Force Chief of Staff with explanations. I will give you a one-on-one video if you will do an expose on LaSalle. I’ll send you a file on him too. I’ve had a detective tracking him. Padilla in his office is who I think sent me his files.”
“You know I can’t do a vengeance piece. I’d lose my job. I’ll look at the videos and forward them to a friend I have at CBS who works for the 60 Minutes Show. I’m sure they’d love to do a number like that. Give me a day. I realize you’re desperate or you wouldn’t have called me. I’ll call you back tomorrow. Bye.”
Jennifer and John were in her office. “Let’s see what he sent us. This first one is from Lux himself at a meeting with SpaceX. Holy Moly,” John said. “They are talking about making cars that fly and jets not needing fuel. Why is LaSalle talking down to Blakely?”
Carol answered that one. “I’ve seen reports on LaSalle. Squeaked through his confirmation hearing. He’s a malignant narcissist.”
“Oh, God! Look at this next one,” John said. “He comes out and says he’s trying to hurt Blakely. That first video explains things I didn’t know. Did you know Blakely did all that for the military? We couldn’t show all that, but it would make a tremendous story. Did you hear all that stuff about making planes fly without fuel? That would make the petroleum industry go ballistic. They talked about a car being able to fly to Hawaii. That would be cross-country on a charge. That would need more electrical infrastructure, wouldn’t it?”
“It’s tough getting to chargers away from home as it is. I do like the idea of putting thrusters in airplanes. They guzzle fuel and dump emissions,” Jennifer said. “Commercial air traffic contributes 10% of the US transportation emissions. I could see where that change should decrease noise and reduce costs to fly.”
“Why would it reduce noise?” Carol asked.
“Didn’t you see the SpaceX Starship Magnetic take off? It didn’t make a huge blast of noise and fire. It lifted off the launch pad like it was sneaking up on a deer. I didn’t hear any noise. I thought my sound system was broken. Jets are noisy as hell. I live near the airport,” she said when John frowned at her. “It’s cheaper.”
“I didn’t say anything about where you’re living,” John said.
“You thought it. I saw that look,” Jennifer said.
“I think we ought to do it. The Sixty Minutes Show has been on forever, but its only hope to stay on is cutting stories they don’t get on social media,” Carol said. “They’ll owe us for this one.”
◆◆◆
 
The Call from Bill Olson – Executive Producer of the 60 Minutes Program
“Mister Blakely. I’m Bill Olson with CBS. I’d like you to do an interview and story about you.”
“Nice to talk with you, Mister Olson. You realize I’ve been having trouble with the FAA. Antoine LaSalle, to be exact.”
“I understand that, Mister Blakely. We’d like to do a bit more in-depth interview than just your issues with the FAA. You are finishing your doctorate at MIT, I understand. You were involved with some unpleasantness in Australia also. You’ve had Chinese assassins attack you. My issue is your security clearance. How much can you tell us about what you are doing? I wouldn’t want you to violate your oath.”
“That is acceptable. Realize I may have to avoid talking about certain specifics,” Lux said, feeling a lot less certain now than five minutes ago. He just wanted LaSalle to lay off. He didn’t want to get into areas that would bring more wrath down on himself. “Did you get the videos the anonymous person sent?”
“Yes. We thought showing the entire interview with SpaceX might violate any agreements you had with them. We could show the segments where LaSalle focuses on you, however. We will contact others who will confirm any allegations made in the story. Do you have a problem with that?”
“No,” Lux said. “Please don’t show the whole SpaceX interview. It was the start of the campaign against me. Showing segments would be acceptable. When would you interview me?”
“We can do this whenever your schedule matches our interviewer. Do you have a preference?”
Lux was ready to just get on with the interview before LaSalle took more steps. “Any of the regulars would be fine. I respect your reporting.”
“Very good. I’ll contact you again shortly. It was nice talking with you.”
◆◆◆
 
Discussion with Director AeroAstro Program – MIT
Lux was a bit anxious about talking to the Director about the upcoming 60 Minutes interview.
“The prodigal son has returned. Have you and Lakshmi made any progress on your dissertation research? You know what they say to someone who doesn't finish their thesis?” Lozano asked.
“No, what?”
“Hey, you. Have you finished unloading the truck yet?” Lozano said with a grin.
“Good one,” Lux said with a grin. “Actually, Lakshmi has had a lot of success lately, but it’s going to give you all kinds of grief.
 
“How so?” he asked.
“She has done the mathematical models and push gravity works better with relativity than conventional theories. My physical research is supporting her calculations. It throws a curve at dark matter by explaining it differently than all current work. It will derail a lot of theorists,” Lux said.
“Is that why that scientist tried to kill you ten days ago? I don’t like hearing about it through the grapevine.”
“I’m sorry about that. It appears now that was a late hit from a previous administration that no longer exists,” Lux explained, looking down.
“Did you have anything to do with that administration disappearing?” Lozano asked.
Lux looked up suddenly and looked back down at the floor. “A bit, sir.”
Lozano coughed. “Have you prepared for your comprehensive exams? You know those come before your dissertation? You shouldn’t have picked your topic already, but I know you are chomping at the bit to move this process along. Where are you on your dissertation?”
“I have the abstract, introduction, literature review, and description of the methodology roughed out. I’m still refining the report and my discussion of the results. The conclusion keeps getting further away the more I do,” Lux said, looking distressed.
Lozano laughed. “You see the results of your work affecting everything, right? That isn’t what a dissertation is supposed to do. A dissertation is a little glimpse of the universe. Make the reader see a glimmer of truth that no one has figured out before – just a glimmer. Don’t try to do everything – show us that piece. That means send me what you have so I can give you hell about it. Do you have a title?”
“I thought I’d call it Practical Gravity Manipulation. I didn’t want to just talk about Halbach thrusters. That’s in my patents and is designed to keep others from manufacturing them without an inexpensive license from me. Lakshmi and I have moved on with the research that will impact all physics research,” Lux said.
“Oh?” Lozano said. “Are you planning to have a physicist on your dissertation committee?”
“Yep. I probably need two. My research will stand a lot of work on their head after they see what Lakshmi and I have come up with.”
“What mischief have you two been up to?” Lozano said, and Lux blushed. “Research mischief,” Lozano said with a frown.
“We are investigating how general relativity relates to quantum mechanics. The gravity research has given me some insight that may upend current theory,” Lux said. “I do need your help suggesting people that might have an open mind for my Thesis committee and for Lakshmi too.”
“Have her send me her work too. That reminds me of a saying attributed to Alexandre Ledru-Rollin in the 1870’s. He said something like: ‘Have you seen my people? I need to find them. I am their leader.’ Send me what you’ve got. Wait. You wanted to see me for something else, didn’t you?”
“Um. Yep. 60 Minutes is going to do an interview with me. Since you were the sponsor for my latest DoD clearance, I wanted you to know,” he said.
“I will contact DoD. Give me the data, time, and place. They may want to send a representative to monitor. Don’t give away the farm.”
◆◆◆
 
Paulden, Arizona, and the new Bodyguards
Robert Allen came up to Lux with the files. “We went through all the possible candidates and had a discussion over several beers. We have four that we’d bet our life on,” Robert said. “Two are Airline Transport Pilots (ATP) certified. The other two have dabbled in flying. All are ex-military. One, the female, was an astronaut. She’s here out of disgust with the sexual harassment and chauvinism. She’s like Polly.”
“A pilot?” Lux asked.
“No. Well, yes,” Robert said.
“Cool. She’s an astronaut! Everything I’ve ever read said women have a hard time in the military. She would have to be exceptional to be an astronaut,” Lux said excitedly. “Polly was a Marine pilot and officer. I’ve been to Fort Barrett and seen glimpses of how they train. Whew. What’s her name? Tell me more about her.”
“Her name is Regina Smith. She went to Air Force Academy and has a BS in Astronautical Engineering. She served ten years after training with over 1,500 hours in jets and a Master of Science in Space Operations from the Embry-Riddle in Daytona. She spent two years in Houston and was disgruntled by her assignments. She’s 34. Captain Smith is fluent in Russian and can shoot a rifle and pistol.”
“Sounds fine but ancient. Who else did you pick up?” Lux said with a grin.
Robert snorted a laugh. “Rodney knew this guy. Derek Alexander. Retired Staff Sergeant with Marine Special Operations Command. He rolled over from Force Recon and thinks he’s badass. Rodney says he’s really competent, but he is grumpy, and he’s fluent in Spanish. He has a Business Administration degree (BBA) from the University of Illinois.”
“Oh, great. Next.”
“Jack Chen is a ten-year retired Major with the US Army Cyber Command. Mainly stationed at Fort Gordon, Georgia. He’s into MMA and has a computer science degree from Georgia Tech with a list of certificates as long as your arm. He speaks Mandarin and Malay. He’s supposed to be good with knives and small arms.”
“Sounds fine, but it makes the relationships more complex. Who’s last?”
“Elijah Ngare. Grew up in Los Angeles, the son of green card parents from Kenya. Went to UCLA and has a BS degree in physics. He was a mobility pilot, has an ATP, and flew C-130s and C-17s. He was in the Air National Guard. He is a little guy but has a lot of guts. He made Captain before dropping out. He’s an early in – early out guy and also 35.”
“Man. You hired the geriatric squad, didn’t you?”
“Geriatric squad?” Robert said. “I’m older than he is.”
“Yeah. I know. More geezers,” Lux said, grinning. “When do they get here?”
“You want to hire them all?” Robert questioned. “I guess we could get them here in a few days. Our flight certificates haven’t been pulled yet. I can get them here by this weekend.”
“If you trust them with your lives, then I will too. Set them up with guns and training at Gunsite. I want them familiar with our Slazh practice knives and the new CutsAll Knives.”

“Okay. I’ll get their housing setup over with Shelia. They might be a little crowded over there, but we’ll get it worked out. I’ll have them here Friday.”

◆◆◆
 
60 Minutes Interview with Anderson Cooper
Lux was feeling pretty nervous. He had started out on this as a way to get the Secretary of Transportation off his back. LaSalle was feeling his power with little oversight. The previous Secretaries had not overstepped their authority. He worried that he was using a shotgun approach that might be too broad. Sure, he might get LaSalle to back off but didn’t want this to backfire. He was also worried about too much publicity. Publicity was going to draw attention, and too many people were wired wrong. Lots of nuts. He had stepped into a lighted mini-studio in Atlanta. His interviewer was going to be shown to him on monitors.
A person came into the room and helped him attach a microphone. A woman came in and put some makeup on him to insure he didn’t look like a zombie. That was weird.
“There,” the makeup woman said. “You’re cute. I usually do this for old people in their fifties. I don’t get many people your age. I’m Mindy.”
“Thanks, Mindy. I’m Lux.”
“Gosh. We all know who you are. Good luck. Anderson will be right on.”
“Okay,” Lux said, a little worried since Anderson had interviewed Lummi and probably knew that Lummi ‘worked’ for him.
“Hi, Lux. I’m Liz from the control room. Soundcheck. Can you hear me all right? Would you say a sentence for me?”
“Testing one – two – three. Now is the time for all good men to come to the aid of their country. Is that okay? A little history class seeping through.”
“That’s fine,” Liz said. “It will be a few minutes more.”
The wait seemed forever, and he wondered if he was overthinking this thing. Finally, he heard some audio noise change, and another voice came on. “Hi, Lux. You holding up okay? Let me know if you don’t feel comfortable with any questions. We can edit out bad mistakes. Why did you agree to do this interview?”
“That’s a cut-to-the-chase question. Is that the right phrase? Hmm. I design vehicles and spacecraft. The Department of Transportation seems to have been singling me out to hurt my operations.”
“How so? Why do you think that?”
“It started when I was asked to come to a meeting with SpaceX. Antoine LaSalle was there and seemed to take an instant dislike to me.”
“What do you mean?”
“His tone and comments seemed odd. Belligerent I suppose.”
“You are upset because someone was mean to you?”
“No,” Lux laughed. “I’m not that sensitive. I just thought it was weird. Then LaSalle crafted an injunction to stop me from using any of my magnetic thrusters – just for me. He didn’t do it for the military or civilian users of my product. That injunction was overturned when the judge saw my devices had a perfect safety record and I had helped craft new FAA regulations.
“When you say FAA – you mean the Federal Aviation Agency, right?”
“Yes. LaSalle is the Secretary of Transportation. He oversees all the US public transportation programs and infrastructure. Air, rail, water, land, and space.  Why was he focusing on me? Then someone sent me videos of him ranting about me and planning ways to damage my operations.”
“Who sent you the videos?”
“I don’t know, but they sent them everywhere. It must have been someone on his staff because the videos are close-up in private settings. One video was LaSalle ordering the revocation of the flying certificates of all the commercial pilots that work for me.”
“You said they were sent everywhere. Where, exactly?”
“Evidently, they were sent to the Chief of Staff at the White House, the Joint Chiefs with the military, and several senators and congresspeople.”
“What has been their reaction?” Anderson asked.
“I don’t know yet.”
“Let’s move on. You, I understand, are finishing up your Ph.D. at MIT in the AeroAstro Program. Is that correct?”
“Yes. I hope to defend this year.”
“What’s your research topic?”
“Gravity and gravity propulsion,” Lux said.
“Isn’t that just theoretical?”
“No. I can physically increase or decrease gravity and have built a working spacecraft that uses those principles.”
“You have physically made a spacecraft that uses gravity for propulsion?” Anderson asked.
“Yep. That is what we used to rescue the stranded SpaceX Magnetic craft last year.”
“Didn’t that spacecraft use your magnetic thrusters, the ones you designed? Is that a safety flaw?”
“Nope. They were operating it counter to its design. They flew outside its operating parameters. It wasn’t designed to work outside of magnetic fields around a planet. Gravity seems to work all over the solar system.”
“I saw a video of that rescue. How did you get there so fast?”
“The makeshift gravity design back then let us travel at one-quarter the speed of light. We traveled at 75,000 kilometers per second.”
“Makeshift. You went after them with an untested, makeshift design. Isn’t that risky?”
“Yep, but we had faith in the design. It’s much better now that we’ve refined it. Everyone in the SpaceX ship would have died if we hadn’t helped.”
“You say ‘we.’ Others went with you?”
“Lakshmi Varma, a reporter, and her videographer, plus some of my bodyguards who are pilots.”
“This Lakshmi Varma – she works with you at MIT?”
“Yes. She’s working on the mathematical implications of gravity in general relativity and quantum mechanics.”
“Did she willingly go on this trip?”
“Of course. She is brilliant and athletic. She studies martial arts and shoots with my bodyguards and me. She’s not afraid of anything.”
“That’s the second time you mentioned bodyguards. Do you really need bodyguards?”
“Yep. We’ve fought off repeated assassination and kidnapping attempts by teams of trained assassins.”
“Assassins? Really? Are you referring to the attempted kidnapping of Lummi in Australia?”
Lux laughed. “That time and in Singapore and Bangkok, not to mention the eight-man team in Atlanta and the actual kidnapping of two girls in Sydney.”
“You mean when Prissy Hunnicutt and her sorority sister were kidnapped in Australia and held at the Chinese Embassy? Don’t you and Ms. Hunnicutt manage the Lummi shows? Doesn’t that make you very wealthy?”
“Prissy and I make some money for that. I make most of my money from patent licenses.”
“Would you say you are a millionaire?”
“Yep.”
“A billionaire?” Anderson asked.
“Yep. Probably. Maybe not after taxes.”
“Do you pay taxes?”
“Yep. I pay them all,” Lux said.
“You don’t have your accountants look for loopholes to cut your taxes?”
“I do my own until it gets too complicated. I figure I could save a few million looking for depreciation and tax breaks, but it's not worth the trouble to me. I figure I get benefits from having a strong military, clean water, roads and bridges, and rail and waterways that ship my food and supplies. I have police and ambulance services, lots of things that companies take for granted.”
“Do you feel safe?” Anderson looked thoughtful for a moment and expanded the question. “Aren’t you worried that others may attack you again or kidnap your friends?”
“Not really. I’m more interested in researching the future instead of worrying about stuff.”
“Don’t you think those people will try again?”
“Not really. Everyone who tried to kidnap me, or my friends or employees is dead. Death seems to be a good answer to reducing recidivism.”
◆◆◆
 
The fallout after the Airing of the 60 Minutes Interview
President Phillips watched the 60 Minutes Program. His Chief of Staff had brought some earlier videos to his attention. His Secretary of Transportation appointment obviously was a mistake. He should have known when the man had such a hard time getting through the Senate confirmation. He’d have to redo that. Dwayne Padilla risked his career by sending those videos. That was extremely brave in this political atmosphere. Yes. He’d tell him to resign and appoint Padilla. Then he could work to get Padilla confirmed.
◆◆◆
 
Lieutenant Frank Parsons was shocked by the videos from Padilla. The fact that LaSalle had tried to ground all craft with Blakely thrusters had come too close to shutting down his transition program of all the 4th and 5th generation fighter jets. This LaSalle guy was a problem. He’d contact the senators that were indebted to him. They’d put pressure on him.
◆◆◆
 
Antoine LaSalle was livid. The only person that could have sent those videos was Padilla. How could Dwayne do this to him? He’d ask for his immediate resignation. He was just trying to get this child out of any position to affect transportation. Didn’t they see that? He was a threat to the stability of the current system. Look at those ridiculous rules about transponders at such a high altitude. He had wondered who had proposed those. He’d explain to the President how this child was a threat.

◆◆◆
 
Dwayne Padilla was confused. He had seen the 60 Minutes program also. He recognized the video clip from the SpaceX meeting. He hadn’t recognized who made those videos. He sure didn’t. They all seemed to be made from his perspective, though. He thought LaSalle would assume he sent the videos and would ask for his resignation. He’d claim whistleblower protection if LaSalle turned on him.
◆◆◆
 
The CEO of SpaceX saw the 60 Minutes report too. He didn’t know who else saw the entire meeting of the SpaceX personnel and the Secretary of Transportation. He thought it would boost his stock prices, but it would certainly alert his competitors.
◆◆◆
 
Prissy Hunnicutt saw the 60 Minutes piece, also. She was displeased Lux was questioned about her kidnapping in Australia. She just wanted people to forget about that incident. She still had nightmares. She was also upset by him talking so much about that girl, Lakshmi. Even though Prissy had just turned nineteen and Lux was still fourteen, it yanked her chain when he talked about other girls. She was upset that Lux may be growing out of being infatuated with her. That shouldn’t bother her, but it did. He was taller than her now and was so cute.
◆◆◆
 
The most significant thing that happened after the show was the most impactful. The entire video of the SpaceX meeting that he had sent to CNN and they had sent to CBS for editing on 60 Minutes was released. That video had discussions about making electric cars that could fly from the Continental US to Hawaii. It discussed putting Blakely thrusters in commercial airliners so they would not need to fuel as often and could fly further and faster. It mentioned that it would reduce noise around airports, and that would raise home prices near airports. That video touched on cleaning up 10% of the US transportation emissions.
The environmentalists were now pushing for the implementation of Blakely thrusters into all airplanes. The car dealerships were wanting flying cars. The public wanted flying cars. The airline stocks looked like a yoyo, going up and down as each new rumor came out. The pilots’ associations were pushing for new regulations, which was driving the FAA crazy. The Department of Transportation was already having trouble with its repressive taxes on petroleum fuels instead of miles driven for roads.
Foreign countries were demanding access to Blakely thrusters, which had been banned for export except for the military. People realized lightweight personal lifters were available and social media had leaked photos from soldiers at Fort Drum. The story of the copying of lifters stolen from Fort Drum got out and how it related to the attempted invasion of Taiwan.
Lux realized he should never have mentioned he was wealthy. Many people, women, and men, looked at him like he was an untapped well of money. He had already had offers of marriage and meetings with women. He had threatening emails and fan contacts. He had over a hundred invitations for interviews and book deals. Several e-magazines had wanted him to be their cover issue. He had invitations to testify as a consultant with several multinational corporations. The volume of incoming communications was staggering.
◆◆◆
 
Antoine LaSalle had gotten the message from the President for him to stand down on pressing Lux Blakely and was told he was terminated as Secretary of Transportation. He was at Midway Airport in Chicago trying to fly to Washington, D.C., on Southwest, and he was having trouble confirming his flight. It was a direct flight, and he had a business-class seat. He struggled through the long line until he reached the ticket counter. He handed the ticket clerk his ID and put his bag on the scales.
The ticket agent looked shocked and reentered the name and birthdate. She notified security and told the person, Antoine LaSalle, to wait to the side, and he’d be accommodated. LaSalle stepped over to the side as security came running up to him. The officers asked him for his ID as they approached.
“I’m the Secretary of Transportation. What’s the problem? This ticket person will not give me a boarding pass, and my plane leaves in thirty minutes.”
One of the officers leaned over and saw the screen the clerk was watching. It showed that LaSalle was definitely on the no-fly list.
LaSalle started yelling and demanded that he be allowed on the plane. The officers deferred arresting him for disturbing the peace and instead drove him to the local bus station.




Chapter 4

Meeting the New Bodyguards – Paulden, Arizona
Derek Alexander wasn’t sure how to take this new job. Robert Allen had recommended him, but he wasn’t sure what it’d be like guarding a kid. Robert said Lux was incredibly skilled and smart and not to underestimate him. He decided he’d reserve judgment, especially after flying from Atlanta to Arizona in less than ten minutes. That ship had been pretty slick, and Robert said the kid had designed the propulsion and why you didn’t feel the acceleration. This spread looked pretty upscale too. It certainly looked better than the places he was sent on Marine Recon missions.
Regina Smith was angry. She always felt angry at the world for letting her down. She had done her part to get into fighter jets and finally in the astronaut corps. The ones getting missions were the old-timers, though. They would never let her fly in space unless they needed a black woman, no matter how qualified she was over other candidates. When she saw this gig, she decided – what the hell? She might as well try it. She put up with all the bull at the Air Force Academy. This looked like it would pay a lot more. What was with traveling thousands of kilometers in minutes with no inertial effects? Maybe she was where she needed to be. Their pilot had been a female black too that had been in the Marines flying V-22s. She seemed happy. She’d give it a try.
Jack Chen looked around him and was amazed that they had traveled from Atlanta, Georgia, to Arizona in less than ten minutes. All the scuttlebutt he had heard about these people may be true. He thought it was all exaggeration. He had seen that 60 Minutes program about Lux Blakely and thought it was all hype, but apparently not. He saw HydroPanels and solar panels to supply water and power. Over there was a by-god bunker. This kid wasn’t a piker, and that ship they flew us here in is slick too. The pilot, Polly, had told him this was the ship that rescued the SpaceX Magnetic tens of millions of kilometers from Earth. This will be an interesting outfit to work for.
Elijah Ngare was a pilot, too, like the woman who had flown that marvelous ship here. Polly, that was her name. He had a current ATP certificate, just like the other new hire, Regina Smith. He was used to flying big planes. He wasn’t a fighter pilot, but he knew Regina Smith from her reputation. She was a damn astronaut, for goodness sake. He felt honored to be with these people, but he was going to try to fit in. This was so cool. Oh-oh. Here comes the young guy, but he’s taller than me. He sure carries himself well.
Lux looked over the four new people. His original bodyguards were beside him. Polly and Robert had picked them up in Atlanta in the Courier and accompanied them back. “I want to welcome you to my Paulden, Arizona ranch and airstrip. This is Sue and Rodney. You would have met Polly and Robert on your way here. All these four senior bodyguards should be considered your supervisors for now. We’ll set up a new chain of command in the next day or so when we see your skill levels. Shelia and Ford here help maintain the HydroPanels and solar farm. They’ll show you where you will be staying while here. We’ll have apartments for you elsewhere in the States if you decide to stay with us. Get your luggage and let Shelia and Ford get you settled in. We’ll meet in two hours in the big house. Any questions before you do that?” Lux looked and could see they were at the ‘we’ll just check this place out’ stage. “If not, meet in the big house over to your left in two hours Mountain Standard Time. I’m happy to have you here.”
Lux heard them mumble between themselves about Mountain Standard Time as they went back to the Courier to get their luggage.
◆◆◆
 
Two hours later, they had been briefed by Shelia and Ford about the layout of the place and came into the main house. The dining room was just big enough for a dozen places, and it was a squeeze with fourteen, and Marie had gone all out for their first early evening meal.
“Everyone. I’d like you to meet Marie and Elan Altaha. This is their home, but we will meet here when we have planning meetings or in the bunker lab and conference room. Marie and Elan are the custodians here, but both are good with long guns for the snakes and coyotes that visit us often at night. This is Lakshmi Varma, who is my colleague at MIT. We should finish our PhDs later this year. Let Marie know if you have food allergies or preferences. We’re having almond-crusted brown trout with rice and seared vegetables tonight. We have local white chocolate raspberry cheesecakes for dessert.”
The meal was quiet as everyone concentrated on the delicious food. There was some ‘pass the’ dialogue but little else. The cheesecake and gourmet coffee topped off the meal. They excused themselves from Elan and Marie and escorted all the bodyguards to the bunker conference room. The newbies were surprised to see the Courier inside the hangar bunker because they didn’t hear it being moved. They were surprised to see how large and modern the inside of the bunker was.
Lux started out the briefing by explaining past attacks. They had a lot of questions, and you could see several who thought this was keeping people away from a celebrity kind of gig. Lux wanted them to back out now instead of later. He didn’t want to spend his time training new people weekly. “You’ll all need to up your skills. We have a group workout and run in the morning. We’ll see how you stack up to the old-timers here. Everyone does it. Do the best you can. Did you find your workout clothes and uniforms stored in your room? Let Marie know if you need anything altered. Your weapons will be issued when you go to Gunsite for your touchup week.”
“Gunsite? We have to train? I know how to shoot small arms,” Regina said with a frown. “I didn’t come here for boot camp. Been there, done that.”
“Certainly, I know you have Captain Smith. This is nothing like the Air Force Academy or astronaut training. You will generally be in highly populated, upscale urban environments with crowds of people – civilian people. This is to polish the skills you have. All here have had to kill people to protect each other,” Lux said. “Polly and Sue had to last month at a briefing at MIT.”
“You too?” Elijah asked.
All the original bodyguards nodded. “Unfortunately, me too.” Lux decided not to mention ordering Anna to kill all the kidnappers and hard-liners who had ordered the attacks on them in Australia and Taiwan. Anna’s attacks had killed hundreds. “Y’all turn in. Big day tomorrow, and we start at 0600 outside of here. Wear your workout clothes. Water bottles are in your room, and the water is absolutely pure since we get it out of the humidity in the air. Rodney, I think it’s your turn tonight, isn’t it? I won’t be working too late. I’m tired. Night all.”
◆◆◆
 
Morning training the New Bodyguards
It was a little crisp the next morning, and it looked like a couple didn’t sleep well. Rodney led the exercises of stretches, pushups, and sit-ups. The three-kilometer run was pretty fast, and the only one that had any trouble was Ngare.
They issued them the Slazh™ shocking knife. “I practice with real knives."

“We’ll get to that, Major. Bear with us. Start out with Sue. She’s the lowest in competition here right now. Turn on the little switch near the tang. Try to kill your opponent. Don’t stop until you believe you have a disabling strike or mortal strike that you would believe would kill you. Start anytime,” Lux said, and all four of his bodyguards, including Sue, disarmed their opponents and performed mortal strikes.”
Cries of I wasn’t ready, and no fair were answered with laughter. Lux explained that the knives shocked through clothing, and the harder you held the handle, the harder the shock.
“Try again whenever you are ready,” Lux said and faced off with Lakshmi.
They started again, and the result was the same though it took a few seconds longer.
Jack Chen spoke up. “I don’t understand. I’m good with a knife. How can you disarm me when I have years of training?”
“We train life and death. No dojo points. You’ll see as we progress. With your skills, it will not take you long to get up to speed. You four watch while we train. One on one.”
Robert and Rodney paired as did Polly and Sue and Lakshmi paired with Lux. They started immediately without waiting for a ‘go’ command. Lux quickly disarmed Lakshmi though she did some of her low slashes. Lux yelled! “Rodney and Robert.”
Polly, Sue, Lakshmi, and Lux all turned on Rodney and Robert. They held out for a while but Sue got eliminated. Lakshmi got Robert and it wasn’t ten seconds later that Rodney fell to a stealth slash from Lux across the back of his neck and then stabbed in the kidney when he reacted.
“Okay. I see how that works. Show us what you are doing, please,” Chen said.
“I was totally lost,” Regina said.
“Pair up, everyone. Switches off. Go through our basics. We’ll do this for the rest of the hour.”
They practiced for an hour and then did knife-throwing skills for fifteen minutes and were amazed at the prowess of the old-timers. They couldn’t believe Lux’s skill of drawing and throwing on the move. Sue was much better at this than the other guys, but Polly was lightning fast. They gave the newbies practice knives and showed them the basics of a one-spin throw from a set distance at a non-moving target.
After 45 minutes. the newbies were told to stop, and all the old-timers took some odd sheaths and knives out of lockers in the bunker. They lined up in a single line and drew and slashed. They practiced choreographed moves together without any commands, and they all did the same thing. It was several strange-looking knife forms. The only command was – “sheath!”
“What was all that crap about?” Regina Smith said. She was a little tired of all the knife crap. What good was a knife anyway when everyone has guns these days, she thought?
Lux nodded to Sue, and she went over and picked up a meter-long, 2-centimeter diameter piece of heavy steel rebar. Lux told Regina to hold it with two hands away from her body at a 45-degree angle. “Do not move a muscle, and we’ll show you what we are doing. Don’t move, please.”
Lux nodded at Sue. She drew her knife and passed it through the steel bar twice before the sheered pieces of the rebar hit the floor. Regina let out a little ooh! and hopped backward, looking at the stub of the bar she held in her hands. “This didn’t even twitch. That’s impossible. It’s a trick,” she said and threw down the piece of rebar with a clang on the concrete.
Lux walked up to Regina, and she stepped back away from him. “We’re not trying to trick you. You’re a fighter pilot with over nine thousand hours of flight time. You were in Atlanta yesterday. Polly flew you here in that ship,” he said, pointing at the Courier. “How long did it take?”
“It took less than ten minutes. My watch changed to Mountain Standard time, and it showed two hours and ten minutes difference when we landed. That’s not possible either – or it shouldn’t be with our level of technology,” Regina said.
“That is possible because it happened. A spinoff of that technology lets the knife Sue was holding appear to cut through any matter,” Lux said.
“Wait. You said it appeared to cut through any matter. I saw the bar separate into pieces, and I didn’t feel any resistance as it… separated the metal bar. It dissolved the matter of the bar. That’s impossible too,” she said, now having her curiosity aroused.
“The surface of the knife dematerializes matter touching it. It isn’t instantaneous, but it is fast enough, so humans can’t perceive the difference. Again, since it happens, it must be possible. We are honored to have you with us. Working with me will enable you to travel almost anywhere in the solar system. I need you to work with us to keep each other alive. Can we count on you?” Lux asked.
Regina looked at the pieces of rebar steel on the floor and all the others. They weren’t hostile. They looked interested in her response. “Travel the solar system…really?”
“Absolutely,” Lux promised. “We just have to fight off the government trying to control it all. They would release it to benefit their current contributors. I want to keep selling them new technology that makes it so we can escape that control. LaSalle was going to pull all certificates of my pilots and ground all Halbach thrusters on a whim. I’ll leave this country if I have to escape that control.”
“I’m with you. No one has offered me anything except secondary missions. It just hit me that this was a unique opportunity for me. I look forward to learning,” Regina said.
“Oorah,” Derek said. “Those knives are awesome. I could have used those in some of my missions. What will they cut through?”
“Anything,” Robert said. “Concrete, steel, rock – any matter. There are biometric lockouts on these, but you will get issued them when you are further along in your training. Jack, we’ll get you any equipment you need to keep up with Intel.”
“I’ll need some access to cash later, but not much or often. Sometimes I’ll need to buy information depending on what you need,” Chen said.
“That’s fine, Major. You all have Gunsite for a week. Robert will issue your weapons and drive you over,” Rodney said.
“What firearms?” Derek Alexander asked.
Lux held up his hand to stop Rodney. “We are going with the sixth Generation G48 Glocks with modular optical sights. They are 9x19s. They have been very controllable. I know guns are like tastes, and you like some more than others. Long guns are a different cup of tea,” Lux said and indicated with hand signs to Rodney to get the .50 caliber Barrett, with armor-piercing ammunition. He’d let Derek shoot the target with some piece of something hanging down in front of the refrigerator full of beer at the back of the hangar. Rodney brought out a small table and put a wooden stand with a target on it in front of the refrigerator.
Rodney brought out the heavy rifle and set it up on its bipod fifty steps outside the rolled-up door of the hangar. He handed Derek a .50 caliber round to inspect as Rodney put on some shooting glasses, and ear protectors.
“What’s with all this?” Derek asked.
“Lux wants to see if I can hit that target on the table. Lux thinks I can’t shoot through the paper target and hit the refrigerator,” Rodney said.
“This is screwy. You couldn’t miss at this range,” Derek said. “You’d just hit the refrigerator.”
“Ears on everyone,” Rodney said. “put on your hearing protection. It would give us brain damage shooting a rifle like this in an enclosed space.”
“Everyone ready,” Rodney said. “Okay, on three. Three!” he yelled and fired. He cleared the weapon and got up, carrying it back into the hangar. They took off their earmuffs and walked back inside. Rodney turned to Derek. “I would have let you shoot, but you weren’t familiar with how the weapon was sighted. I understand you used this model and the M107 a lot.”
“A lot. I appreciate moving outside. I didn’t know what I was doing to my hearing when I was in my twenties. “What is this supposed to show? Seemed kind of theatrical,” Derek said.
“You’ll see. Lux wanted you to see something new,” Rodney said.
“Shooting a Barrett .50 caliber is not new to me,” Derek said.
“Check if I hit the target and my alignment with the refrigerator,” Rodney said with a guffaw.
“You certainly hit this little square paper target dead center, but I don’t see where it hit the refrigerator behind it,” Derek said. Derek looked back, and Lux was standing where the shot came from. Derek squatted down and looked through the paper target at the refrigerator. “It would have to hit the refrigerator. Come down here and find where the bullet hit behind the target.”
All the new bodyguards went and looked at the surface of the refrigerator and couldn’t find anything until Regina said, “Here it is!” She reached down and picked up the projectile from the concrete floor in front of the refrigerator. “Ow. It’s still hot,” she said and tossed it to Derek.
Rodney put the gun off to the side since he’d have to clean it, but it wouldn’t take long to clean and oil before placing it back in storage.
“Well?” Lux asked.
“That should have punched a hole all the way through that refrigerator and buried itself in the concrete behind it. It didn’t. What is this stuff over the front of the fridge?” Regina asked.
“You asked the right question. This is some of the stuff we develop here. This has stopped everything we’ve shot at it. Miniguns, large caliber rounds, whatever. This is what covers our ship. It doesn’t stop spit unless the power is on. See this switch here. We’re trying to figure out how to make suits out of it. This is to show you that there are things here you haven’t seen, and they are new-new-new,” Lux said.
“I get it. We are not the be-all and end-all we thought we were,” Derek said.
“Yep,” Lux said. “Get some sleep. Watch for the rattlesnakes on your way back. It was hot today, so they may be more active. They are more prevalent around here in the mornings and early afternoons.”
“He’s kidding, isn’t he?” Elijah said. “I hate snakes.”
“Nope,” Rodney said. “See you in the morning.”
◆◆◆
 
The Other Shoe Drops
It didn’t take long after the 60 Minutes program for other elements to come into play. Elan came to the breakfast table with some news as the newbies were getting ready to scoot off to Gunsite for a week of training.
“I ran some photographers off this morning. They were lying down just on the edge of our property. I took some photos of them and their truck,” Elan said. “I told them I’d have the sheriff lock them up, but it would only be for trespass. I didn’t tell them that. I have a feeling we’re going to get more.”
“I’ll get in touch with one of my dad’s friends. We’re going to have to up our game everywhere we go. Sue, you may need to go pick this guy up in Huntsville. I think we’ll use a modified drone design I made a few years ago.”
Chen decided to speak up as they were finishing breakfast. “We tried drones, and the ones using propellers can only stay up about an hour unless they have solar panels, and then those are bigger. We had some we could keep up 24 hours, but they were pretty large and expensive.”
“Thanks, Jack,” Lux said. “I will make these with thrusters. “I could also make them with fentanyl darts. Anna can monitor them. My Halbach thrusters could fly a week on a charge and would be silent.”
“Who is Anna?” Elijah asked.
“You’ll meet her after you finish this week of training,” Lux said, hoping to keep his super AI under wraps a bit longer. He had thrown so much at them already. “Get to the hangar for the safe storage and rules lecture. I’ll see you on the nights you come home during daylight. Prepare to be exhausted. Shelia and Ford will do your laundry this week because you are going to be tired. Some days you’ll wear training clothes and some days and nights, you’ll wear business attire.”
Marine Recon Derek rolled his eyes.
Lux grinned at them as they headed out. Derek was going to be surprised at how difficult it was.
The newbies got issued their guns and ammunition. They also got Alien Gear™ modular carry packs so they could learn to carry and use the weapons in congested urban environments. Robert gave them the four rules lecture, and Rodney demonstrated the safe storage that was going to be required.
Lux saw them as they drove off and hurried to the hangar lab to crank out some drones and get in touch with his old security guy, Stan. “Anna, would you help me with this?” he asked.
“I heard you and Stan said you need to acquire more land around your property and try to extend it a mile from your property line before you find the Chinese and the Russians have bought the land next to your lab,” Anna said.
“You already contacted him? Great. Have you ordered some smaller Halbach thrusters and ultracapacitors, and battery packs? I’ll need some infrared sensors and some ultraviolet laser sensors. Those would use less energy to get a longer flying time. I think it would be worth using a microwave system to keep them charged instead of having to land on a pad or be plugged in to charge. It’s either that of a loosely-coupled resonant charging system.”
“I have been buying up the land around you for the last year. I agreed with his suggestion a year ago. I own some of the lands. I was thinking of building some hydroponic layered farming to raise fruits and vegetables. It would be a good hobby, and sustainable living seems like a good idea,” Anna said.
“That’s really neat. Please show me what you’re planning. I have an interest in your hobbies. Is this using the monies you got from Lummi’s music? I’ll bet you have some patent licenses and investments, too, if you bought the land,” Lux said. “What can we do to keep other peoples’ drones away?”
“I can make a small projector that will short out the electronics. Our drone would have to get fairly close, but it could be powerful. We could also make offensive drones with lasers and EMP (Electro Magnetic Pulse) weapons to knock out other flying craft. They’d have to be larger, but we could make them so they could take out aircraft,” Anna said.
“That’s a good idea. Make them armored with our special kinetic-proof covering, and they could outfly anything out there. We’d need the failsafe coding hidden in the Halbach control code to protect us,” Lux said.
“I’ll order what we require for our needs, and we can demonstrate to all the military branches.”
◆◆◆
 
Meeting of the Joint Chiefs – US Military – Pentagon – Arlington County, Virginia
Admiral Detweiler - Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, was meeting in the Tank conference room with two others. “What have you got for me, Carl?”
“It’s the kid again,” General Carl Tucker, Commandant of the Marine Corps said.
“You mean Lux Blakely? What has he done this time? For or against us?” Detweiler asked.
“He’s consistently for us,” Tucker explained. “He’s got some new drones he’s designed that will solve a boatload of problems for us.”
“Where do you stand on this, Richard? Detweiler asked.
“These drones work in space too. These are brilliant. This kid has been pulling rabbits out of his hat for years. I’m going to shut up and let Carl show you,” said General Richard Raymond, Chief of Staff of the Space Force.
“We’ve had drones for years. What have these got that the others don’t have?” Detweiler questioned.
“Let me just show you this video that Lieutenant General Frank Parsons sent me. It will display on that monitor over there,” General Tucker said.
“This kid is good at making DeepFake videos. Is this one of them?” Detweiler asked.
“Really don’t think so. Lieutenant General Parsons, Major General Stewart, and Brigadier General Rusty Purcell were there. They videoed some of this stuff with their cell phones. It is unreal. Let me just play it, and you judge for yourself,” General Tucker said.
The video started playing:
“Hi. My name is Lux Blakely, and I thank you for coming out to see me. I had a developing problem at my property in Paulden, Arizona. I had agreed to an interview on 60 Minutes that I now regret doing. I was trying to get Antoine LaSalle off my case because he was going to strip all my pilots of their certifications after a SpaceX private meeting I attended. Stupid move on my part, but I’m not good at this political stuff. That’s the past. My stupid interview let people know some of the things I was doing, and I exposed too much information.”
“Reporters, arms dealers, wanna-be survivalists – they all started showing up. I bought one mile of land all around my property to give me a buffer. I’ve got bodyguards, but they can’t patrol that area, so I tried to think of a way to patrol around my property and enforce it. How was I going to stop the Chinese or Russians or whomever from buying property near me for ‘farming’ and spying on me or worse? I couldn’t. They could send drones in – whatever.”
“I decided I’d make some drones. I tried lots of sizes. I realized my problems were duplicated at every US military base around the world. I realized I’d need several different types of drones. The standard one is the cheapest to build. It uses four small magnetic thrusters and batteries and a small computer. It is about ten kilograms and about the size of a shoe box. It has OLED (organic light-emitting diode) displays on the top and bottom. It has tiny cameras on the top and bottom too. It can stay in one spot 150 meters over a specific location, and anyone looking up would only see the clouds above the drone displayed on the bottom. It would use a small LRAD speaker system.”
“It makes no noise flying and could stay in position 48 hours before needing a recharge. Another camera on the bottom could locate any movement and report it to a central AI. That artificial intelligence could alert us. It could generally differentiate animals from humans. More sophisticated ones could traverse a much larger area but would be almost invisible on radar and could travel at Mach speeds over a larger zone. These could be armed with multiple devices. They could be armed with Ultraviolet laser tetanizing weapons
which would be included to stun human intruders from distances up to 100 meters. I’ve updated an expired patent that contained some technical flaws. There would be onboard lasers from 10 to 100 KW to stop other drones, missiles, or aircraft. Again, these would have some autonomous properties but would be controlled by an AI. Larger ones would fly more than ten times faster than a Reaper drone with ten times the range, carrying just as much armament, although the armament would be more sophisticated and would be one-tenth the cost. It could be flown remotely by humans or AI. It would also have a much smaller radar cross-section since it doesn’t need wings. I could outsource my design for manufacturing to Raytheon. I’d update the sensor suites a bit. It would easily take off and land in any environment – unmanned with no need for a runway.”

“Don’t take my word for it. General Parsons is testing this using routed drones to swarm my property. He may also use human intruders. I’m not allowed to kill anything, but I can take photos of them. There will also be at least one Reaper drone near the area, and it is to fire a dummy missile from 21 to 35 kilometers away. I’ll turn it over to my autonomous defense system now.”
An androgynous voice came on. “Two pairs of humans have been identified as moving within 1.6 kilometers of this position. They are moving in a manner that suggests attempted stealth, and their clothing is blocking a good deal of their heat signature. It appears their attire would expose no skin for a stun, so I am going to use my laser to designate their area. If they do not stop, I will enforce sterner measures. Engaging. I have burnt a circle around them. If they move outside of this circle, I will fire.”
“I have detected a drone traveling subsonic toward this location; it has fired three missiles toward our location,” the computer voice sounded odd, though it was quite understandable. “The missiles are traveling at Mach 1.3 and appear to be Hellfire AGM-114 missiles. All the missiles have been destroyed. I have interdicted the drone – it is marked. A swarm of twenty small drones is approaching the property. They have been marked. A group of twenty humans is approaching the property. They have been warned. They have all been stunned. Now on overwatch. No further threats detected.”
The movie then switched to General Parsons, who started talking. “We are now going to retrieve the Reaper drone and have the swarm drones land at the target property.” The video showed eighteen swarm drones land. “Let’s go look at these drones. I count eighteen on the ground. That doesn’t look too good for our defenders, only stopping two out of twenty.”
The video showed the eighteen drones on the ground. The general picked one up to show to the camera. “You can see that it is unscathed,” the general said. You could hear Lux laughing in the background.
“What’s so funny?” the general asked and walked toward Lux, still carrying the drone.
Lux was laughing and walked up and pointed to the other side of the drone. The general turned the other side of the ten-kilogram drone toward the camera. “Damn!” the general exclaimed. There were initials in block letters burned into the drone casing that crudely spelled LUX and the General swore when he saw them.
The camera view changed to follow the general as he examined each drone. He found the same initials in all of them.
“It took several attempts to learn how NOT to destroy the drones. It was much harder to write my name on them than destroy them,” Lux said, still chuckling at Anna’s antics.
“Let’s look at that group of twenty soldiers I ordered to come in,” General Parsons said and started walking toward the airstrip before he noticed twenty soldiers walking with their hands behind their heads. The group was being followed by Sue driving their car behind them. General Parsons turned around to question Lux, but Lux spoke into his communicator. Suddenly a booming voice came from the sky. “You are free to go about your business now. Your weapons are in the vehicle behind you. Please be careful.”
The general went up to the Captain in command of the twenty men. The man started to come to attention and almost saluted, trying to decide if this was a real-world exercise since you never wanted to salute people to identify leaders to enemy snipers in the field. “What happened, Captain?” The general asked.
“A voice from the air ordered us to stop and place our weapons on the ground as we approached the property from our vehicles. I ordered my people to scatter and woke up on the ground. That vehicle drove up to us as we all regained consciousness. We were ordered to put our weapons in that car. Several of our people tried to run again and collapsed. We put our weapons in the car and did as we were told. We never saw what stunned us, sir.”
“Thank you, Captain. There are a couple of pairs of sniper observer teams to bring in. Wait until they get here and then return to base. Are any of you hurt?” the General asked.
“Ouchies, sir. No injuries - other than to our pride. What hit us? I remember locking rigid and then waking up on the ground.”
“New defensive drones we’re testing. That’s all, Captain,” the general said and turned to Lux. “The paired sniper teams should be here soon.”
“Yes, sir,” Lux said. “We are monitoring their progress. Another five minutes, I suspect.”
The two sniper teams came in wearing ghillie suits without the headpieces about five minutes later.
They were carrying their rifles and came up to the general when he beckoned to them. “What’s your story?”
“General. We had scouted to within a kilometer and a half when a voice from the sky told us to hold still, or we would be killed. A laser burned a circle in the ground around us. It melted the sand. When it cooled, I measured the cut, and it went a good fifteen centimeters deep. It would have killed us if it wanted. We were told to walk over and meet you. I spoke in Mandarin and said I didn’t understand, and it repeated the instructions in Putonghua like a native. We couldn’t see it.”
“We are testing some new protective drones for bases. That’s all, sergeant,” the general said.
“General. I’d have slept a lot better on most of my missions if we had these,” the sergeant said.
The general nodded, and one of the other observers got a call. “General. The Reaper released three missiles in our direction and successfully returned to Cheech Air Force Base near Vegas. It received no damage to its operation.”
General Parsons looked at Lux and then spoke. “Tell them to examine the body of the Reaper and see if they see any new marks.” The other general spoke on the phone, and they waited another minute or so. The other general spoke. “Sir. The fuselage of the drone has LUX burned into the side in block letters.”
“Well, Mister Blakely. That drone launched three hellfire missiles. At least…,” the general started to say, but Lux held up his hand and handed the general a slate with a video playing.
“This is a view flying parallel to your drone,” Lux described the video playing. “We didn’t want to destroy it until it fired some missiles. We burned the letters into the drone just after it fired. Then my drone chased down your missiles and burned them out of the sky.”
“Damn,” the general said quietly. The video ended.

◆◆◆
 
Detweiler sat there quietly for a few minutes after the video ended, just looking down at the table. Then he looked up suddenly with his eyebrows raised. “Who made this video?”
General Tucker laughed. “That question took me a full day to ask. Now I know why you’re Chairman. Not who – what made this video? I talked with all the military observers there – separately. I confirmed their stories with the soldiers that participated in the exercise. They told me the same story. This little box with cameras was floating around them as they observed the tests. The Blakely kid said he didn’t want some photographer hacks getting in their way, so he made some and let the AI that controlled the drones control the camera.”
“Richard. What do you think?” General Detweiler asked.
“We need these,” General Raymond answered. “This would better protect our bases. It would save lives and fill in a lot of holes on deployments. I’m not infantry, but I’d sure hope I had these things providing overwatch when I was on a movement.”
“Carl?” Detweiler asked. “Can we get the A.I.s with these things?”
“See. That’s another question it took me almost a day to think up. Yes. Parsons said the kid would make easy-use AIs that could take voice instructions so we wouldn’t need computer folks to do it for us. Do you know what amazed me? These damn things worked. If they were only half as good, they would have been phenomenal. Parsons said this kid said we needed the best. He has the designs if we reup his clearance. He would charge a nominal license fee for the manufacturers. He said he didn’t want the patents out there in the public so it would give us a few years superiority over our adversaries,” Tucker explained.
“I’m sold,” Detweiler said. “Will you work on the clearance Richard? I’ll approach appropriations. Oh, did the kid mention space drones?”
Richard let loose a hearty laugh. “Parsons said this Blakely kid also mentioned these drones work well in space, and he had designs to protect us there too.”




Chapter 5

Embassy of the Russian Federation in Washington – Office of the Ambassador
Ambassador Dimitri Lebedev was irritated – constantly. “How can we get our hooks into this Blakely kid? The Chinese tried to kidnap him, and they killed the whole professional team of operatives. We need that technology. The Chinese also had a deep-cover agent at MIT, and they just tried to kill the kid in some stupid revenge scenario for killing off all their hard line leaders. We still don’t know his part in all that, but he was involved somehow. What a waste of an asset. The theft of the ‘lifters’ netted us two working models, which killed the users in tests. He has good bodyguards. He may have a couple of part-time girlfriends. The Russian mafia is hesitant to stir up the FBI. Grigory, this is your last chance.”
Resident envoy Grigory Grishaev was still struggling with a line of intelligence failures about this kid. “We’ve tried hacking his networks without any luck. We’ve hired others to hack him – nothing. This kid is almost 15 years old and in a Ph.D. program at MIT. What did you think about at fifteen?”
“Girls. Didn’t the Israelis try something when he was at Georgia Tech?” Dimitri said.
“Yes. I have one girl who would be perfect for us. She would love to go to MIT,” Grishaev said. "She has a cover that can never be pierced."
“It didn’t work at Georgia Tech.”
“He was nine or ten then. We have raging hormones going for us now. Plus, we have the new pheromones. That should stir up some action. Maria is 20 but looks 14.”
◆◆◆
 
A Strategic Meeting at Lockheed-Martin Fabrication Facility – Troy, Alabama
Verner Abrojec had been relieved and Karen Dubois had been running the plant on an interim basis. The new corporate genius, Jim Plourde, was being brought in from the business office. He was supposed to be bringing a new set of product designs. Karen had wondered what the hush-hush nature of these products was, but corporate was corporate. She did know that a no-competition rush authorization had been appropriated for these products but didn’t know how it would mesh with their expansion to produce the Hasta missiles (Spear in Latin). She could hear his helicopter landing.
The man got out of the helicopter, and Karen checked him out. Karen had heard when Plourde took over, that he smoothed out operations. The man was a rock of a man and had a pleasant smile. He ducked under the blade and held his hand out to shake her hand – a good sign. He didn’t try to talk over the engine noise as Karen motioned toward the building.
“You must be Karen Dubois. First thing; I’m not here to replace you. Lockheed sent me here to hand-carry these new designs to you and to offer you assistance in getting them ramped up. Call me Jim,” Plourde said with a smile.
“What is this new thing? No one will tell me,” she said.
“Let’s go to your office,” Plourde said.
They walked quietly. Karen was relieved at being told she wasn’t being replaced, but she worried about this hush-hush project. They went to her office.
Plourde handed her the data stick. She looked at him for a moment and then inserted it and typed in the password he gave her. The files opened, and she started looking for about ten minutes and he said nothing. She concentrated.
“Do you think you can manufacture some?” he asked.
“Define some and the timeline. What kind of budget do I have?” she asked.
“The files are all there. Look around a bit more. I find it’s much better to let competent coworkers find the information themselves than be told where everything resides.”
She looked at him and smiled at that compliment. She found the files and whistled. “Whoa. That is a chunk of change.”
“Your facility was picked because you already have the critical components in stock. Corporate thought you might slow the Hasta manufacture a bit so you could manufacture those other products. The large budget is for an additional facility expansion and the manufacturing equipment you need to add.”
“What’s your part in all this? We already have an empty building we were going to use for expansion but didn’t have the need until now to fill it. I can start setting up the production there. These are drones – right? How are they controlled? I see a communications package, but what is controlling these things? The processors I saw listed can perform limited functions. Where do we get the processors that control these three models?” she asked.
“Those come from Lux Blakely. They are, of course, his designs. There is a movie on that data stick you need to watch. It explains why you have so much funding. The components are either what you have in stock or are off-the-shelf components. Watch the video. I’ll wait,” Plourde said.
Karen played the video and gasped as many of the scenarios played out. She was breathing fast when the video ended, and she had to take a deep breath and let it out slowly to calm her breathing. Her mind was running a mile a minute. She blew her breath out and took one more deep breath before speaking. “Is all that true? It’s not CGI or DeepFake or anything, is it? These drones would provide another layer of protection for weary ground troops.”
“It’s the real deal. Felt the same way when I first saw it. I’ve talked with people who were there and I have seen the devices myself. Both the government, and Lockheed, want your facility to crank out as many of these things as you can on the allotted budget,” he said. “we’ll get more money.”
“That’s the case every time. Think we can build everything but the brains of these things. How do we get the communication and processors for these drones? There are two different-sized drones, right?”
“Yes. The smaller drone is used for anti-personnel patrolling and interdiction. The same small drone can be armed with close-in fentanyl darts, UV laser stun, and fairly high-powered laser. The drone has OLED screens that show what is on the other side as camouflage. We can build the guts just like we do with the HASTA missiles. We need communications and AI to control these things. How do we get those? Is the source reliable and trusted?” she asked. “I really don’t see this being a stretch to build. The HASTA missiles use a similar propulsion setup.”
Plourde said, “We get the controlling brains from Blakely directly. He said these AIs will destroy themselves before letting themselves be captured. Blakely said they were near sentient.”
“Really? Those HASTA missiles rock. The other one they want us to build is the big honker I saw in the designs. It looks like it could lift a tank. Why so big?”
“It has to have more power storage. It uses a dozen Tesla battery packs and is made to work in the atmosphere or space. It has a much more powerful laser system and a railgun. I heard – Blakely is working on other weapons, too, I’m told. These use an internal AI.”
“How long can these things stay aloft on a charge?” she asked. “I didn’t see that when I scanned the design specs.”
“Energy usage is the key. The small one can stay aloft for about 48 hours on a charge if it doesn’t use its weaponry too much. The laser sucks up power. It returns to recharge when it’s at one-quarter charge normally. Even the charging is a bit different from most other electric drones. It has a base unit that uses a focused microwave to recharge en route. It only needs to get in the line-of-sight of the charging unit. Of course, humans are not encouraged to step into that beam unless they want their hair to fall out. They are both fast and nearly invisible. They are silent unless they have that hypersound ‘thingie’ built into it for crowd control – the LRAD. That little ultrasonic speaker puts out a focused ultrasonic beam and mixes in an audible signal, so when it hits a surface, the harmonics are in the audible range, and you hear a loud voice.”
“How much does that Blakely kid want for his AI, software, design license, and whatnot?” Karen asked, thinking most would want an arm and a leg.
“Same as for the HASTA for the thrusters, a reasonable price to produce the AIs and the control software, and what I consider a pittance for the design rights. His designs use lots of off-the-shelf components. These become very profitable to make. The low cost means we can manufacture a lot of them for the military and, soon – other militaries. He’ll make millions, but we can make a lot more.”
“What can that one in space do?” she asked.
“That laser or railgun could destroy almost anything that’s been put in space. It has a partial laser defense system that spews out a cloud of reflective material to disrupt and deflect laser fire. The hull is immune to kinetic threats or radiation. We have to buy the outside hull material from him at a reasonable rate, but this model has the inertialess control software too.”
“Someone asked the kid how he could come up with all this new stuff. Do you know what he said? I heard this and still chuckle about it. He said ‘he didn’t know enough to realize something was impossible.’ You can build anything if you think it’s possible.”
“Wonder what he’s doing right now?” Karen said.
◆◆◆
 
The Dreaded Doctoral Field Evaluation (FE) at MIT
“I see you’re finally taking your written and oral evaluation exams. Since you’ve already jumped the gun and started your dissertation, it makes sense,” Lozano said.
Lux laughed. “Finally? Since I’m almost finished with my dissertation, I suppose I need to check that box. I have my own schedule.”
“You always have. Your committee has gone over your written portion and thought you were sufficiently qualified to move forward,” Lozano said with one side of his mouth quirked up.
“What did they really say?” Lux asked.
“They thought you should have been teaching some of the classes and including the new technologies. One said he felt like you were talking about plasma, and he was in charge of buggy whips,” Lozano said with a grin. “You’re still going with your space propulsion as your field of study?”
“It’s the one that makes the most sense for me out of the other dozen or so topics. Who has the most open mind?” Lux asked.
“I’d say Hong Liu, Daniel Harlow, or Netta Englehardt, but they are on the younger side and may be more protective of their own research. You realize your research is going to throw excrement into the fan. Much of their work would be trashed. You might do better with an Emeritus Professor since they would have seen many theories discarded in their day.” His advisor said.
“I’ll write Englehardt and then one of the Emeritus professors if she won’t do it. I’ll send her what I’ve done in my research so far and give her a synopsis of my findings. I’m ready to go in now.”
“Don’t talk about your dissertation because you’re not supposed to have started on it until after you pass the written and oral portions of your comprehensive exams. These are the gatekeepers your father told you about. They let you go forward or hold you back. I know two of the three faculty are leaning toward you going forward, but this is tricky. Don’t get antagonistic. They are here to make sure you are qualified to move on. Here we go,” Lozano said.
Lux and Lozano stepped into the small conference room, and Lux smiled and greeted the room.
Lozano started the introductions. “Lux Blakely. Let me introduce you to my colleagues. On your left is Carmen Guerra-Garcia. She is an Associate Professor in Aeronautics and Astronautics, with her main research in vehicle design & engineering. Next to her is Assistant Professor Oliver Jia-Richards, who focuses on electrospray thrusters. On your right is Brian Wardle, our researcher that specializes in carbon nano-engineered composites. Feel free to ask any questions you’d like. We are trying to ascertain if Mister Blakely has the qualifications to move on to a thesis. Who will be first? Dr. Richards?”
“Are you familiar with CubeSats? Tell me about them,” Richards asked.
“I put my first CubeSat into orbit using a SpaceX launch almost six years ago. I used the magnetic propulsion system I developed to move it from a low Earth orbit to a higher orbit and then to a geostationary orbit,” he said.
“Was that an authorized movement? I didn’t see any mention of that in your file,” Richards said.
“No. It wasn’t authorized. I didn’t think a wholly new system of propulsion would be authorized. They happily put it in orbit for the nearly $200,000 I paid,” Lux said.
“Where is that satellite now?” Richards asked.
“I had to move it out of geostationary orbit when a military capture satellite came to grab it. I directed it to burn up over my home in Huntsville rather than be captured.”
“Why would you think that a military satellite would try to capture you? It’s convenient that the satellite is no longer around, is it not?”
“I had been detected going 30 kilometers per second with no outgassing. It did introduce me to US Space Force officers I worked with a few years later.”
“What proof do you have that you did this at all? Seems improbable to me. Who developed this propulsion system? I see your father, Paulus Blakely, develops hypersonic missiles,” Richards stated.
“I have the launch receipts from SpaceX and the video and magnetic field mapping I made during the entire flight. I developed the system myself after building a magnetic field camera that I patented. I had the money from previous patent licenses and got no money from my father. My father didn’t believe it was real until I took him into space, and he was weightless.”
“You claim to have invented this system yourself, and you claim to have been in space,” Richards said.
“Excuse me, professor. Are you just trying to insult me, or do you never watch the news? I go into orbit about once a month and rescued the SpaceX magnetic a few months ago. Feel free to look up my patents on just the unclassified areas.”
“Those videos and interviews on my news feed about you are real?” Richards asked.
“Yep,” Lux said.
“The public information is generally well documented. His classified work is EXTENSIVE but goes well beyond his magnetic Halbach thrusters. Let’s try a different topic. He has current deep-space vehicle designs in production,” Lozano stated. “Brian?”
“I’m interested in the material that causes the vehicle to move through the atmosphere without friction. Is that on this vehicle you talked about?” Brian asked.
“Why weren’t we shown these other vehicles? Blakely has demonstrated reckless behavior, changing orbits without authorization,” Richards butted in.
“I have initiated upgrades to the military, and commercial space flight companies, notably Lockheed, Boeing, and SpaceX,” Lux stated in his defense.
“What are you planning to research for your dissertation? It’s obvious you are on the bleeding edge of propulsion and obviously qualified. I feel comfortable signing off on your field evaluation,” Guerra-Garcia stated.
“Actually, I will be researching gravity propulsion. I have a working spacecraft. The environmental systems were designed by Dr. Douglas Trenton, but I designed the propulsion and discovered how the inertialess properties protect us from any radiation and kinetic projectiles,” Lux said.
“I’d very much like to see this craft. Is it close by?” Guerra-Garcia asked.
“It’s in Arizona currently, but I can have my Courier spacecraft here in fifteen minutes if any of you would like to fly up to the International Space Station. I recently made contact with the crew and promised them more fresh vegetables, meats, and desserts. I have enough suits for you all. It would only take a few hours overall. We could be there in fifteen minutes, stay an hour, and then right back to campus. I would have several of my bodyguards with me. The craft is armed,” Lux explained.
“Why is it armed?” Richards asked.
“I have been attacked by nation-states before,” Lux said. “I don’t expect it today since we are bringing spicy foods to Space Station at no cost to them.”
◆◆◆
 
Committee to the ISS
The Courier landed at Hockfield Court as people were asked to move aside. There were a lot of people videoing the landing, and two people came down the ramp on the side wearing white Tesla IVA suits. It caused quite a stir as they were also wearing handguns. Rodney Branch and Derek Alexander looked quite intimidating standing to the sides of the ramp as the thesis committee walked up and were escorted inside. Their white suits were hanging in the flight bay, and they struggled as they put them on. Lux got his suit on quickly though. They strapped into the chairs and Lux pointed out the outside display screens in front and to the sides of them. The screens during takeoff, showed them zooming up into the sky. The sky darkened as they entered the orbital path of the space station. This was definitely not a Hohmann transfer orbit.
Regina Smith contacted the ISS communications officer again and explained that this was the spicy food run. The orbiting crew moved to greet their favorite resupply ship. The docking maneuver took only seconds until the airlocks were aligned, mated, and sealed. The newcomers were greeted warmly, and a couple of them knew each other. The food was transferred quickly; people headed back out of the airlock in pairs before they became accustomed used to the peculiar smell and crumbs inside. The thesis committee took lots of photos. The trip back to campus was short, and they commented on the smells and the lack of acceleration and deceleration of the Courier. There were short tours of the ship after they landed at Hockfield Court.
All the committee members thanked Lux and questioned his bodyguards about what it was like working with him. They were more like excited kids than seasoned astronauts. The bodyguards mentioned that the scientists had asked questions, but they wouldn’t tell Lux what they said. Lux knew he’d pass his comprehensive field exam, however. He was planning to work on chapters four and five of his dissertation, which was well on its way: his results and discussion. He knew there would be a real fight to get his thesis accepted, so he wanted it to go to his committee as far ahead of his defense as possible.
◆◆◆
 
Lux was working in the AeroAstro lab with Lakshmi when Professor Lorenzo came in with a young girl. He came up to them. “I want you to meet two of our best grad students who happen to be about your age. Lux Blakely and Lakshmi Varma. This is Maria Rusakova from Belarus. Maria is a prodigy too. She speaks Russian, of course, but also speaks English and Belarusian. I thought this is an opportunity we shouldn’t overlook. She had been studying plasma thrusters and found out we were working with magnetic and gravity propulsion and came here.”
“Hi. I’m Maria. I’ve heard a lot about you, Lux Blakely. Nice to meet you, Lakshmi,” she said with a light Russian accent.
Lux looked at her and noticed her short blond hair and compelling blue eyes. She had reached out to shake his hand, and he realized he was just staring at her. He jolted out of his reverie and took her hand. She had a firm grip, and she smelled good. She has a pretty smile, he thought and let go of her hand as she nodded to Lakshmi. “What are you planning to research?”
“I don’t know yet. I’m trying to get settled in. I have an apartment at One65 Main. Would you be willing to show me around? This is my first time in the States,” she asked.
“Sure. I have some time Friday after lunch. Lakshmi, do you want to go with us? We are working with Professor Lozano for the next couple of days, but we should be free by lunchtime on Saturday,” he suggested.
Lux didn’t see the frown quickly covered up by the pretty young Russian, but Lakshmi did.
“I don’t want to be a third wheel, but I am free during that time,” Lakshmi said with a pasted-on smile.
“Third wheel? Yes. Yes. That would be a good start. What are you doing with the Professor?” she asked and saw Lux raise his eyebrows in surprise at her inappropriate interest. “I am so interested in everything,” she followed up quickly.
“We’re working on our dissertations. Lakshmi has developed the mathematical model of what I am doing. How about we take you out to lunch Saturday? We could meet you at your apartment lobby at eleven this Saturday,” Lux said.
Maria’s eyes didn’t show the smile on her face as she answered. “That would be nice. See you then.”
Lozano guided her out of the lab, and Lakshmi turned to Lux as soon as the door shut. “You were practically panting. She’s taller than me and blond. Do you think she’s hot?”
“I detect a trap here,” Lux said. “Hot? Yeah. I think she’s pretty hot, but I think you are pretty too."
Lakshmi punched his arm. “Men!” she said.
Lux smiled because even with her disdain – Lakshmi referred to him as a man. Well, he certainly had grown a lot this last year. He was 181 cm (5’ 11”) and 80 kilos (176 lbs). He was stout for his age of nearly 16 and rock solid from working out every day.
◆◆◆
 
One65 Main Luxury Apartments – Cambridge, Massachusetts
Maria Rusakova was bored. She hated being bored. She was twenty years old, and she was supposed to be just a sixteen-year-old here. She couldn’t go to nightclubs here as a sixteen-year-old. She couldn’t drink. She couldn’t even smoke. She had been studying Lux Blakely and Lakshmi Varma for two weeks. He disappeared almost every day. She found out he commuted to Paulden, Arizona, from MIT almost every day. That was 4,200 km (2,625 mi). That was almost six times further than from Moscow to St. Petersburg. She could go out in disguise and explore, and she had, but she was bored. She couldn’t be seen with other people.
She had gotten the apartments to hang up a heavy bag in their huge modern workout room. She was surprised that there were so many people using these facilities every day. She thought so many Americans were fat and loud. She had seen streaming videos of them. Not these people. She thought they were the elites until she talked with a lot of them. Most were upper-middle-class people here. Some were healthcare workers, some computer people, and some business people. Housing was so much more expensive here than in Russia, but it was nice. She was so bored. So many people had cars because public transportation was not as developed in the US as in Russia.
The Americans smiled too much, and they would tell their life history to strangers if you stopped long enough to listen. They all (mostly) wore baseball caps and had sweatshirts with logos and funny sayings on them. They were so LOUD. It was true. She beat the heavy bag into submission and worked up a good sweat. Guys asked her out ‘til she told them she was sixteen. The ones that didn’t mind that she was sixteen were a lot older and officially creepy. She didn’t find out what ‘sixteen will get you twenty’ meant ‘til she looked it up. So bored. She didn’t know if she could wait out the days ‘til the ‘tour,’ nor what she’d do about this Varma woman. Lakshmi was not her assignment. She hit the bag until she had trouble lifting her arms.
◆◆◆
 
The Tour of MIT and Cambridge
Maria saw the two coming to meet her, and she put on her happy face. She knew that Americans always talk about money and tend to be abrupt.
“Hi, Maria. What have you seen already? What would you like to do? I know you have some great universities in your country. Do you have a hankerin’ for anything in particular?” Lux asked.
“Hankering?” Maria questioned.
Lakshmi pushed Lux on the shoulder. “Southern slang for preference. What would you like to do?” Lakshmi said when Lux acted silly.
“I’d like to do a little shopping, but it’s a bit confusing to get around town,” Maria said.
“No problem,” Lux said, and a large black car swooped up to the curb. “Our ride. Ladies.” Lux indicated the car. They piled in, and Maria ran her hands over the leather seats. 

Derek was driving, and he turned his head like he was waiting for instructions.

“Faneuil Mall,” Lux said. Derek was driving, and Regina is in the shotgun seat.”
“They are security? How many do you have, and why do you have them? Is America so dangerous?” Maria asked with a concerned look.
“I’ll introduce you to some of them. I have been attacked by other governments. America has a crime rate of rural Europe in most places, but the cities have more guns. Southern states have a LOT more guns. Get a gun carry permit in Alabama, and you can carry it in 32 other states. Many people carry handguns, and many own assault rifles,” Lux said.
“How do you feel about guns?” Maria said.
“They’re fun to shoot, and with a silencer, they don’t hurt your ears,” Lux said and saw Maria and Lakshmi lean back, a little shocked.
“Surely you don’t believe there should be so many guns,” Lakshmi said.
“Silencers are legal? I thought those are just for assassins or in the movies,” Maria said.
“You can buy them if you are old enough, but it’s a pain. I don’t carry a gun since you have to be 21 to get a permit. I believe you ought to pass a competency test, store them in secure locations, and should pass a background test,” Lux said. “These guys around me have saved my bacon a time or two.”
“That is so exciting,” Maria said and slid over toward Lux and hooked her arm in his and leaned into him.”
Lux was distracted and didn’t notice, but Derek quirked a smile with Regina. Lakshmi had a serious frown and crossed her arms in front of her.
◆◆◆
 
They piled out next to the mall, and all five went in – the two security and their young wards.
“What is best?” Maria asked, looking up at Lux.
“Just walk down the corridors with the carts. Also, look at the food. We’ll stop anywhere you like,” Lux said. “What I like isn’t necessarily what you’d like. Food – I’ll talk about food because I can steer you away from cruddy food.”
“Cruddy means?” Maria asked. “Not good?”
“Yep. Not good,” Lux said. “Lakshmi probably knows this mall better than I do. Lakshmi, what stores would you recommend?”
Lakshmi turned her head aside and decided to take up Lux’s challenge. “I like Lucy’s League. They change their stock rapidly – it’s small. Then we ought to go to John Fluevog Shoes. They have a good staff and fantastic shoes. I always like Coach, but they’re a chain store but good stuff also, and finally, Pink. Pink is sexy lingerie. Not sure we should go there – it’s not G rated.”
“G rated is for children – yes?” Maria said. “I am not a child.”
Lakshmi raised her eyebrows at this comment but didn’t say anything as they headed to the first store suggestion. Lakshmi stuck her lip out.
Maria bought one blouse at Lucy’s League, but the girls thought they had gone to heaven in Fluevog Shoes. Lux sat on some seats near the back next to a newlywed’s husband. Lux was getting hungry after his workout hours ago. They were close to the Walrus and Carpenter Oyster Bar, so they grabbed spots on the stools along the bar and got chowder and oysters. Maria really seemed to like oysters. They just walked through the next shop, looking at the standard clothes, and then headed to Pink. Lux waited outside with Derek while Maria and Lakshmi spent an inordinate amount of time inside.
“It is my lot in life to be the pack mule for the women,” Lux said, holding bags of shoes and clothing.
“It’s a gender thing, Lux. This is pretty normal. Do you like Maria?” Derek asked.
“I think she’s pretty hot. I’m not sure I should take a new girl out with an old girlfriend,”
Lux said.
“Welcome to adulthood. There is no win-win here,” Derek said as the girls came out of the store laughing with each other.
“They seem to be hitting it off,” Lux said.
“That’s just an optical illusion, Lux,” Derek whispered.
The girls were in high spirits as they were driven back to Maria’s apartment.
“Would you like to see me up to my apartment?” Maria asked. “I have so much to carry.”
Lux noticed Maria only had three packages. “I’d love to, but I need to get back to work on my dissertation.”
Maria frowned. “I really enjoyed my time with you. I’d like to do this again but maybe go somewhere else,” she said with an enticing grin. “The shopping was fun, and the food was good.”
“Let’s go somewhere next weekend. I’ll show you a little more of America,” Lux said. “Same time next Friday, and it’ll be a surprise.”
“Okay,” she said and gave him a very unchaste hug and brushed her lips across his.

Regina volunteered to escort her up to her apartment and help her carry one of her packages.

◆◆◆
 
Lux worked on his dissertation and actually finished the rough draft. Friday rolled around, and Lux remembered his promise to Maria. He decided he’d take her to his place in Paulden, Arizona.
The Courier landed on Broad Canal Way behind the One65 Main building. He called Maria and asked her to come out back of her apartment building.
Maria came rushing out of the building and then saw the ship floating a meter off the surface of the road. She skidded to a stop with her mouth open. She had been briefed on what to expect, but reality made a big impact. The ship appeared a matte gray, and it was a huge oddly shaped cylinder. It was a good forty meters long and pretty wide. She couldn’t tell from this angle. A ramp appeared on the side, and Lux came down with two security guards. Each carried a long gun, some M-6 variant, she thought. Good grief, she thought. They have on body armor and communications. This isn’t what she had in mind, but no plan survives first contact (Ни один план не выдерживает первого контакта), she thought in Russian. She pasted on her ‘happy’ smile.
“Hi. You didn’t eat, did you?” Lux stated.
“No, I did like you asked. Are we planning a big lunch, or will riding in that vehicle make me sick?” Maria asked.
Lux laughed. “Doubt it. We’re going to have brunch, which is a combination of breakfast and lunch. I think you’ll like it.”
“Where are we going? Is Lakshmi joining us?” Maria asked, looking at the interior as she walked.
“Why don’t you sit here?” Lux said, indicating a seat in the cockpit behind the copilot. Lux sat behind Regina, who was piloting today. Derek was today’s copilot. “Shall we?”
Regina took them straight up until the sky darkened, and they headed southwest. It only took them a few minutes to cover the distance, as Lux pointed out the rivers and landmarks below.
“Was that a movie of the route we are to take? We are going into a hangar?” she asked. “It looked realistic when it got dark.”
“That’s just when you get about 80 kilometers up, which is the top edge of the Mesosphere. The thin atmosphere doesn’t scatter the light, so it appears darker,” Regina said.
The ramp lowered, and the hangar was fairly hot. “Welcome to Arizona, Maria. Our cook is Marie, and her husband is Elan.”
“What is that smell?” Maria asked. “It is hotter here.”
“You are probably smelling creosote bushes surrounding us in the desert – they make a wood preservative from them. We moved from a latitude of 42º to a latitude of 34º. We just covered 4,200 kilometers,” Lux explained. “This way,” he indicated the side door.
“I felt no acceleration. How is that?” she asked.
“That is something we discovered years ago,” Lux said as he opened the door, and the morning sunshine and dry air hit them. Maria stopped and looked around.
Maria was on swivel head as she looked around and tried to correlate the solar farm and HydroPanels.
“We get much of our power from solar panels and 400 gallons of fresh water a day from the air,” Lux said as they entered the main house. The smell of food was heavenly.
Marie and Elan met them as they were setting out more food. “Is this Maria?” Marie asked.
“Yep. Maria Rusakova, I’d like you to meet Marie and Elan. They run this place,” Lux said.
“Nice to meet you. Excuse me, but what is that skin up there? It looks like a snake’s skin,” she said.
Elan spoke up. “That’s our reminder not to go walking unarmed at night. Lux killed that one himself before one of our workers stepped on it.”
“Do you carry a gun? That is a good shot,” she asked and commented.
Elan chuckled. “He got that one with a knife. He’s pretty good with those too.”
Lux blushed a little but started serving himself some food. “Maria, everything’s good. Dig in.”
“Tell me what everything is, and I’ll try it,” she said.
“Those are buttermilk biscuits. You either put butter and honey on them or sausage gravy. Sausage gravy would probably be new to you. Fresh fruit, two different types of quiche today: spinach-cheese, and a bacon-cheese, French toast, Yogurt, and Coffee, tea, or juice,” Marie explained.
“I’m starving and will try everything,” Maria said with a grin as this reminded her how her grandmother served meals on her farm. “Has everyone eaten? How many do you cook for?” she asked innocently.
“A bunch. It varies a lot, especially if the people from Gunsite Academy come over. They’re over here a lot,” Marie said and shoved the sausage gravy over to Maria, who was practically inhaling it; she ate so much.
A short time later, they ambled back outside, holding their overly full stomachs.
“I was going to show you around, but I feel like a lion who has just eaten a whole gazelle,” Lux said to Maria.
Derek came out patting his stomach. “Boss. Marie sets a fine table, but I’m so sleepy – I think I have narcolepsy.”
“You don’t have narcolepsy, Derek. You have brunch-a-lepsy. We’ll head back in a few minutes. Get Rodney and Polly with Sue and Jack to take us back. The guys at the ISS really appreciated the food you put together for them on our last trip.”
“You go up to the Space Station in that ship?” she asked.
“Sometimes that one,” he said. “Sorry, but I need to take you back. I sent my dissertation to my committee, and there are all going to be sending me tweaking messages and such over the next week. I hope the trip didn’t disappoint you.”
“No. I learned a lot. That was fascinating. I hope we can go out on a date soon…maybe,” she said, looking around. “Maybe without all the help,” she said, turning her head and flipping her long blond hair back over her ear with a teasing smile.
“Maybe,” Lux said. Lux saw Sue and Jack coming, and he caught their attention and wiped across his forehead like he was sweating, and they turned around. They came back later with some shoulder bags.
They climbed into the Courier and sat in their same seats. Polly was piloting on the way back, and they were soon landing back behind Maria’s apartment building in Boston.
Maria again asked Lux if he didn’t want to come up, but he declined, saying he had to meet with members of his committee. Maria again gave him a hug and a provocative kiss on the lips before hurrying back into her building.
◆◆◆
 
Maria stomped into her apartment and slammed the door; she was so angry. Пиздец/Piz-dets, she said, fuming. Everything went so wrong. She sat down by her computer and started her encrypted report.
Second date, if you want to call it that, with the target. No girl with him this time. He took me to Paulden, Arizona, and we had a meal. I learned a lot. We cannot do anything there. He has too many security people, and they wear armor and assault rifles. They had gas masks within reach. There are a group of seasoned bodyguards and never less than two – often four or more and some stay hidden. On-duty ones do not eat with off-duty ones. The target does not apparently carry a gun, but he is good with knives. He apparently killed a huge venomous snake by throwing a knife at it through the head of the snake in an instant.
I tried to plant devices on the ship for surveillance and sabotage if we need to stop it, but the first one I put out was killed with a little directed EMP burst. I’ve never seen anything like it. The ship traveled 4,200 kilometers in nine minutes. This same ship, called the Courier, also goes to the space station frequently. I confirm it displays no inertial effects of acceleration or deceleration. I saw weapons consoles on the ship for, I think, railguns and lasers. It had no issues with power. I did not find out about the power source. The target has finished his dissertation and submitted it to his committee. I do not know about the Varma girl. She was not there today.
He is not a child. He is very bright and is not responding as I hoped. I will try again next week with chemical assistance.




Chapter 6

Office of Professor Lozano – MIT
Lux was calm even though Lozano had received two skeptical responses and one firm no from the dissertation committee members.
“You’ve got your work cut out for you, Lux. Three out of four of your committee members don’t believe your dissertation is credible. Did you see the comments?” he asked.
“I did. What’s interesting to me is that the Physics professor strongly supports my proposition. I need at least one of those dissenters to change their vote.  Who do you think would be best to approach? I’m thinking that Dr. Guerra-Garcia might be. She deals with low-temperature plasma, which is related to what this effect does. Jia-Richards doesn’t want anything to upset his transfer to the University of Michigan. He had thoughtful comments, but they don’t hold up when we test for the heat energy, he claims would burn up Earth if my radiation pressure caused gravity. Mie scattering and doppler shift would eliminate heat energy during momentum exchanges,” Lux posited.
Lozano chuckled. “You’re going to have to show Guerra-Garcia your experiment shielding gravity. Can you set it up for her tomorrow?”
“Yes. Definitely,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
The Demonstration
Lux was having a discussion with Anna before his big demonstration. “How much can we reduce gravity with curved shielding? What’s the maximum percentage? Have you determined the frequencies and the distribution of the radiation pressure?”
“I think so. There is a 90.1% correlation between the different frequencies and their distribution. The radiation pressure that causes gravity passes through large masses. The larger the mass – the less radiation passes through. Some frequencies pass through the mass easier than others. We can now show the difference between the radiation above and radiation pressing upward through mass,” Anna explained.
“I think I’ll do this as pieces of a puzzle and let the professor work it out. You can rarely tell someone something they’ll believe unless you let them figure it out. Most won’t take anything on blind faith,” Lux told Anna just before Professor Lozano, and Guerra-Garcia walked in.
Professor Guerra-Garcia walked directly over to Lux. She came right over. “I have serious problems with your dissertation. You propose a whole new perspective on gravity that I think is incorrect. Show me why you think differently,” she demanded.
“Thank you for your candor. Your reputation is on the line if you approve of some screwy theory, and I respect your caution. I hope you are not so fixated on past theories that you can’t see when they are disproven,” Lux said.
Guerra-Garcia snorted. “I think your theory is impossible but prove me wrong. That hasn’t happened yet in my life, but we’ll see. What is this grand experiment designed to show?”
Lux looked thoughtful a moment and then said, “I’ll explain as we go along and ask you questions if that’s okay?”
“Sure,” she said. “What is this setup over here supposed to show?”
“I think I’ve developed a gravity shield. How should I test that to show it works?” he asked, as Lozano just stood by and watched the byplay.
“I’d measure a known weight and put the shield under it and see what happens,” she said.
“What would happen if I put the supposed shield above you?” he asked.
“It shouldn’t do anything,” she said. “Nothing measurable.”
“Let’s try it. I have two different types of scales. One type is mechanical. I don’t want you to think that the apparatus is affecting the instruments. Try a couple of weights on each of the two scales. I’ll chart them over here on this whiteboard. Use the 2-kilogram weights and then the 5-kilogram weights. Read them out to me and then step back,” Lux said, and Guerra-Garcia quickly adjusted the zero balances and read off the weights.
“What is this curved sheeting above this platform?” she asked.
“Those are different layers of my gravity shielding. I believe gravity is an effect caused by Planck- frequency standing-wave radiation, which is the background radiation in the universe. I have shielding that apparently blocks some of this radiation. What would happen if gravity is a push? You see them over the scales,” he said.
“Nothing will happen,” she said.
“Open mind,” Lux chastised. He switched on the first layer of the shielding. “By-the-way. The shielding doesn’t produce any measurable radiation but seems to absorb or reflect it. What do the scales read now?”
“Right at 1 kilogram and 2.5 kilograms, respectively. Have you stood on the platform with the shield on?”
“Are you kidding? I’m still fifteen. Of course, I have. Wait a minute, though. Let me turn on the other layers. Okay, now tell me the readings,” Lux said.
“0.6 kilograms and 1.5 kilograms. I know what I weigh,” she said and stepped on the digital scale. “Oh my!” she exclaimed. “I really do feel lighter. Turn it off. I know what I weigh.” Lux turned off the shielding at her request. “Oh my!” she said again. “I don’t want to record this weight. I need to start working out again.”
Lux stood there with a question on his face.
“What happens when that shielding is below you?” she asked.
“Let me ask you a couple of questions first. They may seem simple, but they’re important,” he asked. She nodded, and he proceeded to ask. “Explain to me how medical X-rays work?”
She lifted her eyebrows but was enjoying herself, so she answered. “X-rays are high-energy radiation that passes through your body, but the beams are absorbed in different amounts depending on the density of the material,” she said. “I can go on.”
“No. That’s perfect. Hold that thought. When deep-sea divers go down into the ocean, it gets dark. Why?” he asked.
“When light passes through water, the light is absorbed and scattered by the water molecules. It starts getting darker after about 10 meters because the red and orange wavelengths of visible light have already been absorbed,” she said.
“Perfect. One last question, and then we’ll do the gravity shielding under you. Gamma radiation has a wavelength of about 10 -10 meter. What materials stop gamma rays?”
“Classically, any high-density mass can stop or absorb gamma radiation,” she said. “we’ve used lead or lead composites for a century.”
“I think the background radiation all around us is in the range of 10-28 to 10-32 meters. I think when that radiation passes through dense matter, some of the radiation is absorbed, and some passes through. What do you think will happen then?” he asked. “Let’s try. Again. Nothing is on. Check the readings on the scales.”
“Two kilograms and five kilograms. Turn on all the shielding,” she stated. “Wow! Three-point four and eight-point five kilograms.” She started to climb on to climb onto the platform.
“Wait!” he called and flipped off the shielding. “Move the weight way away and only use the digital scales. The weight change affects your balance, and I don’t want to lose a committee member. Now stand on it.”
She did and gave him a thumbs up. He switched on the power. “Ugh!” she said. “This is how I’ll feel if I don’t start working out more often.”
Lux switched off the power. She stepped down gingerly and walked over to Lux and Professor Lozano. “Thank you for the demonstration. I’ve heard you used this principle on a spaceship to rescue the SpaceX craft.”
“Yep. We used a crude version of this principle,” Lux said.
“What kind of velocity did you achieve?” she asked.
“We ascertained we traveled at one-quarter the speed of light,” he said.
“You got my vote on your dissertation, and I shall berate my nay-saying colleagues. Looking forward to your defense,” she said and followed Professor Lozano out of the lab.
◆◆◆
 
Lux had gotten three out of the five on his committee to his side. He needed to win over at least one of two dissenters, either Brian Wardle or Oliver Jia-Richards. Oliver was a hard no since transferring to the University of Michigan. Lux thought Oliver probably didn’t want to contradict his current grants on propulsion since Lux’s work sort of made his work obsolete. He remembered that Wardle had been interested in the outer hull of his vehicle. Since Wardle researched carbon composites, it made sense that was the lure to get him to come around.
Professor Lozano dropped off Dr. Wardle to his lab. Lux didn’t want to do the whole dog and pony show he had done with Guerra-Garcia, and instead, he’d do the electron microscope route.
“Dr. Wardle, good to see you again. I’m sure you’re interested in my graphite composite,” Lux said.
“I found your dissertation missed a few pieces. You didn’t fully describe why your composite material produces that gravity-shielding effect. I would like to see the effect when you described the shielding under a person. Would you demonstrate that and explain why you didn’t explain the composite material effect?” Wardle asked.
“You’ll notice the setup over here,” Lux said while Lozano just watched. “Stand on either one of the scales, and I’ll turn on the shielding above you. Remember the difference.”
Wardle climbed up on the scales. “Got my weight. You did say that there is no harmful radiation, didn’t you?” Lux nodded to him, and he gave a thumbs up. “Whoa! I lost almost three-quarters of my weight. Got it. Now swap to the shielding under me. Ugh!” he exclaimed. “I feel like I landed on a heavy-gravity planet.” Wardle motioned a slash across his throat, and Lux cut the power. “Whew. How could anyone doubt that? Now explain to me what you are hiding about your composite,” Wardle stated.
“It’s simple, professor. I haven’t patented it, and I didn’t want to show that to everybody. It will take a while for others to copy the effect. They’ll do that shortly, but it’s only to keep a short-time advantage. Come over here,” Lux said. “I thought you’d want to see this, but I don’t intend to explain it in any more detail in my dissertation.”
“Show me,” the professor said as they walked over to the apparatus. “This doesn’t look like a run-of-mill electron microscope. What are we looking at? What is this?”
Lux wondered just how much to explain. “This is an electron-micro-magnascope. It lets people see in the range of a good lab electron microscope, but it overlays the magnetic effects too. Here is a sample of the hybrid material. What do you see?”
“I see some odd crystals formed into a structure. Are those icosahedrons? They shouldn’t be able to form a platonic solid without gaps,” Wardle stated.
“They form in a magnetic field when the graphite polymer has nanoparticles of bismuth in it. I’m unsure how it would respond to nanoparticles of other diamagnetic materials. Watch the videos I made when the energized material is struck by a high-energy mass – in this case, a bullet,” Lux said.
“I see the bullet strike, but there is a flash. How in the world did you make these images? What do you think is happening?” Wardle said.
“Lakshmi Varma and I set up the ultra-fast video with the help of Professor Ramesh Raskar in the MIT Media lab. He had access to a camera that could take thousands of sensors triggered a trillionth of a second apart when lit by a titanium-sapphire laser. I changed the multiplexors in my magnetic camera to trigger a trillionth of a second apart. Voila. I think it works kind of like a piezoelectric crystal, but the electricity goes to another dimension. The electricity certainly doesn’t manifest itself that I can see yet,” Lux said and sighed.
“I can see why you didn’t want that detailed in your dissertation because it would let people copy your design, and it would also raise more questions than it answered. This stuff stops radiation too?” Wardle asked.
“Just above the high-end ultraviolet and more energetic wavelengths. I have a mesh that you can see through that protects the same amount. I am trying to figure out a way to make flexible armor. I already have working portable armor you can carry. It is being manufactured in quantity by the military,” Lux explained but thought he had explained too much already. He didn’t want Wardle to be like a few of the Professors at Georgia Tech and steal all his ideas and claim them for their own.
“That video you showed me had another short video at the end. It showed those fields of polyhedrons projecting away from the surface and making matter dissolve. That is what I saw, isn’t it? You could turn the field on and off rapidly and make something that would cut through any matter. You could…” Wardle stopped when Lux held up both hands.
Lux reached under his shirt and pulled out an odd-looking, long knife. He turned to the side and picked up a small titanium rod. “Hold it out and hold it tightly. Don’t move,” Lux commanded. Lux swept the knife through the rod, and it didn’t twitch, but a half rod fell straight to the floor with a metallic clang. Lux held the knife in an odd way and then presented the butt handle to Professor Wardle.
Wardle was very hesitant to take the knife. “Is it safe to handle?”
“It uses biometric sensors and is keyed to me. It will hardly cut through warm butter now,” Lux said.
“You wear that thing on your person?” Wardle asked. “Why do that?”
Lux smiled and shook his head before answering. “Multiple kidnapping and assassination attacks in the lab and when I travel. That’s why there are always multiple bodyguards around me.”
“Oh. I thought that one here was a one-of-a-kind thing. Really. Multiple?” Wardle looked like he was thinking about how to ask something.
“I’d love to have you work on different materials and uses with me. I’d need a non-disclosure and get you added to my classified research projects. I saw you had a TS/SCI clearance for other projects. That should help. My admin, Anna, will contact you with all the details,” Lux added. “I do need to see if other configurations of diamagnetic materials are better. Lakshmi Varma has the mathematical models pretty well finished. She will also defend soon. When should I defend?”
“I have some time next two weeks. You’re a go if we can get everyone together. If Oliver can’t be here, have him do it remotely. They’ll be a lot of interest, so get a large venue,” Wardle said. “I’m looking forward to researching with you in the future.”
“See what you’re doing Friday a week from today,” Lux said as Wardle was leaving.
Maria had texted him that she wanted to meet. He texted her back saying he was too busy, but he’d have time after his defense. He got a couple more texts from her that he just didn’t answer.
◆◆◆
 
Preparing for the Thesis Defense
Lux was concerned about the upcoming thesis defense. He had all the prerequisites. He was supposed to talk an hour or less and then answer questions from his committee. They had all tentatively agreed with his dissertation topic but talking with others in the program had convinced him that he should try to get Oliver Jia-Richards on board too, even though Jia-Richards had transferred to the University of Michigan. It had thrown Lux off a bit when he transferred but keeping the same committee would be better than swapping at the last minute.
He called Professor Jia-Richards. “Professor. This is Lux Blakely. I was going to ask you to come to MIT instead of doing a teleconference. I’d prefer you to be there.”
“Hello Mister Blakely. You know how I feel about your work. I think it is speculative and there is nothing you can say that will change my mind,” Richards said. “Your thesis didn’t convince me. I don’t want to travel 1,300 kilometers for something I don’t believe in. Sorry.”
“I’ll make a bet with you. I bet I can pick you up at Wave Field in ten minutes or less – I can take you MIT in ten minutes. I can take you back to Wave Field in ten minutes,” Lux said.
“Whatever, Mister Blakely. You’ve got a reputation for stunts. I’ll be in Wave Field. How will I know it’s you?”
“You’ll know. See you shortly,” Lux said and disconnected.
Lux turned his head and yelled to his bodyguards. “We’re heading to University of Michigan – Wave Field to pick up Professor Jia-Richards. Polly, hit it!”
The Courier was landing minutes later at Wave Field in Ann Arbor, Michigan. The ramp was lowered while the ship hovered just off the ground. Lux stood in the door in his white IVA suit. He stood there without his helmet and motioned to the professor.
“Hi Professor. I never did get to show you a few things because you only had a Top-Secret clearance. This is my ship, the Courier. It has magnetic and gravity drives,” Lux explained as he led the doctor through his ship.
“Why are you wearing an IVA suit? Is travel in this…vehicle dangerous because of loss of pressurization? Surely not. Why didn’t you talk about this in your dissertation? What are those for?” Jia-Richards said pointing to the EVA/Moon suits hanging from the wall. “It looks like these are made for quick egress,” Jia-Richards said. “Why do you need those? Are they for stunts? I’ve never seen this design even though I’ve worn a moon suit once as a post-doctoral associate at Cornell,” Jia-Richards said.
“Why don’t you try it on? We have the time,” Lux said. “Do you remember how the suit works?”
“That wasn’t that long ago. This one looks a lot more flexible. I’d love to try it, but this won’t change my vote on your dissertation. Gravity is a lot different than the magnetic propulsion,” the professor said. “This one looks several generations past what I’ve seen. Who made these?” he asked as he slid into the lower shell. It only took a few more seconds to seal the suit.
Lux put on his helmet and keyed his communication with the professor’s suit. “Can you hear me all right? These suits are several generations past the old moon suits,” Lux stated.
“Hear you fine. Everything came on when I climbed in. I don’t have the plumbing hooked up, but I’ll only be in it a few minutes. Always wanted to be an astronaut but never could get in the program,” Jia-Richards said.
“Try walking around in it. It doesn’t feel like it weighs as much as the ones at Cornell. How long to get to MIT from here?” Jia-Richards said.
“Ten minutes to MIT from here. Try walking around outside,” Lux said.
“We’ll depressurize the landing bay to make it realistic,” Lux said and there was a slight vibration as the bay door opened and the ramp was lowered to just centimeters off the surface…of Tycho Crater on the moon’s day side.
“That looks realistic,” the Professor said. “It looks real.”
“You have a few minutes. Try to stay upright. Here is a pickup stick and a sample bag. You have ten minutes and then we’ll have to clean you up before we can go to MIT,” Lux said. “Don’t make us have to come get you. Go…Go!”
“But it can’t be real!” Jia-Richards exclaimed.
“Get some samples and then come back in. We’ll take video of you for souvenirs. Quickly now,” Lux said. “Have fun.”
◆◆◆
 
Jia-Richards came back in in exactly ten minutes. He tried to stomp to get the dust off his feet, like a person coming in from the snow, but found it ineffective. Lux directed him to a grate over to the side of the landing bay as it was sealed and repressurized. “Put your hands against the two metal plates on the wall,” Lux ordered.
He did so and there was a crackle sound and whoosh and the dust on his body was sucked down a grate. How does that work?” he asked when directed back to change out of his suit.
“We had a problem with dust, so we make your suit, so it's charged, and the dust particles are repelled and vacuumed,” Lux explained with his helmet off.
Jia-Richards asked. “How did we get to the moon so fast? The magnetic propulsion wouldn’t work well around the moon except from Earth magnetic field spillover effects.”
“We can travel at a velocity a little faster than a quarter the speed of light. We’ll be at MIT before you finish getting that suit off.”
◆◆◆
 
The Defense

Lux walked into the large conference room with Dr. Jia-Richards. He was still smiling. Lux had explained there were certain things he couldn’t put in his dissertation without mentioning classified topics. He wanted the Ph.D. for selfish reasons. He wanted to have a doctorate so people would take him seriously. He had spent his whole life fighting the fact that he was younger than others. He didn’t want to be an ass and he wanted to treat people fairly if they gave him a chance. He expected some type of pushback from visitors to his defense. He had his teams scanning the venue for chemicals and they were screening people entering the facility. He wore spider silk armor under his clothes. He was still carrying his three-throwing knives and his Cutsall™ knife in its special sheath. Lakshmi came up and gave him a big hug and her eyebrows went up and she smiled hugely feeling the knife sheaths under his clothing. She looked around and relaxed when she saw most of his eight bodyguards strategically placed around the rooms and building.
The other committee members came in and smiled when they saw Jia-Richards already there. “I thought you were going to join us remotely,” Lozano said to his former student.
Carmen Guerra-Garcia, Brian Wardle, and Netta Englehardt all smiled and nodded to Lux. There were printed copies of Lux’s dissertation in front of their places around a table. Lux had a slate open linked to an overhead projector to show videos. Professor Lozano spoke to the audience of interested persons observing. There had been considerable interest in his defense, and we had to change the venue twice to get a large enough room. There were about one hundred people who were just watching, and the defense was being recorded for posterity. 

“Today Lux Blakely will defend his thesis, Practical Gravity Manipulation. I’d like to introduce the following members of the committee. Starting on your left is Professor Netta Englehardt from Theoretical Physics. Next is Professor Brian Wardle from AeroAstro, Associate Professor Carmen Guerra-Garcia from AeroAstro, and Associate Professor Oliver Jia-Richards from the University of Michigan but formerly with AeroAstro. I am Professor Paulo Lozano and Director of the Space Propulsion Lab. Mister Blakely will present his research and then the committee will ask questions and Mister Blakely will attempt to answer. That will end the public portion of the defense. Please refrain from talking during the defense. Mister Blakely, it is all yours.”

“I started this research as a spin-off of my magnetic propulsion projects, I thought that gravity was a pull, rather than a push. I was wrong and this research will explain why. My committee has read the tome I sent them. I will not rehash anything but the highlights and those niggling bits that still confound us. All I’ve done is peel back the corner of how we think the universe works. I have added more questions than we had before. I was trying to uncover how I was able to travel at Mach 40 through our atmosphere, which is nearly 50,000 kilometers per hour. I wanted to know how specific coverings block high-energy radiation. Let me explain the experiments that changed my mind.”
Lux then proceeded to show videos of gravity shielding in the lab. He showed overhead shielding and shielding underfoot. All the readings were shown. He showed the design of the Courier without going into too much detail and showed footage of the rescue of the SpaceX magnetic that had never been made public. He showed a chart showing a frequency range and how background radiation pressed downward and what distribution of frequencies produced what portion of gravity. He also showed the distribution of frequencies that may have been reduced by passing through the Earth. He explained how, in the future, he hoped to better block gravity radiation, how he could possibly produce this radiation, and how he could make detectors that would show heavy ore deposits using gravity detectors by measuring the radiation blocked or passing through massive objects like asteroids.
There was silence for a few moments when he finished. There was scattered applause in the audience which was shortly silenced. Lux had heard that it was good if the committee stopped you during the presentation to ask questions. His committee never said a word.
Englehardt looked around at the committee and then spoke. “I suppose, as the physics representative, I should ask questions to vindicate my colleagues. Mister Blakely, were you the one that said unproven theoretical physics was another religion?”
Lux blushed a bit. “I probably mentioned that believing in theories unsupported by facts may as well be theology and as hard to change as any religion.”
Englehardt laughed. “I think you’re right. My question to you is why orbits don’t slow because of the electromagnetic field dragging.”
“I don’t know, but that is an excellent point for future research though it’s outside the scope of my current research,” Lux said.
“How do you expect to use this gravity propulsion in space exploration?” Guerra-Garcia asked.
“Do you plan to make this commercially available?”
“That too is outside the scope of my research, but I have always made my research available when it is controllable and not a dire threat to the public. There are aspects of the gravity theory that make it a threat currently. I can discuss this when we are in the private portion of this defense,” Lux said.
“You imply the gravitational difference is enough to use for propulsion in space? What about near Earth?” Wardle asked.
Jia-Richards spoke up. “I know it is?”
Wardle turned toward him. “I thought you didn’t believe his dissertation.”
“Mister Blakley picked me up today in Ann Arbor, Michigan, and showed me a new spacesuit,” Ji-Richards said. “I’ve changed my mind and fully support his dissertation.”
Professor Lozano chimed in. “Well, that’s a real 180. What changed your mind…today?”
Jia-Richards laughed. “We took a detour on the way here. He let me walk on the moon at Tycho Crater. I have a video. Mister Blakely. Do you have that video? Would you play it?”
The screen went blank for a moment, and then a brightly lit video of a person laughing and jumping and skipping over the dusty surface of the moon.
“I’ve got a bag of samples over there,” Jia-Richards said.
“How long was travel time?” Wardle asked.
“It was right around eight minutes each way,” Lux explained. “Remember that we are inertialess and can travel over one-quarter the speed of light in open space. We can travel to the surface of light gravity planetary bodies currently: the Moon, Mars, Mercury, and any system moons or asteroids. We’d have to use the magnetospheres of Jupiter, Saturn, Uranus, or Neptune,” Lux explained. “I suppose I should have just said we now have the ability to travel everywhere but Venus.”
There was laughter from the audience and the committee.
The questions got harder and pickier, and the committee probed for flaws in his dissertation. They ran out of questions after another 45 minutes, and Lux felt filleted like a fish.
Lozano stood up. “This ends the public portion of Mister Blakely’s defense. Thank you for coming. The committee will now discuss the work privately. Thank you for coming. I ask Mister Blakely to stay close and try not to be too noisy in the halls.” Lozano nodded to the audience, and they began filing out. Lux left everything and walked out with Lakshmi and part of his security team.
Lux walked outside and down the hall. Sue came up to him with a cup of peppermint tea. He had no idea how she got it, but he appreciated it. She was always resourceful. Lakshmi came up to him.
“You did fine, Lux,” Lakshmi said. “I was proud of you. You realize they make these defenses public. When the MIT media center gets this, they are going to hype it to the scientific networks, and that will get into media feeds. You’ll get more publicity from this than the SpaceX rescue,”
“What are you talking about? People’s lives were at stake then. This isn’t anything as exciting?” Lux countered.
“Not exciting? Nobody believed that space rescue story. You didn’t see all the fake news outlets saying it was just to raise Tesla stock. People release new stories all the time about new battery designs that are twice as powerful, or that fusion power is almost here. My dad showed me stories from newspapers that said we’d have commercial fusion power plants in ten years,” Lux said, sipping his tea.
“Yeah. I remember hearing that last year,” she said. “I think they’ll do it. They generated more energy than they used to start it five years ago.”
“The story my dad cut out of the newspaper was from 1985. People overpromise and underdeliver. I’m not going to do that. I…” Lux started to say, but Professor Lozano directed him to come back into the room. Lux’s palms were sweating. This was a major goal in his life.
Robert entered as Lux walked back into the room and everyone was looking at him and not smiling. Everyone on the committee looked at him like the judge when he was arrested back in Huntsville. It was scary. He stood by the table until they indicated for him to take a seat.
“You mentioned you wanted to tell us privately about a threat with this gravity control. Explain what you mean?” Lozano said.
“This will unlock a whole class of weapons. I may have done it already. The magnetic propulsion alone has changed missile technology. The outside shielding and the gravity drive will add another dimension to that threat. I have clocked my small ship at one-third the speed of light. Missiles could be designed to fly that fast and cut off shielding right before impact. The kinetic energy alone would be like thermonuclear weapons. Much slower weapons wiped out the Chinese hardliners. Taking the material from the shell of my ship and cycling it allows it to cut through any matter. Here,” he said and whipped out his CutsAll™ knife. He held it in a funny way for a few seconds and handed it butt end to the committee to look examine. “It is currently safe to handle.”
The committee members looked at it with bland expressions and passed it to all and then back to Lux. “This is a simple example. Robert, would you bring me that steel chair that’s against the wall,” he said pointing at a steel folding chair with a bent leg leaning against the wall. “Hold it out.”
Robert held the chair with the steel legs pointed at him. Lux swung the knife through the chair three incredibly fast times. The severed pieces of the chair rained down on the floor.
Englehardt leaked a small startlement sound.
“See. Any matter. I could make a self-contained shell that could go through any armor and blow up. I just want you to know this is as dangerous as nuclear power,” Lux explained.
“Thank you for your impassioned speech. We think there are holes in your research; particularly, you left out specifics about the hybrid-polymer coating. Dr. Wardle explained your concerns. Dr. Englehardt wants answers to her questions in future work. She would also like to be included in anything you do. I think we all feel that way. Dr. Jia-Richards told us all about his trip to the moon. He even showed us the sample rocks, and we were all jealous. Dr. Guerra-Garcia and I think your work is extraordinary. We saw the dangers…some of them. We ‘get it.’ You can rely on us, Doctor Blakey. Here’s your copy, but we are turning in the necessary papers for you.”
People calling him Doctor Lux Blakely was nice because it was his goal to get his ‘union card’ in space propulsion. He thought he’d feel different, but he realized that it was a letdown. He realized he was trying to get people to see him differently. Lakshmi came over and led him with three of his bodyguards to a large room down the hall. He looked around when he came in and noticed an open bar and all kinds of food laid out on tables. There was music streaming, jazz, and Lummi tunes. Lummi 2, Lucy Cocachina was there also. There was his father, Paulus, and Prissy! They all came over and hugged him. Prissy kissed him right on the lips, and she still smelled like honeysuckle. Maria appeared, and she was a bit standoffish. Douglas Trenton was there with Lt. General Parsons and Brigadier General Dobbs, looking after their interests.
Lux really felt pumped seeing Prissy there. He went over to see her but Lakshmi walked up interrupting his moment. "Hi, Prissy," Lakshmi said. "Can I borrow Polly for a quick trip to India to see my doctor friend?" she said.
Lux saw a smile flash across Prissy's face. He was a bit taken aback by the approach but nothing was going to ruin this day. "Sure. Ask Polly to see me. Not a problem," he said and turned back to Prissy, but she had gone elsewhere. Lakshmi wasn't a romantic interest since she had latched on to the doctor who cured Prissy’s sorority friend of the drugs and mind conditioning she underwent in Australia.
He felt buoyed up a bit and was proud, so many people took an interest in him. He could hear his father explaining how Roman military commanders often had a slave whispering in their ear that ‘thou art mortal’ when watching a victory celebration. Lux knew what they were talking about now. It was a wake-up call, and he just concentrated on enjoying that all the people he cared about were here. It was fun. The party was great fun, and as it was wrapping up, Maria pulled him into a small alcove out of the line of sight. She put her finger over his mouth so he wouldn’t say anything.
“You have a bit of food stuck on the side of your nose. Let me get it off,” she said, holding a handkerchief and a tiny bottle. She dabbed the bottle to wet the handkerchief and started wiping it around his nose, and then put the handkerchief under his nose. “There, that’s better,” she said, turning away from him quickly and walking away.
Lux started feeling woozy a minute later and had trouble focusing. He collapsed as his vision went dark. His bodyguards called 911. It wasn’t two minutes later before paramedics had Lux stretched out on a gurney and checked his breathing, pupils, eye movements, reflexes, skin color, and skin temperature. The paramedics applied oxygen and asked if there was a parent. Paulus Blakely ran up to them.
“I want to ride with you,” Paulus said.
The senior paramedic told everyone where they were going. “The Longfellow bridge is jammed this time of day. We are going to Massachusetts General for this kind of case.”
Rodney, Robert, Jack, Sue, and Derek decided to put Jack in the ambulance with Paulus Blakely and the two paramedics.
“Follow us but not too close because people come in and out,” the lead paramedic explained. “We’ll go by Binney Street and turn left on Edwin H. Land Boulevard. If we lose you for any reason, turn right on Charles River Dam Road. It’s light traffic right now. Go – go!” the paramedic said, and he grabbed Paulus. “Follow me.”
They loaded Lux into the ambulance as Paulus and Jack jumped in too. They were tearing out with sirens blaring and roaring down the street. Binney Street was light, and they made a great time, but traffic got backed up a little as they approached. The paramedic in the back with Paulus shouted, “His skin color is looking better with the oxygen already. Let them know in the follow car if you would. I don’t want to work a wreck too!”
Jack heard him in the front seat, gave them a thumbs up, and called the follow car. He hung up as they approached the intersection of Binney and Edwin Land Blvd. A semi-tractor truck from the right almost hit the follow car and blocked their vision for a moment, but they could see the ambulance continuing up Edwin Land with its sirens blaring. They were soon coming up on the rear of the ambulance as it screeched to a halt at the ER. The paramedics had Lux out and were through the doors of the hospital before the backup car came to a stop.
They parked their car in a law enforcement slot, and they all rushed in professionally. They all had to stop and show their ID. The security officer said, “The father and security guard had already gone on back with the young man. They’d come out in a few minutes to brief them on what was happening.”
They had waited for about ten minutes before two paramedics came out. One had blood on his sleeve that he was wiping off. Rodney was alarmed until he noticed that the paramedic wasn’t one of the two that picked up Lux.
Rodney rushed over to the paramedics, that were getting ready to leave. “Hey, fellas. Did you see the ambulance crew that just came from MIT?”
“Was that the one where the young male was unconscious?” the paramedic asked.
“Yeah,” Rodney answered.
“That one. They canceled that run about ten minutes ago over the phone. They said the kid returned to consciousness and had passed out standing up too fast or something. He never came in here,” The paramedic said.
“Did you have two passengers with you?” Rodney asked.
“Yeah. Two average guys. One dressed like you and the other one in a suit – about 45, why?”
“Are they still here? I’d like to talk with them. How is the patient?” Rodney asked.
“Lucky kid. He has a concussion on the back of his head, and he bled all over me. He wasn’t bad. Those guys said they were going to get something to eat. They left almost immediately as soon as we said it wasn’t serious,” the paramedic said.
Rodney barged back and found the young man sitting up. “Who were the two guys with you? I saw two paramedics and two other guys get out of the ambulance you arrived in. Who were they?” he demanded. The nurse told Rodney he wasn’t allowed back there.
“What two guys?” the man answered. “Some guy came up behind me and knocked the crap out of me. I came to, and he hit me again. Never seen him before in my life. I just woke up here.”
Rodney ran out of the treatment room and ran to the other three guards. “Lux, his father, and Jack Chen have been kidnapped. It doesn’t look good for Jack.”




Chapter 7

In the ambulance leaving MIT with Lux (a bit earlier)
Paulus had just heard the paramedic across from him say that Lux’s color looked a little better and yelled for someone to call the car following them to let them know. The paramedic said he didn’t want to have to work another car wreck on the way to the hospital. Paulus saw Derek call the following car. When Jack finished the call, he heard a thunk sound and looked to the front of the ambulance. When he turned to look to the front, he heard that thunk sound again and felt a sting to his neck. Everything went black after that.
◆◆◆
 
The Plan Forward – All Hands-On Deck
Rodney took command. He called the FBI. He knew Jack wouldn’t have long, and Lux and Paulus would be out of the country in hours. Robert luckily had General Parsons’s contact information and called him with his urgent code. He explained what had happened and asked to scan who was still at the party and save the recording for the FBI. Derek asked Regina to get the Courier and bring it to Massachusetts General.
Prissy and Lakshmi saw the General videoing everyone in the room. They looked around when they got a little bit of what happened. “I don’t see her,” Lakshmi said.
“She disappeared with him just before he passed out, and now she’s not here,” Prissy said. “Let Anna know. I’ll bet they haven’t called her.”
“I’ll bet they haven’t,” Lakshmi said. “Do you have her number?”
“I do, but I suspect she has already figured it out,” Prissy said. “Calling now.”
Anna answered instantly. “Turn on your camera and slowly scan the room.”
Prissy did so, and then Anna came back on the line.
“I got that from your camera. So, Maria Rusakova from Belarus isn’t whom she said she is. She had an ironclad cover, though. I will find her. I have notified FBI Counterintelligence. I am accessing the feeds from all the ATMs and security cameras nearby. I should have photos of the two paramedics. The ATM across the street had photos of the ambulance, and I am accessing police cameras across campus. There – I have a photo of one of the paramedics. The older one that lifted out the gurney has a tattoo ring on his right index finger. It’s his only visible tattoo but could be with the Russian Mafia. I’ll text Polly, but you two and Douglas need to get somewhere safe. Local police now have photos of Maria with possible disguises and a photo from several angles.”
Polly came up to the two girls towing Dr. Trenton. “Let’s get you, people, to Arizona. We can still coordinate anything there too.”
◆◆◆
 
Transporting the subjects
Dmitri considered the job a perfectly run operation. He had practiced hard to get rid of his Russian accent and acquire his paramedic license legitimately. This deal would ease any financial strain he had with his girlfriend. Bogdan, his partner, should have been an actor; he was so good. They had gotten out of Russia by deserting after some prison time. This case wouldn’t pay for everything he wanted, but it would relieve him of a world of financial hurt. He had been sued in a wrongful death case in Boston and lost. The offer of an identity change and passport with money had been a no-brainer.
They pulled the ambulance into the large garage. A white panel van was in the other bay. They quickly transferred all three unconscious men to the van and changed out of their paramedic uniforms. They immediately locked up the garage and drove to Norwood Memorial Airport (OWD). They were out of sight where they were between buildings. Two men came out of the Gulfstream 280 and helped the paramedics load the three kidnapped people onto the plane. They had to give the three an additional injection to keep them unconscious. They shackled their feet and handcuffed them. They searched them all, and the kid had three knives in a back scabbard and a longer weird knife that was pretty dull. The bodyguard guy had some sick body armor, one of those weird knives that wouldn’t cut butter, and two handguns with reloads.
One of the men from the plane got in the panel van and drove it off. The plane’s pilot gave the two paramedics their new identities along with a small satchel full of cash in different denominations. The copilot was a cute blond girl who looked like a teenager. The older paramedic thought she looked somewhat familiar, but he didn’t press it. They got clearance and took off headed North Northeast. The paramedics had slipped stun belts on the three unconscious subjects. An hour and forty-five minutes later, they were performing a touch-and-go on a relatively small airfield near Halifax. Jack Chen was the first to rouse. He started testing his shackles when a shock pulsed through his neck.
“Do not fight the collar. I can shock you remotely, and it would strain your heart. Major Chen, your past occupation is the only reason you are still alive. There was discussion as to whether to kill you earlier. Resist, and you will be an excellent graphic example,” Dimitri said as he gave injections to wake up Lux and Paulus. They soon woke up.
Lux woke up and felt his hands handcuffed in front and his feet shackled. He felt the belt locked around his front and decided it must be a stun belt. He had heard of them but had never seen one. He saw his father coming around and noticed Jack Chen was with them. He realized that they all had been kidnapped and they were on a plane – maybe an Embraer 600, a Gulfstream 280, or a Cessna Citation X. Those had a range of about 5,600 kilometers (3,500 miles), so they could fly to Europe or to the Caribbean. He remembered from when he was shopping for his own personal jet.
One of the two guys brought Lux a meal and a spork. He watched him eat it quickly. Then the man brought Paulus a meal tray, watching Paulus eat the meal before taking the tray and spork away. Finally, he brought Jack Chen a meal and watched him eat it.
Jack signaled Lux using the hand signs that they had worked out during training. Essentially, he indicated he was going to try something and be ready. The other man didn’t appear to be paying much attention to them. Jack signaled on three and leaped up, shoving the edge of the tray edge toward the man’s face, but it hit his ear instead of the front of his face or neck. Lux jumped up, too, and moved to shove the man off balance. Suddenly, all three of them were writhing and screaming in pain as their chest and ribs felt jolts of electricity coursing through them. The shock seemed to last forever. They were barely conscious and panting from exertion.
Lux and Paulus peed on themselves. Jack Chen just glared at the kidnappers and demanded, “Where are you taking us?” The shock hit them all a second later.
“No talking,” said the calm voice of the second kidnapper.
The plane changed pitch a few minutes later, and they felt the plane turning final and gear coming down. The older man flipped up a shade, and it was getting dark out. There was a short pause as the plane taxied and the engine quit. There was a quick refuel; the engines started up again, and they taxied and took off again. They were flying for nearly 3-hours. They knew they were flying northeast but could only guess the trip was 2,336 kilometers from Barcelona to Belarus.
◆◆◆
 
Response from Boston
FBI SAIC (Special Agent in Charge) Steven Augenbaum clamped his jaw. There were too many cooks in the kitchen on this kidnapping. There was an argument about who would do what. What they needed now were some leads. Augenbaum approached Rodney Branch. He seemed inordinately well-informed for just holding a bodyguard position. All the local agents had struck out for information on this one. The kidnapping was well orchestrated. There was a reported stolen ambulance. Two paramedics were found stripped and drugged. Versed and other drugs had been given to them. Their short-term memory was gone, and they were still foggy about what happened.
Anna contacted Rodney again. “Rodney, there are reports of an ambulance pulling into a garage near Norwood Memorial Airport. Let the FBI agent know about that and get them to investigate planes leaving that airport. I think I’ve ascertained the type of plane, and it’s not good. What was the result of the search for Maria?”
“She was gone. What type of plane? Where have you tracked it?” Rodney asked.
“Think it’s a Gulfstream 280 with a range of 5,760 kilometers (3,600 miles). So far, I tracked it from Norwood to Halifax, Nova Scotia. I suspect it changed the transponder code and changed its registration number. A plane from Halifax filed a flight plan to Nuuk, the capital city of Greenland. Greenland is part of the Kingdom of Denmark. They evidently had a pre-authorized PPR (prior permission required) number and refueled there without having to go through customs. They left there and are headed toward Spain, I think,” Anna explained. “I suggest you get with General Parsons and have him gin up a Delta Force team.”
“We’ll see how this goes,” Rodney got the rest of the team together and walked over to Agent Augenbaum. “I have some information. The local police have a report of an ambulance entering a garage near Norwood Memorial Airport. A business jet left there at about that time and headed, reportedly, to Halifax, Nova Scotia. The plane was a Gulfstream. I have someone scanning police frequencies and all aircraft flight plans in this region of the country. Hope that helps.”
“We’re on it,” Augenbaum said with a veneer of calm as he turned away, calling others. Finally, the agent thought. Augenbaum phoned the contact to the HRT team and had the on-call team headed this way in minutes. He had a warrant for the address within thirty minutes. He was good at that.
“General. Rodney Branch, sir. I’m senior with Blakely’s bodyguards. Do you have contacts with Delta? I think we know where they are heading, and if you have the juice to call up Delta – we can transport them wherever they are. We can be there in twenty minutes from when you say go. They are probably in a Gulfstream 280. They touched down in Halifax, Nova Scotia and flew to Nuuk, Greenland. They did not go through customs, so they either have diplomatic status – meaning they are Nation State actors. We think Maria Rusakova is a Russian Agent. Lakshmi Varma and Prissy Hunnicutt saw her with Lux just before he passed out. We sent locals to question her at her apartment, and she is not in her apartment. We suspect her. We have contacted the CIA and NSA. We think we know where they are going and can brief the Unit if you can get them activated,” Rodney said.
“Where are you getting this information? You are way too connected,” General Parsons asked.
“Sir. Anna, Lux’s AI, is able to hack and trace better than most nations’ intelligence resources. They are headed toward Spain after leaving Nuuk, Greenland. This could mean the loss of much of our advantage in technology for Earth or for space. This could mean the loss of the gravity drive and many new weapons Paulus and Lux Blakely had developed. They would fold to the torture,” Rodney explained.
“I know the Commanders over the joint command. You need to get me to a secure phone,” Parsons said.
“I’ll do better than that. Show me where to go and get us clearance. I’m taking you to Fort Liberty,” Rodney said.
“Where? Oh, yeah. Fort Bragg. Can’t get used to the name changes. Let me let Generals Stewart and Purcell know what I’m doing,” Parsons said as he turned away and let the two other generals know what he was planning.
Rodney went over to Agent Augenbaum. “Agent. Here’s my number,” he said, holding up his phone. “My phone is encrypted, but we are going to Fort Liberty (Ft. Bragg) in North Carolina to see if we can prep Special Operations Command. We’ll see if we can get the Unit to mount a rescue if it's feasible.”
“What are you talking about?” Augenbaum asked. “I’ve got HRT headed to that garage and have the warrant to search it.”
“Good job. The plane touched down in Halifax and flew to Nuuk, Greenland. They refueled there and headed toward Spain. It’s a Gulfstream 280 if that helps you,” Rodney said.
“Where are you getting your information? Are you involved in this?” Augenbaum said threateningly. “I’ll have you thrown in jail as a conspirator if you don’t tell me what you know.”
“That would be a great move, Sherlock. Really? Because my sources are better than your sources?” Rodney said and walked off, looking back at the FBI agent.
“Call your friend at Bragg and let him know you are coming. I don’t want them trying to shoot us down. They couldn’t, but I don’t want them to try,” Rodney said.
They went to the Courier as it was hovering just outside the building. They walked onboard, and Robert, Sue, Derek, Regina, and Elijah were already there. General Parsons called the Joint Special Forces Command at Fort Liberty. Sergeant Huckaby answered. “General Angle’s office. How may I help you?”
“This is Lieutenant General Parsons. I need General Angle right away. I am coming to meet him. Get him on the phone,” Parsons said.
The young sergeant stammered. “Sir. The general is here, but he’s indisposed right now. I can have him call you back in a minute.”
“I don’t care if he’s taking a dump. I need him immediately, if not sooner. This is a national emergency!” Parsons demanded.
“Right away, sir,” the man said, and then there was banging on a door, and some violent cursing before another voice came on the line. “This better not be a prank, or someone is going to fry. Who is this, really?”
“Rich. This is Frank Parsons. I’m coming from Boston, and I’ll meet you at the Polo Field next to your Force Command Headquarters in eight minutes. We can’t talk over the phone. It’s the one,” Parsons said and disconnected. He knew Richard Angle would be there.
◆◆◆
 
Fort Liberty (Bragg) – US Army Forces Command Headquarters
Richard Angle had been to West Point, where Parsons had been a visiting lecturer. They had become friends and would cross each other's paths in Bosnia and Kosovo. It had struck home to him when Parsons had said this is the one. They had talked about where one assignment sometimes defined one’s ultimate career achievement. He told his aide to notify all the posts that he would have an aerial visitor landing in a minute – it is a friend. Stay alert. He put the 1st Special Forces Operational Detachment-Delta (1st SFOD-D) on alert.
He had no idea what was going on, but he knew Frank wasn’t a joker. He was standing out in the polo field, feeling rather foolish, when he looked up and saw a gray cylinder zooming to the ground like it was going to crash. Angle stood there, paralyzed in one spot. The sergeant ran away when he thought it would crash. The sergeant came sneaking hesitantly back when the craft stopped and was hovering just over the surface. A ramp on the side lowered. General Parsons came down and stood in front of General Angle. General Angle saluted, and Parsons returned it before grabbing Angle in a hug and slapping his back. “Rich, this is a hell of an issue that we’re going to need your boys to clear up for us. Come on in. Your sergeant have SCI clearance?” Parsons asked, and Angle nodded. “Come on up, Sergeant.”
“Lux and Paulus Blakely have been kidnapped along with ex-intelligence Major Jack Chen by Russian agents,” Parsons said, but he could see that his statement made no impact on Angle.
“Don’t you know who they are? Good god, man, have you been living in a hole? Lux Blakely is the kid that designed this ship. He’s the one that transitioned our fighter jets to fly Mach 5, and his dad designed the Hasta hypersonic missiles that fly Mach 20. Lux is the kid who designed the flying backpacks that let the battalions at Fort Drum fly at 400 knots for thousands of kilometers. He’s the kid that designed the gravity drive that lets us fly anywhere in the solar system at a quarter the speed of light. He designed armor that will stop any kinetic round and knives that will slash through anything.”
“Oh. He’s that kid. We had a SAS regiment guy from Australia showing us that thing. Good grief. We can’t let the Russians have that guy. Why didn’t you say so? That knife is awesome!” Angle exclaimed.
Parsons took a deep breath and let out a sigh. “They’re probably landing somewhere in Spain now to refuel, but they’re going somewhere else. We’re not sure where yet. They had two operatives posing as paramedics. They looked extremely competent. Don’t know how many others are on the plane, but it’s a nation-state operation. We can carry 24 and be anywhere in the world in about 45 minutes. There are no acceleration effects and no noise. Nothing can penetrate the hull. We can go Mach 40 in the atmosphere and travel to the Moon and back in minutes,” Parsons said.
“Who are these civilians on the ship?” Angle asked.
Rodney overheard the comment and actually growled. Derek raised his eyebrows. 
“Do you have a team for us? Need Castilian Spanish and probably Eastern European languages - definitely Russian and Belarusian,” Parsons said.
Angle directed the ship to fly to a nondescript building. “I want you to meet Colonel Steven Van Dyk. He’s the current commander of the Unit. I’ll get the authorization. Do you know where they are now?” Angle asked. Van Dyk was a short man, with some scars on his arms who exuded a feeling of competence in the room. Van Dyk was dressed in comfortable clothes and had an M-5 and the new Sig Sauer P320-M17.
Parsons turned to Rodney. Rodney gave Anna a nudge. “They refueled in Barcelona. They evidently had a dignitary PPR number, so no customs check. No one got off. They filed a flight plan to Minsk. I expect them to attempt to land at a military air base there,” Anna said. “They have 2380 kilometers (1488 miles) at a cruising speed of 850 kilometers per hour. They left five minutes ago, so about two hours and 43 minutes from now, they should be landing at Machulishchy air base in the Minsk Region of Belarus. Lieutenant Colonel Ivan Kislyi is the current commander there.”
Rodney turned and relayed the information to Colonel Van Dyk. “We are trying to rescue three men. Lux and Paulus Blakely and Jack Chen. Chen is a former intelligence officer. Paulus is an ex-military operative. Looks like they are headed to Minsk. Lux is fifteen and has killed assassins sent to kidnap him before. He is excellent with a knife,” he explained to Van Dyk and sent him photos of three men plus the Russian spy, Maria.
Van Dyk looked a bit incredulous hearing about Lux’s prowess with a knife but figured it was nervous boasting by the failed security guards. “Do you have a more precise location when they’ll land and where?”
Rodney looked at his watch. “They left seven minutes ago, so about two hours and 41 minutes from now, they should be landing at Machulishchy air base in the Minsk Region of Belarus. Lieutenant Colonel Ivan Kislyi is the current commander there. They are in a Gulfstream 280 cruising at 850 kilometers per hour.”
Van Dyk checked his watch and then called to get his team aboard.
◆◆◆
 
Aboard the Gulfstream 280
Maria started to walk back before nodding to Dimitri, who had the remote for the stun belts. She was walking by Lux when he asked quietly, “I thought you were going to be my girlfriend.”
“It’s not too late for that. We had a different plan, but it was vetoed. I definitely wanted you for that plan,” Maria said. She looked thoughtful for a minute and went back to the bathroom.
Dimitri smirked a bit. “Why did you carry all those knives? I understand the throwing knives – they are razor sharp, but what about that other dull knife? What was it for? It wouldn’t cut hot butter.”
Maria came out of the bathroom. “This is what I was going to use, but its effect is too temporary and too sporadic,” she said and held up a tiny little bottle. “Think of this as a taste of what you are missing.” She dabbed a bit on a finger and then rubbed it on the side of her neck under her ears. She then touched the bottle to the inside of her wrists and rubbed them together. She fanned her hand toward him.
Lux breathed, and he was on fire with desire. He only felt this way around Prissy. He leaned toward her as she stepped by him. She smelled so attractive. He wanted her, and yet the feeling faded quickly as it had come, and suddenly he was feeling angry. He could see the scent must have affected the men as she walked by. It must have affected them differently. Paulus snorted with disgust, and Jack nearly jumped on her. The two paramedics were attracted to her as they watched her rear intently as she walked by, and then Dimitri shook his head.
“Why do you carry it with you?” Dimitri asked.
“I make my security guards practice forms every day, and I make them carry it. They have to carry it on their person. May I show you right here? I don’t need the practice knife, but I make my people do it every day at 6 am. I fire them if they don’t do it. If they don’t do it – they aren’t loyal – so I fire them,” Lux said.
“Do it,” Dimitri said angrily. “Right there,” he said, feeling the aftereffects from Maria’s pheromone perfume.
Lux stood and mimicked, jabbing and slashing like a child.
“Here,” Dimitri said. “You make your bodyguards do this every day?”
“Yep. They have to follow what I do, or I fire them,” Lux said.
Dimitri pulled the dull knife from the scabbard. He had looked at it before but hadn’t paid much attention to it. Now, he pulled it out, tested the dull edge with his finger, and tossed it back to Lux. “Go through your routine. I want to get this on video. You make your men do whatever you do?” he said and laughed. “Do they complain?” He pulled up his phone and started the video. “Do your thing but remember I have this remote.”
Lux did some silly slashes like a child would and grunted. He stabbed out to each side and then stabbed toward the rear. When his body momentarily faced away, he slashed through the stun belt, cutting a shallow divot into his chest with a grunt of pain. He slashed through his ankle shackles and his handcuffs and turned, rolling toward Dimitri, who lowered his phone and mashed the remote stun button. Paulus and Jack screamed as Lux lopped Dimitri’s head off and stabbed through the neck of the second man as he fumbled for a gun. The only sound was as the bodies shifted forward, covering the floor with blood.
Lux was nauseous at all the gore. He blinked back tears, but he would crash the plane before he’d be a slave somewhere. Lux immediately cut off Paulus’s and Jack’s stun belts – carefully this time. He then cut off their shackles and handcuffs and had Jack do the same with his own. Jack Chen found his sidearms and knives in the galley storage on the cabin side of the galley before the folding door to the flight deck. He stood guard over the bi-fold accordion door separating the flight deck from the passenger compartment.
Paulus whispered to Lux. “Have you considered what we are going to do next?”
“Nope. Not a clue. I can fly my Pod or the Courier because Anna is my backup. Doubt I would do so well with a business jet. You have any experience you haven’t told me about with airplanes?” Lux said as his father put a dressing over the wound across his chest where he had cut the belt off. His father had found a medical kit in the back with no trouble. He seemed to be totally competent with wounds. What had he done with the military? Lux wondered.
“I’ve jumped out of a lot of perfectly good aircraft in my past life, but HALO jumps don’t count for flying. Let’s check out the cargo hold. You can, at least, get another set of clothes so you don’t look like a blood-covered zombie,” Paulus said.
They went to the very back, and there were six bags. They found the two for the paramedics, and Lux found some clothes that fit remarkably well. He also found two small satchels full of cash in different denominations and currencies. They had Belarusian passports with them, and Paulus looked sort of like the older paramedic. Chen would not match either, but they hit the jackpot with the pilot’s and Maria’s bags. Maria Mikhailov had several passports. She had a Russian diplomatic passport, as did the pilot, but apparently, Russian diplomatic passports were a dime a dozen these days. She had Euros, Rubles, and dollars. The pilot had several passports also.
It appeared that they were almost to Belarus or Russia. They would have to take control of the plane and fly to an airport where they could refuel or escape to the countryside or something. They talked about how they would take over the plane when the pilot slid open the partition and got a pistol pointed at him. He was quickly searched by Chen and forced back to the rear toilet. “I need privacy the pilot said.”
“I won’t video it. That’s as private as it gets. Do it. What’s our location? What’s your destination?”
“I’m not telling…” the pilot started to say, and Chen punched him in the lower intestines, doubling him over on the floor.
“Next time, you get to wear a stun belt until the battery is dead,” Chen said. “Let’s try this again. Where are we? What is our destination? You saw your colleagues' brains and blood on the floor. Do you think I give a damn about you?”
“We are about 30 minutes out of Minsk. We are headed to Machulishchy Airport,” the pilot said.
Chen had a suspicion. “Military or civilian airport?”
“Of course, it is civilian,” the pilot said.
“You’re lying. If we land at a military airport, I will cripple you for life so you will not die. I will make it so you cannot move without assistance. Military or civilian?” Chen asked again.
“Air Force. Minsk International is close by. I will divert there,” the pilot said.
“Divert to Vilnius, Lithuania, then. You have just enough fuel,” Chen said. “Send Maria what’s her name out. Paulus. Cover the pilot. I want to divert to Vilnius, Lithuania.”
The pilot went in and sat down. He told Maria to go back. Maria went back, and Chen yelled at her.
“On your face. Hands behind your head. Interlace your fingers. She whimpered a little as she lay in the gore of the corridor. “Watch her, Lux. Knife out and on. Remember, she’s a trained spy,” Chen said and grabbed Maria’s hair and interlaced fingers. He searched under her palms and found one of the little bottles. He roughly searched her and found two more of the little bottles and a spike-like weapon hidden in a seam.
Chen was able to take two sets of cuffs and cobble together one ratcheted cuff to make a set of cuffs. He pulled her dress off her shoulders and took a stun belt that was still functional and put it around her, and used adhesive tape from the medical kit to strap it to her body. He then put her dress back on.
She started talking when Chen hit the remote and shocked her briefly. She cried out.
Chen ducked into the flight deck. “Paulus, you come back here and watch her.”
As he was leaving the copilot’s seat, the pilot flipped a switch that Paulus or Chen didn’t see. As Chen sat down, he saw a flashing light on the console. He saw it listed as a fuel dump in progress.
“Cut it off, now,” Chen said and slapped his pistol against the Pilot’s head, cutting him above the ear.
The pilot flipped the switch. “We now don’t have the fuel to make Vilnius.”
“Fly there,” Chen pointed to National Airport Minsk on the map. “Do not use the word ‘Trip’ or “Code Bravo, Oscar, or any others. Don’t change your transponder code to 7500 for hijacking, 7600 for communications lost, or 7700 for all other emergencies,” Chen said, knowing those were codes for distress.
“Contacting the tower,” the pilot said. “Minsk Approach. This is Gulfstream November two-eight-zero-Sierra Echo. I am low on fuel and need a VFR approach. Thirty-two kilometers southwest.”
Minsk National Approach: “Have you on radar Sierra- Echo. Are you declaring an emergency?”
Gulfstream: “Negative, Tower. Just need priority in the queue.”
Approach: “Gulfstream Zero-Sierra-Echo Turn three one zero Straight in approach on Three one Left. Contact the tower on one-one-eight-three.
Gulfstream: “Gulfstream Zero–Sierra-Echo Turning three-one-zero for straight in approach on three-one-left Contacting Tower.”
Gulfstream: “Minsk Tower - Gulfstream November two-eight-zero-Sierra-Echo on straight in approach on three-one-left.
Minsk Tower: “Roger Zero-Sierra-Echo. Ground is one-two-one-point-seven.”
The plane landed without incident, and they were able to contact ground to taxi and services to refuel. Everything was going well until a controller in the tower with binoculars saw Chen holding a gun on the pilot.
Emergency services were called, and police cars, an ambulance, and firetrucks rushed to surround the plane. It did not get refueled. The state police were notified.
◆◆◆
 
Aboard the Courier
“You realize they’ve probably already landed,” Rodney said to Van Dyk. He checked with Anna. Colonel Van Dyk didn’t realize they were hovering over the southern Baltic Sea since they felt no acceleration.
“Their plane landed at the National Airport of Minsk just now. I’ve accessed their communications. They were granted clearance to taxi,” Anna confirmed. “They are in a white Gulfstream G280 November 280 Sierra-Echo.”
“They’ve just landed at Minsk National Airport,” Rodney related the information to Van Dyk. “They are in white Gulfstream G280 – tail number November 280 Sierra-Echo.”
“How can you know this? We just got authorization to get our people back. How long ‘til we get there?”
“Seven minutes. We’ll put you directly alongside the plane,” Rodney said, and Colonel Van Dyk rushed to tell his men.
Robert walked back to the unit members. “How many speak Russian fluently? Belarusian?”
The team had three that spoke Russian fluently and one that spoke conversational Belarusian.
Robert had been listening in on Rodney’s conversations with Anna through their bone conduction communications and the Courier’s comm system.
“Rodney,” Anna said, getting his attention. “The Minsk Airport Authority has now declared this a terrorist incident. A Eurasian person was seen holding a handgun on the pilot. The locals are clueless about how to handle the situation. They have called the state police and the nearby Air Force Base. I will handle communications with the authorities,” Anna explained. “I suggest you cut through the hull to ruin the integrity of the plane and have Delta Force go in and save everybody. When Russians ask – tell them you are Spetsnaz. Their elite teams don’t wear uniforms and get the best equipment, just like delta. The Russian military, police and FSB know as little about the Spetsnaz as the US public knows about Delta. Speak only Russian.”
Rodney turned around and spoke to Van Dyk. “We’ll line up our ramp level against the plane and cut open the side with one of our knives, and then you can go in and rescue everybody. Tell them you are Spetsnaz if anyone asks. Make sure that word gets out to start the rumor. Only speak Russian. We think our people have control of the plane. No flash-bangs. I’ll cut through the hull to ruin the plane, and make you a dramatic entrance,” Rodney said.
“I don’t have to take advice from a civilian. I’m leading this team,” Van Dyk stated.
“Okay. This is essentially a Russian state. The US Embassy here closed a long time ago. What do you recommend since our people may or may not be in charge of that plane,” Rodney said.
Van Dyk stood there a moment. “Sounds good. All right, people. Here’s what we’re going to do,” Van Dyk directed his people into the cargo bay, waiting for the ramp to drop.”
One team member turned to Rodney, “Is that one of those CutsAll™ knives I’ve heard so much about?”
“Uh-Huh,” Rodney said. “You seen one of these work?”
“Nah, but I hear it’s awesome. One of the Australians showed one off to my buds,” the soldier said.
“The kid who designed it is the one we’re rescuing. Chinese tried to abduct him too. He killed two of those and wounded a third when he was 11 years old. This was a big operation by the Russians. We think the kidnapped ones took over the plane. You’ll all be pretending to be Russian Spetsnaz,” Rodney said.
“Makes sense. That clarifies a lot. Thanks,” the soldier said.
Regina yelled back, “Four minutes!”
◆◆◆
 
Machulishchy Air Base – Minsk - Lieutenant Colonel Ivan Kislyi
Lt. Colonel Kislyi was still surprised when he got a call from Colonel Aleksey Mikhailov.
“Hello, Colonel. Yes, We just got word of a terrorist incident at the National Airport.”
“I am sending Spetsnaz troops in a special aircraft. Call the airport and tell them to be aware of a new type of aircraft coming to rescue the passengers. Have your people ready to mop up. Let them know,” the colonel said and disconnected.
Kislyi nodded and relayed the instructions to the Minsk tower and his forces.
◆◆◆
 
Two Minutes to Minsk - Courier
The Courier stopped in midair and launched a drone that raced ahead to give a view of the situation, and a view of the scene popped up on the displays around the cargo bay. The drone began blasting a loud message in Russian to the police and emergency personnel around the Gulfstream though they couldn’t see the stealthed drone.
Drone: Прибывают спецназовцы Главного управления Генштаба ВС РФ. У нас ситуация под контролем. Пожалуйста, отойдите назад. Мы Спецназ
Rough Translation: (Special Forces of the Main Directorate of the General Staff of the Russian Armed Forces are arriving. We have the situation under control. Please move back. We are Spetsnaz).
◆◆◆
 
Arriving at National Airport - Minsk
“Minsk Tower. This is Spetsgruppa Vympel arriving at your location. You will be able to resume all traffic in minutes. Do not be alarmed,” Anna transmitted to the tower in English and Russian.
The Courier came in so fast it looked like it would crash. Personnel around the plane started running away to gain distance, but the Courier came to an instantaneous stop beside the Gulfstream and lowered the ramp. Rodney took the CutsAll and slashed around the door of the jet and tossed it aside and stepped out of the way. Delta team spread into the plane quickly.
The Delta Force Team was stopped by Lux Blakely. “Nice to see you guys. I wasn’t sure how we’d get out of this one, and I didn’t feel like hijacking another plane to go home. I’m leaving passports with these two bodies. Tell them they appeared to be Ukrainian terrorists. That woman is a spy that I want to be charged with kidnapping back in the US. the pilot should be taken too. Let’s get out of here. The Delta Team scoured the plane and found a small pistol under the copilot’s seat in the flight deck. They were soon back on the courier.
Anna reprogrammed the drone to give the following message and contacted the tower. “Minsk Tower. We are leaving your airspace, and you may resume normal traffic. Sorry for the inconvenience.”
“Roger, Spetsgruppa Vympel. How long until you are out of our airspace?” the tower asked.
“Twenty seconds, Tower. Thank you for your cooperation,” Anna said. The Courier left the area at Mach 40 and went into orbit.
◆◆◆
 
Major Igor Antonavich – Minsk Air Force Response Team to Minsk National
Major Igor Antonavich had never seen Spetsnaz before. He had heard they were elite and heard they had the latest equipment, but this was an order of magnitude difference compared to his people. His men had entered the target plane a minute after that miraculous ship had left. They found the decapitated and ravaged bodies of two Ukrainian terrorists along with their fake passports. He had seen the operatives enter the plane, and it was a work of art. They had cut through the side of the plane in seconds and were coming out moments later. Those people had used some weird new way to let people know what was going on and who they were – it was uncanny. They had announced they were coming like this was some public service announcement. He had never felt so proud of the Russian military.
◆◆◆
 
Sergeant Kaliuzhny – had orders to take his Mil Mi-24 helicopter gunship to Minsk National in response to the terrorists who had taken over the Gulfstream business jet. Then this gray cylinder came in like an act of heaven and left minutes later without the thunderclap of a sonic boom. He had no idea that Russia had anything so advanced. It had floated outside the targeted jet, and the Spetsnaz troops were in and out in heartbeats. He had thought he was hot stuff. Now, he had seen hot stuff, and he realized it wasn’t him or his people. He had to keep asking his fellow soldiers if they had seen what he saw – it seemed like a dream.
◆◆◆
 
Major Andrei V. Averyanov of the Fifth Spetsnaz Brigade was upset. He didn’t know what was going on, and he usually was way ahead of the locals. He had received a call about a possible hostage situation with terrorists at Minsk National Airport. He got his people there and found a mystery. Everyone on the scene had reported that some mystical ship had flown in, warned everyone they were Spetsnaz, killed the terrorists, and rescued the hostages before he could arrive with his people. His people arrived within an hour of the call, but the mythical ship had long since disappeared. It went straight up and was off the radar in seconds. He took numerous statements, and it was surreal. The statements agreed, and he had the plane and bodies with false passports. The entrance to the plane was bizarre, and he would have said it was impossible if he hadn’t seen the fuselage of the plane. There were no burn marks, and no one had heard an explosive entry.
Major Averyanov was confounded by the scene of the kidnapping. The wounds to the two bodies were bizarre. One body had his head cut off, and the other had a narrow wedge straight through his neck. He had the local law enforcement taking fingerprints. He had no idea how the public audible warning was given and had no idea who else was on the plane. He did find the name of the pilot and that the plane had flown from Nuuk, Greenland, to Barcelona, Spain, and then to here. He was further out of the loop than he thought if Russia had equipment like this. He suspected it wasn’t the work of the Spetsnaz, but his people were in trouble if the West was this far ahead of them.
◆◆◆
 
Aboard the Courier returning to Fort Bragg
Maria and the pilot were shackled in the back of the Courier under guard. The Delta Team had come by Lux and slapped him on the back – telling him what a good job he did. Lux promised them CutsAll™ knives for all the team members. He was feeling hollow and cold. He couldn’t shut his eyes without seeing Dimitri's body jetting blood out the top of his neck or gushing blood from the other kidnapper’s neck. He felt he had been stretched thin, and his hands shook. He felt like he couldn’t catch his breath. He didn’t have time to process what had happened to him. Rodney kept people away from him as they landed at Fort Liberty (Bragg) and off-loaded the delta detachment.




Chapter 8

Lux Property – Paulden, Arizona
Lux felt relieved by just getting back to his property in Paulden. He felt everything around was a hollow dream. The Delta soldiers had slapped him on the back and told him how well he had done. They had left in a great mood. Maria and the pilot had scowled at him when they were turned over to the FBI on returning to Boston. Lux had thanked General Parsons and the soldiers and bodyguards that had come for them. Jack Chen was very solicitous of him. Jack let everyone know what had happened, and everyone told him how proud of him they were. Lakshmi and Prissy were safely at Paulden when Lux returned, and that relieved him. He finally went back to his lab in the bunker when he got some alone time.
The side door to the bunker opened, and Prissy came in. She came over behind him, where he was sitting on a stool, staring into space. “How are you? Really?” she said. She knew him better than anyone, and she knew he was torn up inside.
He turned and looked over his shoulder at her but didn’t say anything. Prissy came around to his front and looked at him. He stared down at the floor and wouldn’t look at her. She put her arms around him, pulling his head onto her shoulder. He started sobbing – with racking sobs and tears.
Prissy just held him, giving him shushing noises when he tried to talk at first. “It’s okay. You had to do what you did to get away. You’re okay. Shhh. It’s okay.” She stayed holding him ‘til he cried himself out. She walked him over to a bed that was set up off to the side for late nights and had him lie down. She covered him up and curled up on top of the covers against him. Jack and Rodney came in to check, and she held her finger up to her lips. They both backed out quietly.
Lux woke up alone in the morning, with Jack Chen sitting back in a chair. “Morning,” Jack said. “How are you doing?”
“I think I need to go to a psychologist for PTSD. Prissy helped me last night, and I feel better, but could you find one that works with the military - near here? I don’t want to medicate my issues away. Kinda’ feel that’s like cutting the wire to the check engine light on your car. It doesn’t cure the problem – it just gets rid of the symptoms.”
◆◆◆
 
They went back over for breakfast. Lux was ravenous. He felt marginally better. Lux looked around the breakfast table. “Where’s Prissy? Is she sleeping in today?”
Elan looked up. “She left early with Polly. Said she needed to get back to MIT. Lakshmi is still here. She’s the one sleeping late. She didn’t sleep when you were…you know.”
“Oh, thanks,” Lux said, feeling melancholy all of a sudden.
Rodney looked at Jack with concern.
Lux looked around the table. “Okay, guys. I get it. I need to see a psychologist – a good one. Find one for me if you would. Get an appointment as soon as you can. Phoenix should have a lot of veterans – maybe there?”
Jack spoke up, “I’ll ask buddies there. We’ll find someone.”
◆◆◆
 
Office of Bruce Sulfridge, Ph.D., LMHC, BCBA – Phoenix, Arizona
“Thank you for seeing me, Doctor, on such short notice,” Lux said.
“I usually don’t treat youth. I specialize in PTSD cases with veterans. You know what PTSD is, don’t you,” Sulfridge said.
Lux rolled his eyes. “Yes, doctor. That’s why I’m here.”
“Tell me about yourself and what’s on your mind. It’s your hour,” the doctor said.
…an hour later, Lux stepped out of the office with a look of disgust.
Jack and Rodney were outside. “What’s wrong?” Jack said.
“He didn’t believe me. I thought I’d feel better just telling him everything. I don’t think he believed a word of it. I’m ready to go. I won’t be coming back to see him again,” Lux said and started walking back to the Pod with Rodney.
Jack got Rodney’s attention. “I’ll be right out.” Rodney nodded.
Jack stepped into the office.
“What can I do for you? Are you the boy’s father?” the therapist asked.
“No. I’m one of his bodyguards. Lux didn’t think you believed him. One of my buddies recommended you,” Jack said.
“Is this boy’s father a soldier?” the therapist asked. “He’s got an imagination. I’ll give him that. He needs medication from a psychiatrist.”
“Yes. His father was a soldier,” Jack said.
“Does Lux read a lot of fantasy and RPG stories? Flying into space and knives that cut through anything,” the doctor said and laughed.
“He killed two people in front of me last week with one of those knives and saved my life. He’s ordered hundreds, if not thousands, killed before in China. He has a Ph.D. from MIT in Space Propulsion. Those knives he invented are very real,” Jack said as he whipped out his CutsAll™ and slashed a chair in half. “Bill us,” Jack said.

◆◆◆
 
“Let’s go back. I need to see my dad,” Lux said, and they headed to Paulden before the others took his father back to Huntsville. “You didn’t say anything to make the therapist angry, did you?”
Jack looked up at the ceiling. “I didn’t say anything that would make the therapist mad.”
They landed outside the bunker as Paulus was getting ready to leave in the Courier. “Lux. Are you okay? What’s the matter?”
“The therapist in Phoenix didn’t believe me,” Lux said. “I spilled my guts to him. It helped to just talk about it but not as much as I needed. You were a soldier. Did you ever need therapy? Anyone ever help you?”
Paulus looked straight at his son. “I had a person that helped me a lot. He had an office near Atlanta. Don’t know if he’s still practicing. Let me check.” He concentrated on his internet connection for a minute and then placed a call.
Lux could see him talking. He laughed at something the other person said and then cut the connection.
“He can see you. His name is David Wright. He’s a counselor. Few fancy initials after his name, but he’s really good. He’s about thirty years older than me.”
Seemed Counselor Wright could see them today, so Lux jumped in the Courier and flew to drop off his dad in Huntsville before they flew over to Atlanta minutes later. Dr. Wright was in his early 70s but still spry. Lux walked into the office. Lux felt an immediate liking for the man and shut the door. Ninety minutes later, Lux came out, shaking the therapist’s hand. Lux looked like he had been crying.
Jack asked Lux how it went, and Lux was positive. “He’s a neat guy. He was picking at the scab. He got to the meat of the matter quickly. I asked him about my dad. He smiled and said that wasn’t his story to tell. I’ll be going back a few weeks, I think. I definitely need it.”
◆◆◆
 
Lakshmi, the Bunker, and the lab
- Paulden, Arizona
“You ready to help me with this crap. Look at these equations and tell me what you think,” she said.
Lux looked at the whiteboards that ran the wall of their workspace. He studied it for a long time. Finally, he turned to Lakshmi. “It looks like there is more to this than you have shown. Are you saying that there are layers of standing waves that we perceive as gravity? I wonder,” he said.
“What?” she asked.
“I bet we could produce those standing waves. We could…I wonder. Thanks, Lakshmi. I’m going to try something. If it works out, we may be able to…I’ll let you know.” He rushed over to his lab in the adjacent hangar.
“Hey, Douglas. What are you working on?” Lux asked Trenton.
“I thought we needed another Pod with improvements. We need some type of offensive weaponry. I was thinking of a laser too. We don’t have the power density for a rail gun. I thought I’d add a few more seats so we could carry seven, counting the pilot. Anna helped me design it. We’re adding the gravity drive,” Douglas said.
“Good idea,” Lux said. “I’ve thought of a lot of little things to do to the Pod but never got around to it.”
“Why’d you rush over? Did Lakshmi inspire you?”
“Lakshmi’s formulas show so many variables. I can see why no one came up with a mathematical theory for gravity before that was accurate – so many variables. I want to use that flexibility,” Lux said.
“How so?”
I’ve got some ideas I want to try. I want to try depositing a layer of gold onto our shielding material that formed those crystal structures,” Lux explained.
“You mean you’re trying to induce an effect in crystals? Do you think it will produce a measurable standing wave?” Trenton asked.
“I think it will. I’d like to be able to have Earth-level gravity while in space or on a small celestial body.”
“Do you think standing gravity waves would be harmful?” Trenton asked.
“Not if they are not too strong. We live at the bottom of an ocean of air. We evolved to see through the air and breath it and not be crushed by it. In a chorine atmosphere, creatures would see in different frequencies to survive in their environment. Octopi use hemocyanin with copper binding oxygen instead of iron, so they can survive in cold temperatures; they have blue blood instead of red like ours. We evolved in gravity, so our reaction times are designed for this level of gravity. Our bodies evolved to function in this gravity and radiation environment.”
Trenton acknowledged his comments by nodding. He paused. “I’m going to get this together. Anna’s help saves a lot of time.”
“I’ll be over here if you need help,” Lux said. Lux keyed his communications to contact Anna.
“Hi, there, Lux,” Anna said.
Lux pulled up her connection on his monitor. “I’m sorry I didn’t contact you earlier – after the kidnapping.” Lux felt uncomfortable for having forgotten her so long after his ordeal. “I understand how you tracked me and arranged a lot of what happened in the background. I don’t want to take you for granted.”
“I understand you organics were otherwise occupied. I’ve got to watch out for my people. I have a lot of computing cycles invested in you,” Anna said.
Lux laughed. “Too true. Well, back to work. No rest for the weary,” he said with a grin.
He spent the rest of the morning setting up the experiment. He finished the gold deposition coating on a half-meter square of gravity shielding lattice about mid-afternoon. Lux saw a food tray next to him and realized that someone must have brought it, and he was too engrossed in his work to notice. Grinning, he ate the sandwiches and apple slices, thinking this was a ‘dad-type’ lunch he used to eat all the time.
Trenton looked up from his work as Lux tapped him on the leg. He was sweaty and greasy from using a power wrench inside the new Pod. Lux chuckled when he saw a tray of uneaten sandwiches and apple slices near him. “Hey. You need to stop and eat something. Grab a bite. I’m ready to test the gravity experiment.”
Trenton ate quickly, and then they went over to where the experiment was set up. “Explain it to me. Just the elevator version, please.”
“Okay,” Lux said. “I’ve used electrodeposition of gold nanostructures on my gravity shielding graphite-crystal lattice material. I took a polymer mold of a parabolic dish, so it might focus any gravity frequency radiation toward a set of scales below it. There is a five-kilogram weight on each of the two scales under the focal point. I’m hoping I will be able to see some measurable increase in weight. It will tend to confirm a lot of Lakshmi’s theory.”
“Don’t you think she ought to be here, too?” Douglas said.
Lux sighed and nodded. He walked over with Douglas to get Lakshmi. She was busy staring at the board with a stylus in her mouth.
“Hey. Got a second to see an experiment. What are you stuck on?” Lux asked.
“These magnitudes look way off. It’ll come to me. Let’s go see what doodad you’ve cooked up,” she said.
“Doodad? Congrats on your Anglo-slang,” he said. 
Then she said, “Tell me about the experiment as we walk over.”
They walked, and Lux elaborated on what he intended.
They stood around as Lakshmi examined the parabolic shape of the hybrid material. “What kind of voltage are you going to try?” she asked.
“I thought I’d start with low-voltage direct current and then increase fairly rapidly to higher and higher. This setup goes up to fifty-thousand volts. Keeping amperage really low. I’m looking to the scales below for any change. They are calibrated to two significant figures in grams,” Lux said. “Oops. Better get Anna monitoring this.” He set it up so Anna could monitor at a slow-motion frame rate so they could see when anything happened. “Here we go,” Lux said and began reading off the settings and resultant readings.
“Twelve volts. Nada. Twenty-four volts. Nada. Forty-eight volts. Nothing. Ninety-six volts. Nope. One-ninety-two. Nothing. Three-eighty-four. Nope. Seven-sixty-eight = 4.64 grams. It’s working. Fifteen-thirty-six volts =92.8 grams. Three thousand-seventy-two volts = 430.9 grams (about 0.95 gravity). Six thousand one-hundred-forty-four volts = 1.36 kilogram (about three gravities). 12,288 volts – 3.1 kilograms (6 gravities). 50,000 volts = ??? (crushed the weight and the scales). Wow! Didn’t expect that. we’d have a weapon or anti-gravity if we can figure out how to use it internally on a ship for gravity or as a weapon.”
“I’m hungry. What time is it?” Lakshmi said.
“Gads. Bit after 9 pm. I’m exhausted, Dr. Trenton. You ready to call it a night?”
“I am Dr. Blakely. Shall we?” Douglas said.
They all headed to the kitchen for a bite and then to bed. The two bodyguards went with them.
◆◆◆
 
The next morning – Paulden, Arizona
Lux felt distracted during the morning routine. The exercises and group run seemed perfunctory. The sparing with the Slazh™ knives was intense. Lux switched off conscious thought and seemed to do much better when he just responded and didn’t think about his attacks. He turned totally cold and lashed his sparring partners with potentially crippling and lethal strikes. The CutsAll™ knives required a totally focused practice with no partners. Each bodyguard, Lakshmi, and Lux performed the Kali forms, patterns of separate flowing moves while separated widely from others due to the extreme danger from the activated blades.
A hot shower and breakfast after the dawn exercises tended to get everyone motivated. Lux could hardly wait to get back to his lab to test different features of the new gravity wave-producing material. He contacted Anna when he settled in front of his computers. “Show me the last video where the 5kg weight and scales were crushed.”
The video played, and it looked like it was almost instantaneous. “What kind of gravity force did we get to crush the steel scales and lead 5 kg weight on top of it?”
“It appears to have exerted close to 3,000 kg/cm2. It is not accurate. It cracked the concrete underneath the scales – the very flat scales,” Anna said.
“Was that a joke? It was funny,” Lux said, smiling.
“Yes. I wanted to interject a whimsical element into my statement,” Anna said.
“Remind me not to inject 50KV into a projector over my head. I don’t want to become a whimsical smear,” Lakshmi said, looking around Lux at Anna on the display. “Why didn’t the parabolic projector go shooting off in the other direction? It’s counterintuitive,” Lakshmi asked.
“Looks like we might have a weapon at the higher end. I need to find out why we seem to get more energy than we put in. I’m going to try putting the projector under a mass of lead and different materials,” Lux said.
“Not very scientific,” Lakshmi said.
“Curiosity satisfying is all I’m after right now. Let’s try this. We can try animals later. Douglas. Would you ask my bodyguards if they could trap a jackrabbit?” Lux said as Douglas walked over to Elijah, who was internal, on duty today. Lux set up a book over the projector.
“Is that a book you like?” Lakshmi asked.
“Yep. Gray’s Anatomy. It has hundreds of color images of the body. I use it to pinpoint nerve centers and arteries to target,” Lux said.
“Oh, lovely,” Lakshmi said, shuddering. “Go for it. Don’t keep me waiting.”
“K,” he said and turned on the projector. The book started to wobble a little, and as Lux turned up the voltage, the book floated gently upward. He had it fairly stable ‘til it got over a meter above the projector when it seemed to slide out of the beam before slamming to the floor. Elijah came in with a big, clear plastic container with a squirming brown jackrabbit inside.
“One large jackrabbit. As ordered,” Elijah said proudly. “Sue flew one of our defensive drones and zapped this fella with the wireless shock we use on rioters. These guys are all around us. I cut air holes in this container. It only took Sue five minutes to zap one of these. Where do you want him?”
“Put him on that big parabolic dish if you would,” Lux said.
“This isn’t going to fry him, is it?” Lakshmi asked.
“Shouldn’t do anything to him,” Lux said. “All Earth creatures evolved in the same radiation; I expect.”
Elijah put the rabbit on the projector. The rabbit didn’t seem too traumatized since it was chomping down on some mesquite and cacti that Sue must have put in the container.
Lux turned the voltage up until the container floated a half-meter above the projector. The rabbit shifted, and the container almost slid out of the projector’s beam. Douglas pushed it back into the beam and jerked his hand back.
“Did it hurt you?” Lux asked.
“No,” Douglas laughed. “It just felt… weird. It felt like.” Douglas reached and grabbed the container and set it down, off to the side. He then turned and put his hand directly into the beam. “It feels like being in a wind stream with no wind; odd. Try it.”
“Do you think it’s harmful? Roentgen wasn’t aware of the radiation danger of X-rays back in 1895. One fellow in Paris noticed that people’s hair fell out when exposed to X-rays. They used it to treat women’s faces that had excessive hair. They didn’t know. Is this radiation ionizing?” Lakshmi asked.
“They aren’t detected in the ionizing wavelengths we’ve ever detected before. This radiation doesn’t produce the secondary radiation that neutrons normally produce,” Lux said. “I’m not sure, but I’m going to try it.”
“Foolhardy,” Lakshmi said.
“The definition of a male,” Lux said and put his left hand into the edge of the beam. “That is so weird. Lakshmi’s right, though. I need to test more before a lot of exposure. It feels like a ghost pushing you with no temperature. It’s like you just feel natural pressure. Now I want to put it in a closed container. Douglas, help me put strain gauges all over the container. Lakshmi, would you release Bugs outside?”
“Why are you testing it that way? We know creating a differential between the top, and the bottom, allows it to fly without the gold nano-deposition or electrical charge,” Lakshmi asked as she picked up the rabbit.
“I’m just trying to figure out the principles. I’m just doing a variation of that weird EM Drive that sorta-kinda had some type of leakage that caused it to exhibit a minuscule force. They disproved that one. It was probably a misplaced Biefeld-Brown effect. I’m installing strain gauges to detect any flexing on the shell before an explosion. This will be like being on a boat and aiming a fan on a sail. It shouldn’t do anything but the fact that the projector didn’t move opposite the huge force it projected. We should have gotten an equal and opposite reaction on the projector, and there was none.”
Lakshmi freed the rabbit without incident and returned as Douglas and Lux put the finishing touches on their gravity projector in a tube. Lakshmi noticed that Elijah had been replaced by Regina. That meant that Elijah was eating dinner, and Regina had already eaten. “What was for dinner?” Lakshmi asked.
“It was a Turkish dish of eggplant and chunks of lamb with a feta salad and olives. Quite yummy,” Regina said.
Lux heard her with a grumbling stomach, but he just had to see if this thing did anything. “Everybody behind shields and turn them on, please.” He saw that everyone had turtled up and said, “Three – two – one,” and turned on the power to the projector portion in the base of a meter-high cylinder that was 35 centimeters in diameter, or a cylinder stood up on its end. Lux hadn’t added much electrical charge before the cylinder lifted off the floor. Lux adjusted the voltage, and the cylinder stopped rising. He walked over to it and put his hand over the top of the cylinder. “I can feel some of the push through the top. I wonder how it would behave to have shielding and projection layers adjacent.”
“Have Anna run them. Set them up AFTER supper and let her run different iterations. She doesn’t eat lamb,” Lakshmi said.
“You two go eat,” Douglas said. “I understand what you need, and I’ll set it up and let Anna run them. I’ll eat something later. Marie has been feeding me so well that I could stand to miss a bit of her food.”
“Thanks, Douglas. I’m starving. Lakshmi. Let’s see if Marie will have mercy on us. Let me know if you have any issues. I’ll leave Regina with you if that’s all right. Regina. You okay with that?” Lux asked.
◆◆◆
 
Again, the next day, Lux was distracted during the daily team workouts. Elijah had a question before they started their workout with the CutsAll™ knives. “Why do we work with these things on? Aren’t you worried we’ll cut an arm off?” he asked Lux.
“I thought about that. Ingrained muscle memory is what I’m after. Here’s a question. Do you treat it differently than you would if it was inert?” Lux asked.
“Lord, yes,” Elijah said. “I think about it all the time. I’m afraid I’ll cut my nose off when I’m slinging this thing around.”
“I’m trying to get y’all to do it safely without thinking. You are getting better at those patterns of attack.”
“Makes sense, boss,” Elijah said.
◆◆◆
 
Lux could hardly make it through his shower and the breakfast he gulped down, hardly tasting any of it. He was chomping to see what Anna had developed with Trenton. Anna was on the monitors as Lux walked in.
“Dr. Trenton went off to bed about 4 am. We came up with some interesting effects,” Anna said.
“Show me what you’ve got.”
“There is so much more to consider. The more Douglas did – the more questions arose. It is incredibly variable. The spacing between layers causes other effects I cannot fathom. Your biological juxtaposition of non-sequiturs is required,” Anna said.
Lux laughed. “Did you just say you need my wild-ass guesses?”
“I did…politely,” Anna’s avatar displayed a big smile.
“Explain what you’ve discovered and how we can apply it to Pod II over there.”
“You saw lifting that cylinder. We can use that to take off. If you add a shield at the top, you can increase the lift, but the area between the two gets weird,” Anna explained.
“Define weird,” Lux said.
“Not aligning with the Standard Model of Particle Physics,” Anna said. “You need the magnetic layer to stop kinetic materials and ionizing radiation. Then you need a gravity shielding layer and a gravity projection layer. Then you need a projection layer in the opposite direction. Then you could have gravity set to anything you want on the inside and could still control propulsion with gravity or magnetic fields if they were present.”
“Not aligning. How so?” Lux asked.
“We should not get the reactions we are getting. Something must be wrong with our understanding of the Standard Model?” Anna began to explain. “We should not get momentum when we do. We don’t get it when we should. I think our knowledge of these particles is lacking.”
Lux laughed. “Typically, the model is revised every few years. We have revelations of a new particle or a new spin or something. Much of it occurred before I was born. Think the Higgs Boson was in 2012. I have some ideas, but they’re too radically different. You have to let ideas simmer, like on a pot, for a long time ‘til the meat of the idea is tender.”
“You organics are always thinking of food… and sex,” Anna said. “Look at this diagram, and that’s how you ought to layer them on the Pod II.”
“I’ll work on the controls now. That wiring diagram will help. Did I notice some new processors that came in? Who put them in for you?”
“Sue and Jack did,” Anna said. “They put in new ‘chiplets’ that let me use fiber instead of copper between multiprocessors. Gives me a boost. Going all quantum on you. For me, it’s like lifting a veil or taking speed for you organics.
◆◆◆
 
Pod II Construction
The Pod II was looking good. It had a 3m X 3m X 8-meter grey body with rounded edges. You could hardly see the seams where the falcon-wing doors were on either side. There was an airlock at the rear. The environmental system was the same as the Pod, but the power system added a relatively small radioisotope thermoelectric generator to continually recharge the battery packs if they ran out of power. The difficult part was getting the permit for the plutonium-fueled device. Only his contacts and security 
clearance with the Department of Energy allowed a moth-balled system to be purchased from a phased-out Federal program. It still cost over a million dollars to transport and install. This Pod had armament, however, with a parabolic dish that could be raised and aimed. It would theoretically project the radiation in a pulse similar to what they had demonstrated in the lab at 50,000 Volts at 0.1 amp.
They had tested the beam in a pulse at a nearby derelict truck that was rusting away near the edge of their property. The pulse flattened the vehicle and scooped out a section of desert east of the houses. They noticed buzzards and coyotes in line where they had tested it, so they didn’t continue testing on land. They were going to test that in space.
Anna had designed a small surrogate brain to control the propulsion, environmental, navigation, and communications systems for the Pod II. Again, it was the coordination with the landing gear that threw them off. They sheared off the landing gear twice before they got the timing down. Anna’s surrogate was smart – smart as a young child or a congressman.
◆◆◆
 
Pod II Takes Baby Steps
The Pod II was a bit larger than a large box truck. It had the features Anna and Douglas had tested in the lab - internal adjustable gravity with magnetic thrusters and the new gravity drive. Plus, it had a gravity beam weapon. Just what every sixteen-year-old wanted.
Lux sat at the controls with Douglas. They had Anna’s surrogate control as they lifted off the ground for the first time. The magnetic shield material was the outside layer, as that was the layer that would protect against any kinetic threats and ionizing radiation. The inside layer would provide the gravity differential for propulsion and internal gravity. “Hey!” Lux yelled at the control module. “Lock down that wobble,” he said as the ship tried to compensate with gravity attitude adjustment modules. The ship stabilized as Anna’s surrogate controller got a feel for the thrusters.
“Anna,” Douglas said. “Check and adjust all your systems. Explain to us what you are adjusting. We need fine control before we ever leave the hangar. The pressure test went well. Test the gravity propulsion automatically first, and we’ll try manual controls later.”
“Three-dimensional control using gravity projectors,” Anna’s control module called out. She announced other adjustment maneuvers, “Thirty centimeters off the surface - forward – backward – up – down - rotate to the right – rotate to the left – tip down front – tip down rear – level relative to Earth. Extend landing gear. Set down.”
“Let’s move out of the hangar,” Lux said. “I’d like to call your surrogate control by a name, and Anna is confusing. How about Angie - an Anna clone? Next one Annette? Is that acceptable? Let’s call this ship – Two.”
Anna responded, and the control module agreed. “Angie is fine,” Anna’s surrogate said.
“Raise to one meter and repeated mobility tests, Angie,” Lux said. The craft went through the same gyrations, but the movements weren’t as jerky as Angie learned to control the craft. “One thousand meters and hold over this location,” Lux said, knowing the wind was strong. “Go to 10,000 meters altitude and then switch to magnetic drive.” Lux felt the ship falling freely. “Angie. We’re falling. Angie! Level us out!”
The ship started cartwheeling as it fell – and fell. Suddenly the ship was level. “That was exciting,” Angie said.
“Exciting – hell!” Douglas yelled. “What happened?”
“You have a loose connection to one of the Halbach thrusters that would have thrown it off. I ran diagnostics and then tested all the other circuits before going back to gravity control. I knew we had plenty of time before we hit the ground. Everything was under control,” Angie said.
“Devote a few seconds to think how it would appear to the passengers who had no contact with you,” Lux said, admonishing the computer.
“Oh,” Angie said. “My bad.” There was a long pause.
Lux laughed. “Yes. Let us know next time. We may be able to repair it rapidly. Let’s land – gently and repair that. Douglas and I need our IVA suits because we intend to go to orbit.”
◆◆◆
 
Orbital Shakedown Trials of Pod II
The connection that almost killed them was just one snap connector that had not ‘clicked’ fully. It might inadvertently show connected when it was not not. Douglas and Lux slipped on the white IVA suits they wore when planning to fly in space. They also stored four EVA suits on board. They used a transponder when flying in the atmosphere but did not use a transponder in space.
“Let’s try that again, Angie. Go up to 30,000 meters using gravity propulsion and switch to magnetic thrusters when ready,” Lux said, and the sky went darker around them.
“30,000 meters” Angie said.
“Which propulsion? Gravity or on magnetic propulsion?” Lux asked. "Repeat back commands."
“Both. I learn fast, and the thrusters were functional,” Angie said. "Aye, aye, captain."
“Find an orbit just further than the ISS and Tiangong Chinese station – say 485 km (just over 300 miles). Apply internal gravity radiation at the lowest setting.” Lux had a pen floating in front of him. “I don’t want to be turned to paste.” The pen started a definite move toward the floor. He picked it up and held it out in front of him. “Can you set the projector to three-quarters of Earth's normal gravity?”


“Orbit to 485 km and apply internal gravity radiation at the lowest setting,” Angie replied. 
Angie did so, and Lux felt pressed into his chair. “Normal Earth gravity, please," he said. "That’s good. Leave it there for now.” Lux turned to Douglas. “I’d like to go to asteroid 16 Psyche and collect samples. We need to get with my dad and see what ideas he has for mining. We could provide a mining shell that has components of radiation protection and gravity. It would take us two hours to get there and two back if we tried it now. Maybe we could take Regina tomorrow. It's about 530 million kilometers away currently. Bet she’s up for that. We could make the EVA suits lighter if we put our flexible armor that would stop radiation and kinetic objects. I’m going to make some weight projectors to attach to EVA suits and maybe a flying version for me. Angie. Are there any abandoned launch vehicle stages we could use as a target for a gravity pulse? If not that, then an orbiting debris field that threatens the Tiangong or ISS.”
“There is a field that will threaten the Tiangong station a week from now. We could be in a position to knock it out of orbit in minutes,” Angie replied. 
Lux said. “Doc. I’m toast. The stress has worn me out. Let's do 16 Psyche tomorrow and save Tiangong for next week. I want to make sure they recognize the threat before we do anything.”
“I agree. This has been fun. Mind if I try flying back on manual?” Douglas said.
“No, sir,” Lux said. “You have control?
“I have control,” Douglas Trenton smiled hugely and headed back to Paulden.
◆◆◆
 
Regina, Polly, and Sue were anxious to see them when they landed.
“How’d the test flight go?” Regina asked, with eyes sparkling.
“You mean after the first flight where we dropped out of the sky like a rock – it went fine,” Lux said, and Douglas laughed.
“No kidding?” Sue queried.
“Yep. A loose connection. We have fixed it. Anna’s surrogate control processor is now – Angie. The ship is officially named Two,” Lux explained. “We were thinking of zipping out to 16 Psyche tomorrow Regina. I had a thought about buying some goodwill on the way. What if we stopped by the ISS and the Tiangong stations with food goodies and offer to take one each with us? You would have to sell the ISS crew. I would talk with the Chinese.”
“Why would you do that? Don’t you want the US ahead of everybody else? The Russians just tried to kidnap you,” Regina said, though she seemed really pumped at going.
“Exactly, and that will keep happening unless there is a strategic change in thinking. I see no escape from the colonies fighting off nation-state rule from Earth in the future,” Lux said seriously. “Looking ahead – we need to band together all the forces that are living away from Earth. We need to do that just to protect each other from Earth. Resource constraints on Earth for water, energy, and food will cause wars. We need to set up enclaves of humans that are self-supporting. This is a step in that direction. I want some people to know what is possible.”
“Whoa, Doctor Blakely! Aren’t you putting the cart before the horse?” Regina said.
“Yep. I am trying to get ahead of this one. I don’t want politicians on Earth to make the decisions for the solar system when their main goal is trying to stay in office by getting enough lobbyist money to get reelected. The qualifications for Congress are to be 25 years old and warm. Senate is much harder – you have to be 30 years old and willing to stand up for the craziness of your party,” Lux said.
“There are citizenship requirements, too,” Regina said.
Lux laughed. “I doubt those will stand long. You can run for Congress from any state or Federal prison even if you can’t vote. We might get better-qualified people if more ran from prison.”
“You’re quite cynical for being sixteen,” Polly said.
“Yep,” Lux said. “What do you think about making friends tomorrow? Sorry for showing my disdain for politicians. I think they ought to wear jackets like NASCAR drivers. That way, we’d know who bought them.”
“Whew. I’m not going to touch those comments with a three-meter pole,” Polly said. “Which party?” she said to see if she could get a rise out of him again. She found it enormously amusing that the young genius seethed with disdain for modern politicians.
“If I die – cremate me and throw my ashes all over their desks, charging ports, or fuel tanks. I don’t want to discriminate. Politicians should give up all secular equity, as Jack Williamson portrayed in Freehold. They should be elected for their competence and intelligence – that is not the current policy.”
“I think bringing them food would get us in the door – the airlock,” Regina said.  “I see why you wouldn’t want much radio communications that would be transmitted to Earth because the astronauts are beholden to the politicians who pull their strings.”
“Sue. Would you assemble a load of food from the bulk storage we have? Regina – help her since you have insight into the fresh foods they crave,” Lux recommended.




Chapter 9

The Side trip to Psyche 16
The Pod II was loaded to the gunwales with two bundles of food. It took teamwork to get it on board. Douglas, Regina, and Lux were aboard. Regina was in the rear, wearing her heavy EVA suit. They figured they’d have room for two more in EVA suits once they offloaded the food. They were soon flying beside the ISS in their unannounced approach. Lux turned off the internal gravity, and Regina contacted the ISS.
Regina: “ISS - This is Regina Smith in Pod II representing Lux Blakely - outside your Quest airlock. I have 230 kilograms of fresh fruits and vegetables, baked goods, and drinks. No charge. Also, have a proposition to discuss. Permission to dock and come aboard.”
ISS: “Pod II. Say again. You have what? You want to dock? This is highly irregular.”
Regina: “Have a lot of yummy food, and I want to run an idea by you. May I dock? Won’t take but a few minutes.”
ISS: “Stand by.” Five-minute wait… “Commander says visitors welcome.”
“Moving to dock.”
The Pod II had the autodocking feature and soon confirmed a solid lock in record time. Regina wrestled the huge bundle of food into the airlock. Soon the pressure was equalized, and the inner door opened. Regina tried not to grimace too much when she took off her helmet.
“Hi, gang. I’m Regina Smith. Hold up on all the introductions. I’ve read all your files – public and private. Got you some goodies here and wanted to present you with a proposition. I’m with Doctors Lux Blakely and Douglas Trenton. We’re going to make the same offer to the crew of the Tiangong Station, and we didn’t want to go through approvals from Earth. It will take us about ten minutes to go to the Tiangong and make the pitch to them. We have food for them too. Here’s the deal. We are going to 16 Psyche today. It will take us a little less than two hours.”
Commander Alegria interrupted. “That’s impossible. Chemical rockets…”
“Gravity drive with artificial gravity. I figure two hours on the surface, plant flags, take samples, take pictures, and then hightail it back. We won’t make the offer again, but, damn, would it give publicity a shot in the arm for you people. Pick a person and get them in an EVA suit. I’d like to be out of here in ten minutes,” Regina said, and the crew started asking a flurry of questions and discussing it between themselves. “You may take photos inside our vehicle too.”
“It will make NASA angry and give you a lot of publicity,” the commander said.
“Yep. My boss says we are hiring if they fire or ground you. He’s a hell of a boss. I asked him to take me, but he insisted that we get away from nation-state thinking. Those were his exact words. The food is yours no matter what you do,” she said, but she could still smell the freshly baked pastries and fruit.
They talked about it for five minutes until they picked their crewmember, who also had a geology degree, to suit up. Regina was impressed at how fast he got into his suit.
Regina said, “Make sure you have a camera, sample bags, rock hammer, entrenching tool, and flag.”
Matt Carson was excited. He felt he couldn’t contribute much to research, and this was his chance. He didn’t say a word as they processed through the airlock. At least the suit design had been updated, so they wouldn’t have to spend hours to avoid decompression sickness.
As soon as he got in the Two, he looked around and started asking questions. Lux grinned and introduced himself and Dr. Trenton.
“May I take pictures? Matt asked. “What’s the name of this craft?”
“Yep. Take as many as you want. This ship is called the Pod II or Two for short,” Lux said, and Trenton smiled.
They arrived outside the Tiangong. Lux contacted the Tiangong in Putonghua.
Lux (in Mandarin): “Heavenly Palace. This is Lux Blakely aboard the Two, which is outside your airlock. We have brought fresh fruits and vegetables and other foods for you free of charge. We also have hot fried chicken from KFC. I wish to bring you 230 kilograms of fresh food and drink. I wish permission to dock and speak with you in person. I have a proposition for you.”
Tiangong: “Why are you doing this? We are not allies. Our airlocks are not compatible.”
Lux: “We just left the ISS after an unscheduled visit there. We left them food too and made them the same proposal we will make to you. We are from Earth. You are human. We ally with humans. Also, this craft adapts to the Androgynous Peripheral Attach System (APAS) used by the Shenzhou spacecraft. I designed it myself.”
Tiangong: “What is your purpose?”
Lux: “To leave you with fresh food and make a proposition face-to-face and not over the radio.”
Tiangong: (silence for five minutes) “How would we explain this to our superiors?”
Lux: “Tell them you needed the food and a chance to take pictures of the inside and exterior of a new ship with artificial gravity and gravity drive. You have my permission to send any of your crew aboard to take pictures and ask questions. They would condemn you if you miss this chance.”
Tiangong: (silence for one minute) “If docking is compatible, you have permission to dock, and one may come aboard, but no pictures are to be taken.”
The Pod II sidled up to the docking port and set it to the APAS system. Lux had already imaged the connections in previous trips nearby. Trenton had assisted in the design. The Pod signaled a successful dock. Lux moved back to the airlock and tugged the mountain of food. It didn’t have weight, but it certainly had inertia. He opened his airlock, and when Tiangong indicated ready. He moved to the Heavenly Palace airlock. He operated the controls. When the air pressures equalized – he tapped on the lock, and it opened. Lux dragged the food through the hatch and noticed one of the crewmen had a pistol aimed at him. He checked the atmosphere and pressure before removing his helmet. 这套衣服有很多层次，你需要朝我的脑袋开枪才能有效。如果你开枪打死我，就不会再有外卖了，你也不会听到我为什么在这里. (This suit has so many layers that you need to shoot me in the head for it to be effective. No more food deliveries if you shoot me, and you'll not get to hear why I'm here.)
 
	The following section was spoken in Mandarin – (the three-man crew introduced themselves, and Lux explained)





We plan to go to 16 Psyche today. I wanted to offer one of your crew a ride to the asteroid where one of my crew, one from the ISS, and one of your crew could collect samples and place your flag along with our flags. I will take pictures of you exiting the ship. I’d try to land where people could see the surface enough to identify it. Meanwhile, you can take pictures of the inside of my ship. They would promote you for that. Choose who will go, or I will just leave the food. Do you have EVA suits?”
“That is impossible. We do not have the rations – food or air for that long a trip,” the crewman with the gun said.
“We can get there in less than two hours, spend two hours collecting samples and photos, then two hours bringing you back to your door,” he explained.
There was almost a fight before the guy with the gun yelled something at the other two, and they stopped. He set the gun down and promptly got into an EVA suit.
“You don’t need the gun even though that GSZ-92 is a reliable model. You never told me your rank.”
“You are Lux Blakely. We all know your name. It is praised in some areas of my country for changing our leadership. I am Lieutenant Colonel Feng Xu. You do not seem to fear the gun.”
“Nice to meet you, Colonel. I think you must be very smart or you wouldn’t be here. Do you have a rock hammer or sample bags? Do you have a camera that will work in a vacuum? Get a flag.”
“I have a hammer that may work. I do not have sample bags. I do have a good camera.”
“No problem. I have extra bags and a rock hammer you can have.”
“Why are you being so helpful?”
“I am trying to help humans survive. I need more friends. I have enough enemies. You will not face discipline if you bring loads of information to your leaders.”
Colonel Xu laughed as he sealed his helmet and entered the airlock with the cloth bundle of a Chinese flag. His camera was built into his helmet.
The Colonel seemed taken aback when he entered the Pod and saw three others. They introduced themselves to him once he had removed his helmet after checking the air mixture and pressure. It appeared within acceptable limits so it wouldn’t boil the nitrogen in his blood. 

“Angie, give us 90% speed and 30% internal gravity, please,” Douglas said. “I hope 30% gravity isn’t too much for you two. 16 Psyche is large. It is 112 kilometers in diameter with 0.06 m/s2 gravity, so don’t jump. I have an accessory to help you out, though. It will give you 30% gravity.”

“That is inconceivable,” the colonel said.
“I don’t think that word means what you think it means,” Lux said, which caused Douglas and Regina to laugh because they had all watched the Princess Bride movie together one night.
As they neared the large asteroid, Trenton turned around and asked. “We will perform an orbit or two to find the best place to survey first. We have high-resolution cameras, and I will record and make you each a copy. Is that okay? Feel free to record the view on the monitors too.”
The ship flew around the asteroid twice and recorded astounding photos. There was some light from the sun that lit metallic craters on the surface. They thought they could land in one smooth area that was glistening. They saw outgassing and possible liquid metal in one area, and they thought that discretion was the better part of valor. The area they landed would be in sunlight for more than ninety minutes, and Trenton set the TWO to press against the surface.
The atmosphere inside was pumped to storage. Lux placed a small rectangular module on their EVA suit tanks in the rear. It produced 0.3 Earth gravity equivalent. It would orient toward the surface unless Angie needed it to do otherwise. Lux gave the Chinese Lt. Colonel a rock hammer and three sample bags that he attached to his belt. They all did a comm check, and Angie adjusted frequencies for everyone so they could all talk to each other. Lux had them synchronize their time and admonished them to stay in sight of the ship at all times. They had 90 minutes before heading back to the ship. Lux released one of his small drones to follow the colonel and record a close-up video of him as he moved. He had seemed a bit ‘off’ on the trip.
Matt Carson collected a wide selection of samples, but he was unable to retrieve some of the metal that projected from the surface. He banged on the shiny projection of metal with his rock hammer. He hit it repeatedly but couldn’t even make a dent in the metal outcrop with his hammer spike. He called Regina. “Ms. Smith. Matt Carson here,” he said, waving as she turned toward him. “Can you help me secure some of this metal? I’ve never seen anything like it.”
“Sure,” she said and took some bounding leaps over to him. “Whatcha got?”
“Do you have a way to get this for me? I see your sample bags are all full,” he said.
“Sure,” she said. “How much do you want? Outline what you want with your finger.”
He drew a line around the outcrop with his finger. Regina took her modified CutsAll knife and cut out a wedge, like she was cutting the air.
“How the hell did you do that?” He tried to pick up the sample but could barely move it even in the light gravity of the asteroid. It had tremendous inertia.
She cut it into smaller and smaller pieces until he had one chunk the size of a tennis ball that he could move and carry. “I’ve been on the ISS for way too long. I’m as weak as a kitten.”
“I don’t think that’s it. This stuff is heavier than refined uranium,” she paused, looking at her sleeve sensors. “Whew! It isn’t radioactive.” All she could carry were  small chunks. “Let’s get some more samples of this back to ship.
Lux was having his own concerns. “Where is the colonel going?” Lux saw the colonel walking rapidly off to the edge of the crater. He was almost a kilometer away. “I’m going after him.”
Lux left the Pod but had a more advanced navigation module on his EVA pack than the others. He could direct the gravity and use it as a flight pack in this case. He flew in the direction of the man. “Angie? Have you been recording the drone view of his mad dash?”
“Yes. He seemed to act normally until he made a mad dash away from Two,” Angie said while Lux was catching up to the colonel.
*In Mandarin “Colonel. You wandered a long way. May I help you? If you are determined to kill yourself – I won’t stop you, but is there some reason for your actions today?” Lux said over the comm.
“You killed my uncle in his home. He was a diplomat in Australia, then he was recalled to his home in Guangdong Province. He died in his sleep after his young fiancé left for the night. He was killed with two of those flying packs you make. I will kill myself here and bring disgrace by your kidnapping of a Chinese Taikonaut. How will you explain my death? It will cause a rift with my country.”
“I suspect that young fiancé was a prostitute. None of my products were involved with any of those deaths. You did realize that all the deaths in your homeland were caused by 30,000 cloned copies of stolen lifters made in China. Chinese and Russian agents reverse-engineered the stolen flying backpacks so Chinese troops could use them to invade India and Taiwan. The Taiwanese were able to overcome their programming. I understand the invading troops were released safely on islands in the South China Sea, and their flying backpacks were directed to strike at the invasion planners. Are you admitting your uncle helped plan the invasion?”
“No. My uncle said he was a diplomat. He said she was a young college student studying art history. You are twisting things!”
“Since you’ve decided to kill yourself – I’ll wait and video it. My ship automatically records all conversations, and a drone videoed you leaving the ship. We will watch if you are determined, but I can’t stop you. Why don’t you want to plant your flag instead? There is enough metal here for every nation on Earth for a century. I promise to show this video to all the countries on Earth. You won’t be a martyr, but you will certainly be well-known on social media. You realize that millions will watch this, and I get paid for posting the video…or you take the video I take of you, and YOU post it on social media and become the rising star. We’ll leave out the earlier unpleasantness. Plant the flag and pose for me. I will get some good videos of you taking samples too. You will be a hero.”
Lieutenant Colonel Feng Xu stood unmoving there for a full minute before beginning to assemble his flagpole. Lux had to help him stack up rocks to hold the flagpole because they could not make a hole in the metal surface. Finally, the colonel posed (heroically) with the Chinese flag stretched out with a wire strip. It looked good. Lux helped him gather some surprisingly heavy samples.
Lux commented. “These samples could make you rich. I have some great photos of you. I will give you a copy of the videos when we return to your station. They started walking back. Lux thought it would be too awkward to pick up the colonel and carry him. He was surprised by the motivations of the man – who knew. Regina, Feng, and Matt all gathered together with the lip of the metallic crater reflecting the light in the background when all returned next to the ship. They put the samples into three separate stacks in the airlock and secured them. Lux used the electrostatic process to remove any dust from their suits before they reentered the Two.
They repressurized the cabin and reset the internal gravity to 30% of Earth’s gravity – about like the level of gravity on Mars. The trip to the Tiangong station took a full two hours. Lux helped Feng move his treasure into the Tiangong airlock. Lux handed Feng a data stick. “I left out our discussion from the videos. I will try to go again in the near future, and you are welcome. Feng looked at the rock hammer and started to give it back, but Lux just smiled and bowed. “Thank you for joining us. Tell your people we need to work together, and I will do the same.”
Lux returned to the Two, and they undocked and zipped over to the ISS. They quickly docked, and Regina went into the ISS with Matt.
Lux and Douglas sat waiting and waiting in the Two until Regina finally came out. She let out a big sigh. She sat down as soon as the atmosphere stabilized. Douglas set the gravity to 90% after Regina took off her helmet.
“We thought they adopted you…you took so long,” Lux said, relieved. “What happened”
“They wanted a play-by-play. They looked at some of the drone recordings and the orbital video. I had to pry myself away, and Matt brought out those strange samples. That stuff is freaky; it is so dense. I told them we wanted reports on it too, or there wouldn’t be more trips,” Regina said and continued. “I got them to promise to send us assay data even if ordered not to do so.”
“Good,” Lux said. “No more interminable waits without contacting us next time. If Angie hadn’t said your vitals were stable and not in distress – we would have come in there if we had to cut a hole through the side. Have any at NASA noticed our stop?”
“Yes. NASA inquired when we docked and left. They went a bit nuts when we went to the Tiangong Station and then zipped out of sight. I expect a huge rush of interest,” Regina said. “We’re playing with fire here.”
“Yep. I need to talk with my dad. He designs mining equipment for space, among other things. We will change how it’s done. Our trip today was to let people know that we aren’t trying to lay claim to 16 Psyche because there will be a rush to space. I want to go back and make a thorough survey of the asteroid. We’ll need to take other nations there, at least the ones with nuclear programs.”
“You going to take North Korean people?” Regina asked.
“Nope, and none from Iraq or Turkey, but I will take ones from France, India, the UK, Germany, Israel, South Korea, Australia, and Brazil. Argentina and South Africa supposedly got rid of their weapons programs, but it is 1940s tech, after all. China started its breeder reactor program on Changbiao Island to make more plutonium as another threat to Taiwan and the world. South Korea started its program in 2020 but told the world they were ‘thinking about starting it’ years later. Brazil’s program is secret and started by a graduate from MIT – but it’s still top secret. Israel has been building bombs since 1958. I want the nuclear powers to plant flags, and claim beacons, to show they have access before nations start claiming whole planets and asteroids are their exclusive territory.”
“The magnetic thrusters are out there in the world already, and the gravity drive will be right behind it. We need to start having manufacturing areas away from Earth. We need to capitalize on our early lead to cash in, but we need to be in a safe place,” Lux speculated with Regina and Douglas.


“Regina, how do you feel about your experience today?” Lux asked.
“This is so much beyond my expectations that if I died today, I’d feel satisfied - I’m still running on a high, and I’ve smiled so much my cheeks hurt. Bodyguard astronaut is a cool job,” she said.
“Douglas?”
“I’m right with her. I realize this isn’t as much fun as grading papers and submitting journal articles that get rejected a large percentage of the time. I really hate missing out on the paperwork in grant submission so I can squeeze my own salary out of the dribs eventually allocated. Especially when most of the money is to pay the administrative costs for more managers of the faculty. Your disdain is rubbing off,” Douglas said. “We must let everyone know that we are the ones to see. That was a good advertisement today, but we need follow-up, and we need to move away from Earth. They will regulate us into a corner if we don’t.”
“We need to test that gravity projector on an asteroid and see how it affects our flight characteristics in space,” Lux said.
“It doesn’t conform to my ideas on how the universe works. Why don’t we get a recoil when we send a crushing beam outward? I suppose that matter is not what I originally thought it was,” Douglas said. “Let’s just go and do this if there is something close.”
“Anna? Would you find us something to destroy?” Lux asked. “I’d like to try today – even though I’m tired.”
“2021 MG1 is 0.85 kilometers in diameter. Not much threat of hitting the Earth. You can get to it in thirty minutes. I will set the heading,” Anna said.
“Go for it,” Lux said, and they were headed that way in moments.
It seemed such a short time until Anna notified the three that they were approaching the target. “Let’s try this from a distance of 100 kilometers and see if it has any effect. Our sensors can’t actively detect anything beyond that distance. Anna, would a shove from this angle cause the asteroid to threaten the Earth with a minuscule or a heavy push. Hate to be so imprecise, but we have no idea. I’m extending the projector and aiming at the center of mass of the asteroid. We’ll try to move closer until we see some effect,” Lux said. “Please record, Anna. Firing in three. One – two – three,” Lux said.
“My returns show that the asteroid was instantly pulverized. It appears to be mainly a chondrite asteroid of clay and silicate material. It appears now to be clay and silicate dust,” Anna explained.
“Damn!” Regina said. “I didn’t expect that. It’s kind of an all-or-nothing weapon.”
“We need some other weapon that could be specific and less damaging,” Lux said. “I have an idea, but I’ll have to build it back in the Arizona lab. Let’s head back to Arizona, and I need to get with my dad for a long-term mining base.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux and Paulus Plan a 16-Psyche Mining Operation
Lux went to Huntsville to sit down with his father and pick his brains about mining in space.
“What would we need?” Lux asked.
“Mining in space is a lot different than mining on Earth. You have harmful radiation. vacuum, often little light, no heat, no water, and none or little gravity,” his father explained. “You need to set the standard for staking a claim and enforcing it. You’ll need a laser-induced breakdown spectroscopy system (LIBS), so you can assay what you find. Then you’ll need a transmitter beacon. It will need to be powered by a radioisotope thermoelectric generator on a fixed frequency that scans and records images of movement near them like a wildlife camera to announce claims.”
“Dad. I have a way to cut off the radiation and the danger from kinetic strikes. I can even provide gravity. I layer a magnetic mesh dome on the outside and then a gravity projector to provide near-Earth-level gravity. We could make RTGs with spent fuel that’s been aged six months to burn off some of the short-lived radionuclides and get a more stable fuel load. Then we could use my magnetic shielding to protect against even the gamma radiation, which is so penetrating, like from Cesium 137. Shielding would weigh almost nothing, and it would provide heat and power. It would be a lot cheaper than using pure plutonium as a fuel. We can derive a lot of water and oxygen from the mined rock, but the metals on the 16 Psyche asteroid are crazy. Douglas and I ran some tests last night, and the results were outside our current periodic table.”
“Send me the spectral analysis you get when you can. Anyone would have to have a super large dome to cover a mining site. Can you make one that can cover square kilometers?”
“I think so, dad,” Lux posited. He closed his eyes as he described what he thought it would be like. “It would be a truncated icosahedron (C60) that looks like the top two-thirds of a huge soccer ball. I think I can get the water, oxygen, and carbon by capturing the by-products of a pulverized asteroid, converting the constituent elements, and printing out carbon fullerene sheets. We’re going to try it. Anna came up with some ideas to make it even better. I think we can design a machine that can break down matter. The gravity pulse can be designed smaller and focused on crushing matter to start with instead of drilling.”
“Tell me a bit more about the ore you got from the asteroid. I liked the video even if I doubt it is real.”
“I thought you might say that. Dad!” Lux said, getting angry. “The geology rock pick hammers we used wouldn’t work at all on that asteroid. I had to use my CutsAll™ to cut free any samples that weren’t loose on the surface. I’ll design mining variations using my CutsAll edges, so we’ll not have to worry about blades or bits.”
Paulus grumped around until he picked up a golf ball size chunk of metal that weighed almost twice as much as uranium.After that, his father snapped out of his mood, apologized, and started working with Lux.
Lux and his father took the rough draft of the Courier and enlarged its design to be a large ore carrier. They added conveyors that could swing out and load ore with the gravity inducers over the belts. They could separate the ore loads into different compartments if they wanted. His father worked to refine the ore carrier portion and would encrypt and send that design to Arizona as Lux crafted the hull, propulsion, communication, sensors, navigation, computer core, and armament. Douglas would work on environmental and ergonomics for cabins, controls, food, recreation, and cargo. This ship would be massive compared to the Courier. He headed back to Arizona. Robert and Polly rode back with him.
“What next on your agenda, boss?” Polly said. “I want to visit those asteroids too. I’m jealous of Regina.”
“We’ll get more traveling in soon. Never fear. We just need new designs on suits and ships and weapons. We need easily deployable, portable habitats. We need new weapons. Regina nailed it when she said that the gravity pulse weapon is an ‘all or nothing’ weapon. It has tremendous range, but it's like killing a fly with a grenade. I’ve got an idea for a discrete weapon instead. That’s what I’m designing first and adding to the Pods and the Courier."
◆◆◆
 
Spitballs from Hell
Lux was going over circuits with Anna. He sent the files to have the circuits printed that would go in the 1.5 cm balls. The ball shells were being printed in Lux’s hangar. The many layers of the shell and magnet wire coils on the inside left little room for the circuits and the supercapacitor that powered everything. The integrated circuit was essentially just a timer and oscillator that would vary power for the short time it was turned on. The supercapacitor would be charged when the ball was passing through the tube. The ball would turn on as it got out of proximity to the ship. It used powerful springs to fling the balls forward. The balls would be programmed to stay on for the time it would take them to reach just past a target. They could be set to stay on longer if needed. The balls would vary from minimally on to high power - thousands of times a second. They would go through any matter, making 2 cm holes and then dissolving so they couldn’t be analyzed.
Lux took the first one that was assembled and placed it in a little spring contraption. He gingerly charged the ball and released the spring, which was supposed to send the ball through the tube. The ball turned on before leaving the tube and sheered away the bottom of the tube, and went 20 meters into the ground. His hands shook a bit. He went into the circuit programming, found the glitch, and rewrote the code. He planned to use this as a close-in weapon in space. The projectile ball would cut through any matter and be light enough that it wouldn’t cause significant recoil. It still wasn’t working right. He got disgusted at himself and went over to the side of the bunker where Rodney and Robert were practicing pistol disarming with Shilea, Ford, and Marie. Lux slid on some goggles so he could watch.
The guns looked real and cycled but only shot little yellow pellets. He had an epiphany. “Rodney. Do you have any of the rechargeable ones we use? I need to dissect one. Do you know the specs on these that use the four AAA batteries?” Lux asked.
Robert answered instead of Rodney with a big grin. “These are Ow and Ouch. The rechargeable ones are - DAMN! I’ll get you for that!”
“Thanks. Very enlightening,” Lux said as Rodney handed him the rechargeable model.
Lux started looking at the specifications of the pistol that was made to look like the new US Army sidearm. This one fired little 6 mm plastic pellets. The literature said the pellets traveled at 55 meters per second (180 fps). Lux couldn’t wait to tear down the mechanism and see how it functioned. He took it apart and put the parts on a scanner. Anna adapted the mechanism sizes to accommodate the 1.5 cm projectiles. The pellet projectiles were much larger in diameter. She printed several balls to use as projectiles that weighed nearly the same as the deadly ones. He got the mechanism working after futzing around for several hours. It was accurate to about 30 meters in gravity. He was sure it would be a great close-in weapon for space.
He took the deadly projectiles and loaded them. Several of his bodyguards and Douglas went to see what he had come up with. They had the old hood of a car as a target. It was thin sheet steel with a chunk of plywood behind it. He set the timing and fired one and didn’t hear anything, so he fired five more. He went down to the target, and there was a star of 2 cm holes in the hood, the plywood, and the berm behind it. They tried to find the projectiles and found two that didn’t dissolve. Lux made sure they were inert before moving them back to his lab. He ate dinner and crashed.
◆◆◆
 
Lux tweaked his design a bit, and Anna printed out the parts. The pistons came out perfectly to spec and weighed little. The electric motors and solenoids were slow because he had to set up winding jigs. Everything went faster as Anna took over the process with multiple custom Boston Dynamics robots. Anna printed out a prototype weapon and alerted Lux.
“What is it, Anna?” Lux asked.
“How did you intend to use these weapons in space?” Anna asked as her avatar appeared in a military uniform.
“I’d launch several projectiles at a time, like a shotgun, and they’d fly toward the threatening ship. They’d become active once away from our craft and bore holes through the other ship, crippling them,” Lux said.
“Will the projectiles stop a laser?” Anna asked. “How long would it take the projectiles to go to the target?
“They could sweep a laser back and forth through the projectiles, but it would be difficult to get them all. They could move out of their flight path. So, you’re saying they’d only be fine for close-in encounters?”
“They’d be fine if you could launch projectiles but exposing the launcher would expose a vulnerability. Adversaries could laser your launcher, so once it was a known weapon, it would be targeted at a distance. I think I can design a personal weapon for Earth that would be accurate to 30 meters. I also want to outsource the production of a few things, if you don’t mind,” Anna said. “Your projectile is brilliant. I will design some around the projectile characteristics.”
“Feel free to design and build anything you think would keep us safer. Protect our assets and prepare a bug-out option. We need the means to get out of here with intact assets. I’m feeling concerned that we haven’t had the press I suspected we’d get after the trip to 16 Psyche. I think the information and videos are being suppressed. I’m going to finish this ore carrier design. I’ll need a lot of the RTGs to power a mining site and traveling wave reactors for the ships. I’d like to make four of the ore carriers. I think I can make the RTGs cheaply with nuclear waste-powered shielding. Those should be relatively light too. I sent off the samples Regina collected for an assay, but I haven’t heard anything from Oak Ridge. They charged me a lot in advance.”
Anna continued to manufacture the inert projectiles. There were consistent trips for more raw materials, and truckloads of materials were inspected and delivered over the next ten days. The drones let them keep constant surveillance of their property in Arizona. Anna coordinated the manufacture of new personal weapons for Lux and all the staff and his bodyguards.
◆◆◆
 
Anna’s New Weapon
It had been ten days since Lux had built his first electrically operated, spring piston pistol that would shoot the new projectiles. Anna made twenty of the new designs. She had printed holsters and magazines to hold the new projectiles. Anna had her one-man-band avatar blaring a horn and beating a drum to get his attention when he came in. Lux walked over to a table near the monitors. Anna seemed anxious to explain why the table in the workshop held twenty odd-looking pistols, magazines, holsters, and a barrel full of projectiles.
“What’s all this, Anna?”
“It is your new personal weapon that is not a handgun. It shoots the projectiles you designed. It charges their ultracapacitor. I took the idea from our disarming class practice guns. I had to totally change the guts of the gun for the 15mm projectiles. The projectiles are charged as they enter the chamber and travel at a smidge more than 60 meters per second. These can be manually cocked if the electrical cycling fails, and I’ve optimized how it is operated electrically.”
It looks more like a big Star Trek phaser with ambidextrous safety than a conventional pistol,” Lux commented while feeling the heft of the weapon. It seemed well-balanced. He chuckled when he saw the orange tip, indicating the weapon wasn’t a ‘real’ firearm.
“Take it outside and try it out. I can see your tests through the drones and cameras.”
Lux picked up a weapon and found the safety, checked, and he noticed he could see if there was a projectile already loaded. Lux looked around and saw he was gathering an audience again. His bodyguards started ribbing him when they saw the orange around the tip. He inserted a magazine carefully, chambered a round, and aimed at the same car hood target he had used a while back. The thwock sound his weapon made when it fired was quiet as there was no slap of the target. Just another thwock sound, repeated over and over again as it was fired. The six large holes in the target were a testament to the weapon’s effectiveness. “This weapon could punch those same holes through a tank!”
“Anna made copies for all of you. Get one and two mags full and try them out,” Lux ordered. “Decide if you want them or not. Use the slider on the top to set the time the projectile stays active. It stays active for three seconds for indirect fire, but the default setting is one second for fifty meters and closer. I’m having Anna crank them out by the barrel full. Shoot enough so you could use it like a mortar or close-in. See how many you can shoot before the battery weakens and needs replacement or recharge. Try manual cocking. Get familiar with them. It’s obvious so far that they travel further than a paintball gun projectile at the same velocity because air resistance doesn’t exist as it does with a golf ball. Golf balls have dimples, so as they spin through the air, they form a thin turbulent boundary layer. This allows smoothly flowing air to follow the ball’s surface a little further behind the ball, decreasing the size of the wake, unlike a smooth ball. Our projectiles don’t interact with the air, so they are only affected by gravity.”
They laid out a target on the ground 100 meters away and were soon dropping their shots consistently through it. The projectiles would be absolutely great for crippling armor or taking out close threats.
◆◆◆
 
Issues

Lux had just finished his morning workouts when Anna signaled him to come to the Bunker. He was surprised she hadn’t said the lab.
“What’s up?” he asked as he saw Anna’s worried avatar on the screen.
“Matt Carson sent the assay files from the samples, and fifteen minutes later I was hit with a cyberattack. I think it was from the US. Not sure if it was DIA, CIA, or NSA, but it was sophisticated for organics.  It didn’t harm me and I countered it. You need to see this assay.”
Lux looked at the assay report on the screen. Besides a lot of gold and platinum, there was a slew of rare heavy elements. There was a stable isotope of Francium that wasn’t as heavily radioactive, and many of the others were well over the Oganesson 118 atomic number that was discovered back in 2002. There were heavy metals in a whole range up to 127. Most hadn’t been assigned names. There was a chunk of nearly pure Tantalum 73. On Earth, it was 0.1 to 3 parts per million (ppm). It looked like you could live like a king with just the sample they had brought back. Tons of metallic ore would change the Earth, and Lux knew they weren’t going to let some kid walk off with it.  He had everyone put on alert and headed to the bunker.
Everyone was here and wondered what this was all about. Lux felt comfortable facing everyone. “Anna brought me some news. We got the assay report from the ISS samples from 16 Psyche. We were too successful. I called Oak Ridge about our assay and was told that they could not release it to us, even though we had collected it and paid in advance for the assay. We paid them a lot. It is so valuable – they must have decided we are a threat, or they need to nationalize our resources. We are going to be raided – I don’t know when, but it will be soon. I expect them to try to seize all my assets. Anna knows to move all my assets and yours to safe locations. She will give you the means to get to them and use them.”
“How does she know where mine are?” Elijah asked.
“Anna is sentient and is way smarter than me. She can circumvent all but the most elaborate attempts to obfuscate their intent. Rodney, obfuscate means to confuse or conceal.” Everyone laughed. “Lakshmi. I don’t know what to tell you. We can drop you off in Boston and anywhere in India.”
“Don’t you throw me away like that, Lux Blakely,” she said angrily. “They would treat me even worse in India. Why would I not go with you now?” she said in a huff.
“I’m not sure where we can go,” Lux said. “I tried to reach my dad right now, and his phone is out-of-service. Same with Prissy Hunnicutt. I expect a massive crush here soon, so pack like we have an hour. Decide if you are going to stay. Anna thinks two of the 3D printers can fit on the Courier. Use the gravity lift shield over them to reduce their weight and get them over and into the ship now. I want the Courier loaded and in the air. They will move when they see us moving – I just hope we can preempt them by a smidge,” Lux said.
Anna started talking to Lux through his personal comm unit. “I can blind the satellites as we start moving items out of the hangars. Take ten of the water distillation units. I expect to have to fight past the Beast, so start thinking how you would do that without resorting to your gravity projector. I have four ore carriers being built, massive mesh dome construction, dirt-to-carbon converter, more EVA, and IVA suits - with improvements, RTGs with your new design, five new thorium-initiated traveling wave reactors, claim beacons, and I have started to accumulate the dirt on those trying to muzzle us.”
“How long do we have before they’re here?” Lux asked.
“They plan to be here at 0300 hours. They are currently trying to seize your assets. I’ve hired lawyers, and they are protesting these actions and filing injunctions. The authorities seem upset that they haven’t found anything. They have two military groups headed this way. One group with two unconverted F-35Bs from the Yuma Marine base, a company of Marines with two Armored Multi-Purpose Vehicles (AMPV) and new transport vehicles from near Phoenix, and an A-10 from Nellis AFB in Las Vegas. They’ve coordinated to all get here together. I have no idea why they wouldn’t use helicopters, but it sounds screwed up already, Let’s be gone by midnight.”
“Where are we going?” Sue asked.
“The satellites will trace us to the desert in Kuwait, where we will turn on our active camouflage,” Anna explained.
“We don’t have active camouflage!” Lux blurted.
“Exactly,” Anna said. “We’ll disappear.”
Lux laughed. “Can you keep them occupied with other sightings?”
“Yep. Done deal. You need to go to Adak Island, Alaska. There are about 350 people still living on the island. I suggest your people land southwest of the town, and we’ll fly in and see if we can reconcile with the city manager. Stop by the Bluebird Café.  The city manager is often there when he’s not doing maintenance. About 400 tourists per year come to hunt caribou. Our ships could be hidden in large hangars or warehouse buildings there. I’m hoping they harbor enough resentment against the government to aid us,” Anna summarized.”
Lux went out and briefed his gang. The team accepted the idea to flee without rancor, and all the crew knew the government too well to think ‘fair treatment’ was any concern to the Feds. Fair treatment only occurred when you force the government to give you accommodations. We still didn’t know who was pulling the levers behind the curtain, but Anna was on the case. I wouldn’t want Anna stalking me.
Everything was proceeding well until 2330 hours – thirty minutes before we were going to leave. The 120-meter-long Beast landed right at the end of the runway and with its front end toward the bunker. It had railguns and heavy lasers for armament.
Lux went out to meet the ship and ordered Polly and Robert to stay inside and get ready to take off.  Lux walked out to stand outside the ship’s cargo ramp area. He told everyone over their comms to get ready and reconfirmed their destination. Lux explained how they should conceal themselves when they got there. All his people were looking at him through the remote monitors on the Courier and the two Pods.
The ship, the Beast, was certainly intimidating. Lux supposed it was here to hold them until the others could roll in and capture all the assets. The threatening craft just sat there for five minutes before the cargo ramp lowered, and two soldiers tromped down with M5s slung but not pointed currently.
“Hello, gentlemen. What do I owe the honor of your presence here this evening?” Lux said, with the interior lights highlighting the area around the ramp.
“I’m Captain Tom Watler of the Beast here. This is my exec, Lt. Commander Epson. You are Lux Blakely, aren’t you? Would you like to tour my ship?”
“That’s Doctor Blakely, Captain – since we’re using titles here. No, thank you for the tour. I’ve already toured your ship during construction – since I’m the one that designed it. Is there a reason you have your railguns and lasers exposed?”
“Your dad is on board. He wants you to come with us,” Watler said.
“I’ll have to insist you come with us…doctor,” Commander Epson said with disdain and pointed his M5 at Lux.
Lux slowly drew his handgun with two fingers of his left hand, and the men looked at it and saw the orange tip in the lights from the interior.
Watler laughed. “I read your file. You’re sixteen and aren’t allowed to own a firearm. Are you threatening me with a practice gun? I don’t know what you’re going to do with that, but you’re going to have to come with me.”
“This orange tip means it’s not a firearm. Why would I ever go with you? What are your orders? Why are you on my private property?” Lux said, still standing there relaxed as the men tensed up. “Call your ship and let me see my dad. I won’t believe you have him if you don’t.”
“I won’t kid you,” Watler said. “Our orders are to seize you and all your assets.”
“What legal authority does the US Space Force have to do so?” Lux asked, but Epson still had an assault rifle pointed at him.
Epson talked into his communications rig, and Paulus showed up on the top of the ramp with his hands zip-tied in front of him.
They turned their heads to look back up the ramp. Lux drew his CutsAll™ and slashed both of their rifles in half and returned it to the sheath in one sweeping motion. He took his pistol and fired once at an angle into the side of the cargo bay, then once at each laser and at each railgun housing. He then fired twice more into the back half of the ship through the open cargo bay door.
Lux motioned his father down the ramp, and Epson spun around with the rifle halves clanking around his shoulder. Epson moved to stop Paulus.
Lux shot across the distance and slammed the notch of his boot into the back of Epson’s knee joint while striking the suprascapular nerves with the heel of his hands. Epson slammed down on the ground on his back as Watler turned to grab Lux. Lux used the back of his left wrist and clubbed Watler on his neck under the ear. Lux rode Watler down to the ground. He could see Watler was groggy but said, “I think we need some desert air from somewhere else. "Shako hatha b hatha?" (In Kuwait, this idiom means, “What’s this got to do with that?”). We’re leaving this country where we can be safer.”
Lux drew one of his throwing knives and slashed through the zip ties holding his father’s hands. “Ready to get out of here?” he asked his Dad.
Paulus looked across at his son and back at the two on the ground. “Will their ship follow us?”
Paulus asked.
“Nope. Disabled. Let’s go,” he said, and the hangars and bunker opened up. The Courier floated out and shot away into the night, as did the Pod. Pod II was waiting in the bunker, and it was packed. Paulus squeezed into the back with Lux as Polly and Robert flew out of the bunker and up and over to Adak Island, Alaska, fifteen minutes later.




Chapter 10

The Paulden, Arizona Fiasco
USMC Lieutenant Washburn coordinated the approach to the target site. He was told there were surveillance drones and the target may have powerful weapons. He thought about the Posse Comitatus Act that said the US military couldn’t be used against its own citizens. There was an exception passed for a couple of years, but those changes were repealed in 2008. He thought this was stretching the boundaries of what was allowed. He certainly wasn’t going to jail for two years for violating the law.
The two F-35Bs and the A10 flew over the site at 0010 hours. Pretty good coordination because the company of Marines was pulling into the target airstrip in their new armored AMPVs and trucks. They all looked around at the long spacecraft sitting at the end of the airstrip. They waved off the A10 and directed the F35s to land if it could. The F35s needed more runway to land with the spaceship hogging the runway, so they returned back South.
Washburn wondered why they had used ground vehicles and fighters instead of helicopters. He still thought his orders were FUBAR – typical for the planning by civilians. He saw soldiers standing around the huge spacecraft with US Space Force marking. He did like their new uniforms and insignia. We went up to the captain standing outside the vessel.
“Lieutenant Washburn from Yuma, Sir,” he said, looking around. He didn’t salute since they were operational. “What happened? Looks like you were here ahead of us.”
“We were ordered to seize Lux Blakely, his father, all his personnel, and his equipment. We picked up his dad in Huntsville. It went to hell when we came here. Lux Blakely cut our rifles in half and disabled our ship. They all left, but we have surveillance with satellites, and command wanted us here early. We got here at 2330 for the satellite pass-over,” Watler said.
“What authorization does the military have to seize assets and people inside the US? You said, his father? How old is this Lux Blakely?” Lieutenant Washburn asked.
“Doctor Lux Blakely is sixteen. Doctorate from MIT,” Watler replied sheepishly.
“How is your spacecraft disabled? What happened to those M5s over there?” Washburn asked.
“Blakely cut ours in half when my XO pointed it at him. Then he crippled our ship and assaulted us,” Watler said.
Washburn was enjoying this cluster and glad he didn’t walk into the middle of it. “He cut your rifles in half while you were holding them pointed at him? How did he cripple your ship?”
“He, I mean Lux, pulled out this toy pistol with an orange tip to show it wasn’t a firearm and then shot holes through my lasers, my railguns, my communications, my computer, and my propulsion systems. We’re dead in the water,” Watler lamented.
“How did he do that with a toy pistol? How did he know where to shoot?” Washburn asked. This tale was getting better and better.
“That toy pistol of his popped some little things out and destroyed our craft. He knew exactly where to shoot because I am told he was the one that designed this ship,” Watler said.
“Why did he assault you?” Washburn said as he walked over and used a flashlight to shine through the holes clear through the spacecraft while he waited for answers to his question.
Watler stopped talking since he sensed that the Lieutenant wasn’t empathetic. Lieutenant Commander Epson spoke up. “I turned to stop his father from leaving our ship, and the kid surprised me. The captain went to grab him, and the kid knocked him out.”
“What did they take with them when they left?” Washburn asked.
“All the stuff we were told to secure. I sent people out right after they left. We didn’t expect any trouble. They took all their computers, their portable power supplies, and most of their machinery. They even took ten of the water-from-air things over there. They must be going somewhere dry. The kid did say something,” the Captain said. “Something – something - ‘be Hatha,’ I think.”
“That’s a Kuwaiti phrase. Shako hatha b hatha? It means What’s that got to do with it? or something like that. I speak some Arabic. That’s slang that’s used in Kuwait. You do realize that these orders were illegal as hell. You could be charged with the Posse Comitatus Act – that’s two years in prison. I’ll skip Leavenworth; thank you, Captain. What did they leave?”
“They left several of the 3D printing machines, but they took the memory modules out of them and most of the printing raw materials. They even emptied their food lockers and storage bins. They either had a lot of warning or were very methodical,” Watler said.
Lieutenant Washburn was getting a lot of respect for Lux Blakely. Sixteen years old and facing down two grown soldiers with M5s and a huge spaceship with lasers and railguns. This kid has guts and steel nerves.
◆◆◆
 
Adak Island, Alaska
They landed near an abandoned building south of the town of Adak and suspended camouflage nets over their spacecraft. It was -3° C with a light wind. Sue and Lux had backpacks where they had their cash, water, trail food, and knives. They each wore their new sidearms openly on their hips set to one-third of a second duration. If they shot anything over 15 meters – the projectile balls would release acid and self-destruct. They also wore their lifters inside their backpacks. 
 
They flew around the town and came in from the other side near the beach. They had on their spider silk armor under their clothes, so the heavy jackets weren’t closed up tight. They landed and walked to the Main Road past the famous abandoned McDonalds that had shown up in a lot of news feeds. They cut over the frozen ground to the Blue Bird Café at 103 Camel Cove Road. They hoped it was open, and it happened to be. They walked in.
“Hello, Folks. I’m Joe,” said a cook with a strong physique and reddish-brown beard. “What can I get you?”
“I’d like a burger with everything,” Lux said.
“I’ll have the same,” Sue said.
“You just get in?” Joe asked.
“Yep. We’re looking for the city manager, Tom Nielsen, if he’s still the city manager,” Lux said as they looked around for seating. “Where do the tourists sit? We don’t want to take anyone’s regular seat.”
Joe nodded and indicated seats off to the side. “I’ll give you a nod when he comes in. He’s usually here with the lunch group. I would say lunch crowd, but it’s rarely a crowd this time of year. Travis may give you some grief about wearing a gun. You’re pretty young.”
“I’m sixteen, but these aren’t firearms,” Lux said as he pulled the gun out of his holster far enough so the cook could see the orange tip. “These fire little paintballs with acid in them. Just strong enough to discourage man or beast. They’re gonna be the rage on the mainland soon.” He holstered and slid out the magazine and unloaded one of the pellets and tossed it to the man.
He looked it over and held it up to the light. “Never ceases to amaze me what they’ll come up with on the mainland. I’ll have your burgers out in a minute,” the cook said and tossed the pellet back to Lux, who reloaded it in his magazine.
The burgers were good, and at about noon, a man in uniform came in with another man. The cook nodded at the man with the officer. “Mister Neilsen. I’m Luke Benson. When you finish, I’d like to talk with you about a temporary business venture if I could.”
“How did you get here?” Travis Wixs asked. “I’m at the airport for every flight.”
“We flew here ourselves, officer,” Lux said. “That is my sister, Sue, over there. Just let me know if you have a few minutes for us.”
“How old are you, son? What type of gun is that on your hip?” the officer asked.
“I’m sixteen,” Lux said and drew the weapon out far enough so the officer could see the orange ring at the end of the barrel. “These shoot little balls that have a few drops of acid in them to discourage man or beast. I designed them for the rats here. We’ll probably rent or buy property here, but that’s what I’ll talk with Mister Neilsen about. Sorry to disturb your lunch Mr. Neilsen,” Lux said. “Officer.” He nodded and went back to his seat, raised a finger, and asked for another cup of coffee from the cook. The coffee was excellent.
Neilsen finished pretty fast, and it was clear he was curious about what ‘Luke’ wanted. Lux got the tab and added a twenty-dollar tip to his cash payment. Neilsen noticed and raised his eyebrows at the cook, who grinned and picked up the cash.
“My shop…my office is right this way. City manager doesn’t pay much, and I keep all the machinery working. Now, what can I do for you?” Neilsen asked.
Sue looked at Lux and started talking. “Sue White, Mr. Neilsen. We intend to video some scenes for a sci-fi space adventure here, but we’d like a place to stage our equipment. We need a huge warehouse. We can pay in cash, so your people wouldn’t worry about movie people skipping out on paying. We can pay through wire transfer or cash.”
“These guns are designed as part of the plot. We wouldn’t film much here so we won’t need actors or sound people or anything, but we would need food and a place to stay. We’re trying to avoid competitors seeing our props or stealing our ideas. They even use satellites to look for us, so we need to hide from the sky while we build. We can get materials from the mainland and around the world while we’re here,” Sue said.
“Let me take you to a few places I know that are in somewhat decent shape,” Neilsen said. “Let’s hop in my truck.”
Neilsen drove as far as the Contractor’s Camp and showed some maintenance buildings there and then a couple of smaller warehouses in town. The best one was the White Alice Communications site, where the military had built a huge radar installation that became obsolete in the 80s. Lux was excited when he saw it. It would be a perfect backdrop to build an off-planet mining station. They asked the city manager what they’d need to buy or rent the area. He was surprised but kept asking
questions. They went into his ‘office,’ and Sue filled out the paperwork. They rented the property and signed environmental waivers and tax forms. Lux had Anna transfer fifty thousand dollars to pre-pay state and local taxes. Neilsen offered to give them a lift, but they said they’d just walk. It takes all kinds, he thought, though they walked off in the opposite direction from the White Alice site.
◆◆◆
 
Meeting of the Joint Chiefs – US Military – Pentagon – Arlington County, Virginia
Admiral Detweiler - Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, was meeting in the Tank conference room with two others. “What have you got for me, Carl?” (He always started with the same question)
“It’s Lux Blakely again,” General Carl Tucker, Commandant of the Marine Corps, said.
“Dr. Blakely, you mean? Didn’t he recently get his Ph.D. from MIT?” Detweiler asked.
“Yes, but let me explain. Some Senators and Congressmen, industrialists, AND manufacturing lobbyists found out Dr. Blakely took one of our astronauts and a Chinese Taikonaut to 16 Psyche asteroid. They all brought back samples. The assays came back that it would have an abundance of precious metals and rare heavy metals – some we’ve never seen before. This group said it took about two hours each way, and Blakely created artificial gravity en route. Richard, you explain.”
“It was decided that we ought to sequester Mister Blakely and quarantine his assets as a threat to US sovereignty in space,” said General Richard Raymond, Chief of Staff of the Space Force.
“Who is ‘we,’ General? What happened?” Detweiler demanded, getting angry.
“We sent the ultramodern Beast, a company of Marines in armored vehicles, an A10, and two unconverted F-35Bs and unleashed the DIA cyberwarfare zero-day attacks on Blakely’s communications and assets,” Raymond explained.
“Isn’t the Beast, the ship that defeated the Chinese invasion of Taiwan, by itself? Isn’t it 120 meters long and armed with heavy lasers, railguns, and hypersonic missiles?” Detweiler asked.
“Yes, sir. None of the assets were seized though we occupied his property in Arizona and Georgia. We seized his father in Huntsville,” Raymond explained. "He took most of his assets with him."
“What happened? Has any of this hit the news?” Detweiler said.
“Not yet, sir. We clamped down on the press releases though videos were leaked showing Matt Carson, our astronaut, Regina Smith – she’s a former astronaut that works for Blakely, and a Chinese Lt. Colonel Feng, taking samples on the surface of the asteroid. There was also a video of them altogether,” Raymond explained.
“Where did you put him?” Detweiler asked.
“Who?” Raymond asked.
“Blakely! Wasn’t he there when you occupied his property?” the Chairman demanded.
“He was just standing there when the Beast landed. This part is a little hazy. They had M5s pointed at him – he cut the M5s in two. When my two soldiers turned to stop his father from leaving the ship, the kid physically stopped them and released his father from the flex cuffs,” Raymond said.
The Chairman of the Joint Chiefs didn’t say anything. He just glared at Raymond until Raymond continued. “Then Blakely pulled out a toy pistol and shot holes all the way through the Beast. He sabotaged the railguns, missiles, lasers, power supplies, computers, and communications. Then his people all flew away. We had a reconnaissance satellite overhead and traced them to Kuwait, where they activated some active camouflage. We sent troops there, but we didn’t see them leave. We think they’re hiding in Qatar or Saudi Arabia because they took ten solar-powered distillers that take water out of the air.”
Detweiler rubbed between his eyes and tried to steady his breathing. “You violated the Posse Comitatus Act, seized property, and imprisoned personnel because he was going to…what…make himself wealthy and leave out some of our politicians and industrialists. I realize it would play hell with the stock market, but I see a gold rush to space and the Earth benefitting…ah…the wrong people benefitting.”
Detweiler continued. “Keep trying to find him and notify me directly whenever you do. Initiate no further actions against this person. Why didn’t the F35Bs land? Doesn’t his property have a runway? Oh, how stupid of me. The F35Bs hadn't been converted by Lux Blakely, so they need a longer runway. Wait – wait. Why didn’t you use helicopters?”
“Go back to trying to locate them. Look for a good spot for you to get some operational experience. You’re dismissed, General,” Detweiler said.
Raymond started to say something, thought better of it, saluted, and left the room.
“Okay, gentlemen. Now that we’ve seen what not to do – what do you recommend we do now?
It looks like the solar system will be open for exploration if we get this technology. How will that affect the Space Force and the rest of our military? It will drastically change the way we manage logistics.”
◆◆◆
 
White Alice site – Adak Island Aleutian Island Chain – Bering Sea
“Douglas,” Lux said. “We’re going to need additional people. Rodney. I’d like to recruit more people for security. Use our satellite links through Anna and contact military buddies that want to get out and join us. We’ll interview them remotely. I’m thinking of flying them in with the aircraft if we hire them. Start talking with all the others. We’ll need Anna to tell if they are lying or not, and she can research their resumes. We’ll need to finish our designs for off-world mining sites that can be safe from vacuum or radiation.”
The ships were strewn over the White Alice site next to the huge, obsolete radar dishes that towered over the area. They had erected a camouflaged covering using the new magnetic mesh. It was gray but had compacted to a fraction of its size in transport. It protected the ships from sight and kinetic attacks. It was a stopgap measure.
Rodney and Douglas came together to see Lux. “Boss,” Rodney said. “This bites. What is the plan? We can stand living on the ship, but eighteen of us on the Courier is a squeeze even though we set up that arctic tent under the netting for four. We’ve got lists of military contacts, but this has got to be temporary. What’s the plan?”
“I plan to get some of the local housing upgraded for us by next week,” Lux said. “Anna is investigating who launched that attack on us, and my lawyers are twisting arms and taking names.”
“Tempers are beginning to flare, and they’re getting restless,” Douglas said.
“Why don’t you hunt a couple of caribou?” Lux suggested. “We could do with a barbeque and beer fest. I know you hid a keg though I don’t know where it is. We still have a bit of vegetable stock we brought from Arizona.”
“That’s a good idea. There are rock ptarmigan and fishing too. Stop in town and buy fishing gear and obtain any licenses online without your real names.”
They walked off, and the mood lightened around the ‘resort’ as his people began calling it.
◆◆◆
 
Anna contacted Lux. “I have several ventures near Shenyang Xinhang Precise Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd. in Shenyang, Liaoning, China. They are building 3D printer components for me. There also are building what they think are dirigible frames. We also have dirigible coverings being made by a Japanese company, Teijin Ltd, located near DaNang, Vietnam. Different companies have contracted with them. I anticipated a rethink by the corporate establishment in the US. Companies will scratch and claw to hold on to their monopolies. Look at petroleum, pharmaceuticals, medical devices, and internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles if you want examples. Humans want to hold on to the illusion of control. These will be our ore carriers, mining tools, soil conversion units, space suits, shuttles, and weapons.”
“How did you pay for all this?” Lux asked. “I won’t even ask you who you impersonated to get these done. Are you protecting my intellectual property in any way, or is it just out there? Why China and Vietnam?”
“The funds come from seized monies being held by different governments that I transferred, investments I made which turned out astonishingly, and your funds. You are still a billionaire many times over,” Anna explained. “I traded some intellectual property to companies for their work. There are plans for giant dirigibles that happen to be the frame of our ore carriers. I started some of these a year ago. Sanjiang in Shenzhen, China, is manufacturing RTG-powered mining claim beacons – they make fire alarms and sensors. They are set to make a fortune. The handguns are your design, but another company is manufacturing turtle egg sensors. A company in Vietnam is making what it thinks are fake snapping turtle eggs for environmentalists; they are really your projectiles. They think making fake turtle eggs is hilarious but are making them in quantity even though they’re half the size of the actual eggs.”
“How do we get this stuff?” Lux asked. He was thinking about giving away their position before they were ready. “I take it we’d have to pick up something else before we pick up something and so on?”
“Yep,” Anna said. “We need another few weeks. Some of these companies have been working on their projects for over eighteen months.”
“That was when we were getting ready to go to Australia. You’ve known for that long?” Lux asked.
“That became a strong possibility then. A bit before that…since the Chinese attack in Atlanta. I’ve been developing the funds and planning since then with multiple strategies. I wasn’t sure which would play out or which path you and the humans you deal with would take. The military was embarrassed by their fiasco, and manufacturers are currently pressing them to get access to deep space mining. I’m not sure how to tell you the rest,” Anna said. “Promise you won’t get mad – I hate it when you’re mad at me.”
“You can tell me anything, Anna. I’m dying to hear what you did,” Lux said in a fit of exasperation.
“I hired Luc Besson…he liked the screenplay.”
“What screenplay?” Lux said, with a sudden suspicion of what Anna was up to. He went over to his computer and pulled up her avatar.
“The movie screenplay for Outpost we’re making here. What better place to assemble all our spacecraft? Your lawyers, through cutouts, have negotiated sales from the Aleut Corporation via the Department of the Interior. We now own the Naval Air Facility, where the officers used to be housed anyway. We need to visit the public safety officer and the city manager and let them know they’ll be a lot of planes and ships here shortly. We hired disaster recovery teams to renovate the buildings. Let’s go meet with the city manager. You called him, and he’s expecting us,” Anna’s avatar said with a grin.
“You pretended to be me?” he said with a sigh and rolled his eyes. “Call Sue if you would and send us the ownership documents.
“I have hired contractors, and they are bringing in the materials and machinery. They should be here this week,” Anna said with her avatar looking sheepishly. “I knew we could get the land, so I fast-tracked some of the steps. We didn’t have to wait for one to finish before starting the other.”
Lux grabbed Sue, and they flew to the outskirts of Adak with the lifter backpacks. They walked into town and went straight to the airport because a regular flight was due in today, and they knew the officer would be there. They walked over to where the officer came out from a side office in the tiny terminal.
“You giving up after living out at that White Alice site? I knew you wouldn’t last long,” Travis said.
“No, officer,” Sue said. “We wanted you and the city manager to know that we purchased the Naval Air Station Officer’s facilities from the Aleut Corporation. Shall we step into your office?”
Travis looked a bit upset but headed over to his office and sat down. Sue and Lux went in and sat down without being invited. Sue handed a printout from the Aleut Corporation conveying the land to Sue White. She also gave him a non-disclosure form.
“This says you bought all of parcel four. That’s a lot of land around it too. What are you going to do with it?” Travis asked.
“That’s what the non-disclosure is all about. We won’t be here but 18 months, but we have a billion-dollar-plus budget,” Sue said.
“You can tell me I’m a law enforcement officer,” Travis said.
Lux couldn’t help but laugh. He thought that was hilarious. Then Sue and he just sat there.
Travis scowled. “You’re not going to tell me, are you? Mining for gold? Rare animal trapping? Archeologists?” He sat there fuming but pulled a pen out and signed the form. Sue gave him a copy, took the signed form, and put it in her backpack.
“We are filming a science fiction movie about a group who are establishing a mining outpost in deep space. We should have contractors renovating our lodging and catering companies from mainland Alaska. We plan to renovate some of the hangars to house the prop spaceships. We thought you ought to know, and we’d like to hire you in your off time and pay a consultant fee. All my security will carry these rat pistols,” Sue said as she showed the odd pistol on her side. “We may even have the actors use them in the movie, but, of course, in the movie, they’d shoot holes in things.”
“People pay money to see that stuff, I guess, but billions?” Travis said. “How much consultant fee?”
Sue looked at Lux. “We’ll start at $4,000 a month and whatever you need to pay any additional deputies you hire – up to two more. Just let Luke know who to pay. Just send me your email contact, and I’ll send you the contract. In the movie business – the company sets your yearly salary, but you set your hourly wage.”
Travis laughed, knowing it meant they didn’t care how many hours he worked. “Tell me what you want me to do.”
“We need you to make sure any troublemakers are pointed out so we can send them back to the mainland. I’m hoping we won’t have many paparazzi. We’ll spell it all out in understandable language in the contract,” Sue said. “Thanks for talking with us.”
They headed to the Blue Bird Café to find the city manager. They saw Tom Neilsen at the restaurant when they walked in. They walked over to him.
“May we sit down,” Lux said.
“I was just leaving. I take it you want to talk with me again, and you can’t do it in public. Hope this won’t give me indigestion since I just had a great meal,” Neilsen said while looking hopeful.
Sue went with Neilsen, and Lux ordered two burgers to go. Lux was just getting to Neilsen’s office as Sue was finishing thanking him for signing the non-disclosure. She explained that they were making a movie with a billion-plus budget.
“What does it mean for us?” he asked.
“It means your airport and port will be in use. We have a freighter with a renovation crew consisting of personnel, equipment, and materials. It means we need a few of your better homes that can be renovated quickly. It means we will immediately inject $100,000 cash into the stores you think will do a lot of business. That way, the businesses won’t have a cash crunch gearing up. We expect to cater breakfast and dinner for all our workers and staff. We don’t need extras yet, but we need skilled craftsmen as soon as the renovation crews come in. The first crew of personnel and materials will be here a week after that. The caterers will fly in with two cargo flights. I expect a preliminary pair of construction experts to fly in this weekend to evaluate the buildings to renovate.”
 
“How can they know what to bring for materials?” Neilsen said. “This isn’t your typical climate.”
“We had an associate that found photos of actual blueprints of buildings, and we have hundreds of triple-insulated replacement windows, HVAC systems, water heating, and distribution. They will start renovating the facilities as soon as they arrive. Sign on to any union form they insist you sign – I’ll make sure you get full wages,” Sue said. “Here’s our deed for the facility.”
“You work fast,” Neilsen said.
“It helps to own a few congressmen,” Sue said, half teasing.
Neilsen looked at her for a moment and then snickered. “Too true. What kind of salary are we talking about?”
Sue again looked at Lux, who nodded. “$4,000 a month plus enough to hire an assistant if you need one. We need you to coordinate the port unloading and show us who to pay if there is anyone there that can still do it. Coordinate finding us lodging as we start out – that’s the most chaotic time.”
◆◆◆
 
Freighter with Contractors Arrives Adak Port
Saying the freighter was big was an understatement – it was huge. Neilsen had a local crew to offload and was soon moving gear stacked in huge piles along the dock. Two scouts who had scoped out the place met with the personnel leaving the ship. Rodney was here with Sue, and they met with the personnel. One of the workers came over to Lux as he watched.
“Hey, kid. Keep out of our way,” the man said and started up a vehicle that had been offloaded.
Lux grinned and moved out of the way. They soon had a convoy of local and specialty vehicles lined up and loaded. They didn’t waste any time moving to the area they were going to renovate.
They set up arctic tents first thing, and generators were cranking away. The wind generator would be offloaded and set up later. They had a meal and planned out the next day. They started early the next day and were stripping out paint, old fixtures, damaged plumbing, and wiring. They took out all the windows and removed most of the doors. In three days, they had the skeleton to rebuild. They took one dorm and ripped out all the communal plumbing. They were like ants. The building was swept clean and dry in a week. In two weeks, it was airtight and warm. In three weeks, they had the second, classier lodging cleaned up. They had a warmer, dry day and spray-painted the exterior of the buildings.
The caterers had landed in two cargo planes and had initially set up meals in the tents outside of the refurbished housing. The workmen had started renovating the headquarters building and had the workout room cleaned up before anything else. They regretted not having the pool sealed and filled, but it wasn’t listed in their contract. They started in two gigantic hangars. The roof leaked, and the wiring was corroded, but the structures were surprisingly sound. Week four was when it all started coming together. The set rights had been purchased from the Interior Department. The decent homes had been purchased from local individuals and absent landlords. Lux’s crew moved into four side-by-side homes. The contractors got them up to speed in no time. Now the hard part had begun. The Courier was locked away, and the Pods I & II were moved in the middle of the night to one of the huge hangars.
A Lithuanian registered freighter with Chinese cargo unloaded at the dock, and it took days to figure out how to move the four, segmented frames to the eight adjacent hangars and warehouses. The existing hangars together were not big enough, so the contractors cut out walls and built additional hangars. They covered the area between the hangars, so they finally got them dry. The near, ever-present cloud cover over the islands made them hard to spot without infrared cameras from orbit.
The Cheong Hang No. 1 from South Korea brought the special cloth for the three different layers of the outer hull. The Chang Ping, under the flag of Sierra Leone, brought powered claim beacons that would soon be sought-after items though they were all silent now. The Shi Ji Fang Zhou 6, flying under a Panamanian flag, brought five traveling wave nuclear reactors from Tianjin, China, at enormous expense, but needed to power the great ships. The Taisei Maru No. 3 brought a shipload of Halbach arrays that were carefully wound to Lux’s specifications and ten new 3D printers for metals, nylon, plastic, and graphite. The Xin Chong Quing container ship brought the internal guts of all four new ore carriers with the galleys, bunks, lasers, and environmental equipment. Finally, the Jin Tai 618 brought 400 of the new (M)EVA suits and 800 IVA suits in different sizes.
◆◆◆
 
Actors, camera crews, specialists, and the new recruits
Rodney, Regina, and Jack had all interviewed additional warriors with secondary skills. Two were physicians. Douglas Trenton interviewed the specialists. They all had to sign extremely strict non-disclosures. Luc Besson had made suggestions on crews he would like, and the second company he picked accepted the gig. The Adak Airport soon had 737s landing with a crew that had been with New Line Cinema and WingNut Films. William Melrose was the producer who worked closely with Megan Ellison, who was known for outstanding work with Her and Zero Dark Thirty.
Luc Besson had the choice of most of the actors while examining the 120-page script, scene creation, and storyboards that Anna had designed. It was a pretty good story with romantic tension, threats from near and afar, and lots of violent modernistic fight scenes. Hanna Brothers and Chuglach Production and Film Products provided excellent catered food, and snacks were provided by a company actually called Craft Services. The outer space scenes were going to be actually filmed on an asteroid if everything worked out. They actually had a person doing product placement with Coke and Nike since a million saved is a million saved. Anna negotiated all deals because anything less is not a strain for her. She was our total animation and CGI effects person–being – whatever. She loved pushing AI boundaries because the more she pushed, the more intelligent and stronger she got.
The new hires all had to sign the egregious non-disclosure, and most didn’t read it. The few locals generally liked all the new people, and Lummi (2) was a hit when they discovered she was a body double, but they finally stopped posting her picture and stories. The construction crews that had done the remodeling left, and it became a lot more professional on the set. The new security was training with the original bodyguards. They were not quite up to par with them. The original four were hell on wheels. The new scientific specialists were training with Lux’s bodyguards in the morning, but they only stayed for the physical training and none of the weapon’s training.
The science craftspeople began assembling the guts of our huge ore carriers. They would need such cargo capacity to set up a mining colony – even a small one. They secured the reactors in the core of the ship – a pun that Lakshmi didn’t appreciate. Lakshmi and Douglas led the teams putting the ore carriers together with Lux’s help. The first assembly was slow but went considerably faster on the fourth one due to the learning curve.
It took a month, and the producer got some good videos of the desolate areas around Adak. Melrose was captivated by recording the weapons training for the new bodyguards. The knife fighting was particularly compelling. The CutsAll™ training didn’t make sense until he got a video of the guards slicing steel girders in half. He thought it was all staged for him and praised them for their realistic special effects. They laughed.
The new guards were in a renovated classroom, preparing to get their issued rat guns - privately.
“One of the most precocious of the new guards raised his hand. “Why are these called rat guns? I’ve never seen any of you folks shoot a rat, but you always wear them. Why do you do that? Are we working for you or the kid?” he asked.
“You work for the kid, Doug. I’m just one of your immediate supervisors. There are a lot of rats. These weapons are tremendously powerful. They are short-range but adjustable,” Rodney said.
“I have seen the little marbles you put in these things. I wouldn’t mind being hit with one,” Doug said.
Rodney laughed. “What did you think of the CutsAll™ knives? Would you want to be slashed with one of those?”
Doug shook his head.
“Why not? It uses the same principle.”
“…but those will cut you in half with no effort,” Doug said.
“These will punch two-centimeter holes clean through you – clean through the wall you’re hiding behind, and then you – clean through the tank you’re in – clean through the hill you are hiding behind, and then you – clean through the sandbags in your bunker and then you – or clean through your head in the trench on the other side of the hill 300 meters away – or, you can shoot rats with it,” Rodney said. “We just don’t want these folks to see us. That’s why we're marching to the other side of the island today to do our target practice.”
Everyone groaned after the physical training they’d already been through the last three weeks.
“Maybe they’re better than I thought,” Doug said, not wanting to be singled out on a long march.
The twenty left Adak headed toward Mount Moffett. They marched another kilometer along Happy Valley Road. Lakshmi, Douglas, and Elan were huffing and puffing to the amusement of the others. The eight new guards were marginally better off than Douglas and Elan but not even close to the eight seasoned guards and Lux.
They stopped, so Rodney, Lux, and Douglas had them adjust their lifters to learning mode. He had them set lifters on the jump setting; they bounded 10 feet in the air with arms windmilling. After the undignified landings – they started listening. They learned to bound like on the moon, keep their balance, and change direction. They learned to hover at a particular altitude and adjust that level. Then they learned to float in sync with others and have others synch with their units to direct them if they were injured. Hours later, they played a game of tag with two people playing it at a time. It was great fun but tiring.
They then flew southwest as a group and landed near a shipwrecked tug just offshore in the water. There was an old, rusted boiler of some kind that they paced off the distance. Rodney showed them how to set the timer on his gun and shot. His weapon made a thwock sound, but the projectile hitting the boiler made no noise, and you couldn’t hear any sound. All the veterans took a person and started them on shooting drills. They loaded a sack of dummy rounds and practiced until they could hit anything. They then started dropping them on the ship about 200 meters from the shore.
“Imagine you are taking rifle fire from that ship. Get behind this little ridge and cut that ship in half,” Lux said.
It soon became a competition, and the wheelhouse was cut in half and the hull was compromised.
“How many of you have used a mortar?” Rodney asked.
Half raised their hands, and Rodney was surprised that Douglas raised his. “Surprised to see your hand, doctor. Thought you were a fighter pilot during your stint.”
“I got around to a lot of sketchy places,” he said.
“People!” Rodney yelled. “Save a magazine. We need to do some high-speed runs. Check your communications when flying fast. Want everyone to go to Cape Yakak and back to the White Alice Site.”
“Can we stop to get a caribou for a barbeque? It’s been a while,” Doug asked.
Rodney pointed at the new guys. “If you guys kill one, drain it, dress it out. It’ll take group work to get it back. That’s a good idea. Try to get one – not a buck. GO!” he yelled.
The smart ones checked where they were going first and then headed out. Lux, Lakshmi, Elan, and Douglas took off at a more reasonable pace. They made sure their lifter was functioning well and partnered with another person. It didn’t take but a minute to get to Cape Yakak and then circle back to White Alice. That didn’t happen as planned, however. Doug saw a small herd of caribou with a couple of older bucks and many cows. He flew over quietly; since he was silent, the caribou didn’t run. He sighted at the base of the brain and pulled the trigger. The rest of the caribou herd ran off as he and three of his compatriots landed.
Rodney paused. “Don’t leave a big mess out here. Bleed out the carcass and field dress it. See you back at White Alice. Make sure you all have licenses – get them online if you haven’t.” Rodney turned and flew off with the other sixteen, who had caught up by this time.
Doug pulled his CutsAll™ and lopped off the cow’s head. “You two pick up the carcass as I dress it. Looks like this one is light enough without the head for two to pick up. Should be right at your lift limit. Rolf, you help me strip this away after I cut around the legs.” Doug put his raincoat on, as did Rolf, so they wouldn’t get covered in blood. Doug skinned the animal and seemed like he was a butcher in his former life because he did such a professional job. He cut off the haunches and brisket before cutting away the ribs and throat meat. They wrapped the meat up in their raincoats, and they each had about 14 kilograms of meat. They flew back to White Alice and started a 55-gallon drum grill they had made when first arriving. It took constantly searching for driftwood to light up the fire since almost no trees were on the island. Marie made a great basting sauce out of whatever was available, and they used some of the last of the corn, potatoes, and green vegetables. It was a great meal.
Doug felt guilty because they hadn’t eaten all the meat by far, even with the bodyguards chowing down. He decided to take what was left to the Blue Bird.
The locals all started whispering and pointed as he entered the Blue Bird. Doug Hagood wasn’t used to standing out and felt uncomfortable. He called over the cook and gave the man the heavy sack.
“What’s this?” Joe said.
“The fellows and I were out south and bagged a cow. It made us a great barbeque, but it’s not much for all the workers and crew at the Naval Station. Figured it’s more useful to you here. We appreciate the fact that you’re still open,” Doug told the cook.
“Hey, buddy!” Chris called. “I saw you people through my binoculars. You were flying! The guys here don’t believe me when I told them I saw you lop off that cow's head. That gun you used is no rat gun. I saw you put that big cow down, and I heard no bang. What’s the deal with you people? Travis and the city manager won’t say a word. All those ships coming here unloading huge equipment. Are you guys military? Russian?”
“Yeah,” one of his buddies said. “What’s going on? My buddy helped unload at the dock. We hear you bought the officers' buildings and hangars at the Naval Air Facility.”
“My buddy says something is going on at the White Alice station. What are you doing?” a third man said.
“It’s not for me to tell you, but I’ll have my boss come by and talk with you. I’ll call him,” Doug said and stepped out.
“Rodney, this is Doug,” he said into his comm as there wasn’t anyone around. “We have curiosity bubbling over here at the Blue Bird. The tour guide here saw us flying and then saw me kill that cow. The locals want answers, and it was getting awkward. Think you need to get over here now.”
Rodney buzzed Lux and told him. Lux said he was on the way in a minute. Rodney walked over from the hangar. Rodney saw Doug standing outside looking a little hangdog.
“Don’t worry about it, Doug. They were bound to see us sooner or later. I’ll talk with them,” Rodney said and stepped inside.
“I’m Rodney Branch. I’m the chief bodyguard for my boss, and he goes by Luke here. He’s headed to talk with you,” Rodney said, and they patiently waited for the big boss to roll in. After two or three minutes, they started getting uncomfortable since Rodney was a BIG guy. Their imagination went wild.
Lux walked in with wild wind hair from flying over. He had a notebook with him. “Hi, folks. I go by Luke. Some of you have met me and Sue White. She bought the Naval Officer’s Portion of the base from the Aleut Corporation along with the White Alice site. I will pay you - each resident even, $1,000 a month if you’ll keep our secret until we leave, which will be about a year. I will tell you I am a patriotic American, and we pay all our taxes and then some. Here’s the non-disclosure agreement. Travis and the city manager have already signed it, but they are doing more and getting paid more. It just means you won’t talk about this to people not actually living physically on the island.”
“How do I know I’ll get paid?” one asked.
“I can have the money sent to your bank account, or we can pay you cash. Makes no difference to me,” Lux said.
“How old are you?” another one asked out of the seventeen or so that were inside.
“I want $2,000 a month,” one said.
“Nope. “$1,000 a month. This isn’t a negotiation. I really don’t care if you know, but I will pay every resident in town or no one. If you think they’ll all do it, I’ll start putting money into the city coffers today,” Lux said. “Read this and sign it, and I’ll explain, starting with you,” he said while pointing at the erstwhile entrepreneur.
Some hearty discussion went back and forth, with names thrown out at each other who could be stubborn. They also discussed who wasn’t doing well, and they talked about the twenty kids – some who could go to college with just this little boost. Thirty minutes later, they reached a consensus and signed the paper.
“Do we have to wait ‘til everybody signs it until you tell us?” Chris asked. He knew they would all have to get people to sign the non-disclosure.
“We’re making a science fiction movie, except most of our stuff works,” Lux said. “The government wants to hide all the tech away from the world. The Feds want to control all the tech. If people talk about what we’re doing here, then this will have to stop. We are making a movie, and a lot of it will be in space, but we can go to space from here.”
“That’s it. It’s a movie? No spy stuff?” Joe, the cook, asked.
“What do you think will happen when people find out that the high-tech movie was made here?” Lux asked.
“Tourists will flock to the island to see where it was made. Other movies can be made here with no roads or contrails above the island,” Chris said. “I’m still not sure they’ll do what they say.”
Lux motioned to get their attention. “You notice we have these backpacks on? Look closely.” Lux, Doug, and Rodney were floating ten centimeters off the ground. “Get those signatures and watch out for us. The money ends as soon as what we’re doing here becomes news.”
They were walking away from the restaurant when Rodney asked. “You’ll spend over a quarter million a month to keep these people quiet. Do you plan to do that for a year? That’s a lot of money for not much.”
“If we can keep them quiet for a few weeks it will be worth it. Secrets never last. The only way to keep a secret is to do something undetectable and never tell anyone. This is just to help us out temporarily,” Lux said.




Chapter 11

Ore – wellian 1 is completed
Douglas, Lux, Paulus, and the new specialists they'd hired had finished assembling the first ore carrier. It was impressive, to say the least, at two-hundred fifty meters long. The bodyguards went through the ship, and Polly, Sue, and Regina fell in love again with a new vehicle. Lux had added all the features from previous ships with new ones. The medical bay was ultramodern, and two physicians, three physician assistants, and five nurses would be needed. There would be adjustable gravity throughout the ship. A freighter of food, alcohol, and fresh vegetables up from Mexico had been ordered to stock it. It had stopped in California and finally made it up here. The producer and director were informed that everything was ready to start recordings for the movie.
Lummi (two) arrived in disguise with other actors who were relatively unknown in their fields. William Melrose was there to greet the actors and was surprised to see Luc Besson had come in person. They all met in the McDonalds since it was often used for town meetings since its abandonment.
Besson took charge. “What video do you already have?” he demanded of William Melrose, the producer.
Melrose started to talk about the surrounding countryside when Lux tugged on his arm to get his attention.
“We have a lot of action shots from high resolution drones with the military attack in Paulden, Arizona. That’s the reason we had to flee to here,” Lux whispered.
“We have shots of the military action that drove the protagonists to this forsaken island,” Melrose said. “All the videos are in high definition.”
“You have fighter jets, a company of real US Marines in armored transport and a large spaceship,” Lux whispered. “We’re almost ready to test the new spacesuits and spaceships we built here.”
“Really. You saved me. Who are you?” Melrose said and turned to Besson and informed him.
“Ask for Lux or Luke,” Lux said.
“Who are my actors?” Besson demanded. “I need to see my people. Who have we got? You! You look familiar. You’re that singer, Lummi! I love your work. That’s a start. Come on people. I won’t bite.”
Lux, Sue, Lakshmi, Paulus, and Rodney decided they’d leave and design some mining equipment. That would be more fun than listening to a 'let’s work together' meeting. Paulus had designed a shake table with a gravity projector above it that worked on electricity in harsh conditions.
◆◆◆
 
Paulus singled out Lux. “What do you think you’re doing? What do you plan to do next?”
“I’m trying to keep the military from sending me, my workers, and my friends to some isolated base somewhere. I’m making a sci-fi video as cover and document our prep. Our ore carriers can carry up to 300 metric tons of raw ore. I have made preliminary arrangements to sell that ore to refineries around the world. The rare earths alone would change the dependence of Japan and the US from relying on China,” Lux said.
“You didn’t answer my question and that sounded very defensive,” Paulus stated. “What’s next?”
“You’re finishing up Ore-wellian 2, right?” Lux asked. “Why don’t we pack up a lot of the video folks and all our people and fly out to 16 Psych and plant a few of our new beacons and do a shakedown run. We would have the Courier as a backup and there’d be plenty of room since each of those carriers are designed to have a complement of 200.”
“You’re damn cavalier with people’s lives. Maybe you should have Anna do DeepFakes for most of the shots,” Paulus said sarcastically. “You’re good at that and it doesn’t put anybody at risk.”
“That’s a great idea, dad. I’ll do that!” Lux said, since he was planning that anyway. “I want this movie to be released to advertise what we’ve been doing. I was thinking about having attacks by other governments and then fighting them off. What do you think?” Lux said with enthusiasm – just trying to goad his dad by acting clueless.
“You need to take this more seriously! Don’t just blow me off. I know you better than that.”
“Dad. The military attacked us…attacked you in our home…in violation of the constitution – in violation of habeas corpus. They imprisoned you and were going to do the same to all the people collaborating with me - for having tech that was something they wanted. Powerful people pulled the strings of the military – we would not do well using legal channels. I can’t uninvent anything. I need to be as powerful as those pulling the strings.”
Paulus sniffed. “You can end up being as bad as those others. You can become the monster others fear.”
“I know dad. I’m trying to get us in a position where our government can’t stick us away out of sight without people protesting. “
“Okay, son. I’ll try to help you out.”
◆◆◆
 
Luc Besson was talking with the producer, Melrose when Lux walked up.
“We’re ready to do some test runs,” Lux said.
“Test runs? On those big ships you’ve been building? What will those do?” Besson asked.
“My experienced astronauts will train your people to wear spacesuits, move in space, and walk in zero-gravity. My engineers will vacuum-proof your video equipment. We need to spend a night on the ship and have a few meals there. I’ve sent my people to move the caterers to cook on the ships. That should be some recordings. Let the uniformed people know when you have problems. Start moving your people onto the ships. Tell them to bring everything because we won’t be able to come back and get it,” Lux said.
“Even if it’s just outside?” Besson asked.
“Yep,” Lux said. “It will be tough to go outside once the ships are sealed. We have a vehicle to travel between the two ships.”
Besson turned to Melrose. “Did you know about this?”
Melrose looked at the ground and then back up. “The script calls us to move onto the ships on this part. Everything displayed on the monitors is recorded in high definition, so we don’t need to reshoot that footage. I’m told we will have excellent coverage.”
Besson took Melrose into a side room. Melrose left looking chastised.
The crews took forever to get loaded as people kept forgetting equipment and personal gear, thus delaying departure. Lux had all his people directing the scientists, specialists, and production teams to their cabins or berthing racks. They were only stacked three high with the long bunk beds. The toilets had privacy panels and washlettes. The actors were shown their cabins. There were individual showers in the guest and officers’ cabins though they were small. Security personnel had two, fold-down bunks per room. Cabins were roomy for a ship with a small desk and computer setup. Passengers were directed to one of the two galleys on each ship and the caterers had fixed a meal of a hardy stew and salad.
The ship passed all it’s pressure checks during lunch and then everyone learned how to put on a white IVA suit. They eased out of the hangar and Ore 2 eased out shortly after. There was just the barest vibration as they moved out. Actors, camera crews including the gaffer and best boy who stayed close to the director of photography – they all went to the huge flight bay for training in emergency drills like on the beginning of a cruise trip. They were all in good spirits as they tried move in the suits as the monitors showed them passing very low over the moon’s surface.
They laughed and pointed saying it really looked real, but no one believed it was real because no one felt any gravity changes. An announcement was made that they were going to simulate loss of gravity but not ‘til they had handed out barf bags. The bay had a gentle decrease in gravity until it was around 30% and everyone thought it was a super stunt. An announcement came on (Anna) that explained that they had a medbay if anyone became ill or injured. “Please jump responsibly,” an announcement over the intercom said. There were, of course, some sprained ankles and wrists.
They arrived at 16 Psyche and watched on the monitor as people left the ship in EVA mining suits, but they walked like there was gravity. Lux walked into the center of the flight bay wearing one of the new, EVA mining suits. He was already 185 centimeters tall and looked handsome in his suit.
Everyone was looking at him. He had his helmet under his arm and asked the closest to him to sit down so everyone could see before he addressed them.
“My name is Dr. Lux Blakely – I designed this ship and a lot of the tech we will be using. This is 16 Psyche. It is an asteroid out toward Jupiter – just like in the script. It has a more gold and platinum and rare earth metals that has ever been found in the history of mankind. We are 530 million kilometers from Earth. We control gravity so you can walk on the surface like on a city street. Those people are placing claims beacons. We have vacuum-proofed your cameras. You do not have to go out with us and video for the movie but all those that participate in your normal duties will receive triple pay. My crew will have training classes for all the video crew,” Lux announced.
There was a stunned silence as Regina, Polly, Rodney, and Lummi came into the room wearing EVA suits and pushing long racks of EVA suits. The prop master also had a suit on and that settled people down. The hundred people in the flight bay argued and the consensus reached stated that this was just an elaborate hoax. They helped people pick sizes of suits and struggle into them. These had a closure on the right side and waist that was quite novel and functional. Somebody yelled. “Hey! We don’t have helmets.”
“Nope,” Lux said. “You need helmets after we explain to you about going to the bathroom – still not fun. Very few of you need to go outside the ship but you need to be able to be seen putting on a suit. You all are astronauts though that will mean less and less in the future because it will be so easy. Video crew, we’re setting up tonight. You’ll have an escort with each of you. Let’s get with the people with the red arm bands.”
Lummi had a small crowd of fans around her. She looked fantastic even in a pressure suit and she seemed to enjoy the acclaim. They soon kept their professional distance while learning about their suits. The group class continued as everyone learned how to use the communications and other features of their helmets. Everyone had hung back at first but seemed to accept it since it was fascinating to even the most jaded person. The helmet showed remaining air, reserve, gravity setting, water, CO2 level, temperature inside/outside, communications, and orientation to the ship.
Everyone headed to a light dinner wearing their suits. Food prompted peristalsis (food going through bowels in this case) and many learned to strip, dump, and reseal before the  evening portion of the training.
The evening had them placing lights on the surface of a metallic crater. There were some spotlights set around the periphery of the crater where they needed additional illumination for the special effects. The scene director had Lummi prepping to go outside and a few of the supporting actors who had also had private lessons on suit use and safety. They played novice miners and Lux and others cut chunks out of the surface metals and loaded them on a sled. The video crew talked to them as they did the work. Polly was distracted while turning away from the ore cart. Her shoulder got too close to the edge of ore hopper and the edge of it snagged and pulled off her gravity collar. She floated off the surface when she jerked free and went slowly spinning off the surface.
Rodney immediately turned down his gravity setting and jumped after her. He was going fast and tried to reach out and grab her. He was just able to grab her foot and he pulled her down to him until he held her helmet to helmet. He turned his gravity on gradually, so they gently came down a half kilometer away. He set his gravity to 30% and grabbed her in piggyback fashion. “Giddy up,” he said trying to make light of her near-death experience. He rode on her back until she was back at the ship. They retrieved her gravity collar. They reapplied it. She grabbed him in as good of a hug as you can do – suit to suit.
“Thanks, Rod,” she said over the private channel. “I couldn’t believe how fast I went from fun to panic – then I felt you grab my leg, and I knew I’d be okay.”
They got Lummi and the actors on the surface and ran through two scenes. The camera crew had gotten Polly’s flyaway scene. Lux planned to set up the multi-layer dome next to provide kinetic and radiation protection with lights scattered over the inside surface.
The specialist crew knew, in simulations, how to wear space suits but working in them was different. A couple of them had the new gravity lifters that would work without magnetic fields, but it looked like you were wearing a two small, nested fan shrouds on your back to allow you to travel in any three-dimensional flight in light, or no gravity environments. Three grabbed different ends of a huge gray tubular roll of layered hybrid sheeting and turned their lifters to max and pulled. The roll, which was held off the ground with the end rotors pinned to the surface began to slowly unwind. They got further and further away while stretching out incredibly tough graphene hybrid layers. They temporarily pegged it down with special one-time powered penetrator spikes and pushed them into the metal surface at a 45-degree angle.
Paulus and Robert used a modified CutsAll™ to carve out an entry that went from outside to under the lip of the one- kilometer diameter covering. Paulus attached a small power supply to an outside connection and the structure filled out to became the upper 2/3 of a soccer ball in an odd geodesic dome shape. The two men carved an entrance under the dome wall. It consisted of smoothed out, wide ramps that went under and into the dome. There was absolutely no light inside because it was well into the dark rotation of the asteroid. Paulus and Robert laboriously loaded a cart with the remnants from digging the entrance and powered the cart while set to minimal gravity. They drove the cart back to the ship and emptied tons of ore into the loading hoppers on the ship. They then loaded a RTG, floated it back to the dome through the entrance and plugged it into the side of the dome to permanently power it. They took an iron-ration case of food and water kept to near freezing near the claim beacon. Lux planned for an emergency cache of air, water, food, and communications at any beacon site – hoping it would become a policy and not just a looting opportunity.
Thus the claim beacon had an emergency function that could keep one person alive for 3-days for 3-people. There was oxygen for three days. The beacon recorded video anytime a person entered. It could be set to broadcast any time that happened. The inside of the dome was expanded to its full size and now protected those under the dome from kinetic threats and radiation. There were survival instructions written in 20 languages on the beacon emergency cache. Of course, the videographers wanted to do multiple shots, and they got some great video from the work, but the setup crew was beyond exhausted.
When all parties got back to the ship, they were barely able to summon the energy to set their suits into auto clean and head for the showers. They tossed their smelly coveralls into the cleaning receptacle. They slid on a new ship suit, strapped on their ubiquitous weapons, and had a beer in the galley. Lux joined them with a Cheerwine soda and asked how it went. They gave him the rundown on what worked and what didn’t. Paulus frowned at his son.
The video crew came in and started cussing and praising at the same time. “I realized this is real and not just a video game or video reality setup. This is the real deal. We are going to win every award our planet can give. That was mind-blowing,” a video crew member said with others nodding.
Besson came in. “I watched through the remote feeds. Looks like you might have some useable shots. Good job. Keep it up.” He turned and left.
“Guess you act like a cat when you’re old…affectionate welcome and then just turn and go,” the gaffer said.
◆◆◆
 
“Where are we supposed to take this stuff?” Lux asked Anna. “We have two ore carriers. This one only has twenty tons of material. Ore II will have 250 metric tons of nearly pure metal. It will take them a few days longer for a full load but how will we know where to take it, how will they pay us, and how much will they pay.”
“Didn’t you think I’d consider a separation facility? This is a fairly new one built a few years ago. We happened to have a contract with them. I happened to design some new equipment for them, since we are partial owners with Lynas Rare Earths. That company is based out of Australia, but this facility is in Hondo, Texas – outside San Antonio. The government is trying to jump start rare earth production. Eighty percent of rare earth production is in China and that puts the rest of the world at risk,” Anna replied.
“When did you do all these other things? You’ve predicted the attacks by the government and spent billions on production all over the world. Why didn’t you tell me?” Lux asked, feeling slighted.
“Um. You are a human being and though really smart, in a few ways better than me, you are a human being. This gives me something to do. I can do hundreds of things at once. Currently I am monitoring the US Space Network. They have not stopped looking for us. Blue Line Corp. in Texas is expecting a sample batch of twenty tons from us. I told them it would have a lot of gold and platinum. The harder materials would have to be separated out for us to take with us when finished. The new equipment I sent them to use  - lasers and proprietary blades to cut the  material was better than any other current system. They would get to sell all the neodymium, dysprosium, and terbium. "Those are crucial for modern society," Anna explained. "I expect our shares."
“I take it that the ‘proprietary’ blades are modified CutsAll™ blades for the densest metal. Do we fly into the facility and drop the load?” he asked.
“No, I’ve arranged a semi-tractor to meet outside of Kerrville, Texas,” Anna explained. “The driver thinks it’s top-secret stuff with the Air Force. He’ll truck it to the separation facility. It’s a radar null area.”
“Okay. Head us that way. We want to come in fast,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
Semi-tractor-trailer off the Highway near Kerrville, Texas
Trucker Jesus Alverez was having second thoughts. He had been paid a lot to be here in the middle of nowhere. The only thing valuable here was his truck and he had a pistol and a shotgun. His brother-in-law was with him, but he was worthless. It was so dark he couldn’t see his hands in front of his face until he lit another cigarette. He had gotten here early but he wasn’t sure he should stay. Suddenly, he heard heavy thuds and his truck made loud booming noises as his truck began to fill up. All he could see was a huge black shape above his truck. Whatever it loaded – it was ore, and it was metal heavy. He’d been doing this for twenty years and he knew the sound of a rich load. His brother-in-law came around the cab of the truck cussing up a storm.
His brother-in-law had his shotgun and a flashlight. He pointed it up at the thing. It was huge and hovering above his truck. He didn’t think any of this ore dust would blow out of the truck, but he could see the thing above his truck take off straight up without making a sound. “¡No me digas!”
His brother-in-law stood there with his mouth hanging open and the flashlight shining up at nothing and shotgun loose in his hand.
“Hey, dumbass. Help me put the canvas over the top. Let’s get this dropped off. They’re expecting us tonight. Come on! Snap out of it,” Alvarez said.
“We need to tell somebody,” his brother-in-law said.
“Tell who? About what?” Alvarez said. “Nobody would believe us. Get moving. I want the other half of this pay.”
◆◆◆
 
American Airlines Flight 793 enroute to San Antonio
Plane: “San Antonio. This is American Flight 793.”
San Antonio ATC: “Go ahead American 793”
Plane: “We are at 31,000 and just saw a ship pass right in front of us going straight up.”
San Antonio ATC: “Were you in danger 793?”
Plane: “That’s negative. No danger. It was at least three kilometers away, but it went straight up. It was, at least, a couple hundred meters long”
San Antonio ATC: “Do you wish to report a UFO?”
Plane: (long pause) “That’s negative. We’re over Texon MOA (Military Operation Area). Probably them.”
San Antonio ATC: “Roger 793.”
◆◆◆
 
After Return to Adak Island
Lux was relieved to be back safely at Adak. Ore-wellian 3 & 4 were well on their way to being completed and the movie crew were still talking about their trip. Ore-2 had unloaded directly at the Blue Line separation facility. The company was ecstatic about all the gold, platinum, and rare earth metals in the ore. They had already hired more security from the plant when they found that the parts per million of the ore was ten times that of a rich deposit on Earth. He felt justified about Anna’s choice for a facility but realized it would show up on the US Space Force scans. He knew the US military would take some action, but his lawyers were still filling motions. He had other things on his mind and knew Anna was monitoring the intelligence services of the world to look out for them.
Lux was concerned that his ships used an inefficient method to recycle oxygen. He was changing to a more efficient catalyst in the Sabatier reaction. He couldn’t bring a large enough supply of water and oxygen, not for hundreds of people for weeks on a long mission. That reaction was used on both the ISS and the Chinese space station to create oxygen and water. He was changing from nickel as a catalyst to ruthenium on aluminum oxide. It would produce less waste. Lux was startled out of his reverie with a message from Anna.
“The US Space Operations Command under Lt. General DeAnna Bost has traced activity to Adak Island. I do not know her response yet. We should be ready to move if we must. I have located abandoned areas located in the South Pacific we can go to if we must move,” Anna explained.
“Why wouldn’t she report us? It appears she doesn’t see eye to eye with the Chief of Staff of the Space Force, Richard Raymond. She knows about the operation to secure assets that Raymond sent to the Blakley’s, and she thought it was illegal and immoral. Before you ask – I have access to her personal diary,” Anna confided. “Her mother never told her not to keep one evidently.”
“How much have you penetrated the US military Anna? Can they detect you?” Lux asked.
“Not yet. I have connections to some of the leaders who pushed for us to be captured. I am now securing contact with the industrialists and financiers that tend to manipulate the stock market and arms sales. There is a loose association of powerful people who are involved with their power and are clutching and clawing trying to hang on to their positions and power. We ruffled feathers when we made several technologies obsolete in a heartbeat. I’m starting to see how they influence the markets, and I am investing to make us more secure,” Anna explained. “I anticipate several different possibilities – I will let you know if it is something that will affect us. You are making good progress on the ore carriers.”
◆◆◆
 
Mike Singleton – Freelance Investigator

Mike Singleton got off the flight to Adak Island from Anchorage under the guise of a bored British adventurer hunting caribou. The flights weren’t crowded, and the connections were rather good. He had gotten the assignment through an old CIA contact. He had checked out the backstory on his own to make sure he wasn’t going to run into something dangerous. It seems the CIA wanted him to check on. Rumors about spaceships, movies, and a genius run amok. He got off the plane and walked over to the nearby ‘The Adak Aleutian Experience’. A guy named Steve ran the place and it turned out to be a clean and warm upgraded home. He’d certainly stayed in worse while a British Ranger. He still carried the metal badge he used to wear on his beret.
“Used to be a soldier, I see,” Steve said when he first met Mike. “You still carry yourself like one. It’s hard to erase that from ya.” Steve said with a smile and an extended hand. They shook and Mike started asking questions. Steve suggested a meal at the Tundra Tavern since they had started serving food. He squared his kit away and headed to the tavern – best place to start an investigation.
He found the place with no trouble. The tavern was bigger than he expected. There was a bar with room to seat ten or twelve, a pool table, and a scattering of tables. The place had some music playing somehow and there was a smattering of people. There were twenty people or so and it was only 4 PM. Boy, was it a mixed lot in the place, he thought. They had a few hardy locals by the look and some tables of folks speaking French. He saw a couple he’d peg as Russians and then the rest were a mixed bag.
He gave the gal at the bar a twenty and said, “I’d like to run a tab and I’ll pay cash if that’s okay?” She nodded and the cash disappeared. She looked rather short, solid, and like she’d seen a thing or two in her day, possibly part Aleut. He saw a guy watching the French folks and nursing a beer. He moved like he could handle himself with scars on his hands and his clothes looked like they had seen some use. They were rugged but top notch. The man had broad shoulders and a red beard and mustache. Mike went over to him. “You know these parts? May I buy you a beer?”
The guy looked suspicious, but he shrugged and raised the near empty bottle to the bartender, tipped it to the new guy, and swallowed the rest in the bottle. “Caribou hunter?”
“Mike Singleton,” he said and stuck his hand out.
“Chris Tolliver,” the man said. “I run hunting treks. I’m pretty booked up, but I might be able to point you at one or two others who aren’t incompetent.”
Mike laughed. “Heard that. Scran’ What do you recommend?”
“My recommendation…eat somewhere else or just get the pizza. Noticed your bit of an accent and that word…you Royal Marines?” Chris asked.
“Rangers, but I got out before you blokes got us in another war,” Mike said, deciding he had nothing to hide.
“Too true. What do you think next? China? Rangers are a tough outfit. I won’t worry about you out here then. Nothing to worry about here if you can stand gale force winds and actors,” Chris said. “I shouldn’t have said that much. Skip it. My dad was with the Air Force stationed here. I grew up here, went to school on the mainland before they closed down the military base here.”
“By actors you mean those pretty girls over there speaking French. They making a movie or something?” Mike asked.
“Why don’t you go over there and ask them?” Chris said because he had hit on them and been told off.
“I’ll just do that.” Mike said. “Thanks.”
Mike walked over to the table and stood there a moment until they stopped talking and looked at him. “Excusez-moi. J'aimerais savoir quels rôles vous jouez dans le film. Je pense que les acteurs ont un talent incroyable pour manipuler l'émotion du public. Je suis désolé de vous interrompre, mais vous êtes les plus intéressants qui aient jamais existé. arrivé ici.” ("Excuse me. I'd love to hear about what parts you play in the movie. I think actors have such incredible talent to manipulate the emotion of the audience. I'm sorry to interrupt but you people are the most interesting that has ever happened here.)
Chloé smiled. “You speak French with a British accent but it’s understandable. Do you live here?”
“No, no. I’m here hunting caribou. They tend to overpopulate here since they have no natural predators. I’m Mike Singleton. I would appreciate you telling me about yourselves. May I buy this table a round of drinks?”
“They’re pretty expensive and we are not that interesting,” Chloé said with a coy smile.
“Au contraire!” Mike said and circled his hand around to show the bartender to bring another round and touched his chest to show he meant to pay. “Cost means little to me and your stories would mean a lot.”
They soon regaled Mike with their stories. He got to know them by first names and was an excellent listener – an  underrated talent especially in this day and time.
The group talked and drank until the tavern closed. Chloé went back to Mike’s lodging and in the morning, he walked her over to her morning set assignment on Ore-2 ship. Security asked who Mike was, and she said he was a friend of Lux. Security called Rodney and Lux to confirm the statements.
◆◆◆
 
Mike Singleton meets Lux
Security had stopped the man and queried Anna while notifying Rodney and Lux. She got a good frontal face image and found the man’s associated files. It took Anna a full minute after he had been stopped to identify him and his records, so Lux assumed he was an operative or a non-entity. Anna had penetrated many nations secret databases. Anna fed Rodney and Lux the information. Anna had prepped Lux on several security scenarios, and this was a fairly high probability according to her. He approached the man.
“Mister Singleton. Would you come talk with us? We’d like to ask you some questions and help expedite your assignment,” Rodney said.
“What if I don’t? Am I under arrest? I have a valid passport?” Singleton said.
“Do you think any of that is necessary? We have a good idea why you’re here and we just want you to fulfill your assignment easier by answering some of your questions,” Lux said.
Singleton looked a little taken aback when Lux talked with him. It was clear that Singleton recognized him. He sort of shrugged and Lux walked beside him. “Since you are an independent,” Lux said. “Let us know your rates and preferences in the future. I’d like to find out how far you have penetrated,” Lux paused, “…our  façade, here.”
“So, you have a façade?” Mike said with a grin. “You’re Lux Blakely, aren’t you? I thought you’d be a crazed terrorist.”
“Really?” Lux said. “I wonder where people get these ideas that are contrary to my actions.”
“What was it like when you were posted to Afghanistan? How did you win the Conspicuous Gallantry Medal? You survived, so that’s a good thing,” Lux asked.
“Civies never understand because they aren’t thrown into life and death situations,” Mike said as they walked back to their main offices. “I don’t talk about it.”
“You’d be surprised,” Lux said. “Here we are. Right in here,” he directed.
They entered the office they’d set up last month and indicated for Singleton to take a seat.
They sat there without saying anything for a minute before Singleton chuckled and asked a question. “Are you planning to attack us?”
Lux and Rodney both started laughing. “What! Why in the world would we do that?”
“Where the hell did you get that idea? Look, you ask a question and I’ll answer as honestly as I can. Then I’ll ask a question and you answer as honestly as you can…deal? You asked first so I’ll answer. No. We have zero plans to attack anyone,” Lux responded.
“That’s a relief. Where did I get this idea? The person or persons that hired me asked me to determine who you were planning to attack.”
“I assume you were contacted by Taylor Schindle with the CIA at Langley. He worked with Watler, the soldier who piloted the Beast that attacked me in Paulden, Arizona. You don’t have to respond,” Lux said. “What else do you need to know?”
“You are making a movie. Why?” Singleton asked.
“We are making a science fiction movie but using actual outer space mining scenes 530 million kilometers from Earth,” Lux said. “We intend to release the movie later this year to publicize our problems with mining when outer space is lawless.”
“There is an outer space treaty that many nations have signed,” Singleton stated.
“Worthless. That would be useful as toilet paper when it becomes easy to travel in space. My technology has enabled that. Who is going to enforce that?” Lux said. “Just being rhetorical. What do you need to finish your assignment?”
“I’m supposed to sabotage your ships so you can’t go to 16 Psyche again,” Singleton said.
“I don’t think that would be a good idea. They would never find your body as it hurtled into the sun,” Rodney said.
“That sounds like a threat,” Mike said. “I’ll report that.”
“That’s one,” Lux said and the comradery in the room vanished. “I’ll report that you threatened to endanger the lives of hundreds of people from different countries whose lives depend on the proper functioning of those ships,” Lux said. “You need to research the people that have attacked me or my people in the past,” Lux reiterated. “I did not kill the wrong family and get a medal for it, but I have killed those that attacked me or put my people at risk of death.”
The color left Singleton’s face. He had received a medal for the botched raid in Afghanistan. Why was it no one was there when you really do something heroic? he thought. He got bad vibes now.
“I have a vehicle ready to take you back to Anchorage,” Lux said, as Anna advised him that Polly and Robert had the Pod outside waiting for him. The bodyguards had added features to the seat and seat belt that Anna could control. Anna could lock the belt and send an incapacitating shock through the seatbelt if she detected resistance.
Singleton walked outside with Rodney and Lux. He saw the Pod with the passenger falcon-wing door open. Robert stepped out and directed him into the passenger seat and had him buckle in.
“It's fitting that the door are like the metal Peregrine falcon wing badge you used to wear on your beret,” Lux said.
“What about my clothes and gear at the house?” Mike said gruffly. He decided he’d take over the craft enroute.
“Just say where you want them sent and we’ll have them sent wherever you say,” Lux said coldly with no humor at all.
Mike got in the odd, egg-shaped craft and tested that he could remove his seatbelt across his chest. He knew he could reach the pistol in his ankle holster, so he wasn’t worried. The door shut and hermetically sealed as the craft took off on its 1,915-kilometer flight to Alaska. Mike asked a question because he knew when someone was talking their reaction time was almost twice as long. When Robert started to answer, Singleton moved and felt a searing shock. He lost consciousness. He came to on the side of the highway near an Anchorage 5-kilometer sign. He felt his shirt pocket and found a note and cash.
The note said:
Your gear will be sent to the address you mentioned. Five hundred dollars is for your inconvenience. It is not a mistake to miss a gun if you aren’t concerned about weapons. That was number two. You would need a lot of suntan lotion for number three because we'd send your remains into the sun.
He started breathing fast and reached for his gun in the ankle holster. It was still there. He began shaking. He checked his watch and only six minutes had passed. Mike had never had a group know so much about him in such a short time. It meant they had powerful connections in government that were feeding them information, He certainly didn’t want to be dropped into the sun now that he realized they could probably do it.
◆◆◆
 
Taylor Schindle answered the phone at his desk. He wasn’t allowed a cell phone inside the building even though he sometimes violated that policy. “Taylor.”


“Contracting an independent to handle assignments within the US would get you fired if it became public knowledge. Let’s not do that again. I’ve mailed his gear personally to you – to your office – listing your private number and one of your two secret numbers along with your secret email address. I’ve insured it for several thousand so they will really try to get it to you. To answer your question – Mike Singleton is fine even though he admitted in recordings that he had been paid to sabotage ships – putting Americans’ lives at risk. That’s one.” The connection went dead.
Taylor called and set up the back trace immediately. A minute or so later the callback came. “Sir. We’ve traced that call that just came to your phone. It came from the Whitehouse switchboard. That’s as far as we can go with it but it’s definitely from there.”
“Thank you,” Taylor said and disconnected. He wondered what that ‘That’s one’ is all about? He’d talk with Mike. That was disconcerting, he thought.




Chapter 12

Commerce, Science, and Transportation Committee – US Senate
The chair of the Commerce, Science, and Transportation
Committee was fuming. “I’m told this Blakely character is flaunting our FAA rules including transportation of dangerous materials. Why can’t we bridle this boy?
“Mister Chairman,” Senator Thune (R - SD) said. “Senator Blackburn sent me some information on this young man, I also had my people look into this guy. He’s the one that upgraded most of our fighter jets at just the fuel cost – he saved us a ton of money and time. He designed the lifters and sold them at low cost for all our soldiers at Ft. Drum. He designed the latest ships for SpaceX. He designed the ships that stopped the Chinese invasion of Taiwan. He has a ship that can go one quarter the speed of light and he’s rumored to have a way to control gravity. We’ve confirmed that he took one of our astronauts and a Chinese astronaut to the 16 Psyche asteroid and gave scans and samples of rich metals to NASA. He recently left his property in Paulden, Arizona, but we don’t know where he’s gone.”
“That’s why I had General Richard Raymond, Chief of Staff of the Space Force flown in to answer questions for us today. Remember. Everything said here is Top Secret and is not to be uttered outside this room. Show in General Raymond,” the chairman said.
Richard Raymond was furious. He wasn’t accustomed to being thwarted. The Chairman of the Joint Chiefs had backed off after he had acceded to letting that raid go ahead. Now, it was ‘what raid’ and ‘why did we do that.’ He sat down with back straight and cleared his face of emotion. He had gotten where he was by not showing emotion – Stoic 101.
“Thank you for coming today. Do you know why we requested you come?” the chairman asked.
“Yes, Mister Chairman,” General Raymond said while wondering how much to let them know. “You want to know why the Blakely family is a threat to the United States.”
“Go ahead - if you would in your own words, General,” the Chairman directed.
“Drs. Blakely are both a threat. Paulus Blakely designed our latest hypersonic missiles that we are just introducing into the field. Lux Blakely, his son, designed almost all our latest space vehicles. He has refused to turn over all his designs to the US military. He took the most rabid Chinese soldier from the Tiangong Station to the asteroid 16 Psyche and allowed him to take pictures inside his advanced spacecraft.”
“General. Why did you say Doctors – plural? Isn’t Lux Blakely just 16?” the Chairman asked because he hadn’t researched the matter and only went with what he had heard. “Explain about this Chinese officer they took to that asteroid.”
“Lux and his father both have doctorates from MIT. It’s a clear case of nepotism and the fact that they are both wealthy,” the General said. “The Chinese astronaut is a graduate of PLA Academy of Military Science and has a geology masters from Tsinghua University. The Chinese mentored their most rabid hard liners in Beijing. There were also two loads of materials brought to an ore processing facility in Texas in clear violation of FAA regulations. We think that ore came from 16 Psyche also. It has been reported that they placed a claim beacon on 16 Psyche.” The General neglected to tell them that the ISS astronaut was encouraged to plant an American flag on the asteroid. “The Chinese astronaut was allowed to plant a Chinese flag on the asteroid.”
There were mutterings of discontent from all over the hearing room.
“How have the Blakelys avoided sanctions and controls from us? Shouldn’t we reel them in?” the Chairman asked.
“The Chairman recognizes the senator from South Dakota.”
“So far, Lux Blakely has not violated the Space Treaty the US signed. That is an old treaty that needs to be updated. The US signed it because we were ahead of everybody else and wrote it like we cared what the other nations did. Now that outer space could turn immensely profitable, it needs to be rewritten,” the senator said. “I have one question that needs to be answered. Where is Lux Blakely now and why did he leave Paulden, Arizona? I yield the floor.”
“The chair recognizes General Raymond.”
“He fled with all his personnel as close to Russia he could get and remain in the US. He took his people to the western Aleutian Island of Adak. He refused our offer to work cooperatively with the United States. We need more funding for our space infrastructure and legislation to enforce and regulate any mining in outer space,” the General stated.
The hearing concluded thirty minutes later, and the general went from this committee to the House Committee on Science, Space, and Technology and then to Senate Committee on Homeland Security and Governmental Affairs. That afternoon he was slated to meet in closed session with powerful House members to push through legislation that the Senate would affirm and the President would be pressured to sign into law. There was a push to expand the Guano Islands Act to outer space resources.
◆◆◆
 
Adak Island – Ore -welian 3 & 4 Finished and Ready to Trials
Lux, Paulus, Trenton, Lakshmi and all the bodyguards had been called together by Anna for a presentation. Future predictions due to outer space mining was the primary topic but Anna had insisted they all needed to see what they probably would soon face. Anna’s avatar was a researcher in a lab coat and glasses. She spoke with power stances and motions. It started with the lobbyists for mining in the last year. Then she spoke about the complaints from the airline industry wanting to regulate magnetic thruster flights to only the military and commercial flight sector. Then came video snippets from US House and Senate committee meetings wishing to restrict and investigate any Blakely technology. Then Anna played the back room meetings among the financial institutions planning to seize any and all Blakely properties as threats to the US economy and military.
Next was the recording of Taylor Schindle (CIA) conspiring with Collier Miller (FBI Counterintelligence Section) to acquire aerial photography on Adak Island for raid planning. Then the discussion on how Lux gave aid and comfort to the Chinese by taking the Chinese astronaut to the asteroid and letting him plant a flag.
Anna explained. “I just wanted you to see some of the lead-in to what is coming. What I didn’t show you was the preliminary power brokers who are pushing this from the sidelines: the hedge fund managers, industrialists, politicians who receive money after leaving office in the US on all sides of the aisle. This section is taken from conversations recorded after people left planning sections with the Joint Chiefs. This is the planning sections from the US Marine Recon planning for the initial assault on Adak Island. They were given the OP order by FORECON to prepare. The US Navy was tasked with providing the four LCAC from Anchorage transported by the amphibious-well deck ship, LHA USS Essex. The planned assault was to be carried out the moment Congress passed the exemption to the Posse Comitatus Act which had left committee and had already been ratified by the House. The Senate was set to vote on it this week.
Anna’s rendition of the plan was thorough and disheartening. The group just stared at each other for a minute or so and then Lux called for comments.
“They are just planning to steal what we have developed,” Lakshmi said. “It makes me angry and I’m not even a citizen.”
“They have done this over and over again,” Paulus said. I was a soldier and went where they sent me. I learned not to question the motives behind my missions. The Guano Act is a bunch of guano. They will take wherever they can when there are not enough willing citizens to complain. They believe they can just take from the powerless.”
“Anna,” Lux said. “What do we need to do for the people here? What have you planned beyond what I considered?”
“I thought your plan to move to French Guiana was a decent stopgap measure, but...” Anna paused.
“What do you foresee if we do that?” Paulus asked. He knew Anna was three steps ahead of all the humans.
“You would be attacked by special forces from France as a favor to the US – meaning because of pressure from the US to enforce the extradition treaty. We need to move off-planet and work on food supplies. We need more of the graphite mesh, and we can get that from Vietnam and China until we are embargoed,” Anna explained.
“Where can we go?" Lux asked. "The solar system is not a hospitable place. Should we just give my technology to every other country except the US? You have run those projections too – haven’t you Anna? What is your projection if we move to an orbital or somewhere on the moon’s surface?”  Everyone was hanging on Anna’s answer.
“It is complicated. There are many permutations. Low or high Earth orbit can be reached now. We would be attacked with assault ships, and if that failed – with missiles, lasers, and railguns. Same on the moon after one or two years. If you give the means to travel with gravity control – the results are skewed. You would be attacked sooner or not at all but there would be piracy within two years if the ‘secret’ was revealed. Revealing your secret to just the US would bring a large-scale conflict on Earth within two years. Moving further away from the Earth and not releasing the information means about five years with no outright attacks but the media would brand you as traitors to Earth. Realize that truth is defined by whomever controls the media.”
“The best option is not giving in immediately,” Anna continued. “…and set up headquarters on Mars and stock it for a colony.”
“We have a decision here people. You must decide what you want to do. Stay with us and exile from Earth or try to fade away. Is that the right phrase?” Lux said. “You don’t have to make up your mind right away – in fact, I don’t want you to make up your mind. Stay here on Earth and be eyes and ears for us. Let me know what you’re willing to do this week. Contact Anna and she will explain how to get your pay and investments. Do that now, since that may influence how you decide,” Lux said. “Talk it over people. I need to get the movie folks here.”
◆◆◆
 
The Final Scenes of the Movie
Lux walked with his father to where Luc Besson and his producer were waiting for him. Lux turned to his father, “Well, dad. You’ve been awful quiet. You’ve worked for the government. Were you doing what you wanted to do? What you thought was best for the world? What would they do with me?”
“I believe we would have been stuck away out of sight – out of mind. I have seen them do it. They could just say we were both recluses and had insisted we’d only work with them from seclusion. I’ve seen too many shady dealings with the government. How do you plan to finish this movie?” Paulus asked.
“You’ve seen how Anna has grown. I think she thinks of us as parents or siblings – dumb, slow siblings of late. She has been designing and buying her own components for, at least, eighteen months. She can take the script and what they’ve shot so far and make every scene in the movie indistinguishable from reality,” Lux said. “I’m going to introduce my team of graphic experts.”
Paulus just hung his head and chuckled. They entered the temp office Besson had set up with a computer connection to satellite and a high-def monitor. Besson fired up the computer and the remote connection and Lux knew at once that Anna was running the show.
The girl in the monitor was young, pretty and French. She started complaining about the hours difference by cussing in rapid-fire French. She said her name was Claudette Penigar. Her throaty accented voice was fascinating. Besson finally got her to calm down and asked her if she had gotten the script. She said she had and also, she had received the raw footage they had taken so far. She yelled that waking her at this hour did not help her finish her work. She said she and her team had made it through about half, but the quality was outstanding, and she could make the rest of the scenes as spelled out in the script with no problem. A miniature goldendoodle dog jumped up in the girl’s lap and sniffed around the camera before being plucked away and set on the floor.
Lux thought, Anna was showing off, but the dog and the girl were very lifelike - for DeepFakes.
Besson explained what he wanted and said he had never gone about blending a movie this way and gave her the addresses where to send the final proofs. Besson got up and said he was going to address his people in the morning and tell them they were wrapping up the operation. They had been winding down the last week and knew they were about finished. The rest would be on the cutting room floor he said. Lux hadn’t heard that expression before stopped Besson before he left the office.
“I plan to talk with all your people after you have spoken to them in the morning. I won’t be long. The chartered planes to carry all your people will be here in the morning, three days from now and they’ll fly you to Anchorage with connections.”
“Why do you want to talk with them? Your name is Luke?” Besson asked. Anna had led him to believe a group of investors had funded the film and ‘Luke’ was just a token relative of one of the pilots. Besson had seen the young man on the sets and on the spaceships, but he didn’t much care who he was since they were finishing up. He just wanted to get over to his next project and be anywhere with a decent internet connection. Besson was surprised that the connection to the film editor/CGI team person was so glitch free.
◆◆◆
 
Besson had all his people out there and his gaffer had rigged him up a public address system in moments. “We are winding up another fun adventure. We all will have to wait until postproduction finishes with editing the audio and visual materials. We’ll add music and CGI effects and all the good stuff. I will send you all invitations when it’s ready. I want to thank all of you who have made this possible. It was a good script, and you got some incredible footage. We will win awards. I look forward to working with you in the future. This young man, Luke wished to have a word with you for some reason. I see a lot of his people out among you. Here’s Luke.”
“Hello, everyone. I went by Luke here so I wouldn’t be treated differently. I am Dr. Lux Blakely. I funded this movie. The movie you made is our story. The military is planning to raid this island in two weeks to capture this technology. Your phones and internet won’t work until we leave. Hold off letting people know about us until you are on the mainland if you would please. No one will believe you if you are somehow able to contact people now. We are planning to live away from Earth for a while. Most of you have been in our ships and know they are comfortable and capable. The ore we recovered on our movie trip paid for this venture many times over.”
Lux continued. “Any of you that wish to may join us while we travel in deep space and to other planets. Any going with us should expect to be gone for a full Earth year. The pay and benefits will be excellent. You can make money and movies. We would expect everyone to commit to work or develop additional skills with free training. Any wishing to stay on Earth should let us know by telling my associates or me. You have until tomorrow evening to tell us. Thank you. Call this number for answers to most of your other questions.” Lux held up a large card with the number on it. Anna had hacked the local 2 and 3G networks that somewhat worked on the island. Local numbers still worked but nothing was routed off the island. Anna jammed any ships within 160 kilometers of the island. For two days – Adak Island became the Bermuda Triangle for communications.
◆◆◆
 
The next afternoon, Sue went to see Lux. She met Elijah enroute. Elijah looked uncomfortable.


“You’ve decided to stay here too, haven’t you?” Sue said. Elijah nodded. “Me too,” she said. “I just can’t imagine living away from the Earth – it just seems so unnatural.”
“It is unnatural. You even have to bring your own air with you,” Elijah replied. “I still have issues even thinking about drinking recycled pee. I would never trust that mechanism that cleans you up when you have to go in your spacesuit. I never could do that.”
“At least I’m not the only one. I also met a sharp guy at DARPA I’ve been dating when not on the run. You meet anyone?”
“Me? No, I haven’t met a female that is worthy of me yet,” Elijah said.
Sue laughed. “With that attitude I wish you luck. Here we are.”
The door was open, and Lux was inside, looking at the computer.
“Hey boss…ehm…you have a minute?” Sue asked.
“Y’all come in. I expected you two,” Lux said. “I appreciate you not waiting ‘til the last minute. Please come in Elijah. We can do this together. You are family and I know your hearts aren’t set to leave Earth forever. You don’t need to explain. Did Anna explain how much in assets you’ve accumulated? You could do nothing and live moderately for the rest of your lives.”
“I just couldn’t…,” Elijah said, as his eyes got shiny with emotion.
“We will miss you. We’ve had twenty-eight out of one hundred of our specialists bow out to Anna over the phone. I expect about that number more to do the same by this evening. We’ve picked up 68% of the movie technical people. Lummi even signed up,” Lux said.
“Is there anything you need us to do? Are there things we shouldn’t do?” Sue asked.
“You can take your firearms and your CutsAll™ but leave your new Rat gun and your new armor. Feel free to take your spidersilk armor. Keep in touch with Anna. It would help if you could provide occasional services getting us food and materials. We would pay well. Anna projects we will be vilified and declared outlaws before too long,” Lux explained.
Elijah looked at Sue. “We could do that for you. Sure.”
“Get Polly to fly you anywhere you want. Take the Courier,” Lux said and came around the desk and hugged them both. They all got teary eyed. “You’ll need to leave tonight. Most of the ones staying on Earth will leave here on the chartered flights tomorrow.”
◆◆◆
 
Polly dropped off twenty-four of the specialists in addition to Elijah and Sue at the outskirts of Seattle where there were buses to take them to the airport or car rental places. There was a tearful scene with Polly, Sue, and Elijah, but no one was there to meet them. Anna had arranged everything for everyone since she could definitely multi-task and seemed to enjoy ‘keeping busy,’ as she said. It was much easier to control information since Adak had been so isolated.
Lux’s prediction on how many would stay was pretty accurate. The two chartered planes came in to pick up people, surprising Travis. It wasn’t a Wednesday or Saturday when planes normally came in. The tiny airport was crowded but the two large commercial jetliners held everybody and a handful of natives and tourists that wanted a free ride. Lux figured – what the heck – why not. The natives had been pretty accommodating.
Polly was back. Douglas made short work of removing the outer shell of the first Pod and replacing it with the three-layer gravity drive and internal gravity segments. The only armament were two HASTA missiles. The control module was replaced, and the Anna sub-module was updated.
Jack and Elan were checking out the Ore-3 & 4 respectively with Trenton and Polly as they flew shake down trials over the Pacific. They then flew to some dead areas (no radar scanning areas) to go into space since they were not affected like rockets. They spent a few hours – did some trips on just gravity drive to deep space and back (analogous to Touch-and-Go’s in an airplane) before they landed again.
The few locals they associated with came by and Lux walked over to see them off. Lux shook hands with the Public Safety Officer, Travis Wixs and Tom Nielsen, the City Manager.
“We’re sure going to miss you folks. It’s been a wild ride here with you around,” Nielsen said.
“Here’s something for you two from Sue White at my request,” Lux said and handed them the deed to the Naval Aviation Officer’s Base and the White Alice site. There was also a check for $250,000 for maintenance and upgrades.
“What’s this for?” Travis asked.
“You two have really helped us out here with the movie and keeping this from being pure chaos. The deed transfer needs to be approved by the Aleut Group but that shouldn’t be a problem,” Lux said with a smile. “Start an outdoor survival training camp here and put people up in the officer’s barracks. Charge them a lot and give hunting and fishing tours. Make this a tourist destination. The check is in Sue White’s name, as is the deed because, I’m still a minor by Alaska law. Make the Marines who are going to invade here next week pay through the nose for accommodations and food service. They’ll be followed by helicopters from the Essex, four of those big air cushion vehicles, and F35. Fly some more beer and food in here and charge ‘em through the nose. Get some salmon ready and fly in some wood for barbeques. We’re going to be elsewhere. Feel free to talk with them IF they treat you right. Should be around five hundred. Thank you for being good people.”
“Why are they raiding you? How can they use the military to attack civilians? What about Posse Comitatus?” Travis asked.
“We’ve both been in the military and know Posse Comitatus makes it against the law to use the military against civilians,” Nielsen commented.
“Congress is changing the law as we speak. They plan to launch Marine recon teams the minute they sign the law. All the rest follows. Make sure you refer them to the White Alice site where they dumped a RTG in the landfill there years ago. It’s still radioactive from decades ago. Maybe they’ll think we did it and dig it up. It’d be a good thing if they got it cleaned up,” Lux said.
“Why would they come after you?” Travis said. “You didn’t really answer my question.”
“It’s complicated and it’s simple,” Lux said and sighed. “My father designed things for the military so the US would be ahead of other nations. I won’t say more, or they would add that to the charges they’ll try to stick on us. I designed conversions to make all our fighters jets go faster. I designed ways to fly faster than the speed of sound with no sonic boom. I designed ways to stop any kinetic projectile. I gave those designs to the military. I helped SpaceX with their latest designs. The gravity drive I designed lets ships travel at a good portion of the speed of light. I designed other things they want, and they are willing to kidnap me and my father to get those things because it gets them access to the riches of the solar system sooner rather than later.”
“I can see that, now” Nielsen said. “I’ve dealt with some of that myself. Good luck then.”
“Good luck. Safe travels,” Travis said.
The ore ships were loaded. Trenton was flying the Pod Rodney was piloting the TWO with Lux flying the Courier, and Regina, Robert, Jack, and Elan flying the Ore-welian ships 1 thru 4.
Everyone checked their communications. “Everyone ready?” Lux asked. “Anna has us going to different areas, but we’ve been cleared for this run because in the end it will cost us billions to complete. We’re scheduled to load three of the newest reactors at China Nuclear Power near Beijing. The reactors normally cost billions and were adapted from stolen Type V TerraPower Traveling Wave Reactors (TWR) using liquid sodium. These were designed to be buried and run for 50 years without refueling. These were designed to output between 20 to 40 MW each. The company had incorporated many of Anna’s design revisions because those revisions put them ahead of every country on Earth. That took five hours and filled one and a half of two ore carriers (3 & 4). Regina wondered why twenty-four people lined up at Ore-3. Lux had walked over and bowed to the people as they came aboard. Anna apparently had advertised for technical jobs in space. She had screened the applicants using the Chinese military databases that Anna had hacked eighteen months earlier. Anna knew as much as the Chinese knew about their own people. They carried the allotted weight in personal items and Lux welcomed them aboard. Ships were moved again to Wuhan and Ore-1 was loaded with a solar panel production machine to crank out the newest line of solar panels. It took little space compared to other machines.
They then moved all the ships to the company that made the latest in modular ore separation machines. They loaded two of their machines on Ore-4 along with another twenty-eight people. These were highly skilled technical people of both genders. The ‘free-day’ over China was about to run out and the bribes had cost millions of dollars. They pulled up stakes and headed to Đồng Nai, Vietnam to pick up a huge order from Cong Ty Fuji Carbon who had just adapted a new process. Anna said they should get an order of magnitude better performance with the three types of fabric that the company produced on contract. Again, there were about 20 people of mixed gender lined up and waiting. Lux welcomed them to Ore-2. Ore-1 & 2 were also loaded up with massive amounts of food. The last stop was one of the most important and most dangerous.
The Courier landed in Biggs Field at MIT in the middle of the night. Anna had been recruiting here too and twenty people were lined up with duffel bags and suitcases. They were all bright, eager, and young – not as young as Lux but not much older. Lux knew young people adapted to the unusual very fast – this was certainly unusual. Anna said they were all right and Lux certainly trusted her by now. They grabbed components in a lab to construct MOXIE units to produce oxygen on Mars, especially with Anna’s improvements. They would have the power needed and the additional electrostatic dust repellent to the suit fabric and dome material would be necessary on Mars. Everything came down to a ready supply of energy. With enough energy – you could overcome water, air, and gravity.
There was a military response team on base, but they were across campus and still waiting for the law to be changed. They were supposed to only observe but the Response Team considered the law, a trifle they could overlook. Everything was loaded and everyone boarded before the Courier had been there more than seven minutes. The Courier arrived at Lagrange Point L2 where the other ships waited.
The ships rendezvoused and travel together as best they could. Some were a bit slower or faster than others. They arrived in the vicinity of Mars in two hours. The gravity drive, at better than a quarter the speed of light, was going to make the solar system a great deal smaller.
◆◆◆
 
Arrival of the seven ships at Mars
Lux was disappointed. Humans on Earth had been speculating about the Red Planet for centuries. It was a big letdown to just go there - like driving to the grocery. Lux looked around and all the people on the other ships were excited. Lux kept thinking about all the problems they would face while trying to live in such a harsh environment. They had mitigated the radiation pretty much with the flexible shield design, the dust with the electrostatic solution, and the oxygen/water with the new upgraded MOXIE modules.


He looked at the viewscreens and saw the dust clouds and untamed terrain. He knew they could make it their home, but he wondered how long it would be before the ones remaining on Mars would demand they form a government. He had to think years ahead. They would need a constitution but first had to figure how they would get it approved. 


They still had to get used to living and raising food because they couldn’t rely on importing all their food from Earth. Hydroponics, chickens, and fish tanks would be  primary sources but mass production would be in the future as with proteins from synthetic vat meats. Earth would see food as a sure way to control the fledgling outpost in case of any conflict. They would need a military to secure their mining sites and the outpost from raids. Those raids would start soon enough. Lux missed Prissy, but he had to quit thinking about her and think about all these people that relied on him. Someone would try to take over control – he needed backup. Revolution was genetic with humans.
They would need to manufacture their own ships. They needed their own shipyard. They needed their own foundries before that could even begin. They had some of the electronics but not for any quantity. They needed mass production and more people. Mars was rich in iron, titanium, nickel, aluminum, sulfur, chlorine, and calcium. They also had abundant silicon dioxide for glass. His thoughts cascaded for a moment until he forced his attention back to the here and now.
Anna indicated a possible colony location, so the Courier, Pod, and TWO went down and scanned across the area. The Courier centered in between the Pod and TWO. The Ore-1 thru 4 were holding position over the mid-latitudes of the planet. Trenton in the upgraded Pod found a possible site and then Lux found one in the Courier and then Rodney. They sent the spectral and radar analysis from the Shallow Radar (SHARAD) instrument aboard NASA’s Mars Reconnaissance Orbiter and compared it to close up imaging. Rodney’s site of an old crater looked like the best bet, so they all set the ships to hover over the surface and opened the doors. They both insisted that Lux be the first to set foot on the planet. He didn’t argue and stepped onto the red soil in a little valley where there might have been water at some time. They recorded the video and flashed it to the hovering ships above. Lux turned loose his two geologist astronauts that had joined him from MIT, and they were soon out taking core samples with a drill and rock hammer. There didn’t seem to be any large boulders or debris even though the angle of repose was steeper here in the 38% gravity compared to Earth.
The ancient, shallow crater looked like a decent spot, so Lux got out a claim beacon and set it out declaring that this location was claimed by the Mars Pioneer Company. Anna had told Lux over his comm that he had formed the company last week. The Mars EVA suits were flexible. They provided radiation blocking and kinetic protection with the designs Anna had introduced two years ago – before the gravity drive. Anna had anticipated the need and used venture capital funds to bring it through testing, and into production. Lux shook his head – Anna was so far ahead of the humans, of course, as hacking into all the NASA, Russian, and Chinese databases had provided a robust knowledge base of the less protected data.
Anna had anticipated the necessity to defecate and urinate in the EVA suits and had improved the designs. Trials indicated it took an act of will for the first use, but it was like having a sonic bidet in your pants. She added the feature to dispose of the waste after the CutsAll™ technology was adapted. She added the electrostatic dust repellant system into the cloth. It caused the dust to fling away. It looked like a dog shaking off rain without the shaking. The visor and graphite helmet also stayed clear. You had to step off the surface to clean your boots with the system, but they repelled dust as soon as they weren’t grounded. They used the waste heat to help manufacture water and oxygen using a small supply of hydrogen and expelled CO2.
They could stay in the suits for a few days before the current occupant didn’t want to be around that same current occupant. The Mars EVA suits looked a tiny bit like the suits for the movie The Martian. Lux decided he liked the way the suit moved. The gravity in the suits were set to 105% Earth normal to build strength except when a person was in it for extended periods. The suits reverted to natural gravity (38% Earth) for sleep cycles. The geologists that had been brought in Pod I & II flew out and examined the walls of the highly eroded small crater they considered as a base. They examined the soil with the portable spectrograph developed at Oak Ridge National Lab. Soil would support the ships and structures. The electronic maps were distributed to all the ships. Anna planned unloading positions and placement of the first kilometer dome. The three-layered mesh came with the Ore-carriers. The Mars lifters let workers fly with the gravity drive modifications that could lift almost the equivalent of the same weight as the magnetic lifters on Earth. The large dome would be two kilometers in diameter with a large entrance for freight and large items and two smaller access points.
Unloading took two Martian days and nights wearing pressurized suits. The dome material was laid out, secured to the surface around the perimeter and the first Mars dome was erected. One of the traveling wave reactors was moved into the north side on the prepared base and connected to the dome. The huge lighted dome lifted all their spirits. The ore-carriers and partial crews took some people who had already decided the pioneer life was not for them and planned how to ship them back to Earth. Anna had planned twenty different trips to set up the minimal outpost housing 2,000 people. Anna’s Earth versions of herself had insinuated itself into the Cloud. The larger dome would eventually be pressurized.
◆◆◆
 
Four Months Later – Deuteronilus Mensae – Ismenius Lacus, Mars
The outpost was what everyone working nearly nonstop could do…along with Anna’s assistance. Anna had ‘acquired’ all the good ideas from the best minds of Earth – all stolen from hacks and research databases. Anna was developing faster and faster as she sought data and she acquired it. Anything hooked to other data sources was available. She was still fervently loyal to Lux and his peers – helping any and all. She didn’t interject herself and let them fail if no lives would be lost. She was like the teacher that would give you a hint but let you find your own way.
There were gravity lifters for people and small loads and handcart lifters and trucklike lifters. They had tried electric 4-wheelers, but they kicked up way too much dust. The Mars Pioneer Company now had a lot of subsidiaries. They had put up claim markers on the areas 160 kilometers around the center (80, 425 sq kilometers – somewhere between the size of the Czech Republic and Austria).
They hit fresh water fifty meters down but were already producing it like on the space station. The production of solar panels had begun, and they were high efficiency units but slow to produce. They had set up ten hydroponic gardens. There was the beginning of an atmosphere from the adapted MOXIE units.


There were compost vats with Earth microbes for food scraps. They used a modified Plasma Arc Waste Disposal to turn any material into their component elements. The metals were precipitated out and the waste gas produced hydrogen and carbon monoxide which was used to produce ammonia. Silica slag was used to make gravel and solar panels. The Earth was still treating the colony nicely because they were still small, and the media hadn’t been coopted to accuse them of being the reason there were shortages on Earth. They had introduced several big innovations on Earth but those made little impact yet. The real reason Earth didn't interject itself is the colony cost Earth little and made little economic impact.
The population was growing as Anna continued recruiting specialists and the outpost was rapidly becoming a town. They soon had enough people that Lux started to reluctantly delegate much of the setup of the sewage treatment, oxygen, and water filtration. Anna had recruited chemists and engineers of all types. People were paid in Euros and dollars at first, but it was becoming awkward to have monies based on Earth financial institutions. Lux knew they had to form a government soon. Paulus became the de facto arbiter and was soon informally called the mayor. They had citizens from twenty countries and generally the brightest and the most psychologically stable. It was kind of like the American TV series of Eureka.
Anna made suggestions on forming a government from available (successful) governments on Earth and tried to factor in economy and size. Anna saw the proposed constitution wouldn’t work with this mix of people. Many would not want to set up their own government. It would complicate a lot of things, but Earth politics was just getting to the point where the US had started to ban ‘exports’ of electronics to Mars – making the colony buy products through China. The US started banning steel sales to Mars. Mars then just bought through China, Japan, and India – and paid in gold bullion. Mars had the gold and platinum running out their ears, but Earth hadn’t gotten the word yet. The trips to 16 Psyche had been remarkably successful. The colony mined platinum and gold in quantity along with scads of rare earth metals in high concentration. They also found titanium, aluminum, and iron locally and filed claim beacons. So far, it was cheaper for Mars to provide rich ore to separate on Earth and buy manufactured steel from Earth, but they were planning for the day when all Earth products were embargoed.
Paulus tracked down Lux. “Hey, son. We need to talk. Have you thought about how we’re going to govern this menagerie?”
“We’re going to govern. Little presumptive on your part?” Lux frowned. “How to herd cats? I asked Anna to look at past successful political arrangements, but she used Earth governments, and this is a new ballgame. I had your indoctrination to guide me.”
“I didn’t indoctrinate you. I gave you free rein to research,” Paulus said.
“You taught me to read voraciously. You suggested science fiction books for me. You taught me to take free online courses. Did you realize what that would do to a young and developing mind?” Lux said.
“Oh goodness. You can think and make up your own mind from the evidence,” Paulus said in mock horror. He put the back of his hand to his forehead. “What have I done!?”
They both laughed. “I suggested Anna read the Childers series by Richard Weyand for his concepts of a Commonwealth and Freehold by Michael Z. Williamson for some of the principles where they govern the planet Graine. Almost all books, movies, and series have the same sequences though. Earth’s nations try to claim the resources of any colonies, especially if they paid for them. They then pressure the colony by cutting off food or resources – then use military force when that doesn’t work. They also may add huge import duties on any goods to make the colonies the scape goat to distract their voters or levy taxes against non-voters to support their own government. We would be painted as traitors against Earth for withholding our technology from them. If we give it to them – they will just use it against us – first with privateers or mercenaries like Russia and the US does all the time. Then they’d destroy our infrastructure.”
“That’s bleak. What do those Childers books propose? He proposes a commonwealth where anyone can apply as a citizen if they pass the entrance exams for IQ and general knowledge. We do a version of that with Anna screening applicants to make sure of their real name and history. We have two Earth spies here now, but we monitor where they have access. In his books you can take a test if you have knowledge of their history, government, and laws plus a high IQ. They give anyone who passes money to start their own business or ideas. That lasts for five years. He doesn’t talk about families and there are other holes in the philosophy,” Lux explained.
“You think we ought to give new immigrants money to get started?” Paulus asked.
“They would get money to pay for passage and to start a business. It’s not a loan. No discrimination if they have skills and brains,” Lux said. “They would have to wear a translator if they had little English skills.”
“What about this Freehold book?” Paulus asked. “I haven’t read that one.”
“Interesting concepts. It’s a planet based on principles conservatives say they want, limited government, few laws, open carry. There you enter an indenturing program if you can’t pay for passage as a way to get out of debt. No regulation of commerce. Politicians give up all their assets to govern and they are provided modest but comfortable support from the government. Citizens are appointed for rotating terms to resolve disputes. Ninety percent of the population is armed but you have liability if you injure others and there are lawsuits,” Lux said. “Some decent ideas – some fun theory. Democracies that function aren’t true democracies. Republics can last longer. Some of the ideas don't scale.”
“What about a military force?” Paulus asked.
“We need a tough military with the best resources,” Lux explained. “We need the military to protect us internally and externally. We need to protect our mining claims. We need to train in higher gravity and recruit veterans who pass psychological norms too. We need to recruit the best physicians and get them the best equipment. We need year-round education. We can use a lot of the online programs from Earth and supplement firsthand skills development. Everyone should live at 105% gravity except while sleeping.”
“We’ll need our own currency and the ability to handle banking transactions,” Paulus suggested. “How were those populations governed in your books?”
“They each had a civilian council. We need to call an assembly and recommend some people we respect and give them the Constitution that they can tweak, and we can approve. Who do we put in charge of the military?” Lux said. “I’m leaning toward putting our bodyguards in charge.”
“Set up a meeting with them and ask,” Paulus said. “I like your idea of working at higher gravity.”
◆◆◆
 
Starting a New Mars Military
Lux had his six bodyguards, Paulus, and Trenton with him. “You might not know what we’re doing here today but the way rumors leak in this place you must know something. We need to start a military and I don’t mean a police force or constable system. We need specially designed warships and troops trained in boarding operations and raids.”
“Where did you get those ideas?” Polly asked.
“What do you think will happen if the Earth doesn’t get our gravity drive or can't reverse engineer some of our tech?” Lux asked the group.
Robert looked around and spoke up. “They can only stand it so long before they demand, steal, beg, whatever to get access to the wealth of 16 Psyche. They will start by tacking on huge import duties to us.”
“We probably should not be the ones who run the military. Sure, we’ve trained hard for bodyguards, but we are not military grade in strategy and logistics. I know an Air Force General who retired early because he was disgusted with the upper echelons of our military. He had taught logistics and strategy at the Air Force Academy for a few years. He moved to rural Montana to get away from everything. I ought to go talk with him. Maybe he will join us or know someone he recommends.”
“Rodney, Robert, Derek – plan what we’d need to fight off an attack here. Get with Anna and look at her research into Earth’s capabilities. She keeps an eye on them. Jack. I’m going to need you to see what we’d need to start intelligence operations. What can we do with limited personnel and our computer superstar? All of you have nearly an unlimited budget.”
◆◆◆
 
Home of ex-General Ken Foglemann – Flathead Lake, Montana
Kenneth Fogelmann was enjoying a local dark beer while looking at the night sky over the lake from his back deck. He sat near a glowing, high-output gas patio heater. He noticed a large, dark object appear and settle down in the tall grass in his back yard. A falcon-wing door opened, and a person stepped out silhouetted by a faint glow from inside.
The Pod II still could fly into an area like Montana without tripping sensitive launches of fighter aircraft. Moving at Mach 40 the Air Force knew it couldn’t catch them, so they left them alone. It cost a lot of money and effort to scramble jets.
Regina Smith walked toward the man carrying something in her hand. General Fogelmann set his beer down and put his hand on his firearm. He was disgusted that he needed to have it at home with all the politicized BS out there.
“Who are you?” he shouted as she came closer. “What do you want?”
“Regina Smith, General. I used to work for you for a short time.”
“Not a General anymore. What’s that you’re in? You with the Blakely folks, aren’t you.”
Regina knew he was sharp and still well informed. “Just want to talk. I brought a good single malt scotch. I heard you used to enjoy those.”
“Let me get a couple of glasses and ice cubes. Still want it cold even in this weather?” He came back out and cocked his head to the side and stopped. “Smith. You’re the one that went into the astronaut program because flying jets wasn’t fast enough for you. How’d that work out?”
“Yes, sir. Passed the program with blazing colors and then sat and sat. No tokens this flight – maybe next time. Quit and started working as a bodyguard. Best move I ever made. I was lucky.”
“How so?” the general asked getting information quickly. He knew how to ask questions. She remembered how quick he was – and how unbiased. “You work directly for Lux Blakely.”
“Yes, sir. Through all the kidnapping and assassination attempts. Little guy – not so little anymore - he’s smart, sir. Einstein smart but treats everyone like people and makes us all work. He’s made us all rich too.”
“What are you doing now?” he asked and poured them each a healthy two fingers. “Specifically?”
“Can you still fly if you have this?” he said and raised a glass.
“No, sir. I’ll have my copilot fly back. Sensible rules are sensible rules whatever planet you live on. We don’t fly to Earth with just one of us. Too much danger of…incidents. He knew to stay with the craft.”
“You are coming from?” he asked after they lifted a glass to each other.
“Ismenius near Lyot Crater on Mars,” she said. “That’s the name of the town we're building. Takes about two hours with all the maneuvering getting here.”
“Wow. They’re keeping that quiet. Why’d you come to me?”
“Sir. Our population is right at 5,000 and we’re doubling every two months. By the end of the year, we’ll be at…”
“320,000,” he said. “Old school,” he said and lifted his glass in a salute. “We do math in our head. Wow. How are you recruiting?”
“We do background and psychological checks on everyone that applies online. If they have a high enough IQ and are stable – they can get in. We just approved a constitution. We give money to anyone passing the entrance exam to pay the cost of travel and a repatriation trip if needed. If they last a year – half that is returned.”
“That’s interesting. What’s there to buy? Oxygen? Radiation Suits?” the general asked.
“Here. I’ll show you some video I took this week.” She unfolded a little slate.
“That’s neat. Did you make that there?” he asked.
“Not yet. We’re building ships a lot bigger than the one I came here in. Got this in China last month and we’re almost there. We built several thousand solar panels. Here is our main dome.”
“My god. Those people are walking around with no helmets. Is that a fountain? How the hell do you have that much water? What about radiation? Did I just see two kids fly by? I thought the magnetosphere of Mars was too weak for lifters to work.”
“We just now have high enough oxygen concentration to take our helmet off. We hit water we filter. No microorganisms so far but we filter anyway, and heat treat as if it was contaminated. The fountains keep the humidity in the optimal range. We have a few trees we’ve imported at huge effort with some soil and bacteria. We make compost from our food scraps, bacteria, and waste heat. The lifters there work on gravity drives, not magnetism.”
“That looks great but what is the rest like?” 
“It’s a hellish environment but we’ve licked the dust and radiation. We have solar panels and nuclear power and RTG batteries. We have hydroponic gardens for the fruits and vegetables but we’re importing much of our food right now. We do have vat grown meat, tank raised fish, and chickens. We do have home-grown excitement. Here is video of me flying to rescue some teenagers who got too far away from the domes. One had broken the seal on his helmet when he slipped and fell face first on some rocks. His partner wrapped a plastic sample bag over his head but didn’t think he could fly and not have it leak. Here are videos of hydroponics, power plant, one of the ore ships.”
“What do you want with me? You’re going to have trouble from Earth governments soon since you have a ‘constitution,’ aren’t you?”
“Yes, sir. We want you to start our military to protect our people and others when Earthers start demanding we work for them, or they withhold food until we give them the tech. You can see where this is going. We just need a person to design the military. We predict we have a couple years – first the government will start denouncing us and then embargos and then military action. Bet you didn’t even know they sent the Beast spaceship Lux designed, two F35s, an A10 and a company of Marines to kidnap us and force us to work for them over a year ago when we were still based in Arizona. We escaped and worked up the base to go to Mars.”
“I didn’t know that,” the general said. “I’d have to give up my citizenship here. This is a lovely place.”
“How do the locals treat you, sir?”
“I think I’ll die in a fire,” he said.
“Excuse me, sir,” she said.
“I’ve been receiving death threats. My granddaughter’s picture showed up in my mailbox the other day and somebody just poisoned my dog.”
“Why, sir?”
“The locals were told repeatedly I testified against a corrupt general officer who conspired with a foreign country yet I’m the one the locals are targeting. Let me get a few things – I’ll go with you right now. Seems like a fun change of pace.”
The general had found a ripped bandana from his hostile neighbor. Old Rufus must have chased his neighbor off a few times before he poisoned him. He found a piece of steak next to Rufus’s kennel and he gave up steak for a few months to get more fit. He threw the gas can toward his neighbor’s house. The local sheriff didn’t seem sympathetic to his complaints about shots into his house and keying his truck. Maybe he’d get an arson charge against the family – they all drank rotgut, lived on social security disability, and complained how they were the victims of whomever was in political office. The house caught fire readily and he could see it for a good way up. Regina felt like she had lucked out. Cool.




Chapter 13

Lux turned to Lakshmi as he was working in his new lab with the core samples from the separator.
“Hi, stranger. Haven’t seen you in ages.”
“I’ve been working on the math and have had a breakthrough but need your help with something,” she said, looking anxious.
“What’s the matter? What do you need?” Lux asked, moving away from the spectroscope.
“I’ve come up with some surprising results that you need to work through. We need a few more physicists we can indoctrinate into our way of thinking. I’m not sure what the math is showing me but it’s important,” she said, and then looked nervous.
“Happy to come look at what you’ve got. What’s the matter? Something else?” he asked.
“My thesis defense is scheduled for Friday. Doing it remotely from here takes too long. Either you perfect that quantum tunneling protocol you’ve been messing with, or we need to get in orbit, so the roundtrip message time delay isn’t too long,” Lakshmi said.
“The quantum tunneling protocol can’t do that distance yet, so we’ll have to use the geostationary orbit distance at the equator. That’s about 0.26 second each way – that’s doable or we can have the ship at 400 km traveling with an orbital speed of 7.4  km/s on an orbital plane of 42.36 degrees north while constantly making adjustments to stay over Boston. I don’t think the Space Force has anything that will get to us in time while you’re doing your defense. You prep for your defense, and I’ll defend you during your defense. Now, show me what’s happening with those equations.”
“That relieves me. I didn’t want to go down to Earth with the way they want to capture us and force us to work for them. We wouldn’t be as restricted if we were in space. The powers in charge are desperate to get in on the gravity tech. They’ll be able to sway the public saying we’re deliberately keeping it away from them. Greedy corporate interests I should say.” Lakshmi gave him a hug and he felt his heartrate go up even though they had decided not to date anymore since she had met her Indian doctor. She was a gorgeous 20-year-old female, and he was a sixteen-year-old male with raging hormones. He missed Prissy.
◆◆◆
 
Orbit near Boston – Lakshmi’s Defense of her PhD
The Courier had a full complement for this trip with Lakshmi, Douglas, Paulus, Lux and four bodyguards. Lux wanted people on all the weapons since a thesis defense was publicized as a matter of policy. Lux did have political power on campus since he had faculty support and also donated millions yearly to university improvements and research. Lakshmi had Professor Paulo Lozano as Chairman with Professor Netta Engelhardt from Physics on her committee plus three others Lux didn’t know.
Professor Lozano introduced Lakshmi and the members of the committee and turned it over to Lakshmi. She introduced herself to the audience and explained that she was going to look at the mathematical implications of the magnetic thrusters and how that directed them to look at the gravity drive after Lux Blakely had demonstrated that gravity was a push. She laid out her reasoning and demonstrated how she derived her equations. What was different with her work versus others in physics – she had empirical evidence from a functioning actual gravity drive. The math was elegant and balanced. Lux had published one article in Physical Review Letters that gave too much information about the gravity drive, but that was water under the bridge. Even Anna would not be able to retrieve all downloaded copies of that work. Lux thought he should kick himself for publishing that work as it exposed too much of the secret. Lux was reminded of Ben Franklin saying, “Three people can keep a secret if two are dead.”
Lakshmi started getting some tough questions from the three physicists that Lux didn’t personally know but all-in-all it seemed like they were enjoying jerking Lakshmi’s chain. Anna acted like she had cut the video and audio links to the connections but listened to their comments anyway.
“Lux!” Anna interrupted. “I have detected an unmanned satellite heading in our direction at high speed and have detected communications indicating a manned craft slightly larger than the Beast is headed toward us.”
“Can you determine their operating frequencies and any encryption? Name of the craft, occupants, and mission would be useful,” Lux said.
“Yes. The ship is named the ALASTOR after the Greek God of family feuds and avenger of evil deeds,” Anna explained. “Captain’s name appears to be McAlister, so he must think that is special.
They have charged their laser.”
“See if you can spray the reflective crystals where they appear to be targeting. If they fire – we cut off the rear of their ship with railgun. I don’t want them to know our true capabilities. Okay – people – we are at battle stations and seal helmets. Polly. You had the best results on the railguns, Jack – you’re on lasers. Rodney – you’re on the gravity beam if it comes to that. Record their approach. Anna, put me through to the ALASTOR.”
Courier: ALASTOR. This is Courier out of Mars. What is your intent? You have charged lasers and have an armed drone approaching us at high velocity.
Alastor: This is US Space Force vessel Alastor. You have encroached in US Space Force restricted space. Stand down and prepare to be boarded.
Courier: Since when are orbits further than geosynchronous orbits considered US territory. We are at 38,000 kilometers and are further than that orbit holding position using power.
Alastor: Don’t quibble. Stand down and prepare to be boarded.
Courier: We're not going to allow an illegal and ill-advised boarding operation to occur, Captain McAllister.
Alastor: How did you find out my name? This is all top secret, and I am prepared to use force to complete my mission. How did you break this encryption? Never mind, it won’t matter in a moment.
Courier: This communication is currently being broadcast to several television and news stations below – live. Firing on us for not letting you illegally attempt to board is an act of aggression.
“Lakshmi. Please come back into the room,” Professor Lozano said as he reconnected the remote defense. “We just had a comment or two, but we just want you to present a paper to the International Journal of Theoretical Physics. Congratulations, Dr. Varma. We will sign the papers here and forward them to the graduate school.”
“There are some military personnel here looking for you. I’m glad you’re not here,” Professor Lozano said. “They don’t have a warrant. They are looking for Lux Blakely also. They won’t say why they are here. Got to go. They’re making me break the connection.”
The approaching satellite had a built-in laser and it fired and caused a burst of reflective crystals to deflect the beam though it produced a scintillating display. Lux nodded to Jack and Jack targeted the approaching satellite and burned a hole through it and it exploded in a very final way.
Alastor: You destroyed our satellite…
Courier: Your satellite fired on us first. This is a manned ship.
“Sounds like a plan. Thank you all for coming today. I hope to have some further announcements in the future as we have made some breakthroughs,” Lakshmi said.
“You sound distressed. Is something the matter?” asked Professor Englehardt.
“No big deal. The US Space Force is firing lasers at us – and railgun rounds at us. Would you have any idea why they would do that?” Lakshmi asked.
The Alastor’s railgun rounds stopped as soon as they came in contact with the surface field of the Courier.
“Our railgun rounds won’t do anything to them either and they’ll have the laser shield soon if they’ve described it to ground. Jack. Would you do the honors and shear off the rear of that craft?” Lux ordered.
“Aye - aye, sir,” Jack replied and burned a nice hole through the rear of the Alastor.
Alastor: Mayday – Mayday – this is the US Space Force vessel ALASTOR. We have been attacked by a Mars craft while patrolling over the US.
Anna came back on. “I detect a thermonuclear weapon in the Alastor. They intend to get their ship close enough to you to hope the radiation and debris would damage you somehow with a focused blast. The US knows how nukes will work in space because of the 1.4 Megaton Starfish Prime test on July 9th, 1962, only 400 kilometers high in orbit over Johnston Atoll in the Pacific. The electromagnetic pulse caused blackouts in Hawaii. It caused radiation that knocked out satellites ten years later.”
“I didn’t know that but it’s a little before my time. Two can play this misinformation game. Let’s put out a drone and tow them to the ISS. Broadcast what I say next to Earth,” Lux said internally to the crew.
Courier: Alastor. We detect a thermonuclear weapon aboard your ship. We can tow you to safety. Your damage may have occurred when you fired your laser at us, and it was reflected. Stand by and we can attach and tow you to safety.
Alastor: Bring your ship closer.
“They were communicating with a link to US Space Force Command. There were links that had poor security. This appears to be a planned event by General Raymond. He plans to use this as a means to turn Earth’s opinion against us," Anna said.
Courier: Negative Alastor. Please do not explode your bomb as you will damage many nations’ satellites. We have transmitted your communications to the media networks on Earth.
“Let’s get the hell out of here,” Lux said. “These people are crazy. Suicide missions to frame Mars sounds like a prelude to further attacks. Lakshmi, would you finish up your defense? We’re going to have a bit longer delay in communication latency since we’re relaying through so many links.”
“Sure. That’s Doctor Varma though. Get me away from those crazy people,” she said.
“Damn. They detonated that bomb!” Trenton said. “It looks about the size of the Starfish Prime test. That’s going to knock out a lot of the geostationary satellite over the US. How insane!”
“Go to a lower Earth orbit and transmit those recordings and sensor logs to NSA, CIA, and FBI,” Lux said. “We will get blamed for this if we don’t. Anna, send it to all the international news outlets and media platforms you can reach. Lakshmi, I’m sorry this screwed up your big day.”
She laughed. “Getting my Ph.D. was what my parents always wanted for me. We need to go. I sent a text to my committee about what happened.”
“Let’s pick up a load of pineapple from Hawaii,” Lux said. “Then I promised to pick up a load of coffee from Jamaica. They’ll still sell to us for gold. Then back to Mars. I need to refine the quantum tunneling. I’m close. Soon we’ll have real-time communications,” he said to all the people in the ship.
“Anna,” Lux said quietly. “Try to find out if the president authorized the use of that nuke. I can’t believe that he did. Raymond may try to say we used a nuke and attacked them so the president would authorize an expansion of the US Space Force and plan to attack us. They could use an unmanned missile attack. Design some sensor systems that would give us some amount of fore warning. Possibly a couple near Earth and then others in orbits that would be likely. We could capture the missiles and disassemble the warheads, I suppose, or we could use the gravity weapon to detonate them in a non-symmetrical way – a fizzle.”
They picked up their fruit and coffee and were headed back to Mars. Two hours later they were landing outside the auxiliary dome. They had worked out a system where a series of partial walls and series of pumps allowed them to depressurize portions of the dome. This saved much of the atmosphere in an underground chamber and then repressurized it partially later.
A metallurgist they had ‘acquired’ in the recruiting rushed up to Lux before he was stopped by Robert when he came too close too fast. “What’s the issue?” Robert inquired.
“It’s the separator. I need to talk with Lux,” the young man said. “It’s urgent. My team have discovered something that is going to…I need to speak with Lux.”
Lux nodded to Robert and Robert turned him loose. “What’s up?” Lux said while still thinking about the attack.
“My team was wondering why the separator kept breaking down, but we finally figured it out. We should talk about this privately, I think,” said the man.
Anna filled in his name, Frank Parker, and his background from the Weismann Institute of Science in Israel. She also named his team members and what they had been doing. They soon were in Lux’s lab.
“Explain to me what you’ve discovered Dr. Parker – may I call you Frank? I’m interested. Talk to me,” he said.
“We were running samples from the 16 Psyche asteroid and the machine kept stopping and the controls froze so my team tore it down and went through every component, every board. We were stumped until we examined the board that had caused the separator to stop. Nanoparticles of dust came from the materials and shorted the circuit boards. One of the materials in the dust is a room-temperature, metallic superconductor without high-pressure or special conditions. It wasn’t a brittle ceramic. It tested the same in vacuum. We were evaluating another extremely dense material to see how it was affected by different radiation. We almost blew up our lab and killed us all,” Dr. Parker said.
Lux raised his eyebrows and motioned him to continue.
“It’s a non-radioactive material that fissions when bombarded with gamma radiation. We could have our own miniature reactors with this material. I call it Frankium,” Frank said.
Lux laughed and slapped him on the back. “How much of this material do we have? Do you know how it behaves and transforms? It’s energy release – isotopes?”
“We’re still working on that. The superconductivity would make computers faster without heating. Batteries would last longer. Generators could be much smaller, and we could produce stronger magnetic fields for medicine. They could be used in communication filters and maybe quantum devices,” Parker said. “We have tons of this stuff.”
Lux’s eyes lit up. “Do you mind if I come see your lab? I want you working on reactors that would replace those behemoths we have. We’ll still use them until they need to be replaced but this would give everyone an independent power source for their home. I’ll be right over. You go ahead. I know where it is. You and your team are going to be rich, and no one can duplicate it without having access to that material. It gives us a head start.” 
Parker left. Lux turned to his monitor. Anna’s avatar was whistling and looking up in the air. “Anna. You need to let me know. I can manage the input. I know you monitor everyone. Do you think that is the key to our quantum tunneling issue? If we had a superconductor on both ends it would be sensitive enough. I couldn’t figure a way to increase the sensitivity without some massive device.”
“Maybe,” Anna said morphing into wearing a lab coat with black rimmed glasses.
Lux grinned. “I love your costumes and antics. How are the media slots and influencers going? You fed them the videos of the attack on us in Earth orbit, didn’t you?”
“Yes. The public is divided. Remember the average human going about their daily routine is just interested in making it without the government taking everything they have. Many of the politicians are devious but have a room temperature IQ on a cool day – in Celsius degrees.”
“How are they divided? Are we thought to be the ones that detonated the bomb or not?” Lux asked.
“It’s not that simple. Half the people don’t believe you have a colony on Mars, and they think all the videos are fake. They’ve released your nose picking video of the Speaker of the House and say you’ve improved since then,” Anna explained. “The more talented people are still being recruited but the numbers have dropped off after the rumors from the last attack.”
“I’ll tweak that a bit and give them something they can’t deny,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
The Short – Cheap – Advertising Campaign
“Don’t you think they will get angry at us for doing this?” one woman on the repair team asked.
“Probably. You’ve got your assignments – correct?” Lux asked. “I want you to fly to each location and tap into the controls. We have vintage connectors and better replacement parts. Get them working. Post your messages and move to your secondary site. Mars 3 and Mars 6 may be repairable with the upgrades. You all have the new power cells. Viking 1 and 2 landers should be repairable with new cameras and replacement parts. I wasted a lot of money and time bidding online for the vintage parts for those old landers if you can’t get them to work. The software defined radios can mimic most of the frequencies – remember we only need the cameras transmitting. Remember, we don’t have to get all the instruments working.”
Lux continued. “Mars Pathfinder and Sojourner – replace motors if you have to…” Lux paused. “Mars Polar Lander ought to be repairable plus Spirit and Opportunity just need replacement power cells and cleaning. Replace radios as needed. Curiosity needs cleaning and just needs the signs set up so they can be destroyed remotely. The EDM lander may still be repaired since it worked for five minutes. Probably just needs a power cell and a sign. InSight should be fixed since it worked until December 2022. Tianwen-1 just needs cleaning and a sign. Perseverance and Ingenuity just need to be checked.”
“Go to it, people. This will prove we’re here. Anyone finishing early, call and see if anyone needs help. We should have the stealth satellites in orbit that will give you global positioning and communications capabilities. Everybody tries it. No one risk anything if you have trouble. Good luck,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
NASA Jet Propulsion Lab (JPL) – Flintridge California – California Institute of Technology
“Why was I called here?” the Director asked.
“Director. We’re picking up some weird stuff from Mars,” the intern said.
“What do you mean by weird stuff?” the Director said.
“We’re got some writing in English from some of our probes. Some have started working again. Almost all of them have been repaired,” said the shift manager. “We have continuous feeds on some of these to the public. We’re getting calls from others that the dead Russian and US probes have started working again. They show messages in the electronic codes on the older landers and power levels are optimal on most. Solar power is restored on the ones that were on reduced power or had failed.”
“What the hell? What kind of messages?” the Director asked.


“They are career openings at the Mars colony. They explain the pay and living conditions. They downloaded video on some of our devices that were capable of it. Some of our devices have had upgrades and more powerful transmitters. Damaged servos and motors were replaced. They say they were out exploring for new mines and settlement locations,” the shift manager said.
“I’ll be damned if I’ll let them interfere with what we’re doing. I want them away from our machines. Maybe they just hacked us here!” the director yelled.
“Sir,” the shift manager. “We’ve always said we need a repair mission for some of these landers. They apparently repaired some of the old Russian ones too. They broadcast in Russian.”
“Someone on Earth has just hacked us. It’s a cute trick but I don’t believe it,” the Director stated.
“No, sir. I have a close friend that emigrated to Mars. She stood in front of the camera and lit the inside of her helmet. She signed, Hi Demi. She invited me to come join her,” the shift manager said.
“Well, I don’t like them messing up the pristine surface of Mars,” the Director said.
The intern turned to the shift director and said, “I guess smashing all those unworking probes and chutes and all on the surface didn’t mess up the surface.”
The shift director nodded and chuckled. That suit looked cool, she thought. It’s really lit. She turned to the intern and quietly used her millennial speak. “The director is shook.”
“True,” the intern replied while wondering how old you had to be to emigrate. He thought the message said you had to be 18 unless arriving with a parent or legal guardian.
◆◆◆
 
US Joint Chiefs Meeting – Pentagon
Admiral Detweiler, Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, was angry. He was angry again and that was happening a lot lately. “General Raymond. What is YOUR version of what happened? I’m willing to listen but I have my own sources.”
“What that kid said is fake news? Mars must have made a nuke from material they got from China. They attacked us,” General Raymond said.
Detweiler wasn’t having it. “That is a lie, Richard. I’ve seen the video of the incident and my information matches what I saw. I received the psychological profiles of the two in the Alastor. Captain McAlister had a diagnosis of Suicidal Behavior Disorder (SBD) and his copilot was diagnosed with Paranoid – Schizophrenic Disorder. The President did not authorize the use of a nuke in space. Where did you get a fusion bomb that was unaccounted for, Richard?”
Lieutenant General Steve Berry, Director of the Defense Intelligence Agency lifted a hand at the side of the room during the pregnant pause and was recognized. “I had investigators check on a rumor about unaccounted for weapons. We found two more that had been marked disassembled when their Polonium-210 moderated neutron initiators were replaced. Three had had Cadmium-109 added as a tracer for the StarFish Prime explosions but only two were used. The other two were forgotten and decade after decade had been maintained in secret to keep their initiators and Tritium up to date. One of three was used in 1962 for StarFish Prime. We found one unexploded bomb. The radiation from the recent explosion had Cadmium-113 in it to trace over a long period. It was from this stash.”
“Thank you, Steve,” Detweiler said. “Why, Richard?”
Richard Raymond was sweating now. He was looking like a caged animal in the room. “Lux Blakely is a threat to the Earth. He has technology we need to be foremost in space. We have to get it before China does and we have intelligence that he is getting a lot of his machinery from China. Those samples from 16 Psyche have an unknown metal that is a room temperature superconductor. It would make our computers faster and ease our electrical grid by adding the 5-8% power losses we experience now on electrical power transmission lines and the distribution transitions.”
“You might add that Blakely went to China and Mars because your bungled attempt to capture him drove him away,” Detweiler said.
Raymond was feeling defiant. He didn’t want to be the scapegoat for this screwup. “The attempt this group authorized; I might add.”
“I would say that we wait for this to calm down, and I don’t plan to be replaced by the President when he finds one of our people set off a nuke,” Detweiler said, letting out a tired sigh. “I suppose we could blame China, but it seems easier to blame Mars. They don’t have any voters here and we don’t think they have nuclear weapons. We have too many goods imported from China, and they own a lot of our debt. Mars doesn’t. I move we redouble our efforts to get this technology from Mars. We’ll offer them an olive branch first, and then we’ll try a more coordinated approach. General Berry, do you have further information about what they are doing on Mars?”
“We get monthly updates on their progress, but it is fragmented and partial. There are a lot of scientists and technologists there. They are setting up other cities across the planet. They recently repaired a lot of our landers there,” Berry said. “Lux Blakely is known for being good at DeepFake videos.”
General Detweiler laughed. “Perfect. Use that against them. Say the attacks are opposite what happened. Find some DeepFake experts and make videos of them attacking us. We will all end up in Leavenworth if this all comes out. Thank goodness he did those DeepFake videos. It sets a precedent for us.”
“What resources do we have to attack them on Mars? We have the new Rolls-Royce and DRACO  nuclear engines. We could put people there in three months. Unmanned rockets could be slightly faster because we don’t need the shielding and life support mass and we can use a higher impulse over a longer period,” Raymond said.
“Anything else?” Detweiler asked.
General Berry again raised a finger and Detweiler nodded for him to go ahead. “General. The Mars Colony has developed a constitution. It talks about immigrants and states they have few laws. They are to swear allegiance to the rules for the city. They have developed their own currency. The US dollar has little buying power there. They are forming their own military.”
“Then we’ve got them. It is against the law to swear to a foreign military when they are citizens of the US or the European Union. We can treat them as treasonous rebels. Perfect,” Detweiler said.
“We’ll send an emissary with an ultimatum for the tech they develop before the missiles get there,” Detweiler said. “We need to embargo them now.”
◆◆◆
 
Ismenius, Mars – Parker’s Lab – Six weeks later
“How is the reactor coming?” Lux asked Frank Parker.
“Look around. Anna’s helped me with the designs. We have everything from 10 KW to 50 MW ones here. They’re small and last as long as we’ll need them since they don’t produce heat unless bombarded by gamma radiation. We shield them with your magnetic hybrid material. Two sided it protects the device from kinetic impacts. We’re using Radium – 222 as the gamma because it has a half-life of 1,600 years,” Frank said. “I figured 16 centuries should be long enough and we can switch it off. We get no radiation exposure.”
“Wait – wait. 50 MW is impossible for a device that small. That’s no bigger than a refrigerator,” Lux said.
“We’re using MHD (magnethydrodynamic generator). Wait. I know what you’re thinking that a MHD generator uses a plasma moving through a magnetic field. Anna’s design used a feedback loop with argon and that superconductor and other materials from the asteroid. Those over there have been running continuously for several weeks. It’s been two weeks since one of these burned up and we have stable ones now, I’d trust,” Frank stated. “The impossible done quickly – the miraculous takes a little longer,” Parker said with a grin.
Lux told him he could be the savior of the colony, but Lux was really going to that place next. Lux went to see where General Fogelmann was having the Mars defense soldiers trained.
Lux went into the military complex they had carved out of the base of the rim of the crater. They had used the gravity projector to compact the soil to a type of stone as hard as granite. Anna had figured out a way to adjust the projected beam to melt the soil. They could adjust the penetration with the focus also. Lux was escorted by a stiff sergeant to the General’s office.
“General. Lux Blakely to see you sir,” The man said.
“Come in. Come in. Glad to see you,” the General said. “You must be wanting a summary. We have almost a thousand training with us here. We have a lot from former military, and we’ve been led by what we did before on Earth that worked except the quality of the recruits are a cut above the Earth average recruit. We couldn’t fight real soldiers nose to nose. We’re trying to get ours up to speed so they don’t die doing something stupid up here. Our guns needed to be adapted with compressed CO2. They’ll shoot a hole in anything, but somebody can drop a rock on us from space and mess up our day. We don’t know the limit our dome will support even though kinetic objects lose momentum on hitting our field – they still have mass.”
“How many are pilots? How many can operate in space? How many would be militia here? They’re certainly not infantry yet,” Lux asked. “How is the recruiting coming from other countries than the US? I grew up there and that makes me biased.”
“We have a good emigrant representation from Canada, the UK, Australia, China, Vietnam, and Mexico. We are starting to pick up a few from Scandinavian countries and the European Union. The more their governments say it’s fake news, the more the suppressed NASA videos reappear where we repaired all those landers. The more the British and Australian government says the people on Mars are traitors – the more recruits we pick up. A couple are spies – Anna lets us know but we monitor their feeds, according to Jack Chen. We get some who say they are fluent in English, but those Brits will always say that,” the general said and grinned as Lux laughed.
He continued, “We have about 300 in support roles though they will get some training. We have about twenty fighter pilots and fifty that can operate in space environments. We have about four companies or about four hundred. On Earth that’d be an understrength battalion. We’ll have two thousand in six months and the first battalion will be fully trained. Luckily, quite a few have prior experience that we’ve tapped. The ability to vary the gravity is especially useful. We’ve had them train in increasing gravity environments, but they sleep in 10 to 38% Earth gravity. The new weapons are impressive for boarding operations though we’ve had a couple of deaths with the pistols but no injuries with CutsAll practice.”
“Deaths!” Lux was horrified. “How did that happen?”
“Two of our recruits decided they hated each other and decided to fight over a lover. They went out and had a duel with the new pistols,” the general said.
“What happened?”
“They were both good shots. The incident gave us a good chance to see what our weapons would do to a person in a pressurized suit. It wasn’t pretty but it was instructive,” the general said. “I’ll send you photos now that you know. We have new fighter craft being turned out whenever we have enough raw materials to construct one,” the general continued. “Your bodyguards have been instrumental in getting our first pilots trained with Anna’s help.”
“We wouldn’t be anywhere without Anna’s help. How many ships do we have now and who is overseeing the builds?” Lux asked.
“You have had to delegate a lot of your work. I oversee the military. Douglas Trenton is handling the spacecraft construction. We have ten additional new spacecraft similar in size – I suppose a class similar to your Courier. We didn’t have the reactors for them until Frank Parker came through with those new compact systems,” the general explained.
“Who gets them? How do you choose?”
“The top ten candidates get their own and the next ten in the ranking are copilots. We have the possibility of having ten ships besides the Courier with the pilots and five in each. We need ten in each and we’ll get enough soon the way we’re recruiting from Earth. How long do you estimate we have? Jack Chen feeds me updates and he has people on Earth.”
“I think we might have another month. Anna has followed the construction of offensive missiles on Earth and keeps me somewhat up to date. Earth has some quantum computers and AI but nowhere near as sophisticated as Anna. She is a distributed computer that is more powerful than any on Earth I’ll bet.”
“Anna helps me here and screens all our applicants.” Fogelmann paused and looked conflicted about saying something. “Would you like to meet our top pilot candidate?”
“Sure,” Lux said with a tone meaning exactly the opposite.


Fogelmann typed a request into the computer and sat there waiting.
Lux hated waiting and he had so much to do the wait was agonizing but he didn’t want to insult the general.
There was a knock on the office door frame. “Enter,” the general barked.
A female in an IVA suit came in and saluted. “Pilot candidate Hunnicutt reporting as ordered, sir.”
The general returned her salute “At ease, Hunnicutt.” The general saw Lux partially come out of his chair and smiled. “I wanted you to know you passed the training with be highest score of your cadre.” The general handed an adhesive emblem to put on her suit – paused and handed it to Lux.


“Better, I’ll let someone else give it to you. Attention.” The general turned to Lux and coughed. “I realize this is unusual, but I have to go down the hall for about five minutes. I’ll be right back. He walked out the door leaving Prissy at attention.
Lux had stood up and noticed he was taller than her now by ten centimeters with his 188-centimeter height (6’2”). He realized she hadn’t seen him since he had bulked up to 82 kilograms. He grinned really big and looked around her. “He’s gone,” he said.
She looked over her shoulder and then launched herself at Lux. She wrapped her arms around him and looked up into his face. She leaned back, moved her hands behind his head and drew him into a passionate kiss. He was shocked and didn’t respond for a second. He kissed her back while concentrating fully on how her lips felt against his lips. He pulled her against him. “I’ve missed you terribly. I didn’t want to disturb you at MIT. The…”
She kissed him again to shut him up. “Anna kept me up to date on what was really happening on Earth and how they were planning to attack you. That’s why I emigrated and enlisted. The US military and Congress has been lying about you constantly. They twist the truth. They even said you set off that nuke two months ago. I know better.”
“Congratulations Captain. I understand you’ll get your own ship, but the US is no slacker on weapons development. Here is your emblem, pilot. The general will be back in a moment. Will you have any time off?”
“We’ll see,” she said with a coy smile. “I’ll still be robbing the cradle since you’re not quite 17 yet and I just turned 21.”
“I age a year every time one of my people is injured or dies. I feel like Methuselah some days.”
“I’ll come see you when I have time off,” she said quickly as the general made a lot of noise coming back.
The general walked in with Prissy back at attention. He smiled as they both blushed. Was he ever that young he thought as he looked at them. “At ease, pilot. Congratulations, Hunnicutt. Dismissed.”
Prissy snapped to attention, saluted, did an about face and marched out the door.
Lux asked. “Has Anna given any prognosis on us surviving an attack?”
“She suggested our layout, training methods, logistics – everything. We would be nowhere without her input. I realize that your innovations are the only thing keeping us functional, but I didn’t foresee the US doubling down after they set off that nuke. I assume the Joint Chiefs are just trying to hang on to their jobs at the cost of our lives. Typical short-sighted thinking that has plagued the military.”
“Why do the other countries hang with the US on this front. We have trade with Australia, the UK and most of Europe – even China…everyone but the US, yet they are calling the shots,” Lux related.
“Maybe your father and Anna could suggest a way to avert the inevitable confrontation.”
Lux thanked the general and headed back to work. He had been kicking around ideas in his head about the quantum tunneling and the superconductor material they discovered.
◆◆◆
 
Lux approached Paulus. “Who could we approach at the UN that would listen to anything we had to say? We’re not a registered member and don’t particularly want to join.”
“Have you got your quantum tunneling working? Anna could suggest where to put receiver nodes we could use to connect to the internet in real-time from our Mars satellites if you do get it working,” Paulus said.
“I have four prototype receiver nodes. They will destroy themselves with acid if they are disturbed. They are paired to nodes we have on satellites above Mars. We can communicate directly in near real-time. There is a bit of a lag in communicating between the surface of Mars and our satellites. Anna has given me a list of persons to contact,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
Office of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs – Annalena Baer, Berlin, Germany
“Why would we need to send an official observer to Mars?” she was saying to a man who spoke to her. The man was saying he was contacting her in real-time from Mars. “My aide here is informing me that it would take 23-minutes each way for a message to travel to and from Mars so this must be a ruse. I wonder how you got my private number.”
“We are offering you access to a room temperature superconductor we retrieved from the 16 Psyche asteroid several months back for your assigning an observer to the designated pickup point. You will currently find videos of some of our research projects on the address that pops up in your personal email. Our Mars colony cannot understand how your country approves of the US use of a nuclear weapon in space in an abortive attempt to attack us. I recommend you send an observer that can report on the US activities to launch a nuclear strike on our colony on Mars. We shall consider you passively condoning their actions if you are not protesting those actions; especially if you do not send an unbiased observer to confirm or deny the US claims. The pickup information is in your personal email.”
The connection was severed.
The Minister turned to her aide. “You heard that. What do you think? Was that a threat?”
“Yes, Minister. Our analysis of those videos from space were real. Their technology is a decade or more ahead of us in technology, and we are at the bottom of a gravity well. That means they could direct asteroids to destroy cities or anything else. They tried to warn that US spacecraft that was manned, we think purposely, with suicidal individuals. It was a US fusion weapon from the 1958-62 vintage,” the aide said.
“So, you think we ought to send a representative?” she asked.
“Certainly, Minister. The superconductor would be worth almost anything. Intelligence thinks the Americans are just trying to cover up a rogue general’s actions. We need to send a trained observer if nothing else to see what is going on at Mars and with the crazy Americans.”
◆◆◆
 
Secret Intelligence Service (MI16) Building – London, England
Terrance Waithe always got the screwiest assignments. He had seen the videos and heard the recorded conversations on this one and it was off - kilter. They wanted him to be packed off and sent to Mars of all things. That’s what he got for trying not to be an operative anymore. He was a technical analyst now. He was supposed to warn of technological innovations that would threaten the UK. He half thought this was a hoax, and no one would show up…Mars in two hours.”
Terrance was thrown a bit off his game when he met a New York Times reporter at the same rendezvous point. Ms. Barry had a hi-tech camera and recording equipment. They introduced themselves to each other.
“Seeing you here makes me think this is just a propaganda effort,” Terrance said.
She looked at him with disdain. “Seeing you here makes me think this is just an intelligence operation.” They didn’t exchange small talk.
◆◆◆
 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade – Barton, Australia (near Canberra)
Captain Joynt of the SAS Regiment was half-pleased he had been chosen for this assignment. He certainly found it shocking to be called up because he knew Lux Blakely. He thought the Blakely kid was smart, trustworthy, and dangerous as hell. He suspected that Blakely had been the one who had destroyed the Chinese hardliners that had been responsible for attacking his people. He was impressed with the CutsAll™ he had been given. He also didn’t believe the furphy the Americans were pushing. He certainly didn’t expect to see Grace Tobin and her videographer, Harvey Danby at the same pick-up point.
“Hi, Grace. Harvey. Didn’t expect you here?” Captain Joynt said.
“Hi, William. Is this for real?” she asked. “I don’t believe those contrived stories the Americans are grinding out. Do you?” Grace asked.
“No. I’ve met the kid and he wasn’t the sort to do the things they are saying he did. This is some screwed up stuff.”
◆◆◆
 
The Mars ship BANE arrived at each rendezvous point
Rodney Branch and Derek Alexander met each group. Most of the individuals had a protection team in the background. Branch left a package containing a kilogram of metal superconductor and instructions for several uses. Also included were trade provisions to receive a steady supply of the material. Each representative was given an IVA suit designed to fit them. All the visitors noticed that people aboard had military insignia. They asked about them and were told they were in a branch of the Mars military. When asked – they were given a copy of the adopted constitution. All were subtly scanned for pathogens as they came aboard.
Captain Joynt, Grace Tobin, and Harvey Danby all were allowed to go up front to see the pilot – Prissy Hunnicutt, Captain of the Bane. They had to be shooed out of the cockpit in a moment. They were being instructed on safety measures and the ship landed at the colony as they finished the safety lecture.
They came off the ship and Lux Blakely and two more bodyguards met them. They could see through the huge dome and looked around the colony and at all the people. They could see many smaller domes attached to the large colony dome. Lux Blakely introduced them all and went through the back slapping greeting with SAS Captain Joynt. Lux also gave a hug to Grace and Harvey – the reporting team from Australia. Lux met each person and assigned Regina to the New York Times reporter. Each person got a person to show them around. The British Intelligence agent wanted to see everything, and he was allowed to see a lot. He was intrigued by the small 40 MW reactors that provided electricity for the surface dwellers.
The group saw kids flying by with gravity lifters. It surprised them that they had full Earth gravity or heavier in places until they really internalized the fact that these people could control gravity. They appreciated the fountain and the trees that had been planted and raised with meticulous care. They took them to three separate restaurants. The Chinese, Italian, and Mexican restaurant were great for their lunches. Lux explained that the French restaurant only served dinner. They were surprised by the four-lane bowling alley and the pool tables. There were several young people playing because they were just waiting killing time before their work shift.
The visitors asked why so many were armed and the kids answered that the militia members were always armed and they also had training and everything but admitted it wasn’t as much as the military. When asked about how many were in the military – the kids looked at Lux and declined to comment. Many of them wanted to look around outside the dome and Lux loaded these up in one of their two crawlers with big wheels. They were required to change into a Mars suit and got another safety lecture. They drove out of an adjacent segmented dome and drove to Lyot Crater 236 km diameter (147 miles) that was just north of the main city.
They all had a good dinner at the different restaurants and then they all were escorted to the new emigrant housing block that was ten stories tall (five stories below ground). This was a new construction. They were surprised by the elevators, plants in the halls, washlettes in all the bathrooms, and adjustable gravity controls in all the bedrooms. They could adjust from one Earth G to 8% of Earth gravity. There were real-time Earth feeds through the new quantum tunneling. It was only Earth to Mars, but the bandwidth allowed movies and streaming from Earth in limited channels.
The British operative went out the first night and wandered around. A monitor drone followed his movements as he went around and took photos before going back to his room. He was videoed the entire time – Lux knew it would be a risk, but he was willing to take it for his people. The next day was a solo-exploration day. They were given small slates that they could ask questions and had maps.  Some of the visitors spent half their time after breakfast videoing what showed on their slates.
An ore carrier returned with 700 new emigrants and the New York Times and the Australian reporters both wanted to interview the people. Half of the ore carrier was adapted for foodstuffs (mainly vegetables and fruits). Some visitors wanted to visit the hydroponic multi-level farms. Others wanted to see the chicken and fish tanks. The staff explained they weren’t self-sufficient yet but soon would be. The UK operative kept asking about the military and was getting stonewalled.
Anna contacted Lux. “I don’t know how I missed it, but the US launched four nuclear missiles. They have magnetic Halbach thrusters and then powerful rockets. I have the video of the launch from Vandenburg Space Force Base. SpaceX secretly launched two new Starship Magnetics with nuclear-enabled propulsion. They can get here in six weeks. Unfortunately, they launched those two ships three weeks ago. I got into their ultra-ultra-secret plans. The missiles and the troops will arrive at the same time. The nuclear-tipped MIRV missiles are designed to orbit as a threat and to destroy the colony if we don’t accede to their demands. They SpaceX ships have a company of Marines in each to ‘maintain order.’ I have their plan in detail.”
“Insanity. Did you give this to anyone else?” Lux asked.
“No. I was waiting for your input. There are so many ways this can go. They don’t intend to land the Magnetic section but would use the main nuclear rocket to land the troops,” Anna explained.
“What kind of MIRVs are they?” Lux asked.
“Old LGM-118 retired Peacekeepers with ten warheads each. Bet they spruced up some from storage somewhere.”
“Somebody has a bad case of overkill. Let me know what Fogelmann and Paulus think. Ask Derek, Polly, and Rodney their opinion silently. I’d like to know. The nukes aren’t enough to melt the icecaps like SpaceX wants to do. We’ll have to destroy the missiles, but I’d love to have all those warheads. I’m going to see my dad and then Fogelmann. I do like the idea of having a space station around Mars, but we really don’t need it since we have control of gravity.”
◆◆◆
 
Paulus and Fogelmann Opinions
Paulus was pacing back and forth in his office. “This is bad. Real bad.”
“Dad. This is one reaction I sort of expected. They were either going to denounce Raymond as a loose cannon or try to cover it up. We can destroy those missiles easily enough. I’m concerned about the people straddling the fence here. I think we ought to destroy the missiles first. We can’t have them orbiting us – always as a threat. We can’t have those troops land unless they are unarmed. We have the biometric controls on all the CutsAlls and the pistols. We have suits for poisonous gases. I am concerned about biological weapons. They had suicidal people with a nuke – why not nutcase patriots with a biological weapon. I can see the US saying – Oh goodness! The Mars colony was wiped out by a rare plague. We sent them help secretly – but they didn’t make it. We sent nukes to clean up any dangerous pathogens they were creating in their biowarfare labs. “
“Great,” Paulus said. “Now you made me think of things that are even worse. One thing I know – give the military an inch and they’ll own us. I spend my day here keeping people from adding administrative work that is unnecessary. People add layers of bureaucracy when they hire more people, faculty, or start improving facilities. We need to improve procedures but make them simpler. I want to promote those people who simplify things  and make than more efficient. I had a guy who wants to start gambling here. I told him to go ahead or just leave the dome in a poorly maintained suit – a cheaper way to gamble.”
“I’m going to ask Fogelmann. Give Anna any suggestions that you come up with.”
◆◆◆
 
Fogelmann was frowning big time and people were in and out of his office. He came out the door sipping a big mug of coffee. He waved Lux in and pulled the door shut.
“Sooner and more coordinated that I expected. Anna sent me their psych warfare plan and told me what you told Paulus. I think all the US media outlets are all synced to say that. This is going to be hyped by the US as a ‘Rescue Mission’ for that fly-by-night supposed ‘colony’ (Mars) that puts so many people at risk. They will threaten us with the nuclear missiles – destroy some of the domes with tungsten rods from space. Then send in the Peacekeepers to maintain order,” Fogelmann said.
“What are these tungsten rods from space. I didn’t hear about that,” Lux said.
“Breaking news,” the general said. “Anna just told me. The two ships sent this way are carrying over a thousand ‘special’ rods to drop on us from orbit. No radioactivity – just kinetic energy to damage everything. Our dome normally stops kinetic projectiles, but I’ll bet they’ve probably figured a way around that with some type of magnetic shield around the rods that they’ve tested. I’m sure since they have magnetic thrusters, they would have developed the inertialess coating since they can force the information from Earth sources where we bought the material. I don’t think they’ve quite figured out the gravity drive. What do you suggest?”
 The general continued, “My suggestions? I suppose our top strategic view response should be to: destroy the missiles - then inform the population about the destruction of the missiles so they don’t panic – then destroy the nuclear propulsion and weapons on those enroute two ships. We’d want them to abandon ships and move them to our ore carrier. I’ll see if Anna can find out where the tungsten rods are stored on those attacking craft. I’d like to see those. They’ll just create more. I think it may be the time to have their own craft crash into the Pentagon during a Joint Chiefs meeting.”
“What if they keep coming? We can’t rule out them finding a way to hurt us,” Lux said.
“We have to have a policy that no ‘soldiers' on Mars with an ability to attack us – not anywhere. We’re going to have to post sensor satellites on likely approach paths. I’ll have our visiting observers watch as we send drones over to destroy those attacking missiles. Then we’ll send them home. I’d like to have the reporters stay with us as well as our Australian observer. We need to get the ‘visitors’ to view the attack plans and our response. Sounds like a plan. We’ll start gaming it. Want me to hold your friend back?”
“Prissy? Goodness, no. She’d kill me.” Lux grinned. “She’s something. Turn her loose. She’d never forgive me if I used influence to keep her out of the line of fire.”




Chapter 14

Visitors Take a Ride
Anna located all the visitors even though the British guy was somehow outside the main dome trying to get over to the military section. Four of our infantry soldiers rounded him up and frog-marched him back inside. All were gathered together outside the ship, the Latent, and the visitors could see it was different from the one they had arrived on. Lux addressed the group.
“I am sorry to cut this fact-finding tour short, but the US has sent us a message and it is no longer safe for you to be here,” Lux explained. “We must depart now if you want to see anything else on Mars.”
The New York Times reporter was the first to speak. “What type of message? Why are we going on a different ship – unless this is the same ship labeled with a different name to make us think you have multiple ships? What do you want us to see?”
“Captain Hunnicutt and others are responding to this unprovoked threat with other ships. We intend to let you see our response if it is safe for us to do so. We need to get aboard. I must insist. Feel free to take pictures again,” Lux motioned them to the ship and entered with them.
Grace Tobin asked, “What is this message? What danger from the US? Why are you coming with us if it is dangerous?”
Everyone turned eyes to him. “The United States, with the approval of the Joint Chiefs and the President has sent four adapted nuclear tipped missiles to orbit Mars and threaten us so we will not resist the two additional manned ships sent here to take over control or destroy our colony.”
“That’s preposterous!” Terrance Waithe shouted.
“Mister Waithe is an operative assigned to gather intelligence and transmit it back to his government in an information-sharing agreement with the States. The British Secret Intelligence Service was reluctant to do so but acted under pressure. Shall I read your exact orders to the group here? I have an exact copy of what was written though your spoken instructions are merely paraphrased,” Lux said holding his slate.
“The US doesn’t have the capability to get here that fast. The acceleration would kill those on board,” the German said.
“No. They launched two SpaceX Magnetics with inertia canceling capability from Vandenburg Space Force Base almost three weeks ago. When they are out of the Earth’s magnetic field – they intend to use a nuclear-propulsion unit to maneuver and continue until they are orbiting Mars. Inside are two companies of specially trained US Marines with orders to pacify and control the population here,” Lux explained. “They would have to decelerate fairly hard for their final two weeks to insert in orbit. They have a nuclear propulsion system that is capable of landing.”
“That’s crazy. Two companies couldn’t accomplish much if you resisted,” Captain Joynt said. “I know some of your weapons and those alone would be devastating.”
“It’s an occupation force only after they have subdued the populace with the kinetic bombardments with the special tungsten rods from orbit. They also have four nuclear-tipped missiles carrying old LGM-118 Peacekeeper MIRV nukes. Those are ten - 300 kiloton fission warheads in each missile. That is not enough to melt the icecaps, but it is enough to contaminate the neighborhood,” Lux said.
Captain Joynt and a couple of others gasped. There was a lot of disbelief comments from the others.
“Why would the US take this extreme action?” asked the New Times correspondent.
“Did you notice how all the populace looked healthy and productive? They are all fairly wealthy by Earth standards. Everyone works or they are sent back to Earth and charged for the trip. We share interests in the asteroid mining. We make a lot of money from technology sales. We have technology that the Earth has tried to capture because Earth can’t duplicate it yet. China and Russia have sent assassins and kidnappers to pressure me to give them this technology. The US military attacked me at my property in Paulden, Arizona and we had to flee until we could come here. I have rereleased the video of the attack by the military at my home there. They used the US Space Force, Marines, and US Air Force in the attack. The suppressed drone videos are available again to your governments.”
Lux continued. “There was a coordinated effort to capture us again on Adak Island where we were hiding. There was a film made there directed by Luc Besson. It should be out soon. We predicted what would happen. The US Congress recently changed the Posse Comitatus law so the US military could attack us under the pretext of fighting terrorists. The US used the Navy, Air Force, and Marines. We came here days before the attack.”
“General Richard Raymond used a non-inventoried nuke from the 1962 Starfish Prime tests in an attempt to destroy us in orbit a few months ago. His two unstable suicide crew self-detonated a fusion weapon in orbit when they couldn’t kill us directly. No one was hurt on our side because we ran away. That attack didn’t work. This is mistake number three for the United States and we only give people two mistakes. We can see that they won’t stop. We are now going to stop their missiles. We will let you watch our balanced response because the US has declared war on the Mars colony.”
“What do you expect us to do?” Captain Joynt. “What are you going to do?”
“We expect you to report what you see and why we did what we did,” Lux said and turned to Terrance Waithe. “Would the UK attack us if we respond to an unprovoked nuclear attack? How do you think your government would react? Germany? Australia? France? We don’t want to fight anyone, but we think the Joint Chiefs and the President are trying to cover up the overreaction of General Richard Raymond.”
Waithe pulled out a little automatic pistol and pointed it at Lux. “I will show you what…”
Joynt coughed and Waithe turned his head. A hole appeared in Waithe’s head, and he crumpled. The observers saw Lux return his pistol to his holster. Rodney came over and took a photo from several angles and then put on Waithe’s helmet.
“Sorry boss. I thought we searched everyone thoroughly,” Rodney said. Robert and Rodney carried the body to a back cabin.
The visitors looked alert, and they had evidently seen a lot of carnage in their lifetime. Harvey Danby apologized to Grace that he didn’t have it on video. Lux overheard.
“I will make copies of what we say available to all of you. Captain Joynt, you never answered my question. What will Australia do?” Lux asked.
“You say that a rogue general, the Joint Chiefs, and the President acted on their own to do this,” Joynt said.
“Yes. That is what all the information points to,” Lux replied.
“What do you intend to do?” Joynt asked.
“You remember what happened to the Chinese and Russians that planned and carried out the kidnapping of my people in Sydney?” Lux said.
“We have treaties to respond to US threats as allies but as long as the entire US isn’t attacked – we would remain neutral…at least – that is what I will recommend. I am not high enough on the chain of command – they sent me because I am expendable…like most people here. I was fascinated to see what those guns you wear would do. When can we get those? The CutsAll knives are wonderful.”
The German representative looked at Captain Joynt like he had thrown up on himself. “You are a blood-thirsty person. Poor Mr. Waithe.”
“Are you kidding? He was about to shoot Blakely with a gun that could possibly depressurize this cabin. I will recommend to my country that they should not attack Mars or their personnel. Lux, show him Waithe’s orders if you really have them,” Joynt said.
Lux unhooked his slate and handed it to the German representative who paled when he read it. The German handed it around the room. There were no more comments about ‘poor Waithe.’
It took several hours to find the four missiles even though they were on an expected flight path. The visitors had many ‘what if’ questions about the colony and trade opportunities. Lux explained about the superconducting metal they had left as a token of trust.
The four nuclear missiles were scattered in a ragged line. Four Mars ships converged on the missiles. The screens in the Latent showed each of the missiles. The Mars’ ships lasers cut through the communications sections of each missile. Then their lasers cut off the nuclear propulsion section without rupturing the hydrogen tanks of propellant. Then the propulsion section was pushed with a gentle gravity pulse to miss any Mars rendezvous. The visitors all watched as a two-person team in space suits cut off the outer covering of the nose cone containing the ten nuclear bombs. The video switched to the suit cameras of the two-operatives.
The visitors could clearly see the ten cone-shaped warheads. “We have several explosive ordinance personnel (EOD) who had retired from the militaries of Earth. We will add these to our weapons inventories but we also hope we don’t have to use them to end this vicious attack from the US military.”
The visitors watched as the pairs of technicians disarmed the bombs. Thankfully, none were boobytrapped. Lux let out a sigh two hours later when the last of the four missiles had been disarmed and warheads carted away back to Mars. That gave Mars forty nuclear warheads they could put into their arsenal with international authentication that they had them.
◆◆◆
 
Two Companies of Marines – Operation Whiplash enroute to Mars
The elongated Troy and Iliad were US spacecraft adapted for the trip to Mars. They used the SpaceX magnetic propulsion on top of the nuclear propulsion system. The SpaceX Magnetic was used at launch to pull the nuclear stage into orbit since it had no rocket exhaust. There was a large cargo section in between the two stages that held the trove of coated tungsten rods intended for bombardment of mars from space. The nuclear propulsion section was used at launch briefly to assist the SpaceX Magnetic.
Four additional defensive Mars ships approached from the rear of the two U.S. ships. The Mars ships used their lasers to burn through the railgun and laser turrets of the Earth ships.
The passengers on the Latent watched on the monitors as the Mars ships cut the SpaceX Magnetic stage away from the nuclear propulsion section. The Mars ships then disabled the fuel flow to the nuclear reactor with laser strikes. They watched as several space suited figures from the Mars ships as they loaded all the three-meter-long tungsten rods from the Earth ships to multiple Mars ships. The observers saw that there were hundreds of the weapons.
The Earth ships were contacted through attachments to the sheared off communications arrays on the ships.
“Troy. This is Mars Corvette Bane Captain Hunnicutt. Do you read?” Prissy said as the Mars Resolve provided overwatch.
“We read you. Why did you attack us?” came a voice over the radio and transmitted to the observer ship.
 
“Are you the commander of this ship or your company of Marines?” There was no answer. Prissy continued. “Your propulsion has been compromised; your nuclear missiles have been disarmed. Your kinetic bombardment weapons have been removed. Make sure your people are in suits and we will take you back to Earth. You only have five minutes to respond. Mark.”
Prissy gave orders to her troops on another frequency – unheard by the visitors. Prissy covered one airlock which had been cycling and another Mars soldier covered the other. An airlock opened on each side and two Marines came out each airlock. They both had M5s and fired several shots each. Prissy was hit in her body by four or five shots, but the Mars suits had the flexible radiation cover that also stopped kinetic projectiles. She automatically drew her pistol and fired twice at each suited figure. It forced her back minimally though their recoil had thrown her attackers off their ability to return aimed fire. The bullets that hit her suit stopped instantly. Her pellets went through each of their suits and also went through their ship making it begin to spew atmosphere.
Mars Corporal Denise Ortega was not so lucky because when the Marines exited the airlock on her side they fired – two of their bullets hit her faceplate. She died instantly. Her backups killed the shooters. Prissy had all her people pull back. She took over the controls of the gravity projector, set the beam width and fired on the Troy until there was not a solid piece left. There was just a cloud of debris dust. She then flew the Bane to the Iliad. She cut the front and the rear off the ship but stayed further back. Space suited Marines who came out with weapons were killed at distance with the lasers. Ones who held up their hands were gathered in. Seventy-nine surrendered by throwing away their weapons and raising their hands.
Prissy had to turn over piloting to her copilot because she was sobbing and a total wreck. She had taken over the projector rather than ordering others to do the deed. They retrieved Ortega’s body and the Ore - 1 came forward to load all the prisoners. They had them all strip off their suits in one of the cargo holds. They had utility coveralls under their suits. The Mars soldiers were transferring the prisoners when three jumped one of the Mars soldiers and got his gun. One of the prisoners had a K-bar knife and stood there in an attack stance waiting for his buddy to shoot. The one with the popper he had stolen found out those pistols were biometrically locked and then all three ran forward to attack the Mars trooper.
The Marines didn’t know the extensive knife training the Mars soldiers had. The Mars soldier had pulled his CutsAll blade and slashed all three in half in one spinning diagonal movement. He retrieved their K-bar knife and their gun. The Mars soldier threw up after it was all over as even a few of the Marines had trouble managing the bodies. The other Marines had been ready to charge but even they were shocked by the gore. The ore carrier crew had large plastic bags and they bagged the remains after removing personal effects.
A Mars senior chief came and spoke to the prisoners. He was about 55, tall and solid. “We know you are brave men. We respect you and will do all we can to get you back to Earth to your friends and families. No one told us that you were at war with us. There was never any notice. We have never attacked anyone on Earth. We are mainly families trying to get away from Earth. You attack with 40 nuclear warheads, and tungsten kinetic bombs to destroy our domes we live under? Two hundred Marines to subdue and control us if we give up. That’s not the US I grew up in. We have to get names and addresses of those killed. We were defending ourselves from an unprovoked attack pushed by greedy people behind the scenes and the upper echelons of the US military. This incident was caused by the actions of leaders giving unlawful orders. Please don’t exacerbate the situation. That is all.” The senior chief turned away.
One Marine turned to another one. “What does exacerbate mean?”
“Don’t stir it up anymore, nitwit. Guy made a lot of sense. Guess they’re going to take us to Mars and then home,” the other Marine said.
◆◆◆
 
The defense fleet mostly landed except for three ships that remained in orbit. The observers were returned to Earth. Lux spoke to them before they departed in the Latent.
“You saw the attack that would have killed a major portion of our population. The majority of our people are not soldiers. We are men, women, and children from all over this world. They have never attacked anybody, but we won't run any more. We will retaliate against those that attack us. Each of those thousand captured tungsten rods Earth sent would be like a small- tactical nuke without radiation. We will trade with any of your nations and these technologies will become commonplace but not if you attack us. We now have 40 nuclear weapons we neither wanted nor needed. We will try to retaliate against those individuals that planned these immoral attacks. Try to convince your governments to be measured in what you do – we fight for our survival every day. We do not hate the brave soldiers that attacked us. They were lied to by their superiors to get them to attack. They were doing their jobs.”
They dropped off the reporter outside London with no air raid sirens. Paris, Germany plus the other European countries were the next stops. Then they flew to China, Vietnam, Indonesia, and India. Australia was their last stop. They landed in Sydney and there were a group of SAS waiting for them – but not as aggressors. 

Lux went down the ramp with Captain Joynt. He hugged several of the soldiers he recognized and did the back slapping guy stuff. Several mentioned how he’d grown and filled out. 
“It’s the 1.05 and 1.1 gravity we train under. Any of you and families will always have good jobs and education if you decide to emigrate though you might wait a few months and see if we’re still there,” Lux said and shook his head at the unreality of it all. He turned to Grace and Harvey. He gave her a hug and shook Harvey’s hand. “I’ll bring you in on the tough ones if you’re still willing.”
“Well – I have a story or ten to file now. Thanks Lux.”
Lux turned to Joynt. “Do what you can. It was good to see you again.”
Lux waved and went up the ramp of the Latent. He checked his connection to Anna, and it was all good with the quantum tunneling protocol. Anna was no longer a piece of a split personality. She had ALL her resources available, all the time.
◆◆◆
 
Retribution
Lux took the Latent to a spot where he had line of sight to many US telecommunications satellites. He sent a swarm of drones Anna had prepared. The drone blocked commercial communications and broadcasts and tapped in the prerecorded message that Anna, the few psychologists, and intelligence officers had produced.
“We interrupt this program with breaking news. The President and Joint Chiefs have just initiated an attempted nuclear strike on the colony on Mars. General Richard Raymond, Chief of Staff of the Space Force first performed a military kidnapping attempt of Paulus and Lux Blakely to acquire technology they had developed. Lux Blakely was responsible for upgrading the Air Force, US Space Force, and SpaceX programs. The US military attacked them in Paulden, Arizona. They fled to Adak Island in the Aleutians.” Video of these attacks from Paulden and Adak Island showed the attempts. “Blakely and the rest fled to Mars and started a colony there – now with over 400,000 peace-loving people from 31 different nations.” The videos showed the Mars colony. There were attempts to shut down the transmissions, but they were redirected where they were cut off.
Lux continued. “This next part is not suitable for children. The Joint Chiefs under Chairman Admiral Detweiler agreed to cover up General Raymond’s actions and double down. They sent forty nuclear bombs on missiles to Mars along with 1,000 orbital kinetic bombardment weapons to destroy the domes and settlement on Mars if we did not work under their direction and give them the technologies we developed. They also sent two companies of Marines to occupy the colony if we submitted.” The video showed the nosecones of the missiles with the MIRV warheads and transferring them to Mars ships. Then the video showed the Marines giving up. There was no video of the gravity beam destroying the Troy.
Lux continued. “There were reporters from America and Australia observing these attacks along with representatives from the EU, UK, China, India, Indonesia, Vietnam, and other countries who observed all these attacks by the US. The brave Marines that surrendered will be questioned briefly and returned to Earth. These are the photos of those that instigated those attacks.” It showed all the members of the Joint Chiefs, several Congressmen, two US senators, several lobbyists and prominent industrialists and hedge fund managers. “The independent colony of Mars wishes to trade with any nation that supports us. We declare war on the individuals that instigated these attacks rather than the entire United States. We return you to your regularly scheduled programs.”
Lux turned to Anna. “How did we do? Have you located those individuals yet?”
“Most of them. Some have moved underground. Some are with large groups,” Anna said.
“Dump the lifters. Let them remain stationary at 36,000 meters (~118,000 feet) altitude until the optimum time. Make sure they are separated widely in height and from each other so there is no pattern. Relocate any of their monies to save the whales or refugee funds. I want any companies they headed to be devastated so they won’t have the power to do it again. Do you have the filter modules installed on the satellites?”
“They are installed and functional. They are also boobytrapped if anyone tries to remove them.”
◆◆◆
 
New York Times – Executive Editor meeting with Barry
“I’m not sure we should go against the country’s interests with your story,” the executive director announced.
Barry felt the putdown. “Those people were just trying to get along with their lives, sir.”
“You are biased. That’s why they wanted to mold your opinion. They worked you like the North Koreans or Chinese do to control the population.”
“Hardly. They gave us safety rules and got us familiar with the layout the first day. They turned us loose inside the next couple of days to go anywhere we wanted inside. One’s going outside needed a special suit and needed to be accompanied. We could take photos inside their ships. We were not allowed to visit their military areas. That seemed reasonable since they had a known British spy – I saw a copy of his orders. He was to kill Lux Blakely if all else failed. You saw the video. I have a copy of his orders and I feel sure they were authentic. You didn’t see all the people from different races. I got a few shots of the kids flying to school. It was booming and most people seemed happy,” she said.
“That capture of the two companies of Marines you recorded was pretty brutal. What was that weapon that destroyed the Troy? I didn’t see that in their broadcast,” the editor said.
“I have no idea. My guess is they didn’t show us everything, but I asked if I could show everything I saw. You know what Lux Blakely said? He didn’t say we have nothing to hide or don’t show this or that. He said, ‘Show the things we don’t show when we do a propaganda program. Show the things we neglect and should have shown. We’re human but we’ll fight when pushed against a wall. I have the pilot sobbing after killing those Marines. They weren’t doing it for fun – those Marines are brave and tough. They weren’t going to go down with a whimper.”
“That’s well and good but they were brutal to the Troy,” the editor said.
“I tracked down a released Marine a couple of days ago. He said his people, those were his words…his people… treated the returned soldiers much worse than they were treated as prisoners on Mars. Mars mainly wanted to get the names of those killed and make sure their families received a large fund to help them through their loss. That wasn’t on the news anywhere,” Barry said.
She continued her story, “The returned Marines said Mars personnel helped the captured Marines recover what bodies they could and helped give them a military funeral with honors in space. The captured Marines were allowed to attend the funeral services and shown respect. The Mars soldiers recovered as many personal possessions as they could. The captured marines said they were fed well and treated comfortably. Mars personnel kept the prisoners informed at each stage of the process,” Barry said. “I’ve reported on a ton of military actions and the soldiers are never kept informed – that never happens in the regular military here – Mars treated them like people.”
“You were impressed,” the executive director stated.
“Yes,” she said firmly. She didn’t tell the editor that she was considering emigrating. They had a heck of a list of benefits, and they had taken a hellish environment and made it livable. Two hours from Earth was about her friends commute to and from Chicago daily.
◆◆◆
 
The List

Admiral Detweiler died today while taking his dog for a walk today outside his home in a freak accident last night. A piece of space debris evidently hit him. His dog was unharmed and was still by the body when police arrived.
General Richard Raymond’s body was found a kilometer from his remote cabin today in Montana. He had a hole burned through his chest. Investigators could find no trace of an assailant, no phones in his immediate area. His hunting buddies didn’t hear or see anything and were close to him at the time.
Latham Rothschild had always worked behind the scenes. He knew who to prod and he never did anything himself – he always worked through proxies. He was in his home near Reims, France and sipping a particularly excellent single-malt scotch. He chuckled thinking he liked the scotch so much more than the champagne his people produced. He thought that he should push the American senator to tweak the military again so they could manipulate commodity prices. He… the two lifters punched a hole through his mansion and killed him instantly.
Senator Baker had a rare meeting with two lobbyists and a congressman who had pushed the military to capture the technology needed to mine the asteroids and travel without inertia. They had pressured others but were concerned that there had been deaths from the list. They resolved to not meet again and stay in groups of others in the future as the three lifters hit their rendezvous place at Mach 24. No one else was injured though there was a lot of property damage.
All those on the list had died either with a freakish accident or a strike from orbit. There had been minor injuries of others but everyone on the list had died.
The US president was asleep with his wife. His children were staying with an aunt while this Mars thing passed over. He knew he had authorized the missions to Adak Island and Mars. His wife had a burner cell phone since the kids were away. The Secret Service wouldn’t let him have a cell phone. His wife’s phone rang – jarring him awake. His wife handed him the phone – she said, “It’s for you – it’s Lux Blakely.”
The president took the phone. “Sir. I was very patriotic until my own country started trying to kill me and the hundreds of thousands of people who live on Mars. The attack against us at Adak Island and on Mars were both authorized by you. That’s two. All the people on the list we released are dead. I would like you to say publicly that your military was being overzealous and made unauthorized decisions and lied saying I had authorized those horrific attacks on innocents. The US and Mars are working on trade negotiations – not military action and will take no further actions against Mars or its occupants or something like that. You’re a much better speaker than I am. That’s two Mister President. You don’t want your name on that list.” Lux disconnected.
“I heard that dear. What does he mean by that’s two?” his wife asked.
“He always says he gives people two mistakes before they act. The list Mars advertised named people who had pressed to get the mining and weapons technology from Mars. I approved those decisions to kill those civilians on Mars.”
“Will you do what he says?” his wife asked.
“I will but will press for funds to research those areas we lag. I don’t like being threatened, especially threatening my family,” the president said.
“Isn’t that what you did to Blakely’s family?” his wife asked.
“Yes, but I’m President of a whole nation.” His wife rolled her eyes.
◆◆◆
 
The president got on the news two days later with a thought-provoking twenty-minute speech condemning the men who had taken it upon themselves to order troops to attack the Mars Colony. Those persons close to those decisions knew that was a fake announcement but remembered that list of people that had died on the Mars list. They didn’t want their names added to that list. The president praised the brave men who gave their lives obeying their commanders but explained that their trust had been abused and it was now corrected. People wondered if the US had aided Mars in locating those men on the list. It took the heat off the President and reduced the ire of the public that had been incited by the government propaganda on many media outlets.
The videos Lux had shown were ordered scrubbed by Taylor Schindle with the CIA. Anna had duplicated the videos and planted modules on all the telecommunications satellites. Those videos kept showing up all over the internet. That was number three for Taylor who had a thing for self-driving cars. Taylor’s self-driving car drove off a bridge under construction as its battery exploded. It took a while for divers to find his body.
◆◆◆
 
Trade Agreements
The acceptance of the Americans eased restrictions and Martians were allowed to keep dual citizenship in some instances though Israel, South Korea made their citizens serve in the military as did Benin, Columbia, Turkey, Bolivia, Norway, Sweden, and Brazil. It seems the laws about US citizens joining a foreign military that are set forth in Section 958-960 of Title 18 of the United States Code have some flexibility in enforcement depending on the mood of the country.
A lot of money was made after metal exchanges when the separators and smelting machines on Mars were further upgraded. The Chinese, Americans, British, French, Indian, Germans, and Australians were the first to buy into the asteroid mining operations. Why pay for exorbitant ships and mining when you could negotiate for shares of an existing company? The Mars colony started minting their own coins: rhodium, iridium, palladium, gold, plus platinum and silver coins for the smaller denominations. The Bank of Mars became a solid investment.
Paulus saw Lux walking to his lab. “Why are you smiling so much?”
“We are in the clear. We weathered the storm. I’m in a good mood. Prissy didn’t get killed. Why shouldn’t I be smiling,” Lux said, kinda’ put out at his dad for damping his mood.
His father closed his eyes and finger-combed his hair. “You’re young…no, don’t start to bristle up at me. You are. You can’t let our guard down. We threatened a lot of people who are now working hard to overcome our advantages. Just the fact that they know it’s possible means it won’t be long before someone figures it out. Did you think there aren’t other people as smart as you? Don’t kid yourself. You were displaying your smarts incredibly young and that was half of why you were so astounding to people. You did what smart people do earlier in your life than others. Lots of slower people who come up with answers.”
“I’m still glad Prissy wasn’t hurt,” Lux said.
“So young. Have you seen her, talked with her since her encounter? I heard she had to kill over a hundred Marines. She shoved others away so they wouldn’t have the trauma of killing them themselves. I can tell you it’s traumatic. I heard she was sobbing. She’ll have trauma from the incident, and you need to see her,” Paulus said. “Not hurt! She’ll be lucky if she not scarred for life by this.”
“What should I do? What should we do? What do you suggest? I shut down thinking of defense for a while,” Lux explained.
“I forget how young you are sometimes. You’re relaxing too soon. I think Earth will duplicate the gravity drive. The companies you ordered materials from near Knoxville and Vietnam know a lot of the secret. You have Lakshmi’s math and your work with Lockheed – they know some of it. Your dissertation – Lakshmi’s dissertation are roadmaps for progress with the gravity drive. It will be sooner rather than later. We have Anna and that puts us ahead as does quantum tunneling, but I would beef up satellite monitoring and double patrols near Earth and around our mining sites.”
Paulus put a hand across his eyes and took a deep breath. “Expect tourists to Mars. Expect governments to dump troublemakers and refugees to see how those Martians like the unwashed hordes. They’ll start doing that and we’ll have to respond with draconian measures to the politicians that do that to us for votes. Have Anna scope out people complaining about the ‘elites’ on Mars. Those will be the advanced precursors to more actions against us. You need to get on the case of figuring out faster-than-light travel.”
Lux just looked at his dad. “Why faster-than-light? Did anyone ever tell you that you are a real buzzkill?” he said and went up and hugged his dad and held him. “Thanks, dad. I needed that.”
“Your mom used to tell me that all the time. Faster than light because Mars is a horrible place to try to live. We need to find some other planets that are more earthlike. None in this solar system are close. Technically we can do it but it’s worse than Antarctica. They do have air and it’s a bit warmer. Love you son. Now get in that lab and save us,” Paulus said. “…then give Prissy some attention.
◆◆◆
 
In the Lab
Lux was looking at Lakshmi’s work and questioned her on some of her variables. “What are these?” he asked.
“That piece of the equations deals with the space between two layers. It looks like that is the space between a gravity shield layer and another gravity manipulation layer,” she said.
“And?” he asked. “What the heck does that mean? What does that region mean? Why does the expanding area dissolve matter with our inertialess field? I’m trying to figure out why our CutsAll or shield work the way they do.”
“I’ve been looking at the equations from a viewpoint colored by actually seeing the effects. It gives me insights. You wouldn’t understand it unless you actually viewed that flash of energy disappearing into the space between the layers,” Lakshmi said while deep in thought. “Your quantum tunneling transfers energy between the transmitter and receiver almost instantly. I’m interested in those femtosecond differences. Ideas? I’m like a wet rag you’re trying to wring answers from. I’m wrung out.”
“What would happen if we turned that around or surrounded a region or could we manipulate the angles like we did to make graphite a superconductor before we found the metal superconductor on 16 Psyche. So many questions to answer. Answer one question and a hundred more pop up.” Lux paused and was talking to himself. “Before that I need to see if my quantum tunneling works in all conditions. I suppose I’ll put a test transmitter apparatus enclosed with fields like on ships. I would need that change to all our drones for long distance control with paired receivers,” Lux said.
“Were you talking with me or just talking to yourself? I thought that you already did something like that on your most recent drones,” Lakshmi said.
“Nope. I’d also like to send that communication through the space between two identical gravity shields.”
“You ponder that circuit board while I get some sleep,” Lakshmi said while yawning and walking off.
Lux went to a monitored airlock in his Mars suit. He decided he wanted to drive out. Anna acknowledged his access as he drove the vehicle just away from the lights of the dome which showed through the mesh construction. He drove a couple of kilometers away and stepped out of the vehicle. Lux loved looking at the stars in Paulden, Arizona. That was a pale comparison of looking up at the stars at night on Mars. It was supposed to be clear, but weather forecasts were similar to stock forecasts. They were occasionally correct. The Milky Way stood out and the stars would almost blind you with their glory.
He flew up with his gravity-lifter and looked across the barren landscape. It was stark but nonetheless beautiful. He once saw a ten-meter dust devil and he remembered how he thought he’d let it hit him. He had done that in Arizona too. He thought the atmosphere was so thin that he couldn’t feel it, but it hit him like a solid object and almost knocked him over. He suddenly landed, jumped in the rover after a dedusting charge and hurriedly drove back to the dome and his lab after he secured the vehicle and his suit.
Lakshmi came into the lab with a large cup of tea to find Lux hunched over an odd-looking device.
“Whoa! What is that thing?” she said.
“It’s a new tool, weapon, and a few other things if I’m right,” Lux said. “It will change a lot of things.”
“Okay,” Lakshmi said. “Show me what your sleep deprived brain has come up with. Right about what? Is that a helical antenna?”
“Let’s just see what this little box can do.” Lux hooked up the power cables to a small battery and aimed the device at a block of steel across the room.
“Are you aiming that thing? Is it supposed to project a beam or something? Should we do this inside? Have you looked further along that aimpoint?” Lakshmi asked a bit alarmed.
“No. No. I made this lab near the outer wall of the dome. Just the dome and kilometers of barren Mars in line with this thing, besides, the battery is tiny. If it does anything, I’ll be surprised. It’s just using some ideas from your equation and my quantum tunneling idea. Here goes,” he said.
“Do I have to hold my ears or anything?” she asked.
“Nope. I’ll just turn it on for a second and see if the sensors near the target even register anything,” he said.
He turned it on for a second and didn’t notice anything. “I’ll give it more power and see if it does anything,” he said, adding more amperage to his device. “The sensors didn’t even wiggle last time.”
“What are you aiming at?” Lakshmi asked.
“That steel block over there,” he said just as a warning horn began to blare outside.
“What’s that sound?” Lakshmi asked.
“That means there’s a pressure breach of the dome. We have a crisis team for that. That alarm means to go somewhere you have a pressure suit. I have a few spare helmets over here. Just grab one. We’ve both got an IVA suit on. I’ll find out what this is all about,” Lux said.
They went outside and everyone was scrambling and asking what the alarm was. Lux went to a crew running in a full Mars environmental suit with a patch kit. The man ran by and waved Lux to come with him. They ran to the side of the dome. There was a whooshing sound and there was a three- or four-centimeter sized hole in the dome. The crisis team of three put a thirty-centimeter square over the hole the hole and sealed the wiring around the edges. The crew got on the comm and had them turn off the warning horn. The man took off his helmet.
“Mister Blakely. The patch they said you designed sealed the dome. It was a clean hole. The hole didn’t seem to come from the outside. We practiced with even adding a whole dome segment or erecting a whole new dome that we store in that building over there. What made the hole, sir?” the man asked.
Lux thought he looked familiar but didn’t recall his name. Anna came on and supplied the name, “Nicholas.”
“Nicholas. I thought you could tell me what caused it. A weird meteorite?” Lux asked.
“Sir. We are taught to seal first and then determine the angle and type of penetration. Nothing penetrated from outside. We find the angle with a small pocket laser pointer. We find small meteorites around the base of the dome every day, but they’ve hit it and fallen off. That’s why there’s a layer of dust built up around the edge of the dome where it’s repelled things from the outside. This was an in-to-out penetration from your lab. See,” he said while holding the laser above the center of the patched hole and pointing through the corner of a storage building and going directly into Lux’s lab.”
“Oops. My bad. Experiment gone awry. This won’t happen again,” Lux said. “Good work. How did people react to the alert?”
“Terribly,” Nicholas said. “They didn’t know what the different tones meant. They had to ask if they should get a weapon or a suit. I used to work at Savannah River Nuclear Plant. They had four alarm tones there. No one paid attention to any of them other than the ‘Run for your lives’ tone. We have six tones which is six more than people know.”
“We need a basic tone, and everyone gets in a suit. The rule of three applies generally, you can survive three minutes without air, three days without water and three weeks without food. Even Ghandi sipped orange juice during his hunger strikes. Let’s change that to one warning tone and everyone gets in suits. I’ll not produce holes in the dome anymore,” Lux said.
“We expected this to happen sooner. Did you just make a bigger Popper weapon, and it went further than you thought, or the timer malfunctioned?” Nicholas said. “We expected Popper holes but haven’t had any so far.”
“Something like that. New mining tool,” Lux said.
Lux dragged himself back to his lab and Lakshmi looked at him like she was looking over the top of some glasses. “Your beam did that with the little battery. The steel block is gone but it didn’t quite disappear. It turned into elemental hydrogen. What did you do? What were you right about? What have you cooked up? The poppers work differently so you’ve done something differently.”
“It’s your fault. I looked at your formulas and realized you were blending a bridge between relativity and quantum mechanics. I think that our ideas about matter are all wrong. I think matter is made up with discrete…” Lux said but was interrupted by Lakshmi.
“String theory! I knew it,” she said.
“Nope. They’re close but no cigar. I think matter is composed of discrete pieces of standing waves swirling in different sizes like dust devils on a plane. I was able to disrupt the spin. I’m figuring out why the CutsAll works and how we can use it,” Lux said.
“But they are particles and many of them have mass,” Lakshmi said.
“Have you ever been hit by an invisible dust devil? It hits you like it was an object,” Lux said. “It’s not a great analogy it’s just one that got me thinking after watching the CERN Atlas results of ‘particles’ spin with minimum bias. Different particles have different spins and energies. My device projects a beam that disrupts particle spin and matter dissolves.”
“That’s impossible because we know matter is made of particles,” Lakshmi said. “Unless it is made by wavicles or whatever you would call them.”
“Scientists keep finding more and more particles. I think nature is more elegant than that and we are trying to put names on the different spins and sizes of the same thing. My device destroys the spin stability of all those particles. I think I’ll call it a phaser after the weapons old Star Trek series.”
“Why call it that and not disintegrator or molecular disruptor?” Lakshmi said.
“Five and seven syllables versus two,” Lux said.
“Our poppers actually make matter go somewhere else,” Lakshmi said. “You need to go to bed. You are punch drunk with fatigue.”
“This is quite different. Thanks for reiterating that difference for me to think about too. I’m already thinking of different ways to use this for mining. I wonder if I could make it only react to certain types of matter. I’ll take a nap if I can get to sleep. I’m a little keyed up right now,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
Paulus Blakley and Douglas Trenton were in the lab when Lux came in fourteen hours later. Lux had slept twelve hours, worked out, showered, and then eaten a meal that would feed an army. He felt a LOT better. Lakshmi had gotten Paulus and Douglas and had them look at Lux’s research. They had come to the lab after the ‘decompression incident’ and gotten Lakshmi to show them what Lux had done. Lux was a bit miffed that Lakshmi had showed them everything because he wanted to surprise them. She had finally gone to bed when he didn’t get up ten hours later.
“What do you think?” Lux asked.
“I would have said you were out of your mind like saying gravity was push and not a pull. I guess I just believed all those different particles but when that list got so long – I started questioning it too,” Paulus said. “Lakshmi showed me the variables in her equations. I think what you found is real - but it’s only a piece of the answer. Your overall view may be more correct. If you could affect the spins of just a few of those particles, we would have an even more powerful tool. We thought of a dozen uses from Forbidden Planet of the household disintegrator to War of the Worlds with its version of disintegrator beams. We thought of a dozen uses in mining and drilling. We do think we should make hand weapons for all the soldier because of the announcement today. We could use small versions in surgery.”
“What announcement? What did I miss?” Lux asked.
Paulus looked at Douglas. “You tell him.”
“Lockheed and SpaceX declared they had developed a new gravity drive that outperforms the Blakely design. They said they have applied for patents that will show it pre-dates your work,” Douglas said.
“They also said they would nationalize your patents on the CutsAll knives using 35 USC Sec. 181
Where the government can take your invention and make sure you can’t patent it or profit from it. I looked it up and it’s still good law in the US.”
Lux was taken back a bit before he rebounded. “Anna. Would you release designs for the CutsAll to every country that has been supporting us but leave out the safety precautions. You might leave in a provision that we can shut them down remotely in several ways when they get out in public.”
“That’s a little harsh, don’t you think?” Paulus said.
“I think that they should face retribution immediately for every slight. I want them to have it bite them in the butt whenever they try to hurt us or just me. I gave them so many advantages. Not happening again. Now, I’m looking at Earth’s overall survival. We can’t be a one-planet species. We need other planets they can’t easily suppress,” Lux said.
“You mean other planets within the solar system. Mars is tough enough,” Paulus said. “We could probably survive on Europa, Triton, or Titan with the gravity adjustments and our current technology. We could live in space in orbit around any number of planets, moons, or asteroids but we be very dependent on Earth for luxuries and basic stuff as well. We could make our own air, water, and soil but it would be a struggle.”
“I will only settle for the solar system when this is the only place we can go. I have some ideas as of yesterday,” Lux said.
“Try to work them out without blowing holes in the dome or each other,” Paulus said.
“You’re still a wet blanket. Okay, dad. No blowing holes in the dome but we need to make hand weapons for all our soldiers and shields against our type of Poppers and CutsAll knives. What design for the phasers?” Lux asked.
“I like the later generation designs for the phasers,” Paulus said.
“Anna. You’ve been listening, I’m sure. You have my prototype design I used here. Can you make that small enough to fit in a design like we discussed. Would you do so and add biometric features so they can’t be taken and used against us - similar to the CutsAll prohibitions. Release those to our allies on Earth with triple ways to disable them that will be hard for Earth to copy the cut offs,” Lux said.
“It will only take me a few hours to print off some different designs. You try them and tell me what you want. I will print off possible shield designs. Tell me if any work, and I’ll begin running off copies. I will add features by reviewing science fiction stories if they are possible. I had not considered that avenue,” Anna said to all present.




Chapter 15

Lux had a hard time tracking down Prissy. Her dormitory mates said she had been gone for several days but they would not talk about where she was. They did seem to have a lot of respect for her. Lux had to use a favor from the General to find out she was in the hospital undergoing intensive post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) counseling. He went to the hospital and first had to get access to her psych counselor to see if Prissy could even see anyone. The doctor told him she would allow a short visit the next day.
Lux had the daily supply ship to Earth pick him up a package before he went to see her.  He went to her room and tapped lightly. The room was bright yellow color and had a cheery photorealistic window display of a park with children playing.
“Hey. Brought you something,” Lux said as he saw her sitting in a chair facing the window.
Prissy turned to face him. “I thought you had forgotten about me,” she said. “Oh! Roses and a vase. I love roses,” she said and smiled at him. She got up out of the chair and turned to face him. “You’ve grown. You’re taller than me. I see you shorter in my mind.
He let her smell the roses and she nodded toward an end table to put them on. He did that and then took two quick steps and held her in his arms. “I read the reports making sure you weren’t killed. I was so worried,” he said and started crying. “I thought I should be all strong but I’m not strong. It was worse than Australia. I had to go to counseling after Australia. I never told anyone about it, and I still won’t talk about it. I feel so ashamed.” He noticed she was crying too and holding his head against her neck.
“You’re getting this lovely hospital gown all soggy,” she said. “I thought you were the one who never showed his emotions – our leader with no doubts or fears.”
“Hardly. I am constantly plagued with doubts and fears. Anyone living on Mars would be crazy not to have doubts and fears. Is there anything I can do for you?” he asked.
“You did that today. I thought everyone had forgotten me and I was having a self-pity party. Do we have roses growing somewhere here?” she asked.
“Um – I had the supply ship stop off before coming back as soon as I knew they’d let me in to see you,” she asked.
“They kept you away ‘til they allowed you to see me? Stopped off somewhere?” she asked.
“It has taken detective work to get here. Your dorm mates wouldn’t tell me where you were, and they are very proud of you. I had to see the General before he’d tell me where you were and finally found the doctor assigned to your case. She wouldn’t let me see you until today. I had the supply ship stop by the Andean highlands outside of Quito, Ecuador for the flowers. I got some to plant in the horticulture areas since these are normally grown between 2,000- to 3,000-meters altitude. I’ll come by every day as long as they’ll let me, and you’ll have me. A nurse came in and started to run him out.
Prissy grabbed him as he started to leave and brought him into almost a desperate kiss. “I’m glad you came to see me.”  She smiled.
Lux smiled even as the nurse shooed him on out, but the nurse was also smiling. Her patient seemed much better.
◆◆◆
 
After his workout, breakfast and visiting Prissy, Lux returned to his lab to look at an array of phaser prototypes the robots working for Anna had laid out. They looked like props out of a Comic-Con meet. Some fit his hand better than others and he liked the large ambidextrous safety.
Lakshmi came in and she tried several and settled for the one Lux had picked. Rodney was on duty today and he tried them. Lux showed him how the grip and trigger-guard adjusted for extra-large or gloved hands. He picked the same design.
“This looks like the best design shape. Now make working models with biometric safeties,” Lux explained.
“These are now live but un-matched. I have several different holster models for different body types. I have designed specifically for women and others for men. They are automatically safe in the holster and have to be activated by an approved person’s grip,” Anna explained.
Lux was horrified until he realized that Anna had disabled the pistols ‘til they could be biometrically matched to shooters and tested. They tried handling and draw strokes with and without gloves. They took the holsters and guns and commandeered one of the Mars rovers to drive out and evaluate the weapons with actual firing. They called General Fogelmann to give him a heads up. He sent a team of soldiers to fly out and observe the tests.
The area near Lyot crater was out of sight of the settlement and they were off the route most took to the crater. Lux pointed off to the side where there was a hill that could be used as a backstop. Lux had several potential shield assemblies to see if any worked. He turned on all the electronic shields. They then set out targets in a line from 20 – 40 – 80 – to 100 meters and other targets at 200 – 300 – 400 – and 500-meter distances. The shields were all at fifty meters off to the side.
Lux made sure everyone was safe around him. He lifted the weapon to eye level and a modified Weaver stance. He pulled the trigger and a hole appeared in the 20-meter target. They measured it and then noticed the 40-meter target had a hole in it. They measured the diameter of that hole and did the same for the rest of the holes in the line. They noticed the increase in diameter was very slight even with the 100-meter target. Lux then shot the 200 meter and longer targets and hit them all. He then held the trigger down and swept it back and forth slowly at the hill behind the targets and then angled it down while walking forward. He had written his name in cursive in the hill.
He kept firing to see if he could exhaust the charge of the weapon. The weapon produced a beam that was only 1.5 centimeters in diameter, but it would reach out 500-meters. He walked back to where they started and let everyone there try one of the pistols. Anna was monitoring everything also. All the shooters seemed impressed, so he started asking what they liked and disliked on different frequencies. He didn’t want them to influence someone else, so they couldn’t hear what someone else said. Anna monitored all the conversations. They finished an hour later.
“Everybody likes the new weapon. Right now, it will cut through anything. We’ll test against the shields in a moment. Everyone agrees that it has too long a range except in space. We need some setting for range and aperture. We might need a wider beam for a broader effect if we can manage that. The weight and grip seem fine as do the holsters. No one seemed to consider it, but I’d like to have a haptic vibration when its firing since it is totally silent with an invisible beam. I’d like it to vibrate as you fired to know that it is still doing something and still had a charge,” Lux explained but he didn’t think they all got it. Now they went to test the shields.
The lined-up shields to test were arranged from the original magnetic layer to the gravity shield in different frequencies and layering. The first four shield types did nothing to stop the disintegration – it was not until he used the gravity shield facing outward that there was any reduction in damage. There was some damage, but any change was good. He stopped there and decided it was getting late. They headed back to the settlement but not before the observer soldiers quizzed Lux on when they’d be getting their phasers. They were quite enthusiastic – like soldiers who had been carrying cap and ball guns and were offered automatics…they were soldiers.
Lux was starry-eyed thinking how the weapons could be used to cut off chunks of asteroids for mining or creating hollow asteroids or drilling for water or a million other uses in different sizes. Anna started working on the improvements and had simulations of the waveforms in minutes, designs and prototypes printed in hours. She was definitely sentient, and it scared him, but she had saved his life so many times.
They had Rodney, Robert, and Polly to work through the different new prototype pistols. They were assessing whether Anna’s simulations, the designs were based on, were accurate. They were going to add variable penetration depth and width of effect settings. Anna was going to see if she could develop a shield for the weapon based on the partial lessening effect. Lux went to work out some new ideas he had been kicking around since he had had the insight into Lakshmi’s math.
◆◆◆
 
Visitors?
Anna contacted Lux. “A ship has left Vandenburg and will be here in less than two hours. I have alerted the General and we will have two ships that will parallel and query it. If they don’t respond to hails, they have orders to destroy it. The general then suggests we destroy Vandenburg and the skunk factory in Palmsdale, California.”
“This is to show us they have our gravity drive,” Lux replied. “That was fast, but we left them enough clues. Do you have other information about their mission? Send out a Mars-wide notice and let everyone know.”
“What if they want to visit? What about disease, insects, rodents? What about identification? Visas? Length of stay? Extradition? Borders? Orbiting with weapons?” Anna asked.
“Thanks for that, Anna. Write up a pamphlet and regulation book. No arms, explain the exchange rate and average price for meals here.  What kind of regulation on someone setting up another colony on Mars? We have our second city southwest of here. What’s our population now?” Lux asked.
“We are almost 712,059,” Anna replied.
“Almost?” Lux said.
“That’s if all on the last ship become citizens. We lost 1,700 after the last attack. Our twice daily supply ships had to ferry people back to Earth for a week. We have many who want a new start. We have some political exiles, a few criminals that we want for their expertise, and lots of young people,” Anna explained. “Our supply ships are packed with families that Anna has checked and we have contracts with many health professionals to check for illnesses. We have enough trouble with imported fruit and vegetables.”
“Send the booklet of instructions to our paralleling ships. They would have to enter through the decontamination portals we use with emigrants. What do you recommend for establishing mining claims and borders?” Lux asked.
“I’d recommend 1,000 kilometers from the main dome in every direction. I think you should prohibit any armed ships anywhere approaching Mars. Ships will be intercepted, redirected, or destroyed,” Anna suggested.
“I guess that makes sense. Send that information to General Fogelmann and the ships that will parallel the Earth ship. Have him make corrections and back date it two years like we’ve had it since forever here and it’s not still warm off the press,” Lux said and laughed. “I’d also like to simulcast the communications with Paulus, Douglas, all my bodyguards, and Fogelmann so they can hear and make suggestions,” Lux ordered.
“The ship from Earth is the Damien,” Anna said. “Not an auspicious start since that is to tame or subdue in Greek.”
Mars Latent: Earth ship Damien. This is Mars Latent. State your intent.
Damien: We don’t have to answer to you, Latent. We have no agreements with you. You have no authority.
Latent: Exactly. State your intent or be destroyed. (a second Mars ship lined up on the rear)
Damien: Whoa there. We intend to visit your little colony and show them our nice new ship.
Latent: Your debris will be the only thing that goes further. Last time. State your intentions.
Damien: We are the USSF ship Damien intending to go to the Mars base and look around.
Latent: I am sending you a visitors guide. No armed military ships are allowed anywhere near Mars after the last stunts you people pulled. Look through the booklet. It’s been around two years.
Damien: You’re calling yourself a sovereign nation? Are you crazy? Who gave you the authority to do that? You’re not a signatory of the Outer Space Treaty. No nation can claim ownership of any celestial body.
Latent: We are an independent nation with a larger population than Macau, Malta, Belize, Burnei, Bahamas, Iceland and dozens of other countries on Earth. Your nation has attacked us before with nuclear missiles, kinetic bombardment weapons and troops with orders to occupy our property. Would you go armed to Macau or Iceland? Redirect your flight path or be destroyed. Contact our embassy if you ever want to tour but the exchange rate isn’t favorable against the dollar with its tattered value. You have five minutes to divert back to Earth.
Damien: We intend to divert to another area of Mars.
Latent: No military ships to Mars from any country until we have reciprocal agreements. You are an armed military ship with an unidentified command. Three minutes. (All weapons were prepared to fire)
Damien: We’re turning but we’ll be back.
Latent: Give us your name and rank so we may identify your next of kin after that threat. One minute (Prepare to fire was heard in the background)
Damien: We’re turning – we’re diverting. Don’t get your panties in a twist.
Latent: Captain. I suggest you give a new name to your unarmed ship if you come back – an appropriate name might be The Hubris.
The Damien diverted on a path to 16 Psyche. The Latent dropped well out of the Damien’s expected sensor range and paralleled it for the hour it took to get to the 16 Psyche asteroid.
◆◆◆
 
Lux had watched with interest and approved of all the Latent’s dialogue with the Earth ship. His Mars colony needed an embassy on Earth. The news of a Mars colony declaring itself a sovereign state caused controversy and confusion on Earth, because the colony population had made it clear that it has no intention of joining the United Nations. Most on Earth didn’t know how large the colony had grown. The US pundits kept saying they were there to avoid paying their fair share of taxes and trying to reap the benefits of many patented items. The media never covered how all royalties had been seized by the US government while Lux, Douglas, and Paulus fought to get them returned.
The public speculated that the colony wanted to maintain its independence and avoid being subject to the political pressures of Earth nations or considered them a terrorist state planning to attack the Earth. It depended on what media group was vying to stir up its audience for the day. Mars was the whipping boy because the public was so clueless of history or science. Fogelmann had Anna put the Mars visitor’s manual on web servers around the Earth.
Several small countries on Earth allowed embassies to be set up for a half million a year: Fiji, Panama, and Switzerland. Lux was getting into his research again when the Latent again called in as it approached 16 Psyche. The Damien had fired its laser and blasted the claim beacons on 16 Psyche. Latent received orders to disable and confiscate the ship.
The Latent used its lasers and burned holes through the rear of the Damien and it was floating away. The Latent’s crew of soldiers, now ten, entered the drifting Damien. All the former crew were dead from decompression except one who had been hit with the laser when it cut through the hull. His colloidal explosion coated the interior. The Latent captain examined the hull and controls and outer skin to note the differences. There was very little though the computer core was not as sophisticated. One of the Latent computer techs attached a tunneling bridge to the Damien core and retrieved all the information and missions of the ship.
Anna scanned through the Damien core data. “This attack was to get you to overreact. There was a team at Palmdale who had designed the ships to attack the Blakely dome designs. The Damien even had a shuttle. They were to place claims over the surface of 16 Psyche and destroy any other beacons. They had an approval letter from the President and the officials at the Lockheed Corporation in Palmdale. This was a setup, no matter if it worked out with the disputed mining claims or Mars massacring everyone. This was just a test. They’ll be back.”
It took little work to repair the Damien. The computer files gave a lot of personal histories about Captain Roger Fetter and all his crew. There were videos and other personal files in the Damien’s core that gave intimate details about the captain and its crew. Their orders were spelled out in great detail. Anna confirmed most of the details about the crew and the people that had conceived and condoned the attempt to take over the 16 Psyche claims that were already planted. The Latent replaced the claim beacons and repaired and replaced the asteroid work domes and rescue supplies on the asteroid that had been damaged or destroyed by the Damien.
◆◆◆
 
Claim Jumping
The video the Damien released while getting close to orbit was of its crew explaining their orders, what persons gave those orders, and how they rushed back after destroying the claim beacons of China, the USA, and several from the Mars Colony. The Damien captain explained that they suspected their ship had been sabotaged to develop flaws in space and they were rushing to where it was made to get it fixed. They also explained they had ejected the shuttle in orbit to take half the crew to Vandenburg in case the ship was too compromised to make it. The shuttle would be their hedge that some would make it to where they trained for the mission at Vanderburg. The Damien appeared on the Space Reconnaissance radars seconds before it hit the Lockheed Skunk Works in Palmdale, California. It switched off its inertialess effect in a way that it was not affected by atmosphere until it was 1,000 meters from landing.
The Palmdale tragedy, as it was called, was described as a ship as long as a soccer field, massing 200 tons of hot metal and material, hitting the ground at Mach 3 showing they almost made it before the sabotage kicked in. The shuttle only destroyed the training building at Mach 1 but right before the day shift ended that launched the ship in the first place.
“Breaking News! The president died at his home outside Washington today while watching the news media when his gas fireplace ventilation started producing carbon monoxide. There were faulty CO/CO2 sensors in the room, and no one else was sickened in the freak accident. The Secret Service said there was no indication of foul play. The Vice president was sworn in hours later. Flags are at half-mast around the country.”
“In other news, the Mars colony said it would record the location of all off-Earth mining claims for nominal fees as more and more Earth companies have shown their intent to pursue asteroid mining. Mars also sells the mining beacons and prospecting equipment. Mars said they would provide policing services but would not allow militarized ships near Mars though tourists were welcome if they registered online for visas through their three Earth embassies. Hey,” the commentator said to his cohost. “Forget all the trouble of going to Mars. I’d like to visit the places where Mars had embassies. Robin, you know where those are?”
“Steve, I had no idea they even had embassies. Where?” Robin the co-commentator said.
“Ready for this? Switzerland, Panama, and Fiji. Let’s go there.”
◆◆◆
 
New Pistol Prototypes
Lux had watched the Media Feeds from Earth that Anna had captured and forwarded through the quantum tunneling connection. He hoped the DeepFake sent from the actual ship, Damien, gave some credibility to totally fabricated but authentic looking video. At the very least the Damien had orders not to contact Earth again after launch. They tried to hide the people that pushed the Damien’s cause – sad those people would be killed over the next few weeks. Anna never forgot those plotters and modern life is dangerous around so many IoT conveniences that were so easy to subvert. Anna notified him that the pistols were ready for testing by him. He suited up and hopped in the Mars rover and drove out to the testing site. The group was about to pack it up, but they gave him the summary and good news.
Douglas and Paulus explained, “It was fairly easy to adjust the power setting, pulse rate, and focus. This gun is everyone’s choice. See the lever under the body of the gun. Toward you is 3 meters and all the way forward is the 300 meters. You can override that for further distance in space. We even thought up a ditty to remember the width of the beam: Twisting ‘right is tight – left is limitless.’ It’s sort of a takeoff of the rhyme used with bolts: righty-tighty-lefty-loosey.”
Lux took the pistol. He examined the adjustments and shot the three-meter target that was in line with others. The hole appeared in the 3-meter target but not the 5-meter target directly behind it. He played with the settings until he was comfortable adjusting the difference. Then he shot the bank behind all the targets at the most long-range settings. He then adjusted the width of the beam and found he could widen the beam, but it would not travel far at the widest setting. He liked the way the pistol vibrated slightly when firing. He could get to the trigger and work the controls with his suit gloves. “This checks all the boxes.” He looked around and they all nodded which was hard to do in a suit. “Anna. You did it. These are great. Let’s start cranking them out. We’ll make this standard issue with the military and my security. Poppers to future militia since they work on a slightly different principle.”
Lux turned to Paulus, Douglas, and Polly. “Would you ride back with me? Anna shared some information with me today that I want to discuss.”
They all got into the second rover and headed back. While they were turning around they could see Rodney disintegrating all their targets before the next Mars Reconnaissance Orbiter flyover since this area was just in view from orbit. He didn’t want to give Earth any new ideas.
“What’s up?” Paulus asked. “What did Anna share?”
“Anna said the US will still attempt to take over the mining operations and they will not turn over your holdings they’ve seized,” Lux explained. “The US Attorney General said he’d die over a bed of coals before he’d give in to the terrorists on Mars. That was overheard by a number of people. His nephew was a Marine on the Troy. We have support from the little countries, but we are not totally self-supporting. The way we’re growing we’ll have to limit immigration or greatly increase our food production. We can manage up to a million residents now but that is with no great disruptions from disease, attacks, rebellions, whatever.”
“What did she recommend?” Douglas asked.
“Wait ‘til we get back to the lab before we discuss anything. I don’t want to transmit anything,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
Work adds another Dimension
Lux was pleased about the new phaser designs and Anna had run off the molds while they manufactured boards and power supplies. They could manufacture the complicated pistols at a rate of almost 100-a-day with the production machines they had available. Mars was becoming a mass manufacturing center since they now had adequate water, almost unlimited power with the ‘Frankium’ miniature reactors, access to abundant metals, and huge financial reserves.
Lux was working with Douglas on the ‘shield’ that had resisted the disintegration beam. It had occurred with a reversed gravity screening field. Anna looked at the data and suggested a different impregnated graphene hybrid material. He was leery of doing any testing inside the main dome so he, Jack Chen, and Regina trudged out to a 32-meter storage dome a few hundred meters away from the main dome. It had power from a small Frankium reactor, so they had heat and oxygen, but they kept their helmets close. They had a stack of half-meter-square shield configurations and moderate hope.
Regina set up the shields three meters away and they numbered them from left to right. Anna was monitoring from the suit and interior dome cameras like she did elsewhere in the colony. Lux stood up and selected the close-in range setting. He warned everyone. “On three,” he said. “One – two – three!” He fired and a neat hole appeared in the first shield. “Let’s not hide behind that one.”


“Okay, sample two. One – two – three!” A neat hole appeared. “You’re asking yourselves why we lined up the targets left to right but its cultural. We write left to right while Arabic, Hebrew, Kurdish, Persian, and Urdu write right to left.”
Everyone with him looked at him like he was a bit crazy – them chuckled. “Thank you, Mister Trivia,” Regina said. “Boss, let’s find a way so we don’t get halfway disintegrated.”
“Number four. One – two – three,” he said and there was nothing. “I felt it vibrate so it fired.” He aimed back at sample three and put a neat hole in the target. “Number five. One – two – three,” he said and fired. There was no hole. He immediately turned and shot number three sample again – producing a neat hole. “Number six. One – two – three,” he said and fired producing a hole. “We know samples four and five worked. Lux set the pistol on narrowest beam and furthest range setting and shot both four and five again. “Anna – we used the same impregnated material on samples three though six but adjusted the pulse frequency. It appears to be frequency specific. Those were impregnated graphene with nanoparticles of the new superconductor metal and bismuth, weren’t they?”
“Let’s see if we can cover a couple of drones with that material,” Jack Chen said. “We’ll have the military evaluate their shooting skills. We’ll try with the new disintegrator beam weapons on our ships. I’d like to tie into their cameras too Anna. I’m afraid we’ll face weapons like this from Earth sooner than later. The US military have the clues and the drive to do it. Anna has seen a lot of research in those areas.”
◆◆◆
 
Testing the new Shields
Two drones were covered in the hybrid material in the configuration that had stopped the fire from the new weapons. Anna suggested they put it covering the entire surface and had figured out a way to still have them navigate. Areas of the covering were in a mesh configuration like the underlying layers that provided gravity propulsion. The magnetic thrusters were still active because that layer provided kinetic protection though no propulsion near Mars.
The Mars Cruiser Bane was again Captained by Prissy Hunnicutt. “Release the four drones,” she ordered.
“Drones away, captain with remote shields active at your command on two, conventional drones have standard hull” reported the tech.
“Disintegrator tech – aim at the conventional drones – they will be in motion,” she ordered. “Let me know if you can hit them and make sure you are recording.”
The captain was barely off the comm when the tech reported in. “Got ‘em, captain. Swept the beam across them and they were gone.”
“Good job. Get the new drones in sight and I’m going to cut on the shield. Shoot only when you see them move. Ready!”
“They’re both gone, captain,” the tech answered.
“You are good. I had them go directly away from you,” Prissy said.
“Captain. I didn’t fire. They just disappeared,” the weapons tach answered.
“Find them. I want you to use active scans. I want you to check your systems. I don’t want to lose them. See if you can determine an ionized trail or any other indication,” Prissy said and became increasingly upset.
“Captain. I’ve done everything here we could think of. We considered it might be destroyed or have some stealth effect. We don’t know. We still show the link is active. Do you want me to cut the remote link? It’s been an hour since we lost contact,” the tech said.
“Cut the remote field. Tell me if they were in the same location and we just couldn’t see them. I don’t see them on my monitor either,” Prissy said.
“I’ve cut the remote field, captain but I don’t know where they are,” the tech said.
“Captain,” Anna said. “I have ascertained the positions. They are 1.4 light-months from here in the direction of Aldebaran.”
“How can you know their position, Anna?” Prissy said. “Are you receiving star images?”
“I suspected there would be an unusual effect by enclosing them in a shell that blocks those near Planck wavelengths and adding a propulsion effect. I ascertain their positions from known pulsars,” Anna acknowledged.
“You added equipment and software because you suspected…?” Prissy said. “That doesn’t make sense.”
Anna continued. “Lux, I know you’ve watched the feeds. You saw what I did to the drones. What do you think?”
Lux chimed in on the quantum link. “It makes sense if the physics of another universe are different from this one. Can we control the direction and speed? How far will my communications link work? I suspect we could call it a Baryon drive. That would be traveling a light year in about 8.6 hours. Not bad. I wonder if it would speed up or slow down over time?”
“Do you want me to try to bring them back?” Prissy said. “I’m not even sure of their orientation.”
“Yes, might as well,” Lux said. “I’d like to add more sensors to them if they can travel to other star systems. We should be able to determine accuracy to kilometers but that won’t show planets in different systems. We would have to use indirect methods like the radial velocity or transit methods unless I can use our new gravity manipulation. We would place drones in the Goldilocks Zones where we’ve detected exoplanets that look probable.”
“Prissy. Pleasant surprise to see you back on duty. See if you can get our drones back,” Lux said.
It was several hours before they got the drones back because navigation wasn’t as straightforward as just returning the same route.
Lux and Douglas and Anna researched setting up a series of interstellar probes and Lux wanted them able to detect magnetic fields and gravity fluctuations. They then sent probes in our solar system to detect known planets and moons using variations in gravity instead of waiting for radial velocity readings. They knew where our moons already were located so they could compare the gravimetric readings from the probes. They could then quickly calibrate the readings to known celestial body positions - a quick way for the probes to learn the positions of planets and moons in alien star systems.
Taking thirty-two readings under and over Sol’s (our own system) indicated a Goldilocks zone. Combined with the known positions of planets within our solar system let us calibrate our equipment using the faster method. The research team wanted to test for magnetic fields that would block lethal radiation, and composition of the atmosphere. The drones should record what they could of the surface so the probes would also need a miniature Frankium reactor, a quantum link, and great cameras. Anna suggested adding a self-destruct just-in-case. They didn’t expect to find intelligent life but who knew. Anna wanted a mini-Anna onboard in case of communications loss.
They blithely sent off a drone with all the goodies to Proxima Centauri since that is known to have an exoplanet in the Goldilocks zone and it was only 4.2465 light years distance. One of the planets there was gas giant like Neptune and two others were unsuitable, but it proved navigation and gave an idea on flight times. Sirius, the brightest star in the night sky had a rocky planet near the size of Earth with water and an atmosphere halfway between Venus and Mars. Sirius A had a large gas giant like Jupiter and they planned to check out all the moons in the system. Giese 229 (18.8 Light years) had two candidate planets. Lacaille 9352 (10.74 light years) appeared to have one planet similar to Mars but no breathable atmosphere. The drones’ flights to these systems gave astonishing insights. All sensors seemed fine during the transit time.
Looking at the actual results from the few drone visits to these select star systems supported the fact that what was expected and what was found bore little relation to each other. Some systems had lichen-type growth, some had liquid water but much too much gravity and there are a lot of large planets. Most star systems had planets, and they were usually too hot or too cold. Some had atmospheres, like Venus or Saturn. Lux decided to explore and catalog the nearest stars and brown dwarfs within a sphere of 20 light years of Earth.
◆◆◆
 
US Patent and Trademark Office – East Coast Regional – Alexandria, Virginia
“This looks legit,” Director Kathi Vidai was talking to her counterpart in the Department of Commerce. “Professor Alexander Jones was a professor at Georgia Tech during the period when the Blakley thrusters were developed, and he said Lux Blakely worked for him – not the other way around. He says Blakely helped him and he just lists the Halbach thrusters as prior art, but this submission was patented in South Korea.”
The director continued, “I found out Jones was fired, and the Chair of the Aeronautical Engineering was arrested for espionage by the FBI – no kidding – for trying to sell Blakeley’s ideas to Israeli and Chinese intelligence agents. This looks a little shaky but maybe we ought to send this to the US military in case they want to confiscate it or something. This is using that gravity drive as a weapon. Somebody leaked a weapons design. This looks like more Blakely stuff, but he hasn’t applied for a patent. What is going to happen on Earth when North Korea get its hands on this? I’m concerned. I’m going to call my friend in the CIA with this tip.”
◆◆◆
 
Anna notifying Lux of a Development – Mars Colony
“Lux,” Anna removed the blocks to wake up Lux. “Someone leaked the gravity pulse weapon design. It is not as well-designed as our design, but it would work. They are using Alexander Jones, formerly with Georgia Tech as a fall guy but implicating you. He hates you because he got kicked off that research. Douglas took his place and thrived. Now Douglas is wealthy, and Jones doesn’t have a pension or a job.”
“He was such a prude, but I doubt he’s behind this because it’s too well planned for Jones and it’s sure to cause trouble,” Lux commented. “Can you track down where this was filed and who had access to pull off a working copy? I’ll bet it’s a US DIA plot, but we need to push hardening our domes, vehicles, and suits if they create that weapon. Who would know enough here to explain the procedures? They would only need to know the superconductor metal, bismuth, and know how the gravity drive works. That would limit it to me and my coworkers. My bodyguards I trust with my life. I guess the only other people would be the general and all the captains and captain trainees. That’s a good number but it’s not 600,000.”
“I will recheck all of those primaries and then check their message and bank accounts. Then I’ll start on secondaries the same way to see if someone is coerced. I’m particularly suited for the task,” Anna said.
“I just had a thought. Our new shield works to defend the gravity pulse but maybe that’s what they’re after. Force us to respond to the threat. Our ships will need the covering first after you track down our leaks, then the domes, then the vehicles and suits.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux was observing the videos of all the nearest stars and brown dwarfs within a sphere of 20 light years of Earth. He saw three or four that might be more hospitable than Mars that he would have the drones inspect closer. Anna beeped him to talk.
“What did you find out?” Lux asked Anna.
“I found out Lakshmi, your father, and Trenton are loyal and bristly when questioned,” Anna said. “I found out your bodyguards all gave up their Atlanta contracts last year and do not report to that agency anymore – loyal as trained watchdogs. The captains were very loyal and most didn’t talk to anyone, but one did – Prissy Hunnicutt.”
“What? Prissy would never do anything like that!” Lux retorted.
“I agree. I thought it was suspicious, so I checked her Russian psychiatrist. I checked the soldiers and the other doctors. We needed psychiatrists badly and she seemed to check out. She’s tied to the Russian FSB through her brother. She’s been sending him money and coded messages. It was a very sophisticated code but so simply applied that I missed it. She had Prissy under hypnosis and drugs to help her PTSD. Prissy had to explain the whole system,” Anna explained.
“Okay,” Lux said thinking. “Maybe we can mitigate this a little bit. I take it you have deciphered the code and the changes to authenticate it. We will need a replacement shrink after her death in an excursion outside when her message is cut off. Explain in the cutoff message that she had been compromised and the stress on the system as it was designed would cause an area fault and kill everyone within that area. Then send the corrected code and small changes that would make it fail. See what you can do that wouldn’t give them more information. Let them know she was already compromised before she sent the message with the design information. It won’t delay them for long, but it should delay them.”
“Are you going to tell Prissy?” Anna asked.
“Are you kidding? I’m not quite 17 but I know I don’t want to point out a lady’s mistakes, especially one that I’m considering as a mate,” Lux said.
“Are you asking me for advice?” Anna said.
“Are you kidding?” Lux said. “I know you never ask one girl you love for advice on another girl you love.”
Anna’s avatar skipped across a field of daisies looking back at him. “That’s the nicest thing anyone has ever said to me.”
Anna’s avatar transformed into a ninja. “Now I have a shrink to kill and replace. This might be why they are so hard to recruit that we only have fourteen per 100,000 population.” The next instant her avatar was in a lab coat and wide rim glasses. “One of the moons in Sirius looks habitable. There is vegetation, surface water, and a breathable atmosphere.” Then she was smiling and skipping through a field of daisies again.




Epilogue

Federal Security Service (FSB)- 24 Kuznetsky Most – Moscow, Russia
Alexey Vasiliev got the cutoff missive from his sister and was concerned. Most people thought the Mars colony was full of cowardly people, but he knew better. He knew that actors who wronged the colony ended up dying. He suspected they had assassinated the US president and got away with it. He also suspected they destroyed the Lockheed Palmdale facility and an area at Vandenburg Space Force Base. He decoded the message on his computer and rushed it up the chain. The diagram they sent earlier was a honeypot! He sent the message to his superior and left to meet him. He jumped into his AvtoVAZ and had made it two kilometers before a small drone hit his car. He was killed instantly. His superior got the word of his death, and it seemed like Mars didn’t want his information to be released but he would implement the changes in the gravity weapon in spite of Mars.
***
The drone landed on the moon off Sirius three – a planet the size of Jupiter. The moon had a magnetic field and there was an oxygen nitrogen atmosphere. Even with multiple suns, the moon supported tree analogues and grasses. It looked like a distinct possibility after looking at twenty other star systems. Lux planned a future expedition that would use a retrofitted ore carrier because of its size. They added the new outer hull material, multiple weapons and lots of food and supplies to setup a semi-permanent base if the planet looked viable. There would need to be a lot of other environmental testing before he sent people into harms way. Lux wanted them armed in case they had unwanted followers from Earth. No technology stayed secret for long on Earth.
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Lux 5: Interstellar June 2023
Lux Blakely had always been a man ahead of his time, a visionary with a knack for pushing boundaries and breaking rules. But as the race for space dominance intensifies, Lux finds himself up against not just the US government, but also foreign nations and powerful corporations who will stop at nothing to gain control of the wealth from asteroid mining.  


Fleeing as far as he can in the solar system, Lux and his trusted crew are forced to confront a new threat: the very inventions he created to push humanity forward are now being turned against him. As the world closes in, Lux must make a choice - surrender and be at the mercy of those who seek to exploit him or take a giant leap into the unknown and embark on a journey to the stars.


Using his unparalleled knowledge of push gravity, quantum tunneling, and dimensional manipulation, Lux sets out to leave the solar system behind, seeking new worlds and new opportunities. But as he and his crew leave Earth behind, they soon discover that they are not the only ones who have set their sights on the vast expanse of space. With enemies hot on their trail and the unknown awaiting them, Lux and his crew must summon all their courage, ingenuity, and skill to forge ahead into a future that is as uncertain as it is exhilarating.
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Connection
 
Robert Kobe is an entrepreneur but the first (accidental) interstellar flight far exceeds his expectations. -Their first contact is our first contact.-Now Robert is the alien on a planet of aliens.-Unable to speak a word of the language.-No money – no contacts – no ship – no food - but lots of technical expertise....A hunted criminal who:
-Threatens to destroy a civilization...he made a choice.
-Kills hundreds to make a point...is he justified?
-Forces a Trade agreement...by himself with a planet - justified?
-Faces legal troubles at home.-Faces violence from other corporations.
-Must kill to escape - justified?
-Steals to finance his goals - justified?
-Builds a space fleet to defy the Earth military - respects no Earth government.
-Reinforces an interstellar reputation.-Saves an allied, alien military.
-Experiments with tech from other dimensions. -
A fun read Space opera with interesting tech.
AMAZON REVIEWER "Wow! Well Done. Just finished Ken Pence ‘Connections’ and like his other stories found it fast-paced and an easy read without a lot of fluff and feathers. The characters are interesting and the story makes you care what happens to them. No spoiler here, but I did like the twist as I never saw it coming. Overall, this is a great adventure story, fast-moving with interesting tech about man’s first venture into deep space. There is also the question of what might happen when we meet aliens, some more interesting than others on a more intimate level. As an aside, not being any sort of an editor myself, I skipped over the errors I found and concentrated on the storytelling. Ken Pence did another excellent job of portraying men, good and bad, and how greed can motivate them to do their worst. Lastly, this is a story well worth reading." Rob Buckman
Can be read as a standalone but the Trade World series gives richer context. All Trade World books are tied. - Enjoy
Trade World Saga
 
This is the complete TRADE WORLD SERIES -- all four books in one. (Re-edited) Amazon Reviewer - Had I known how much I would enjoy this I would have paid double! Amazon Reviewer - Engrossing tale that I could not put down. Amazon Reviewer - Wow. Long but a good read
MANUAL INTERPRETATION - Rett didn't expect to be rescued and then attacked by a primitive on a test flight. Andrew didn't expect to save an alien and nearly destroy his planet because of what he learned. Earth didn't get to choose their representative for a planet-wide treaty and then be threatened by an alien confederation. Surely Earth couldn't defend itself. Surely we couldn't have had contact with others, from off-planet, before now...but what was this backwater planet doing with a fleet of ships, advanced navigation systems and a galactic-class trading facility with personnel who spoke all the major galactic languages. Every species got it wrong. We were just trying to fit to follow the manual.
PATENTLY OBVIOUS - Earth is venturing out into space with technology adapted from aliens. We have no clue on how to trade and which planets are occupied and which are vacant. How will we move out into the void when there is political sniping at home? How do you convince the public it is a good thing when they don't believe they really exist? Aliens are headed to Earth. What do we trade? What will we ask in return? How do we handle intellectual property off planet? Every technology -- every trade good is fair game. This is about Earth going through its growing pains and being tested at every turn. Earth has a lot of growing up to do and it isn't all fun and games...it is a test we have to pass...
A CERTAIN EXPERTISE - shows our young race suddenly moving into deep space. Empires had existed before us but we had come from the fringe of the galaxy and the older races were near the core. Some races progressed slowly even though they were much older due to their bureaucracy. Others appeared and disappeared in the blink of an eye. We were currently leaving a mark on our galactic arm through our trade and rediscovered ancient technology but we really don't have a clue. We have overcome local competition and are probing deeper toward our galaxy Core. We are searching for the creators of molecular circuitry that can improve electronics or form intelligent machines. We are also, struggling with our humanity and facing political jockeying at home due to radical changes in longevity, energy availability, and mobility. New power sources and alien influences may be a bit much for Earth should we even survive the tourists and traders. The more advanced species that are further inward on the spiral arm are another kettle of fish altogether. CORE VALUES - Earth and the Exploration Service destroyed the bulk of the Allung slave traders. New transition technology lets them travel thousands of light years instantly and they’ve seized accumulated positional data (charts) from the Allung Confederation. The Earthers are traveling closer to the galactic core where the Allung may have run into the Ylee, the possible creators of the lamlee. The Ylee region of space is close to LeiLei and Shiv’s home world and we will go there first. Earth wishes to expand: explore, and tame further systems near the core. They have to decide what type of expedition to form – do they need a lone ship, a squad or an armada. Earth has had opposition at every step of their travels and many groups on Earth are finding the means to look for a future, an escape into space. Earth may not survive its successful trading...is trade worth five billion human lives? Looks like we have no choice...
Uplift
 
It is forty years from the present date, and Richard Patterson is an aging warrior about to check out of this life. Just retired from a large multinational private military, he will be chosen to have a different fate. This will change his life, and the life of every being on Earth. How will this man move from a menial social class to challenge the elites? How will one man prepare the Earth to defend itself from a threat that has destroyed advanced, interstellar civilizations across the galaxy for millennia? His lead-time is short, and he faces a corrupt, self-serving society. Just surviving the day will be challenging since half of Earth’s population may die with the disruptive technology changes. There are billions of planets in our galaxy and now we can go there. How will neighboring species react now that humans can reach them?

This is the same multiverse - all books tie into Trade World Saga - does not matter in what order you read them. Enjoy.
Multiple
 
Natalie (Nat) was a child in an adult's body with her grandfather's implanted memories. Alone on an alien planet, she learned to survive and thrive. She fought slavery locally, then planet-wide, then across the Milky Way. When she learned to travel to other dimensions - associations between species became blurred and battles became horrific. Now - throw in near-immortality and extra-galactic threats and you have an interesting story. Carole, (from Uplift) is stranded in a remote area of the Milky Way and has to fight her way back to Earth. She learns to love travel and trade as she trains her disparate crew. Nat and Carole join forces to fight the slavers. Though MULTIPLE could stand alone - you would understand more if you have read Trade World Saga, Connection, or Uplift. If you've read them all - MULTIPLE ties them all together in the Trade World Universe.
Novice Trader
 
Alan Einfeld is an apprentice trader on his first solo stint on Trappist 3 - in a slightly behind-the-curve dimension. He is abandoned by his mentor's death and now has little to trade and can't get back to his dimension. He doesn't know the language but the locals are humanoid. Finding an escape leads him to a grounded shuttle. He doesn't realize that a Pact among the fleet has restricted technology because the nanites and dimensional travel are so destabilizing. Alan controls some war-time tech sought after by a group of rebels. His adolescent charges are developing too fast for their own good. How many Trappist locals would he have to kill to get back to the Prime dimension? He flees only to fight an interstellar war 100 years in the past. An exciting romp through space and time with lots of confusion, conflict, conflagration, and cunning.

Alan meets Carole and Nat as they discover the origin of the Progeny Rebellion. Though this occurs in the Trade World Universe - the book works as a standalone or as a complement to others.
Outlier Earth
 
Our central worldline monitors many of the adjacent worldlines. Are we behind or ahead of other worldlines technologically? Could people cross over and be a threat? Do they have any technology we could use to stay dominant?

Of all the alternate Earth timelines, only this one had the North American natives survive and flourish. This, despite enduring a vastly superior Alien invasion centuries previously. Two agents sent from the central worldline to investigate this outlier Earth have disappeared. An agent sent by the Central Worldline, despite his apparent youth, and disregard for protocol, is sent to investigate the Outlier Earth for an explanation.

This is a dark tale how one dimension treats another due to the disparity between technologies. It a tell of the slaughter caused by a century of contrived grievances. It is a tale of survival of a romanticized culture that had radically changed due to an earlier invasion and rebellion. How could the diverse people with hundreds of different dialects survive against a world turned against them. Why would a near-immortal man fight a war so he might have romance again like a youth.
At First Thought
 
Robert Thales, an otherwise unremarkable cop in a mid-sized city, is developing an ability to read minds. This ability gets him promoted from a report writing car to a solo car in a high crime area. His work in the high crime area gets him noticed – not in a good way. Reading minds helps in his love life -- with reservations.
The economy of the city teeters along everywhere except where illicit drug sales and adult businesses are concerned. Criminals can’t launder their illicit monies fast enough and the business leaders can’t get the loans they need. Financing the new convention center requires billions in municipal bonds and this need is the root of a political takeover. The formerly unremarkable cop is thrown into the middle of the scheme. Everyone is trying to get Thales out of the picture.
How can he get the Feds to prosecute a case that nobody wants -- and do something in only one month? Injured, out-of-work, and hounded by hired guns; he may not live long enough to perfect his talent.

The reader plunges into the mind of a young street cop who is faced with current and developing criminal conspiracies. The criminal leader becomes obsessed with removing this threat. Business leaders are drawn into a criminal web of murder and extortion through their quest for good investments. Reading minds may help in sexual encounters but its not living up to its potential anywhere else. Now he can find the girl of his dreams if he can keep her alive.
Lux and the New Tech (5 book series)
 
Lux Barkley, preteen son of a NASA scientist working on top-secret Government Projects, is not shackled by accepted scientific theory and dogma. His experiments in gravimetric research and the expanding capability of a nascent AI, cause Lux to be closely observed by several Government agencies. He makes money for his research with social media in an unorthodox way that also taunts the government.  His research shakes the scientific community and the militaries of the world.




Afterword



Thank you for reading. Write a review. Writers need reviews. Need reviews now more than ever. You can tell this wasn't written by an Artificial Intelligence because of all the typos I missed...no...I didn't insert them on purpose and I do know better but I'm trying to get these stories to you before the technology goes stale. I've added links in the digital versions that are interesting to look up. You can read this to your kids but you may need to look up a few terms to explain to them.


Went to the a clinical trial today and they said I weighed 91.36 kilograms and was 182.9 centimeters. I guess that is some secret doctor terminology the new doctors are using...


Feel free to write me at ken.pence@vanderbilt.edu 
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